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Congress of the Enited SHtates
Mouse of Representatives
Washington, B. €.

Texarkana
November 23, 1953

Mr. Eustace Mullins

American Petroleum Industries Committee
50 West 50th Street

New York 20, N. Y.

Dear Mr. Mullins:

I want to thank you very much for your letter in
which you refer to Col. Allen's column about an investi-
gation of the Federal Reserve System.

Your book is among the few books that I have on
my desk, Mr. Mullins, that I often refer to. It is a
very fine book and has been very useful to me.

When I return to Washington, if you are down that
way, }would like to have the privilege of seeing you and
visiting with you.

Thanking you again for the book and for your le
Iam

Sincerely yours

[U. 5. Congress, 1929-1976; House Banking -&
Currency Committee, 1937-1976.]

Other testimonials from many business and political leaders praising my book
on the Federal Reserve System included the following:

2ou] am v ateful that your book called o my attention those long-ignored
Canpel:i'znﬂ Hearings on the 1929 stock-market crash...

Col. Robert R. McCormick,
lisher,
Chicago Tribune

...your book has been and [ am sure will continue to be very useful to me,

However, 1 would appreciate your not using my name in connection with it
until -eruprim legialation can be prepared to remedy some of the abuses
of the Federal Reserve Syatem.

Sen. Robert Takt,

Republican majority
leader in Congress



Sittp-third Congress of the Enited States of Jmerica;
At the $econd Fession,

Begun and beld at the City of Washington on Monday, the firnt day of December, ane
thousand ninc hundred and thitteen

AN ACT

To provide for the establishment of Federal reserve banks, to furnish an elastic
currency, to afford means of rediscounting commercial puper, to establish a
more cffective supervision of banking in the United States, and for other
purposes.

Be it enacted by the Senale and House of Representatives of the United
States of America in Congress assembled, That the short title of this Act shall
be the ** Federal Reverve Act.”
Facimile of portions of first and
final pages of Federal Reserve Act

of 1913 N /;('

Speaker of the House of Representalives.

oo, 7. X7 arobiare.

Vice President of the United States and
President of the Senate.

W 23 jta-—(d, /973
Koot Htom

@The above facsimileisreproduced from page 60 of "HISTORICAL BEGINNINGS. ... THE FEDERAL RESERVE", published by the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston in its seventh printing, 1982.
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In 1949, while | was visiting Ezra Pound who was a political prisoner at St. Elizabeth’s Hospital, Washington, D.C. (a Federal institution for theinsane), Dr.
Pound asked meif | had ever heard of the Federal Reserve System. | replied that | had not, as of the age of 25. He then showed me aten dollar bill marked
" Federal Reserve Note" and asked meif | would do some research at the Library of Congresson the Federal Reserve System which had issued this bill.
Pound was unableto go to the Library himself, ashe wasbeing held without trial asa political prisoner by the United States government. After he was
denied broadcasting timein the U.S,, Dr. Pound broadcast from Italy in an effort to persuade people of the United States not to enter World War I1.
Franklin D. Roosevelt had personally ordered Pound’sindictment, spurred by the demands of histhree personal assistants, Harry Dexter White, Lauchlin
Currie, and Alger Hiss, all of whom wer e subsequently identified as being connected with Communist espionage.

| had nointerest in money or banking as a subject, because | wasworking on a novel. Pound offered to supplement my income by ten dollarsa week for a
few weeks. My initial research revealed evidence of an international banking group which had secretly planned the writing of the Federal Reserve Act and
Congress enactment of the plan into law. These findings confirmed what Pound had long suspected. He said, " Y ou must work on it as a detective story." |
was fortunate in having my research at the Library of Congressdirected by a prominent scholar, Geor ge Stimpson, founder of the National Press Club, who
was described by The New York Times of September 28, 1952: " Beloved by Washington newspaper men as ‘our walking Library of Congress’, Mr.
Stimpson was a highly regarded reference sour ce in the Capitol. Government officials, Congressmen and reporterswent to him for information on any
subject."

| did research four hourseach day at the Library of Congress, and went to St. Elizabeth’sHospital in the afternoon. Pound and | went over the previous
day’snotes. | then had dinner with George Stimpson at Scholl’s Cafeteria while he went over my material, and | then went back to my room to type up the
corrected notes. Both Stimpson and Pound made many suggestionsin guiding mein afield in which | had no previous experience. When Pound’s resour ces
ran low, | applied to the Guggenheim Foundation, Huntington Hartford Foundation, and other foundationsto complete my resear ch on the Federal
Reserve. Even though my foundation applications wer e sponsor ed by the three leading poets of America, Ezra Pound, E.E. Cummings, and Elizabeth
Bishop, all of the foundations refused to sponsor thisresearch. | then wrote up my findingsto date, and in 1950 began effortsto market thismanuscript in
New York. Eighteen publishersturned it down without comment, but the nineteenth, Devin Garrity, president of Devin Adair Publishing Company, gave
me some friendly advicein hisoffice. " | likeyour book, but wecan't print it,” hetold me. " Neither can anybody elsein New York. Why don’t you bringin a
prospectus for your novel, and | think we can give you an advance. You may aswell forget about getting the Feder al Reserve book published. | doubt if it
could ever beprinted.”

Thiswas devastating news, coming after two years of intensive work. | reported back to Pound, and wetried to find a publisher in other partsof the
country. After two years of fruitless submissions, the book was published in a small edition in 1952 by two of Pound’s disciples, John Kasper and David
Horton, using their private funds, under thetitle Mullins on the Federal Reserve. In 1954, a second edition, with unauthorized alterations, was published in
New Jersey, as The Federal Reserve Conspiracy. In 1955, Guido Roeder brought out a German edition in Oberammergau, Germany. The book was seized
and the entire edition of 10,000 copies burned by government agentsled by Dr. Otto John.

The burning of the book was upheld April 21, 1961 by judge Israel Katz of the Bavarian Supreme Court. The U.S. Government refused to intervene,
because U.S. High Commissioner to Germany, James B. Conant (president of Harvard University 1933 to 1953), had approved theinitial book burning
order. Thisisthe only book which has been burned in Germany since World War 11. In 1968 a pirated edition of this book appeared in California. Both the
FBI and the U.S. Postal inspectorsrefused to act, despite numer ous complaints from me during the next decade. In 1980 a new Ger man edition appear ed.
Because the U.S. Gover nment apparently no longer dictated theinternal affairs of Germany, theidentical book which had been burned in 1955 now
circulatesin Germany without interference.

| had collaborated on several bookswith Mr. H.L. Hunt and he suggested that | should continue my long-delayed resear ch on the Federal Reserve and bring
out a mor e definitive version of thisbook. | had just signed a contract to write the authorized biography of Ezra Pound, and the Federal Reserve book had
to be postponed. Mr. Hunt passed away before | could get back to my research, and once again | faced the problem of financing resear ch for the book.

My original book had traced and named the shadowy figuresin the United States who planned the Federal Reserve Act. | now discovered that the men
whom | exposed in 1952 asthe shadowy figur es behind the operation of the Federal Reserve System wer e themselves shadows, the American frontsfor the



unknown figures who became known asthe" London Connection.” | found that notwithstanding our successesin the Wars of Independence of 1812 against
England, weremained an economic and financial colony of Great Britain. For thefirst time, welocated the original stockholders of the Federal Reserve
Banksand traced their parent companiesto the London Connection.

Thisresearch is substantiated by citations and documentation from hundreds of newspapers, periodicals and books and charts showing blood, marriage,
and businessrelationships. Morethan a thousand issues of The New York Times on microfilm have been checked not only for original information, but
verification of statementsfrom other sour ces.

It isatruism of thewriting profession that awriter hasonly one book within him. This seems applicable in my case, because | am now in the fifth decade of
continuous writing on a single subject, theinside story of the Federal Reserve System. Thisbook was from itsinception commissioned and guided by Ezra
Pound. Four of his protégés have previously been awarded the Nobel Prizefor Literature, William Butler Yeatsfor hislater poetry, James Joyce for
"Ulysses', Ernest Hemingway for " The Sun Also Rises', and T.S. Elliot for " The Waste Land" . Pound played a major rolein theinspiration and in the
editing of these wor ks--which leads usto believe that this present work, also inspired by Pound, represents an ongoing literary tradition.

Although thisbook in itsinception was expected to be a tortuous work on economic and monetary techniques, it soon developed into a story of such
universal and dramatic appeal that from the outset, Ezra Pound urged meto writeit asa detective story, a genre which wasinvented by my fellow
Virginian, Edgar Allan Poe. | believe that the continuous circulation of thisbook during the past forty years has not only exonerated Ezra Pound for his
much condemned political and monetary statements, but also that it has been, and will continue to be, the ultimate weapon against the power ful
conspiratorswho compelled him to servethirteen and a half yearswithout trial, asa political prisoner held in an insane asylum ala KGB. His earliest
vindication came when the gover nment agents who represented the conspiratorsrefused to allow him to testify in hisown defense; the second vindication
camein 1958 when these same agents dropped all charges against him, and he walked out of St. Elizabeth’s Hospital, a free man once more. Histhird and
final vindication isthiswork, which documents every aspect of hisexposure of the ruthlessinternational financiersto whom Ezra Pound became but one
mor e victim, doomed to serve yearsasthe Man in thelron Mask, because he had dared to alert hisfellow-Americansto their furtive acts of treason against
all people of the United States.

In my lecturesthroughout this nation, and in my appearances on many radio and television programs, | have sounded the toxin that the Federal Reserve
System isnot Federal; it hasno reserves; and it isnot a system at all, but rather, a criminal syndicate. From November, 1910, when the conspirators met on
Jekyll Island, Georgia, to the present time, the machinations of the Federal Reserve bankers have been shrouded in secrecy. Today, that secrecy has cost the
American peopleathreetrillion dollar debt, with annual interest paymentsto these bankers amounting to some three hundred billion dollars per year, sums
which stagger theimagination, and which in themselves are ultimately unpayable. Officials of the Federal Reserve System routinely issue remonstrancesto
the public, much asthe Hindu fakir pipesan insistent tune to the dazed cobra which swaysits head before him, not to resolve the situation, but to prevent it
from striking him. Such wasthe soothing letter written by Donald J. Winn, Assistant to the Board of Governorsin responseto an inquiry by a
Congressman, the Honor able Norman D. Shumway, on March 10, 1983. Mr. Winn statesthat " The Federal Reserve System was established by an act of
Congressin 1913 and isnot a ‘private corporation’." On the next page, Mr. Winn continues, " The stock of the Federal Reserve Banksisheld entirely by
commercial banksthat are membersof the Federal Reserve System." He offers no explanation asto why the gover nment has never owned a single shar e of
stock in any Federal Reserve Bank, or why the Federal Reserve System isnot a " private corporation” when all of its stock isowned by " private
corporations".

American history in the twentieth century hasrecorded the amazing achievements of the Feder al Reserve bankers. First, the outbreak of World War |,
which was made possible by the funds available from the new central bank of the United States. Second, the Agricultural Depression of 1920. Third, the
Black Friday Crash on Wall Street of October, 1929 and the ensuing Great Depression. Fourth, World War I1. Fifth, the conversion of the assets of the
United States and its citizensfrom real property to paper assetsfrom 1945 to the present, transforming a victorious America and foremost world power in
1945 to theworld’slargest debtor nation in 1990. Today, this nation liesin economic ruins, devastated and destitute, in much the same dire straitsin which
Germany and Japan found themselvesin 1945. Will Americans act to rebuild our nation, as Ger many and Japan have done when they faced the identical
conditions which we now face--or will we continue to be enslaved by the Babylonian debt money system which was set up by the Federal Reserve Act in 1913
to complete our total destruction? Thisisthe only question which we have to answer, and we do not have much time left to answer it.



Because of the depth and the importance of the information which | had developed at the Library of Congress under the tutelage of Ezra Pound, thiswork
became the happy hunting ground for many other would-be historians, who wer e unableto resear ch thismaterial for themselves. Over the past four
decades, | have become accustomed to seeing thismaterial appear in many other books, invariably attributed to other writers, with my name never
mentioned. To add insult to injury, not only my material, but even my title has been appropriated, in a massive, if obtuse, work called " Secrets of the
Temple--the Federal Reserve" . Thisheavily advertised book received reviewsranging from incredulous to hilarious. Forbes Magazine advised itsreadersto
read their review and save their money, pointing out that " areader will discover no secrets' and that " Thisisone of those books whose fanfares far exceed
their merit." Thiswasnot accidental, asthis overblown whitewash of the Federal Reserve banker s was published by the most famous nonbook publisher in

theworld.

After my initial shock at discovering that the most influential literary personality of the twentieth century, Ezra Pound, wasimprisoned in " the Hellhole" in
Washington, | immediately wrote for assistanceto a Wall Street financier at whose estate | had frequently been a guest. | reminded him that as a patron of
thearts, he could not afford to allow Pound to remain in such inhuman captivity. Hisreply shocked me even more. Hewrote back that " your friend can well
stay whereheis." It was some yearsbefore| was ableto understand that, for thisinvestment banker and his colleagues, Ezra Pound would alwaysbe " the

enemy" .

Eustace Mullins
Jackson Hole,Wyoming
1991

| ntroduction

Here arethe ssimplefacts of the great betrayal. Wilson and House knew that they wer e doing something momentous. One cannot fathom men’s motives and
thispair probably believed in what they were up to. What they did not believe in was representative gover nment. They believed in government by an
uncontrolled oligar chy whose acts would only become apparent after an interval so long that the electorate would be forever incapable of doing anything

efficient to remedy depredations.

EZRA POUND



(St. Elizabeth’s Hospital, Washington, D.C. 1950)

(AUTHOR’SNOTE: Dr. Pound wrotethisintroduction for the earliest version of thisbook, published by Kasper and Horton, New York, 1952. Because he
was being held as a political prisoner without trial by the Federal Gover nment, he could not afford to allow his name to appear on the book because of
additional reprisals against him. Neither could he allow the book to be dedicated to him, although he had commissioned itswriting. The author isgratified
to be able to remedy these necessary omissions, thirty-three years after the events.)

JEFFERSON’'S OPINION ON THE

CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE BANK
February 15, 1791

(The Writings of Thomas Jefferson, ed. by H. E. Bergh, Vol. I11, p. 145 ff.)

The bill for establishing a national bank, in 1791, undertakes, among other things,--

1. Toform the subscribersinto a cor poration.

2. Toenablethem, in their corporate capacities, to receive grants of lands; and, so far, isagainst the laws of mortmain.

3. Tomake alien subscribers capable of holding lands; and so far isagainst the laws of alienage.

4. Totransmit these lands, on the death of a proprietor, to a certain line of successors; and so far, changes the cour se of descents.
5. To put the lands out of thereach of forfeiture, or escheat; and so far, isagainst the laws of forfeiture and escheat.

6. To transmit personal chattelsto successors, in a certain line; and so far, isagainst the laws of distribution.

7. To givethem the sole and exclusiveright of banking, under the national authority; and, so far, isagainst the laws of monopoly.

8. To communicate to them a power to make laws, paramount to the laws of the states; for so they must be construed, to protect theinstitution from the
control of the state legislatur es; and so probably they will be construed.

| consider the foundation of the Constitution aslaid on this ground--that all powersnot delegated to the United States, by the Constitution, nor prohibited



by it to the states, arereserved to the states, or to the people (12th amend.). To take a single step beyond the boundaries thus specially drawn around the
power s of Congress, isto take possession of a boundless field of power, no longer susceptible of any definition.

Theincorporation of a bank, and the power s assumed by this bill, have not, in my opinion, been delegated to the United States by the Constitution.

CHAPTER ONE
Jekyll Island

"The matter of a uniform discount rate was discussed and settled at Jekyll Island." --Paul M. Warburgl

On the night of November 22, 1910, a group of newspaper reportersstood disconsolately in therailway station at Hoboken, New Jersey. They had just
watched a delegation of the nation’sleading financiers leave the station on a secret mission. It would be year s before they discover ed what that mission was,
and even then they would not under stand that the history of the United States underwent a drastic change after that night in Hoboken.

The delegation had left in a sealed railway car, with blindsdrawn, for an undisclosed destination. They wereled by Senator Nelson Aldrich, head of the
National Monetary Commission. President Theodore Roosevelt had signed into law the bill creating the National Monetary Commission in 1908, after the
tragic Panic of 1907 had resulted in a public outcry that the nation’s monetary system be stabilized. Aldrich had led the member s of the Commission on a
two-year tour of Europe, spending some three hundred thousand dollars of public money. He had not yet made areport on theresults of thistrip, nor had
he offered any plan for banking reform.

Accompanying Senator Aldrich at the Hoboken station were his private secretary, Shelton; A. Piatt Andrew, Assistant Secretary of the Treasury, and
Special Assistant of the National Monetary Commission; Frank Vanderlip, president of the National City Bank of New York, Henry P. Davison, senior
partner of J.P. Morgan Company, and generally regarded as Morgan’s personal emissary; and Charles D. Norton, president of the Morgan-dominated Fir st
National Bank of New York. Joining the group just beforethetrain left the station were Benjamin Strong, also known as a lieutenant of J.P. Morgan; and
Paul Warburg, arecent immigrant from Germany who had joined the banking house of Kuhn, L oeb

1 Prof. Nathaniel Wright Stephenson, Paul Warburg's Memorandum, Nelson Aldrich A Leader in American Politics, Scribners, N.Y. 1930
1

and Company, New York asa partner earning five hundred thousand dollarsa year.
Six yearslater, afinancial writer named Bertie Charles Forbes (who later founded the Forbes M agazine; the present editor, Malcom For bes, is his son),
wrote:

"Picturea party of the nation’s greatest banker s stealing out of New York on a privaterailroad car under cover of darkness, stealthily hieing hundred of miles South,
embarking on a mysterious

launch, sneaking onto an island deserted by all but a few servants, living there a full week under
such rigid secrecy that the names of not one of them was once mentioned lest the servantslearn
the identity and disclose to the world this strangest, most secret expedition in the history of

American finance. | am not romancing; | am giving to theworld, for thefirst time, thereal story



of how thefamous Aldrich currency report, the foundation of our new currency system, was
written . . .. The utmost secrecy was enjoined upon all. The public must not glean a hint of what
wasto be done. Senator Aldrich notified each oneto go quietly into a private car of which the
railroad had received ordersto draw up on an unfrequented platform. Off the party set. New
York’subiquitous reportershad been foiled . . . Nelson (Aldrich) had confided to Henry, Frank,
Paul and Piatt that he was to keep them locked up at Jekyll Island, out of therest of theworld,
until they had evolved and compiled a scientific currency system for the United States, thereal
birth of the present Federal Reserve System, the plan done on Jekyll Island in the conference with
Paul, Frank and Henry .. .. Warburgisthelink that bindsthe Aldrich system and the present

system together. He more than any one man has made the system possible as a working reality." 2

The official biography of Senator Nelson Aldrich states:

"In the autumn of 1910, six men went out to shoot ducks, Aldrich, his secretary Shelton, Andrews, Davison, Vanderlip and Warburg. Reporterswere waiting at the Brunswick
(Georgia) station. Mr. Davison went out and talked to them. Thereportersdispersed and the secret of the strange journey was not divulged. Mr. Aldrich asked him how he had
managed it and he did not volunteer the information." 3

Davison had an excellent reputation as the person who could conciliate warring factions, arole he had performed for J.P. Morgan during the settling of the
Money Panic of 1907. Another Morgan partner, T.W. Lamont, says.

"Henry P. Davison served as arbitrator of the Jekyll Island expedition." 4

2" CURRENT OPINION", December, 1916, p. 382.
3 Nathaniel Wright Stephenson, Nelson W. Aldrich, A Leader in American Politics, Scribners, N.Y. 1930, Chap. XX1V " Jekyll Island"
4 T.W. Lamont, Henry P. Davison, Harper, 1933

From thesereferences, it is possible to piece together the story. Aldrich’s private car, which had left Hoboken station with its shades drawn, had taken the
financiersto Jekyll Isand, Georgia. Some yearsearlier, a very exclusive group of millionaires, led by J.P. Morgan, had purchased theisland as a winter
retreat. They called themselvesthe Jekyll Isand Hunt Club, and, at first, theisland was used only for hunting expeditions, until the millionairesrealized
that its pleasant climate offered a warm retreat from therigorsof wintersin New York, and began to build splendid mansions, which they called " cottages’,
for their families winter vacations. The club building itself, being quite isolated, was sometimes in demand for stag parties and other pursuitsunrelated to
hunting. On such occasions, the club memberswho were not invited to these specific outings wer e asked not to appear therefor a certain number of days.
Before Nelson Aldrich’s party had left New York, the club’s member s had been notified that the club would be occupied for the next two weeks.

The Jekyll 1sland Club was chosen as the place to draft the plan for control of the money and credit of the people of the United States, not only because of its
isolation, but also because it wasthe private preserve of the people who were drafting the plan. The New York Timeslater noted, on May 3, 1931, in
commenting on the death of George F. Baker, one of J.P. Morgan’s closest associates, that " Jekyll Island Club haslost one of its most distinguished
members. One-sixth of the total wealth of the world was represented by the members of the Jekyll Island Club." Membership was by inheritance only.



TheAldrich group had nointerest in hunting. Jekyll 1sland was chosen for the site of the preparation of the central bank because it offered complete
privacy, and because therewas not a journalist within fifty miles. Such was the need for secrecy that the members of the party agreed, before arriving at
Jekyll Island, that no last nameswould be used at any time during their two week stay. The group later referred to themselves asthe First Name Club, as
the last names of Warburg, Strong, Vanderlip and the otherswer e prohibited during their stay. The customary attendants had been given two week
vacations from the club, and new servants brought in from the mainland for this occasion who did not know the names of any of those present. Even if they
had been interrogated after the Aldrich party went back to New York, they could not have given the names. This arrangement proved to be so satisfactory
that the members, limited to those who had actually been present at Jekyll Island, later had a number of informal get-togethersin New York.

Why all this secrecy? Why thisthousand miletrip in a closed railway car to aremote hunting club? Ostensibly, it wasto carry out a program of public
service, to prepar e banking reform which would be a boon to the people of the United States, which had been ordered by the National

3

Monetary Commission. The participants were no strangersto public benefactions. Usually, their names wereinscribed on brass plaques, or on the exteriors
of buildingswhich they had donated. Thiswas not the procedure which they followed at Jekyll | sland. No brass plaque was ever erected to mark the selfless
actions of those who met at their private hunt club in 1910 to improve the lot of every citizen of the United States.

In fact, no benefaction took place at Jekyll 1sland. The Aldrich group journeyed therein private to write the banking and currency legislation which the
National Monetary Commission had been ordered to preparein public. At stake wasthe future control of the money and credit of the United States. |f any
genuine monetary reform had been prepared and presented to Congress, it would have ended the power of the elitist one world money creators. Jekyll
Island ensured that a central bank would be established in the United States which would give these banker s everything they had always wanted.

Asthe most technically proficient of those present, Paul War burg was charged with doing most of the drafting of the plan. Hiswork would then be
discussed and gone over by therest of the group. Senator Nelson Aldrich wasthereto seethat the completed plan would come out in a form which he could
get passed by Congress, and the other banker swerethereto include whatever details would be needed to be certain that they got everything they wanted, in
afinished draft composed during a onetime stay. After they returned to New York, there could be no second get together to rework their plan. They could
not hopeto obtain such secrecy for their work on a second jour ney.

The Jekyll 1sland group remained at the club for nine days, working furiously to complete their task. Despite the common inter ests of those present, the
work did not proceed without friction. Senator Aldrich, always a domineering person, consider ed himself the chosen leader of the group, and could not help
ordering everyone else about. Aldrich also felt somewhat out of place asthe only member who was not a professional banker. He had had substantial
banking interests throughout his career, but only as a person who profited from his owner ship of bank stock. He knew little about the technical aspects of
financial operations. His opposite number, Paul Warburg, believed that every question raised by the group demanded, not merely an answer, but a lecture.
Herarely lost an opportunity to give the membersalong discour se designed to impress them with the extent of his knowledge of banking. Thiswas resented
by the others, and often drew barbed remarksfrom Aldrich. The natural diplomacy of Henry P. Davison proved to be the catalyst which kept them at their
work. Warburg'sthick alien accent grated on them, and constantly reminded them that they had to accept his presenceif a central bank plan wasto be
devised which would guarantee them their future pro-

fits. Warburg made little effort to smooth over their preudices, and contested them on every possible occasion on technical banking questions, which he
considered hisprivate preserve.

"In all conspiraciesthere must be great secrecy." 5

The" monetary reform” plan prepared at Jekyll Island wasto be presented to Congress as the completed work of the National Monetary Commission. It



was imper ative that thereal authors of the bill remain hidden. So great was popular resentment against banker s since the Panic of 1907 that no
Congressman would dareto vote for a bill bearing the Wall Street taint, no matter who had contributed to his campaign expenses. The Jekyll Island plan
was a central bank plan, and in this country there was a long tradition of struggle against inflicting a central bank on the American people. It had begun
with Thomas Jeffer son’sfight against Alexander Hamilton’s schemefor the First Bank of the United States, backed by James Rothschild. It had continued
with President Andrew Jackson’s successful war against Alexander Hamilton’s scheme for the Second Bank of the United States, in which Nicholas Biddle
was acting as the agent for James Rothschild of Paris. Theresult of that struggle wasthe creation of the Independent Sub-Treasury System, which
supposedly had served to keep the funds of the United States out of the hands of the financiers. A study of the panics of 1873, 1893, and 1907 indicates that
these panics were theresult of theinternational bankers operationsin London. The public was demanding in 1908 that Congr ess enact legislation to
prevent the recurrence of artificially induced money panics. Such monetary reform now seemed inevitable. It wasto head off and control such reform that
the National M onetary Commission had been set up with Nelson Aldrich at its head, since he was majority leader of the Senate.

The main problem, as Paul Warburg informed his colleagues, wasto avoid the name " Central Bank" . For that reason, he had decided upon the designation
of " Federal Reserve System" . Thiswould deceive the peopleinto thinking it was not a central bank. However, the Jekyll Island plan would be a central
bank plan, fulfilling the main functions of a central bank; it would be owned by private individuals who would profit from owner ship of shares. Asa bank of
issue, it would control the nation’s money and credit.

In the chapter on Jekyll Island in his biography of Aldrich, Stephenson writes of the conference:

"How was the Reserve Bank to be controlled? It must be controlled by Congress. The government

wasto berepresented in the board of directors, it wasto have full knowledge of all the Bank’s,

affairs, but amajority

5 Clarendon, Hist. Reb. 1647

of thedirectorswereto be chosen, directly or indirectly, by the banks of the association.” 6

Thusthe proposed Federal Reserve Bank wasto be " controlled by Congress' and answer able to the gover nment, but the majority of the directorswereto
be chosen, " directly or indirectly" by the banks of the association. In thefinal refinement of Warburg's plan, the Federal Reserve Board of Governors
would be appointed by the President of the United States, but the real work of the Board would be controlled by a Federal Advisory Council, meeting with
the Governors. The Council would be chosen by the director s of the twelve Federal Reserve Banks, and would remain unknown to the public.

The next consideration wasto conceal the fact that the proposed " Federal Reserve System” would be dominated by the masters of the New York money
market. The Congressmen from the South and the West could not surviveif they voted for a Wall Street plan. Farmersand small businessmen in those
ar eas had suffered most from the money panics. There had been great popular resentment against the Eastern bankers, which during the nineteenth
century became a political movement known as" populism” . The private papers of Nicholas Biddle, not released until morethan a century after hisdeath,
show that quite early on the Eastern banker s wer e fully awar e of the widespread public opposition to them.

Paul Warburg advanced at Jekyll Island the primary deception which would prevent the citizens from recognizing that his plan set up a central bank. This
was theregional reserve system. He proposed a system of four (later twelve) branch reserve bankslocated in different sections of the country. Few people
outside the banking world would realize that the existing concentration of the nation’s money and credit structurein New York made the proposal of a
regional reserve system a delusion.

Another proposal advanced by Paul Warburg at Jekyll 1sland was the manner of selection of administratorsfor the proposed regional reserve system.



Senator Nelson Aldrich had insisted that the officials should be appointive, not elected, and that Congress should have norolein their selection. His Capitol
Hill experience had taught him that congressional opinion would often be inimical to the Wall Street interests, as Congressmen from the West and South
might wish to demonstrateto their constituentsthat they were protecting them against the Eastern bankers.

Warburg responded that the administrator s of the proposed central banks should be subject to executive approval by the President. This patent removal of
the system from Congressional control meant that the

6 Nathaniel Wright Stephenson, Nelson W. Aldrich, A Leader in American Palitics, Scribners, N.Y. 1930, Chap. XXIV " Jekyll Isand" p. 379
6

Federal Reserve proposal was unconstitutional from itsinception, because the Federal Reserve System wasto be a bank of issue. Article 1, Sec. 8, Par. 5 of
the Constitution expressly charges Congresswith " the power to coin money and regulate the value thereof." . Warburg's plan would deprive Congress of its
sovereignty, and the systems of checks and balances of power set up by Thomas Jefferson in the Constitution would now be destroyed. Administratorsof the
proposed system would control the nation’s money and credit, and would themselves be approved by the executive department of the government. The
judicial department (the Supreme Court, etc.) was already virtually controlled by the executive department through presidential appointment to the bench.

Paul Warburg later wrote a massive exposition of hisplan, The Federal Reserve System, Its Origin and Growth7 of some 1750 pages, but the name " Jekyll
Island" appearsnowherein thistext. He does state (Vol. 1, p. 58):
" But then the conference closed, after a week of earnest deliberation, the rough draft of what later

becamethe Aldrich Bill had been agreed upon, and a plan had been outlined which provided for a ‘National Reserve Association,” meaning a central reserve organization with
an elastic note issue based on gold and commercial paper."

On page 60, Warburgwrites, " Theresults of the conference wer e entirely confidential. Even the fact there had been a meeting was not per mitted to become
public.” Headdsin afootnote, " Though eighteen [sic] years have since gone by, | do not feel free to give a description of thismost inter esting conference
concerning which Senator Aldrich pledged all participantsto secrecy.”

B.C. Forbes revelation8 of the secret expedition to Jekyll Island, had had surprisingly littleimpact. It did not appear in print until two years after the
Federal Reserve Act had been passed by Congress, hence it was never read during the period when it could have had an effect, that

7 Paul Warburg, The Federal Reserve System, I1ts Origin and Growth, Volumel, p. 58, Macmillan, New York, 1930
8 CURRENT OPINION, December, 1916, p. 382

7
is, during the Congressional debate on the bill. Forbes' story was also dismissed, by those " in the know," as preposterous, and a mereinvention. Stephenson
mentionsthis on page 484 of hisbook about Aldrich.9

"This curious episode of Jekyll Island has been generally regarded as a myth. B.C. Forbes got

someinformation from one of thereporters. It told in vague outline the Jekyll I sland story, but

made no impression and was generally regarded asa mereyarn."



The coverup of the Jekyll Island confer ence proceeded along two lines, both of which were successful. Thefirst, as Stephenson mentions, wasto dismissthe
entire story as a romantic concoction which never actually took place. Although therewere brief referencesto Jekyll Island in later books concer ning the
Federal Reserve System, these also attracted little public attention. Aswe have noted, Warburg's massive and supposedly definite work on the Federal
Reserve System does not mention Jekyll Island at all, although he does admit that a conference took place. In none of his voluminous speeches or writings do
thewords" Jekyll Island" appear, with a single notable exception. He agreed to Professor Stephenson’srequest that he prepare a brief statement for the
Aldrich biography. Thisappearson page 485 as part of " The Warburg Memorandum” . In this excer pt, Warburg writes, " The matter of a uniform discount
rate was discussed and settled at Jekyll Island.”

Another member of the" First Name Club" waslessreticent. Frank Vanderlip later published a few brief referencesto the conference. In the Saturday
Evening Post, February 9, 1935, p. 25, Vanderlip wrote:

" Despite my views about the value to society of greater publicity for the affairs of corporations,

there was an occasion near the close of 1910, when | was as secr etive, indeed, asfurtive, asany

conspirator. . .. Sinceit would have been fatal to Senator Aldrich’splan to haveit known that he

was calling on anybody from Wall Street to help him in preparing hisbill, precautions wer e taken that would have delighted the heart of James Stillman (a colorful and secretive
banker who was President of the National City Bank during the Spanish-American War, and who was thought to have been involved in getting usinto that war) . . . | do not feel
it isany exaggeration to speak of our secret expedition to Jekyll Island asthe occasion of the actual conception of what eventually became the Federal Reserve System.”

InaTravel featurein The Washington Post, March 27, 1983, " Follow The Rich to Jekyll Island", Roy Hoopeswrites:

"1n 1910, when Aldrich and four financial expertswanted a placeto meet in secret toreform the
country’s banking system, they faked a hunting trip to Jekyll and for 10 days holed up in the

Clubhouse, wher e they made plans for what eventually would become the Federal Reserve Bank."

9 Nathaniel Wright Stephenson, Nelson W. Aldrich, A Leader in American Politics, Scribners, N.Y. 1930, Chap. XXIV " Jekyll Island" p. 379
8

Vanderlip later wrotein hisautobiography, From Farmboy to Financier:10

" Our secret expedition to Jekyll | sland was the occasion of the actual conception of what

eventually became the Federal Reserve System. The essential points of the Aldrich Plan were

all contained in the Federal Reserve Act asit was passed.”

Professor E.R.A. Seligman, a member of theinternational banking family of J. & W. Seligman, and head of the Department of Economics at Columbia
University, wrotein an essay published by the Academy of Palitical Science, Proceedings, v. 4, No. 4, p. 387-90:
"It isknown to a very few how great isthe indebtedness of the United Statesto Mr. Warburg. For

it may be said without fear of contradiction that in its fundamental featuresthe Federal Reserve

Act isthework of Mr. Warburg morethan any other man in the country. The existence of a

Federal Reserve Board creates, in everything but in name, areal central bank. In thetwo

fundamentals of command of reserves and of a discount policy, the Federal Reserve Act has

frankly accepted the principle of the Aldrich Bill, and these principles, as has been stated, were the creation of Mr. Warburg and Mr. Warburg alone. It must not be forgotten



that Mr. Warburg had a practical object in view. In formulating his plansand in advancing in them dlightly varying
suggestions from timeto time, it wasincumbent on him to remember that the education of the

country must be gradual and that a large part of the task wasto break down prejudices and remove suspicion. His plans ther efor e contained all sorts of elabor ate suggestions
designed to guard the public against fancied dangers and to per suade the country that the general schemewasat all practicable. It wasthe hope of Mr. Warburg that with the
lapse of time it might be possible to eliminate from the law a few clauses which wereinserted largely at his suggestion for educational purposes.”

Now that the public debt of the United States has passed a trillion dollars, we may indeed admit " how great isthe indebtedness of the United Statesto Mr.
Warburg." At thetime hewrote the Federal Reserve Act, the public debt was almost nonexistent.

Professor Seligman points out Warburg'sremarkable presciencethat thereal task of the members of the Jekyll 1sland confer ence wasto prepare a banking
plan which would gradually " educate the country” and " break down pre udices and remove suspicion” . The campaign to enact the plan into law succeeded
in doing just that.

10 Frank Vanderlip, From Farmboy to Financier

CHAPTER TWO

The Aldrich Plan

" Finance and thetariff arereserved by Nelson Aldrich asfalling within his sole purview and jurisdiction. Mr. Aldrich isendeavoring to devise, through the National M onetary Commission, a banking
and currency law. A great many hundred thousand persons are firmly of the opinion that Mr. Aldrich sumsup in his personality the greatest and most sinister menace to the popular welfare of the
United States. Ernest Newman recently said, ‘What the South visits on the Negro in a political way, Aldrich would mete out to the mudsills of the North, if he could devise a safe and practical way to
accomplishit.”" --Har per’s Weekly, May 7, 1910."

The participantsin the Jekyll Island conferencereturned to New York to direct a nationwide propaganda campaign in favor of the" Aldrich Plan". Three
of theleading universities, Princeton, Harvard, and the University of Chicago, were used astherallying pointsfor this propaganda, and national banks had
to contribute to a fund of five million dollarsto persuade the American public that this central bank plan should be enacted into law by Congress.

Woodrow Wilson, governor of New Jersey and former president of Princeton University, was enlisted as a spokesman for the Aldrich Plan. During the
Panic of 1907, Wilson had declared, " All thistrouble could be averted if we appointed a committee of six or seven public-spirited men like J.P. Morgan to
handlethe affairs of our country."

In hisbiography of Nelson Aldrich in 1930, Stephenson says.

" A pamphlet wasissued January 16, 1911, ‘ Suggested Plan for Monetary Legislation’, by Hon. Nelson Aldrich, based on Jekyll Island conclusions." Stephenson says on page 388, " An organization for
financial progress has been formed. Mr. Warburg introduced a resolution authorizing the establishment of the Citizens' League, later the National CitizensLeague. . . Professor Laughlin of the
University of Chicago was given charge of the L eagu€e’s propaganda.” 11

It isnotable that Stephenson characterizesthe work of the National Citizens L eague as" propaganda”, in linewith Seligman’s exposition of




11 Nathaniel Wright Stephenson, Nelson W. Aldrich, A Leader in American Politics, Scribners, N.Y. 1930
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Warburg' swork as" the education of the country" and "to break down preudices’.

Much of the five million dollars of the bankers slush fund was spent under the auspices of the National Citizens' L eague, which was made up of college
professors. The two most tireless propagandistsfor the Aldrich Plan were Professor O.M. Sprague of Harvard, and J. Laurence Laughlin of the University
of Chicago.

Congressman Charles A. Lindbergh, Sr., notes:

"J. Laurence Laughlin, Chairman of the Executive Committee of the National Citizens' League sinceitsorganization, has returned to his position as professor of political economicsin the University of
Chicago. In June, 1911, Professor Laughlin was given ayear’sleave from the university, that he might give all of histimeto the campaign of education undertaken by the League. . . He hasworked
indefatigably, and it islargely dueto his efforts and his persistence that the campaign entersthe final stage with flattering prospects of a successful outcome. . . Thereader knowsthat the University of
Chicago isan institution endowed by John D. Rockefeller, with nearly fifty million dollars." 12

In hisbiography of Nelson Aldrich, Stephenson revealsthat the Citizens' League was also a Jekyll Island product. In chapter 24 we find that: The Aldrich
Plan wasrepresented to Congress astheresult of three years of work, study and travel by members of the National M onetary Commission, with
expenditures of more than three hundred thousand dollars.*

Testifying before the Committee on Rules, December 15, 1911, after the Aldrich plan had been introduced in Congress, Congressman Lindbergh stated,

" Our financial system isafalse oneand a huge burden on the people. . . | havealleged that thereisa Money Trust. The Aldrich plan isa scheme plainly in theinterest of the Trust . .. Why doesthe
Money Trust pressso hard for the Aldrich Plan now, befor e the people know what the money trust has been doing?"

Lindbergh continued his speech,

"TheAldrich Plan isthe Wall Street Plan. It isa broad challenge to the Government by the champion of the Money Trust. It means another panic, if necessary, to intimidate the people. Aldrich, paid
by the Gover nment to represent the people, proposesa plan for thetrustsinstead. It was by a very clever movethat the National Monetary Commission was created. In 1907 natur e responded most
beautifully and gave this country the most bountiful crop it had ever had. Other industries were busy too, and from a natural standpoint all the conditionswereright for a most

12 CharlesA. Lindbergh, Sr., Banking, Currency and the Money Trust, 1913, p. 131
* |n 1911, the Aldrich Plan became part of the official platform of the Republican Party.
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prosperousyear. Instead, a panic entailed enormous losses upon us. Wall Street knew the American people were demanding a remedy against the recurrence of such aridiculously unnatural condition.
Most Senators and Representativesfell into the Wall Street trap and passed the Aldrich Vreeland Emergency Currency Bill. But thereal purpose wasto get a monetary commission which would frame
a proposition for amendmentsto our currency and banking laws which would suit the Money Trust. Theinterests are now busy everywhere educating the peoplein favor of the Aldrich Plan. It is
reported that a large sum of money has been raised for thispurpose. Wall Street speculation brought on the Panic of 1907. The depositors funds wer e loaned to gamblersand anybody the Money Trust
wanted to favour. Then when the depositorswanted their money, the banks did not haveit. That made the panic.”

Edward Vreeland, co-author of the bill, wrotein the August 25, 1910 I ndependent (which was owned by Aldrich), " Under the proposed monetary plan of
Senator Aldrich, monopolieswill disappear, because they will not be able to make more than four percent interest and monopolies cannot continue at such a
low rate. Also, thiswill mark the disappear ance of the Gover nment from the banking business.”

Vreeland’ s fantastic claimswer e typical of the propaganda flood unleashed to passthe Aldrich Plan. M onopolies would disappear, the Gover nment would
disappear from the banking business. Pie in the sky.

Nation Magazine, January 19, 1911, noted, " The name of Central Bank is car efully avoided, but the ‘Federal Reserve Association’, the name given to the
proposed central organization, is endowed with the usual powers and responsibilities of a European Central Bank."

After the National Monetary Commission had returned from Europe, it held no official meetingsfor nearly two years. No records or minutes wer e ever
presented showing who had authored the Aldrich Plan. Since they held no official meetings, the member s of the commission could hardly claim the Plan as
their own. The soletangible result of the Commission’sthree hundred thousand dollar expenditurewasa library of thirty massive volumes on European
banking. Typical of these worksisathousand page history of the Reichsbank, the central bank which controlled money and credit in Germany, and whose
principal stockholders, werethe Rothschilds and Paul Warburg'sfamily banking house of M.M. Warburg Company. The Commission’srecords show that
it never functioned as a deliberative body. Indeed, itsonly " meeting" wasthe secret conference held at Jekyll |sland, and this conference is not mentioned in
any publication of the Commission. Senator Cummins passed a resolution in Congress ordering the Commission to report on January 8, 1912, and show
some constructive results of itsthreeyears work. In the face of this challenge, the National M onetary Commission ceased to exist.
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With their five million dollarsasawar chest, the Aldrich Plan propagandists waged a no-holds barred war against their opposition. Andrew Frame testified
before the House Banking and Currency Committee of the American Bankers Association. He represented a group of Western banker s who opposed the
Aldrich Plan:

CHAIRMAN CARTER GLASS: "Why didn’t the Western banker s make themselves heard when the American Bankers Association gave its unqualified and, we ar e assur ed, unanimous approval of
the scheme proposed by the National Monetary Commission?"

ANDREW FRAME: " I’'m glad you called my attention to that. When that monetary bill was given to the country, it was but a few days previous to the meeting of the American Bankers Association in
New Orleansin 1911. Therewas not one banker in a hundred who had read that bill. We had twelve addressesin favor of it. General Hamby of Austin, Texas, wrote a letter to President Watts asking
for ahearing against the bill. He did not get a very courteous answer. | refused to vote on it, and a great many other bankersdid likewise."

MR. BULKLEY: " Do you mean that no member of the Association could be heard in opposition to the bill?"
ANDREW FRAME: " They throttled all argument.”
MR. KINDRED: " But thereport was given out that it was practically unanimous.”

ANDREW FRAME: " Thebill had already been prepared by Senator Aldrich and presented to the executive council of the American Bankers Association in May, 1911. Asa member of that council, |
received a copy the day beforethey acted upon it. When the bill camein at New Orleans, the banker s of the United States had not read it."

MR. KINDRED: " Did the presiding officer simply rule out those who wanted to discussit negatively?"
ANDREW FRAME: " They would not allow anyone on the program who was not in favor of the bill."

CHAIRMAN GLASS: "What significance hasthefact that at the next annual meeting of the American Bankers Association held at Detroit in 1912, the Association did not reiter ateits endor sement of
the plan of the National Monetary Commission, known asthe Aldrich scheme?"



ANDREW FRAME: " It did not reiter ate the endor sement for the simple fact that the backer s of the Aldrich Plan knew that the Association would not endorseit. We wereready for them, but they did
not bring it up."
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Andrew Frame exposed the collusion which in 1911 procured an endor sement of the Aldrich Plan from the American Bankers Association but which in
1912 did not even dareto repeat its endorsement, for fear of an honest and open discussion of the merits of the plan.

Chairman Glassthen called aswitness one of the ten most power ful bankersin the United States, George Blumenthal, partner of theinternational banking
house of Lazard Freresand brother-in-law of Eugene Meyer, Jr. Carter Glass effusively welcomed Blumenthal, stating that " Senator O’ Gorman of New
York was kind enough to suggest your nameto us." A year later, O’ Gorman prevented a Senate Committee from asking his master, Paul Warburg, any
embarrassing questions befor e approving his nomination asthefirst Governor of the Federal Reserve Board.

Geor ge Blumenthal stated, " Since 1893 my firm of Lazard Freres has been foremost in importations and exportations of gold and hasthereby comeinto
contact with everybody who had anything to do with it."

Congressman Taylor asked, " Have you a statement there asto the part you have had in the importation of gold into the United States?" Taylor asked this
because the Panic of 1893 is known to economists as a classic example of a money panic caused by gold movements.

"No," replied George Blumenthal, " | have nothing at all on that, becauseit isnot bearing on the question.”

A banker from Philadelphia, L eslie Shaw, dissented with other witnesses at these hearings, criticizing the much vaunted " decentralization" of the System.
Hesaid, " Under the Aldrich Plan the bankers areto havelocal associations and district associations, and when you have a local or ganization, the centered
control isassured. Suppose we have a local association in Indianapolis, can you not name the three men who will dominate that association? And then can
you not namethe one man everywher e else. When you have hooked the bankstogether, they can have the biggest influence of anything in this country, with
the exception of the newspapers.”

To promotethe Democratic currency bill, Carter Glass made public the sorry record of the Republican efforts of Senator Aldrich’s National Monetary
Commission. HisHouse Report in 1913 said, " Senator M acVeagh fixesthe cost of the National Monetary Commission to May 12, 1911 at $207,130. They
have since spent another hundred thousand dollars of the taxpayer’s money. Thework done at such cost cannot be ignored, but, having examined the
extensive literature published by the Commission, the Banking and Currency Committee findslittle that bears upon the present state of the credit market of
the United States. We object to the Aldrich Bill on the following points:

14

Itsentirelack of adequate government or public control of the banking mechanism it setsup.

Itstendency to throw voting control into the hands of the lar ge banks of the system.

The extreme danger of inflation of currency inherent in the system.

Theinsincerity of the bond-funding plan provided for by the measure, there being a barefaced pretense that this system wasto cost the gover nment nothing.

The danger ous monopolistic aspects of the bill.



Our Committee at the outset of itswork was met by a well-defined sentiment in favor of a central bank which was the manifest outgrowth of the work that
had been done by the National Monetary Commission."

Glass sdenunciation of the Aldrich Bill asa central bank plan ignored the fact that hisown Federal Reserve Act would fulfill all the functions of a central
bank. Its stock would be owned by private stockholder swho could use the credit of the Government for their own profit; it would have control of the
nation’s money and credit resour ces, and it would be a bank of issue which would finance the government by " mobilizing" credit in time of war. In" The
Rationale of Central Banking," Vera C. Smith (Committee for Monetary Resear ch and Education, June, 1981) writes, " The primary definition of a central
bank isa banking system in which a single bank has either a complete or residuary monopoly in the noteissue. A central bank isnot a natural product of
banking development. It isimposed from outside or comesinto being asthe result of Government favors.”

Thusa central bank attainsits commanding position from its government granted monopoly of the noteissue. Thisisthe key to its power. Also, the act of
establishing a central bank has a direct inflationary impact because of the fractional reserve system, which allows the creation of book-entry loans and
ther eby, money, a number of timesthe actual " money" which the bank hasin its deposits or reserves.

The Aldrich Plan never cameto a vote in Congress, because the Republicanslost control of the House in 1910, and subsequently lost the Senate and the
Presidency in 1912
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CHAPTER THREE
The Federal Reserve Act

" Our financial system isa false one and a huge burden on the people. . . ThisAct establishesthe most gigantic trust on earth." --Congressman Charles Augustus Lindbergh, Sr.

The speeches of Senator L aFollette and Congressman Lindbergh becamerallying points of opposition to the Aldrich Plan in 1912. They also aroused
popular feeling against the Money Trust. Congressman Lindbergh said, on December 15, 1911, " The government prosecutes other trusts, but supportsthe
money trust. | have been waiting patiently for several yearsfor an opportunity to expose the false money standard, and to show that the greatest of all
favoritism isthat extended by the gover nment to the money trust.”

Senator LaFollette publicly charged that a money trust of fifty men controlled the United States. George F. Baker, partner of J.P. Morgan, on being queried
by reportersasto thetruth of the charge, replied that it was absolutely in error. He said that he knew from personal knowledge that not more than eight
men ran thiscountry.

The Nation Magazinereplied editorially to Senator LaFollettethat " If thereisa Money Trust, it will not be practical to establish that it exercisesits
influence either for good or for bad."

Senator LaFolletteremarksin hismemoirsthat his speech against the Money Trust later cost him the Presidency of the United States, just as Woodr ow
Wilson's early support of the Aldrich Plan had brought him into consideration for that office.

Congressfinally made a gesture to appease popular feeling by appointing a committee to investigate the control of money and credit in the United States.
Thiswasthe Pujo Committee, a subcommittee of the House Banking and Currency Committee, which conducted the famous” Money Trust" hearingsin
1912, under the leader ship of Congressman Arsene Pujo of L ouisiana, who wasregarded as a spokesman for the oil interests. These hearingswere
deliberately dragged on for five months, and resulted in six-thousand pages of printed testimony in four volumes. Month after month, the bankers made the
train trip from New York to Washington, testified before the Committee and returned to New York. The hearings wer e extremely dull, and no startling



information turned up at these sessions. The bankers solemnly admitted that they
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wereindeed bankers, insisted that they always operated in the public interest, and claimed that they were animated only by the highest ideals of public
service, like the Congressmen before whom they wer e testifying.

The paradoxical nature of the Pujo Money Trust Hearings may better be understood if we examine the man who single-handedly carried on these hearings,
Samuel Untermyer. He was one of the principal contributorsto Woodrow Wilson’s Presidential campaign fund, and was one of the wealthiest cor poration
lawyersin New York. He statesin hisautobiography in " Who'sWho" of 1926 that he oncereceived a $775,000 fee for a single legal transaction, the
successful merger of the Utah Copper Company and the Boston Consolidated and Nevada Company, a firm with a market value of one hundred million
dollars. Herefused to ask either Senator LaFollette or Congressman Lindbergh to testify in the investigation which they alone had forced Congressto hold.
As Special Counsel for the Pujo Committee, Untermyer ran the hearings as a one-man operation. The Congressional members, including its chairman,
Congressman Arsene Pujo, seemed to have been struck dumb from the commencement of the hearingsto their conclusion. One of these silent servants of the
public was Congressman James Byr nes, of South Carolina, representing Bernard Baruch’shome district, who later achieved fame as" Baruch’sman”, and
was placed by Baruch in charge of the Office of War Mobilization during the Second World War.

Although he was a specialist in such matters, Untermyer did not ask any of the bankers about the system of interlocking director ates through which they
controlled industry. He did not go into international gold movements, which were known as a factor in money panics, or the international relationships
between American bankersand European bankers. Theinternational banking houses of Eugene Meyer, Lazard Freres, J. & W. Seligman, Ladenburg
Thalmann, Speyer Brothers, M. M. Warburg, and the Rothschild Brothersdid not arouse Samuel Untermyer’s curiosity, although it waswell known in the
New York financial world that all of these family banking houses either had branches or controlled subsidiary housesin Wall Street. When Jacob Schiff
appear ed beforethe Pujo Committee, Mr. Untermyer’s adroit questioning allowed Mr. Schiff to talk for many minutes without revealing any infor mation
about the operations of the banking house of Kuhn L oeb Company, of which he was senior partner, and which Senator Robert L. Owen had identified as
the representative of the European Rothschildsin the United States.

Theaging J.P. Morgan, who had only a few more monthsto live, appeared before the Committee to justify his decades of inter national financial deals. He
stated for Mr. Untermyer’s edification that " Money isa commodity.” Thiswas a favorite ploy of the money creators, asthey wished to make the public
believe that the creation of money was a natural occur -
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rence akin to the growing of afield of corn, although it was actually a bounty conferred upon the banker s by gover nments over which they had gained
control.

J.P. Morgan also told the Pujo Committee that, in making a loan, he seriously considered only one factor, a man’s character; even the man’s ability to repay
theloan, or hiscollateral, were of littleimportance. This astonishing observation startled even the blasé member s of the Committee.

The far ce of the Pujo Committee ended without a single well-known opponent of the money creator s being allowed to appear or testify. Asfar as Samuel
Untermyer was concerned, Senator LaFollette and Congressman Charles Augustus Lindbergh had never existed. Nevertheless, these Congressmen had
managed to convince the people of the United Statesthat the New Y ork bankers did have a monopoly on the nation’s money and credit. At the close of the
hearings, the bankers and their subsidized newspaper s claimed that the only way to break this monopoly wasto enact the banking and currency legislation
now being proposed to Congress, a bill which would be passed a year later asthe Federal Reserve Act. The press seriously demanded that the New Y ork
banking monopoly be broken by turning over the administration of the new banking system to the most knowledgeable banker of them all, Paul Warburg.

The Presidential campaign of 1912 recor ds one of the moreinteresting political upsetsin American history. The incumbent, William Howard Taft, was a



popular president, and the Republicans, in a period of general prosperity, werefirmly in control of the government through a Republican majority in both
houses. The Democratic challenger, Woodrow Wilson, Governor of New Jer sey, had no national recognition, and was a stiff, austere man who excited little
public support. Both partiesincluded a monetary reform bill in their platforms: The Republicans wer e committed to the Aldrich Plan, which had been
denounced asa Wall Street plan, and the Demacrats had the Federal Reserve Act. Neither party bothered to inform the public that the bills were almost
identical except for the names. In retrospect, it seems obviousthat the money creator s decided to dump Taft and go with Wilson. How do we know this? Taft
seemed certain of reelection, and Wilson would return to obscurity. Suddenly, Theodore Roosevelt " threw his hat into thering." He announced that he was
running asathird party candidate, the" Bull Moose" . His candidacy would have been ludicrous had it not been for the fact that he was exceptionally
well-financed. M or eover, he was given unlimited press cover age, morethan Taft and Wilson combined. As a Republican ex-president, it was obvious that
Roosevelt would cut deeply into Taft’svote. This proved the case, and Wilson won the election. To thisday, no one can say what Theodor e Roosevelt’s
program was, or why he would sabotage his own party. Since the bankerswere financing all three candi-
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dates, they would win regardless of the outcome. Later Congressional testimony showed that in the firm of Kuhn Loeb Company, Felix Warburg was
supporting Taft, Paul Warburg and Jacob Schiff were supporting Wilson, and Otto Kahn was supporting Roosevelt. Theresult wasthat a Democratic
Congress and a Demaocratic President were elected in 1912 to get the central bank legisation passed. It seems probable that the identification of the Aldrich
Plan asa Wall Street operation predicted that it would have a difficult passage through Congress, as the Democrats would solidly opposeit, whereas a
successful Democr atic candidate, supported by a Democratic Congress, would be able to passthe central bank plan. Taft wasthrown overboard becausethe

bankers doubted he could deliver on the Aldrich Plan, and Roosevelt was the instrument of his demise. *Thefinal dectoral votein 1912 was Wilson - 409; Roosevelt - 167; and Taft -
15.

To further confuse the American people and blind them to thereal purpose of the proposed Federal Reserve Act, the architects of the Aldrich Plan,

power ful Nelson Aldrich, although no longer a senator, and Frank Vanderlip, president of the National City Bank, set up a hue and cry against the bill.
They gaveinterviews whenever they could find an audience denouncing the proposed Federal Reserve Act asinimical to banking and to good gover nment.
The bugaboo of inflation was raised because of the Act’s provisionsfor printing Federal Reserve notes. The Nation, on October 23, 1913, pointed out, " Mr.
Aldrich himself raised a hue and cry over the issue of government " fiat money", that is, money issued without gold or bullion back of it, although a bill to do
precisely that had been passed in 1908 with hisown name as author, and he knew besides, that the ‘government’ had nothing to do with it, that the Federal
Reserve Board would have full char ge of theissuing of such moneys."

Frank Vanderlip’'s claimswere so bizarre that Senator Robert L. Owen, chairman of the newly formed Senate Banking and Currency Committee, which
had been formed on March 18, 1913, accused him of openly carrying on a campaign of misrepresentation about the bill. The interests of the public, so
Carter Glassclaimed in a speech on September 10, 1913 to Congress, would be protected by an advisory council of bankers. " There can be nothing sinister
about itstransactions. Meeting with it at least four timesa year will be a bankers advisory council representing every regional reservedistrict in the
system. How could we have exercised greater caution in safeguarding the public interests?"

Glass claimed that the proposed Federal Advisory Council would for ce the Federal Reserve Board of Governorsto act in the best interest of the people.

Senator Root raised the problem of inflation, claiming that under the Federal Reserve Act, note cir culation would always expand indefinitely, causing great
inflation. However, thelater history of the Federal Reserve
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System showed that it not only caused inflation, but that the issue of notes could also be restricted, causing deflation, as occurred from 1929 to 1939.

One of thecritics of the proposed " decentralized” system was a lawyer from Cleveland, Ohio, Alfred Crozier: Crozier was called to testify for the Senate
Committee because he had written a provocative book in 1912, U.S. Money vs. Corporation Currency.* He attacked the Aldrich-Vreeland Act of 1908 as a



Wall Street instrument, and he pointed out that when our gover nment had to issue money based on privately owned securities, we were no longer afree
nation.

Crozier testified before the Senate Committeethat, " It should prohibit the granting or callingin
of loansfor the purpose of influencing quotation prices of securities and the contracting of loans
or increasing interest ratesin concert by the banksto influence public opinion or the action of
any legislative body. Within recent months, William M cAdoo, Secretary of the Treasury of the
United Stateswasreported in the open press as charging specifically that there was a conspiracy
among certain of the lar ge banking intereststo put a contraction upon the currency and to raise
interest ratesfor the sake of making the public force Congressinto passing currency legislation
desired by those interests. The so-called administration currency bill grantsjust what Wall Street
and the big banksfor twenty-five years have been striving for, that is, PRIVATE INSTEAD OF
PUBLIC CONTROL OF CURRENCY. It doesthis as completely asthe Aldrich Bill. Both
measur esrob the gover nment and the people of all effective control over the public's money, and
vest in the banks exclusively the danger ous power to make money among the people scar ce or
plenty. The Aldrich Bill putsthis power in one central bank. The Administration Bill putsit in
twelveregional central banks, all owned exclusively by theidentical private interests that would
have owned and operated the Aldrich Bank. President Garfield shortly before his assassination
declared that whoever controlsthe supply of currency would control the business and activities of
the people. Thomas Jeffer son warned us a hundred years ago that a private central bank issuing
the public currency was a greater menaceto theliberties of the people than a standing army."

It isinteresting to note how many assassinations of Presidents of the United States follow their concern with theissuing of public currency; Lincoln with his
Greenback, non-inter est-bearing notes, and Garfield, making a pronouncement on currency problemsjust before he was assassinated.

We now begin to under stand why such a lengthy campaign of planned deception was necessary, from the secret conference at Jekyll 1sland to theidentical
"reform™ plans proposed by the Democratic and

* Crozier’sbook exposed the financiers plan to substitute " corporation currency” for the lawful money of the U.S. as guaranteed by Article |, Sec. 8 Para. 5, of the Constitution.
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Republican partiesunder different names. The bankers could not wrest control of the issuance of money from the citizens of the United States, to whom it
had been designated through its Congress by the Constitution, until the Congress granted them their monopoly for a central bank. Therefore, much of the
influence exerted to get the Federal Reserve Act passed was done behind the scenes, principally by two shadowy, non-elected per sons: The German
immigrant, Paul Warburg, and Colonel Edward Mandell House of Texas.



Paul Warburg made an appear ance befor e the House Banking and Currency Committee in 1913, in which he briefly stated hisbackground: "I am a
member of the banking house of Kuhn, L oeb Company. | came over to this country in 1902, having been born and educated in the banking businessin
Hamburg, Germany, and studied banking in London and Paris, and have gone all around the world. In the Panic of 1907, thefirst suggestion | made was
‘Let usget anational clearing house.” The Aldrich Plan contains some things which are ssimply fundamental rules of banking. Your aim in thisplan (the
Owen-Glass bill) must be the same--centralizing of reserves, mobilizing commercial credit, and getting an elastic note issue.”

Warburg' s phrase, " mobilization of credit" wasan important one, because the First World War was due to begin shortly, and thefirst task of the Federal
Reserve System would be to finance the World War. The European nations wer e alr eady bankr upt, because they had maintained lar ge standing ar mies for
almost fifty years, a situation created by their own central banks, and therefore they could not finance awar. A central bank alwaysimposes a tremendous
burden on the nation for " rearmament” and " defense”, in order to create inextinguishable debt, smultaneously creating a military dictator ship and
enslaving the peopleto pay the"interest" on the debt which the bankers have artificially created.

In the Senate debate on the Federal Reserve Act, Senator Stone said on December 12, 1913,

"Thegreat banksfor yearshave sought to have and control agentsin the Treasury to servetheir

purposes. Let me quote from thisWorld article, ‘Just as soon asMr. M cAdoo cameto

Washington, a woman whom the National City Bank had installed in the Treasury Department to

get advance information on the condition of banks, and other matters of interest to the big Wall

Street group, wasremoved. Immediately the Secretary and the Assistant Secretary, John Skelton

Williams, wer e criticized severely by the agents of the Wall Street group.’™

"1 myself have known more than one occasion when bankers refused credit to men who opposed

their political views and purposes. When Senator Aldrich and otherswere going around the

country exploiting this scheme, the big banks of New York and Chicago were engaged in
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raising a munificent fund to bolster up the Aldrich propaganda. | have been told by banker s of

my own state that contributionsto this exploitation fund had been demanded of them and that

they had contributed because they were afraid of being blacklisted or boycotted. Thereare

banker s of this country who are enemies of the public welfare. In the past, a few great banks have

followed policiesand projectsthat have paralyzed the industrial energies of the country to

perpetuate their tremendous power over thefinancial and businessindustries of America.”

Carter Glass statesin hisautobiography that he was summoned by Woodrow Wilson to the White House, and that Wilson told him heintended to makethe

reserve notes obligations of the United States. Glass says, " | wasfor an instant speechless. | remonstrated. Thereisnot any government obligation here, Mr.
President. Wilson said he had had to compromise on thispoint in order to savethe bill."

Theterm " compromise" on thispoint came directly from Paul Warburg. Col. Elisha Ely Garrison, in Roosevelt,* Wilson and the Federal Reserve Law
wrote,

"1n 1911, Lawrence Abbot, Mr. Roosevelt’s private officer at ‘' The Outlook’ handed me a copy of

the so-called Aldrich Plan for currency reform. | said, | could not believe that Mr. Warburg was

the author. This plan isnothing more than the Aldrich-Vreeland legislation which provided for



currency issue against securities. Warburg knowsthat aswell as| do. | am going to see him at
onceand ask him about it. All right, thetruth. Yes, | wroteit, hesaid. Why? | asked. It wasa

compromise, answered Warburg." 13

Garrison saysthat Warburg wrote him on February 8, 1912.
"1 have no doubt that at the end of a thorough discussion, either you will seeit my way or | will
seeit yours—-but | hope you will seeit mine."

Thiswas another famous War burg saying when he secretly lobbied Congressmen to support hisinterest, the veiled threat that they should " seeit hisway" .
Those who did not found large sums contributed to their opponents at the next elections, and usually went down in defeat.

Col. Garrison, an agent of Brown Brothersbankers, later Brown BrothersHarriman, had entree everywherein the financial community. Hewrites of Col.
House, " Col. House agreed entirely with the early writing of Mr. Warburg." Page 337, he quotes Col. House:

"1 am also suggesting that the Central Board be increased from four membersto five and their

termslengthened from eight to ten years. Thiswould give stability and would take away the

power of a President to change the personnel of the board during a single term of office."

* Theodor e Roosevelt

13 Elisha Ely Garrison, Roosevelt, Wilson and the Federal Reserve Law, Christopher Publications, Boston, 1931
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House' s phrase, " take away the power of a President” issignificant, because later Presidents found themselves helplessto changethe direction of the
gover nment because they did not have the power to change the composition of the Federal Reserve Board to attain a majority on it during that President’s
term of office. Garrison also wrote in this book,

" Paul Warburg isthe man who got the Federal Reserve Act together after the Aldrich Plan
aroused such nationwide resentment and opposition. The mastermind of both plans was Baron

Alfred Rothschild of London."

Colondl Edward Mandell House* was referred to by Rabbi Stephen Wisein his autobiography, Challenging Yearsas " the unofficial Secretary of State".
House noted that he and Wilson knew that in passing the Federal Reserve Act, they had created an instrument mor e power ful than the Supreme Court. The
Federal Reserve Board of Governorsactually comprised a Supreme Court of Finance, and there was no appeal from any of their rulings.

In 1911, prior to Wilson’staking office as President, House had returned to hishome in Texas and completed a book called Philip Dru, Administrator.
Ostensibly a novel, it was actually a detailed plan for the future government of the United States, " which would establish Socialism as dreamed by Karl
Marx", according to House. This" novel" predicted the enactment of the graduated income tax, excess profits tax, unemployment insurance, social security,
and aflexible currency system. In short, it wasthe blueprint which was later followed by the Woodrow Wilson and Franklin D. Roosevelt administrations.
It was published " anonymously” by B. W. Huebsch of New Y ork, and widely cir culated among gover nment officials, who wereleft in no doubt astoits
authorship. George Sylvester Viereck**, who knew House for years, later wrote an account of the Wilson-House relationship, The Strangest Friendship in



History.14 In 1955, Westbrook Pegler, the Hear st columnist from 1932 to 1956, heard of the Philip Dru book and called Viereck to ask if he had a copy.
Viereck sent Pegler his copy of the book, and Pegler wrote a column about it, stating:

" Oneof theinstitutions outlined in Philip Dru isthe Federal Reserve System. The Schiffs, the
Warburgs, the Kahns, the Rockefellers and Morgans put their faith in House. The Schiff,
Warburg, Rockefeller and Morgan interests wer e personally represented in the mysterious
conference at Jekyll Island. Frankfurter landed on the Harvard law faculty, thanksto a financial

contribution to Harvard by Felix Warburg and Paul

* See House notein " Biographies'
** See Viereck notein " Biographies'
14 George Sylvester Viereck, The Strangest Friendship in History, Woodrow Wilson and Col. House, Liveright, New York, 1932
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Warburg, and so we got Alger and Donald Hiss, L ee Pressman, Harry Dexter White and many

other protégésof Little Weenie." *

House' s openly Socialistic views wer e forthrightly expressed in Philip Dru, Administrator; on pages 57-58, House wr ote:

"In adirect and for ceful manner, he pointed out that our civilization was fundamentally wrong,

inasmuch, among other things, asit restricted efficiency; that if society were properly organized,

therewould be none who were not sufficiently clothed and fed. Theresult, that the laws, habits

and ethical training in vogue wer e alike responsible for theinequalitiesin opportunity and the

consequent wide differ ence between the few and the many; that the results of such conditions was

torender inefficient alarge part of the population, the percentage differing in each country in theratio that education and enlightenment and unselfish laws bor e to ignorance, bigotry and selfish
laws." 15

In hisbook, House (Dru) envisions himself becoming a dictator and forcing on the people hisradical views, page 148: " They recognized the fact that Dru
dominated the situation and that a master mind had at last risen in the Republic." He now assumesthetitle of General. " General Dru announced his

purpose of assuming the powers of adictator . .. they were assured that he was free from any personal ambition . . . he proclaimed himself * Administrator
of the Republic.’" *

This pensive dreamer who imagined himself a dictator actually managed to place himself in the position of the confidential advisor to the President of the
United States, and then to have many of his desires enacted into law! On page 227, he lists some of the laws he wishesto enact as dictator. Among them are
an old age pension law, labor er sinsurance compensation, cooper ative markets, a federal reserve banking system, cooper ative loans, national employment
bureaus, and other " social legislation” , some of which was enacted during Wilson’s administration, and othersduring the Franklin D. Roosevelt’'s
administration. Thelatter was actually a continuation of the Wilson Administration,




* The present writer waswith Viereck in hissuite at the Hotel Belleclaire when Pegler called and asked for the book. Viereck sent it over by hissecretary. He grinned and said Pegler seemed very
excited. "He ought to get a good column out of that," Viereck told me. Indeed Pegler did get a good column out of it. Unfortunately for him, he had gonetoo far in mentioning the Warburgs. Aslong as
he confined his attacksto La Grand Bouche (Eleanor Roosevelt), and her spouse, he had been permitted to continue, but now that he had exposed the War burg connection with the Communist spy ring
in Washington, his column wasimmediately dropped by the big city dailies, and Pegler’slong run was over.

15 Col. Edward M. House, Philip Dru, Administrator, B. W. Heubsch, New York, 1912.

* Thisquotation from Philip Dru, Administrator, written by Col. Housein 1912, isincluded hereto show histotalitarian Marxist philosophy. House was to become for 8 yearswith Wilson, the
President’s closest advisor. Later he continued hisinfluencein the Franklin D. Roosevelt administration. From hishomein Magnolia, Mass., House advised FDR through frequent trips of Felix
Frankfurter to the White House. Frankfurter was later appointed to the Supreme Court by F.D.R.
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with many of the same per sonnel, and with House guiding the administration from behind the scenes.

Like most of the behind-the-scenes operatorsin this book, Col. Edward Mandell House had the obligatory " L ondon connection” . Originally a Dutch family,
"Huis", hisancestors had lived in England for three hundred years, after which hisfather settled in Texas, where he made a fortune in blockade-running
during the Civil War, shipping cotton and other contraband to his British connections, including the Rothschilds, and bringing back suppliesfor the
beleaguered Texans. The senior House, not trusting the volatile Texas situation, prudently deposited all his profits from his blockade-running in gold with
Baring banking housein London*. At the close of the Civil War, he was one of the wealthiest men in Texas. He named hisson " Mandell" after one of his
mer chant associates. According to Arthur Howden Smith, when House' s father died in 1880, his estate was distributed among his sons as follows: Thomas
William got the banking business; John, the sugar plantation; and Edward M. the cotton plantations, which brought him an income of $20,000 a year .16

At the age of twelve, the young Edward Mandell House had brain fever, and waslater further crippled by sunstroke. He was a semi-invalid, and his
ailments gave him an odd Oriental appearance. He never entered any profession, but used hisfather’s money to become the kingmaker of Texas politics,
successively electing five governorsfrom 1893 to 1911. In 1911 he began to support Wilson for president, and threw the crucial Texas delegation to him
which ensured hisnomination. House met Wilson for thefirst time at the Hotel Gotham, May 31, 1912.

In The Strangest Friendship In History, Woodrow Wilson and Col. House, by Geor ge Sylvester Viereck, Viereck writes:

"What," | asked House, " cemented your friendship?" " Theidentity of our temperaments and our
public policies," answered House. " What was your purpose and his?" " To trandateinto

legislation certain liberal and progressiveideas." 17

Housetold Viereck that when he went to Wilson at the White

* Dope, Inc., identifies Barings as follows: " Baring Brothers, the premier merchant bank of the opium trade from 1783 to the present day, also maintained close contact with the Boston families. .. The
group’sleading banker became, at the close of the 19th century, the House of Morgan--which also took itscut in Eastern opium traffic.. .. Morgan's Far Eastern operationswerethe officially conducted British opium traffic. .. Morgan's

case deser ves special scrutiny from American police and regulatory agencies, for the intimate associations of Morgan Guaranty Trust with theidentified leader ship of the British dope banks."
16 Arthur Howden Smith, The Real Col. House, Doran Company, New York, 1918
17 George Sylvester Viereck, The Strangest Friendship in History, Woodrow Wilson and Col. House, Liveright, New York, 1932
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House, he handed him $35,000. This was exceeded only by the $50,000 which Bernard Baruch had given Wilson.



The successful enactment of House's programs did not escape the notice of other Wilson associates. In Vol. 1, page 157 of The I ntimate Paper s of Col. House, House notes, " Cabinet memberslike Mr. Lane and Mr. Bryan commented
upon the influence of Dru with the President. ‘All that the book has said should be,” wrote Lane, ‘comes about. The President comesto ‘Philip Dru’ in theend.’" 18

House recorded some of his efforts on behalf of the Federal Reserve Act in The Intimate Papers of Col. House,

" December 19, 1912. | talked with Paul Warburg over the phone concer ning currency reform. |
told of my trip to Washington and what | had donethereto get it in working order. | told him
that the Senate and the Congressmen seemed anxiousto do what he desired, and that President-
elect Wilson thought straight concer ning the issue.” 19

Thuswe have Warburg's agent in Washington, Col. House, assuring him that the Senate and Congressmen will do what he desires, and that the President-elect " thought straight concerning theissue." In this context, representative
gover nment seemsto have ceased to exist. House continuesin his" Papers":

"March 13, 1913. Warburg and | had an intimate discussion concerning currency reform.

March 27, 1913. Mr. J.P. Morgan, Jr. and Mr. Denny of hisfirm came promptly at five.

McAdoo came about ten minutes afterward. Morgan had a currency plan already printed. | suggested he haveit typewritten, so it would not seem too prearranged, and send it
to Wilson and myself today.

July 23, 1913. | tried to show Mayor Quincy (of Boston) the folly of the Eastern bankerstaking

an antagonistic attitude towar ds the Currency Bill. | explained to Major Henry Higginson* with what care the bill had been framed. Just before he arrived, | had finished a
review by Professor Sprague of Harvard of Paul Warburg's criticism of the Glass-Owen Bill, and will transmit it to Washington tomorrow. Every banker known to Warburg,
who knows the subject practically, has been called up about the making of the bill.

October 13, 1913. Paul Warburg wasmy first caller today. He cameto discuss the currency measure. There are many features of the Owen-Glass Bill that he does not approve. |
promised to put him in touch with M cAdoo and Senator Owen so that he might discussit with them.

November 17, 1913. Paul Warburg telephoned about histrip to Washington. Later, he and Mr. Jacob Schiff came over for a few minutes.

18 Col. Edward Mandell House, The Intimate Papers of Col. House, edited by Charles Seymour, Houghton Mifflin Co., 1926-28, Vol. 1, p. 157
19 1bid. Val. 1, p. 163

* The most prominent banker in Boston.
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Warburg did most of thetalking. He had a new suggestion in regard to grouping theregular reserve banks so asto get the units welded together and in easier touch with the
Federal Reserve Board."

George Sylvester Viereck in The Strangest Friendship in History, Woodrow Wilson and Col. House wrote: " The Schiffs, the Warburgs, the Kahns, the Rockefellers, the M organs put their faith in House. When the Federal Reserve
legislation at last assumed definite shape, House was the inter mediary between the White House and the financiers." 20

On page 45, Viereck notes, " Col. House looks upon the reform of the monetary system asthe crowning internal achievement of the Wilson Administration." 21

The GlassBill (the House version of the final Federal Reserve Act) had passed the House on September 18, 1913 by 287 to 85. On December 19, 1913, the Senate passed their version by a vote of 54-34. More than forty important
differencesin the House and Senate versions remained to be settled, and the opponents of the bill in both houses of Congress wereled to believe that many weekswould yet elapse befor e the Conference bill would be ready for
consideration. The Congressmen prepared to leave Washington for the annual Christmasrecess, assured that the Conference bill would not be brought up until the following year. Now the money creators prepared and executed the
most brilliant stroke of their plan. In a single day, they ironed out all forty of the disputed passagesin the bill and quickly brought it to a vote. On Monday, December 22, 1913, the bill was passed by the House 282-60 and the Senate
43-23.

On December 21, 1913, The New York Times commented editorially on theact, " New York will be on a firmer basis of financial growth, and we shall soon see her the money centre of theworld."

TheNew York Timesreported on the front page, Monday, December 22, 1913 in headlines: MONEY BILL MAY BE LAW TODAY--CONFEREESHAD ADJUSTED NEARLY ALL DIFFERENCESAT 1:30 THISMORNING--NO
DEPOSIT GUARANTEES--SENATE YIELDSON THISPOINT BUT PUTSTHROUGH MANY OTHER CHANGES" With ailmost unprecedented speed, the conference to adjust the House and Senate differences on the Currency
Bill practically completed itslabours early thismorning. On Saturday the Confereesdid little more than dispose of the preliminaries, leaving forty essential differencesto bethrashed out Sunday. . . . No other legislation of importance



will betaken up in either House of Congress this week. Member s of both houses are already preparing to leave Washington."

20 George Sylvester Viereck, The Strangest Friendship In History, Woodrow Wilson and Col. House, Liveright, New York, 1932
21 Ibid.
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" Unprecedented speed”, says The New York Times. One seesthe fine hand of Paul Warburg in thisfinal strategy. Some of the bill’smost vocal critics had already left Washington. It was a long-standing political courtesy that
important legislation would not be acted upon during the week before Christmas, but thistradition wasrudely shattered in order to perpetrate the Federal Reserve Act on the American people.

TheTimesburied a brief quote from Congressman Lindbergh that " the bill would establish the most gigantic trust on earth," and quoted Representative Guer nsey of Maine, a Republican on the House Banking and Currency
Committee, that " Thisisan inflation bill, the only question being the extent of theinflation."

Congressman Lindbergh said on that historic day, to the House:

"This Act establishesthe most gigantic trust on earth. When the President signsthisbill, the
invisible government by the Monetary Power will be legalized. The people may not know it
immediately, but the day of reckoning isonly a few yearsremoved. Thetrustswill soon realize
that they have gonetoo far even for their own good. The people must make a declaration of
independenceto relieve themselves from the Monetary Power. Thisthey will be able to do by
taking control of Congress. Wall Streeterscould not cheat usif you Senatorsand Representatives
did not make a humbug of Congress. . .. If wehad a people's Congress, there would be stability.
Thegreatest crime of Congressisits currency system. Thewor st legislative crime of the agesis
perpetrated by this banking bill. The caucus and the party bosses have again operated and
prevented the people from getting the benefit of their own gover nment.”

The December 23, 1913 New York Times editorially commented, in contrast to Congressman Lindbergh’scriticism of the bill, " The Banking and Currency Bill became better and sounder every timeit was sent from one end of the
Capitol to the other. Congressworked under public supervision in making the bill."

By " public supervision", The Times apparently meant Paul Warburg, who for several days had maintained a small officein the Capitol building, where he directed the successful pre-Christmas campaign to passthe bill, and where
Senatorsand Congressmen came hourly at hisbidding to carry out his strategy.

The" unprecedented speed” with which the Federal Reserve Act had been passed by Congress during what became known as " the Christmas massacre" had one unfor eseen aspect. Woodrow Wilson was taken unaware, as he, like
many others, had been assured the bill would not come up for a vote until after Christmas. Now herefused to sign it, because he objected to the provisionsfor the selection of Class B. Directors. William L. White relatesin his biography
of Bernard Baruch that Baruch, a principal contributor to Wilson’s campaign fund, was stunned when he was informed that Wilson refused to sign the bill. He hurried
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to the White House and assured Wilson that thiswas a minor matter, which could be fixed up later through " administrative processes' . Theimportant thing wasto get the Federal Reserve Act signed into law at once. With this
reassurance, Wilson signed the Federal Reserve Act on December 23, 1913. History proved that on that day, the Constitution ceased to be the gover ning covenant of the American people, and our liberties were handed over to a small
group of international bankers.

The December 24, 1913 New York Times carried a front page headline" WILSON SIGNSTHE CURRENCY BILL!" Below it, also in capital letters, weretwo further headlines, " PROSPERITY TO BE FREE" and "WILL HELP
EVERY CLASS'. Who could object to any law which provided benefitsto everyone? The Times described the festive atmospher e while Wilson’s family and gover nment officials watched him sign thebill. " The Christmas spirit
pervaded the gathering,” exulted The Times.

In hisbiography of Carter Glass, Rixey Smith statesthat those present at the signing of the bill included Vice President Marshall, Secretary Bryan, Carter Glass, Senator Owen, Secretary M cAdoo, Speaker Champ Clark, and other
Treasury officials. None of thereal writersof the bill, the draftees of Jekyll Island, were present. They had prudently absented themselves from the scene of their victory. Rixey Smith also wrote, " It was asthough Christmas had come
two daysearly." On December 24, 1913, Jacob Schiff wroteto Col. House,

"My dear Col. House. | want to say aword to you for the silent, but no doubt effective work you



have donein theinterest of currency legislation and to congratulate you that the measure
has finally been enacted into law. | am with good wishes, faithfully yours, JACOB SCHIFF."

Representative Moor e of Kansas, in commenting on the passage of the Act, said to the House of Representatives:

"The President of the United States now becomes the absolute dictator of all the finances of the
country. He appoints a controlling board of seven men, all of whom belong to his political party,
even though it isa minority. The Secretary of the Treasury isto rule supreme whenever thereis
a difference of opinion between himself and the Federal Reserve Board. AND, only one member
of the Board isto pass out of office while the President isin office."

Theten year terms of office of the members of the Board wer e lengthened by the Banking Act of 1935 to fourteen years, which meant that these directors of the nation’sfinances, although not elected by the people, held office longer
than three presidents.

While Col. House, Jacob Schiff and Paul Warburg basked in the glow of ajob well done, the other actorsin thisdrama were subject to later afterthoughts. Woodrow Wilson wrote in 1916, National Economy and the Banking System,
Sen. Doc. No. 3, No. 223, 76th Congress, 1st session, 1939: " Our system of credit is concentrated (in the Federal Reserve
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System). The growth of the nation, therefore, and all our activities, arein the hands of a few men."
When hewas asked by Clarence W. Barron whether he approved of the bill asit wasfinally passed. Warburg remarked, " Well, it hasn’t got quite everything we want, but the lack can be adjusted later by administrative processes."

Woodrow Wilson and Carter Glass are given credit for the Act by most contemporary historians, but of all those concer ned, Wilson had least to do with Congressional action on the bill. George Creel, a veteran Washington
correspondent, wrote in Harper’s Weekly, June 26, 1915:

" Asfar asthe Democratic Party was concer ned, Woodrow Wilson was without influence, save for
the patronage he possessed. It was Bryan who whipped Congressinto line on thetariff bill, on

the Panama Canal tollsrepeal, and on the currency bill." Mr. Bryan later wrote, " That isthe one
thing in my public career that | regret--my work to secure the enactment of the Federal Reserve
Law."

On December 25, 1913, The Nation pointed out that " The New York Stock Market began to rise steadily upon newsthat the Senate was ready to passthe Federal Reserve Act.”

Thisbeliesthe claim that the Federal Reserve Act was a monetary reform bill. The New York Stock Exchangeis generally considered an accur ate barometer of the true meaning of any financial legislation passed in Washington.
Senator Aldrich also decided that he no longer had misgivings about the Federal Reserve Act. In a magazine which he owned, and which he called The Independent, hewrotein July, 1914: " Before the passage of this Act, the New York
bankers could only dominate the reserves of New York. Now we are able to dominate the bank reserves of the entire country.”

H.W. Loucks denounced the Federal Reserve Act in The Great Conspiracy of the House of Morgan,

"1n the Federal Reserve Law, they have wrested from the people and secured for themselvesthe

constitutional power to issue money and regulate the value thereof." On page 31, Louckswrites,

"TheHouse of Morgan isnow in supreme control of our industry, commerce and political affairs.

They arein complete control of the policy making of the Democratic, Republican and Progressive

parties. The present extraordinary propaganda for ‘preparedness’ isplanned morefor home

coer cion than for defense against foreign aggression.” 22

Thesigning of the Federal Reserve Act by Woodrow Wilson represented the culmination of years of collusion with hisintimate friend, Col. House, and Paul Warburg. One of the men with whom House became acquainted in the Wilson
Administration was Franklin D.



22 H.W. Loucks, The Great Conspiracy of the House of Morgan, Privately printed, 1916
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Roosevelt, Assistant Secretary of Navy. As soon as he obtained the Democr atic nomination for President, in 1932, Franklin D. Roosevelt made a " pilgrimage” to Col. House'shome at Magnolia, M ass. Roosevelt, after the Republican
hiatus of the 1920s, filled in the goals of Philip Dru, Administrator,23 which Wilson had not been ableto carry out. The late Roosevelt achievementsincluded the enactment of the social security program, excess profitstax, and the
expansion of the graduated income tax to 90% of earned income.

House' s biographer, Charles Seymour, wrote: " He was wearied by the details of party palitics
and appointments. Even the share he had taken in constructive domestic legislation (the
Federal Reserve Act, tariff revision, and the Income Tax amendment) did not satisfy him. From
the beginning of 1914 he gave more and mor e of histimeto what heregarded asthe highest
form of poalitics and that for which he was particularly suited--inter national affairs." 24

In 1938, shortly before he died, House told Charles Seymour, " During the last fifteen years| have been close to the center of things, although few people suspect it. No important foreigner has come to the United States without talking
tome. | was close to the movement that nominated Roosevelt. He has given me a free hand in advising him. All the Ambassador s have reported to me frequently.”

A comparative print of the Federal Reserve Act of 1913 as passed by the House of Representatives and amended by the Senate shows the following striking change:

The Senate struck out, " To suspend the officials of Federal Reserve banksfor cause, stated in writing with opportunity of hearing, requirethe removal of said official for incompetency, dereliction of duty, fraud or deceit, such removal
to be subject to approval by the President of the United States." Thiswas changed by the Senateto read " To suspend or remove any officer or director of any Federal Reserve Bank, the cause of such removal to be forthwith
communicated in writing by the Federal Reserve Board to the removed officer or director and to said bank." This completely altered the conditions under which an officer or director might be removed. We no longer know what the
conditionsfor removal are, or the cause. Apparently incompetency, dereliction of duty, fraud or deceit do not matter to the Federal Reserve Board. Also, the removed officer does not have the opportunity of appeal to the President. In
answer to written inquiry, the Assistant Secretary of the Federal Reserve Board replied that only one officer hasbeen removed " for cause” in thethirty-six years, the name and details of this matter being a" private concern" between
theindividual, the Reserve Bank concerned, and the Feder al Reserve Board.

23 E.M. House, Philip Dru, Administrator, B. W. Heubsch, N.Y ., 1912
24 Col. E.M. House, The Intimate Papers of Col. House, 4 v. 1926-1928, Houghton Mifflin Co.
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The Federal Reserve System began its operationsin 1914 with the activity of the Organization Committee, appointed by Woodrow Wilson, and composed of Secretary of the Treasury William M cAdoo, who was his son-in-law,
Secretary of Agriculture Houston and Comptroller of the Currency John Skelton Williams.

On January 6, 1914. J.P. Morgan met with the Organizing Committeein New York. He informed them that there should not be more than seven regional districtsin the new system.

This committee was to select the locations of the " decentralized" reserve banks. They were empowered to select from eight to twelve reserve banks, although J.P. Morgan had testified he thought that not morethan four should be
selected. Much politicking went into the selection of these sites, asthe twelve cities thus favor ed would become enor mously important as center s of finance. New York, of cour se, was a for egone conclusion. Richmond was the next
selection, as a payoff to Carter Glassand Woodrow Wilson, the two Virginians who had been given political credit for the Federal Reserve Act. The other selections of the Committee were Boston, Philadelphia, Cleveland, Chicago, St.
Louis, Atlanta, Dallas, Minneapolis, Kansas City, and San Francisco. All of these cities later developed important " financial districts' astheresult of this selection.

These local battles, however, paled in view of the complete dominance of the Federal Reserve bank of New York in the system. Ferdinand L undberg pointed out, in America’'s Sixty Families, that, " In practice, the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York became the fountainhead of the system of twelve regional banks, for New York wasthe money market of the nation. The other eleven banks were so many expensive mausoleums er ected to salve the local pride and quell
the Jacksonian fears of the hinterland. Benjamin Strong, president of the Bankers Trust (J.P. Morgan) was selected asthefirst Governor of the New York Federal Reserve Bank. Adept in high finance, Strong for many years
manipulated the country’s monetary system at the discretion of directorsrepresenting the leading New York banks. Under Strong, the Reserve System was brought into interlocking relations with the Bank of England and the Bank of
France. Benjamin Strong held his position as Governor of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York until hissudden death in 1928, during a Congressional investigation of the secret meetings between Reserve Governors and
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heads of European central bankswhich brought on the Great Depression of 1929-31." 25

Strong had married the daughter of the President of Bankers Trust, which brought him into the line of succession in the dynastic intrigues which play such an important rolein theworld of high finance. He also had been a member of



theoriginal Jekyll Island group, the First Name Club, and was thus qualified for the highest position in the Federal Reserve System, asthe Gover nor of the Federal Reserve Bank of New Y ork which dominated the entire system.
Paul Warburg also ismentioned in J. Laurence Laughlin’s definitive volume, The Federal Reserve Act, Its Originsand Pur poses,

"Mr. Paul Warburg of Kuhn, Loeb Company offered in March, 1910 a fairly well thought out

plan to be known asthe United Reserve Bank of the United States. Thiswas published in The

New York Times of March 24, 1910. The group interested in the pur poses of the National

Monetary Commission met secretly at Jekyll Island for about two weeksin December, 1910, and

concentrated on the preparation of a bill to be presented to Congress by the National Monetary

Commission. The men who were present at Jekyll 1sland were Senator Aldrich, H. P. Davison of

J.P. Morgan Company, Paul Warburg of Kuhn, Loeb Company, Frank Vanderlip of the National

City Bank, and Charles D. Norton of the First National Bank. No doubt the ablest banking mind

in the group wasthat of Mr. Warburg, who had had a European banking training. Senator

Aldrich had no special training in banking." 26

A mention of Paul Warburg, written by Harold Kelloch, and titled, " Warburg the Revolutionist" appeared in the Century Magazine, May, 1915. Kelloch writes:
"Heimposed hisideas on a nation of a hundred million people. .. Without Mr. Warburgthere

would have been no Federal Reserve Act. The banking house of Warburg and Warburgin

Hamburg has always been strictly a family business. None but a Warburg has been €eligiblefor it,

but all Warburgs have been born intoit. In 1895 he married the daughter of the late Solomon

L oeb of Kuhn Loeb Company. He became a member of Kuhn Loeb Company in 1902. Mr.

Warburg' ssalary from his private business has been approximately a half million ayear. Mr.

Warburg's motives had been purely those of patriotic self-sacrifice."

Thetrue purposes of the Federal Reserve Act soon began to disillusion many who had at first believed in itsclaims. W. H. Allen wrotein Moody’s M agazine, 1916,

"The purpose of the Federal Reserve Act wasto prevent concentration of money in the New York
banks by making it profitablefor country bankersto use their fundsat home, but the

movement of currency shows

25 Ferdinand Lundberg, America’s Sixty Families, 1937

26 J. Laurence Laughlin, The Federal Reserve Act, It’s Originsand Purposes
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that the New York banksgained from theinterior in every month except December, 1915, since
the Act went into effect. The stabilization of rates hastaken placein New York alone. In other
parts, high rates continue. The Act, which wasto deprive Wall Street of itsfundsfor speculation,

hasreally given the bulls and the bear s such a supply asthey have never had before. Thetruth is



that far from having clogged the channel to Wall Street, as Mr. Glass so confidently boasted, it
actually widened the old channels and opened up two new ones. Thefirst of these leads directly
to Washington and gives Wall Street a string on all the surplus cash in the United States
Treasury. Besides, in the power to issue bank-note currency, it furnishes an inexhaustible supply
of credit money; the second channel leadsto the great central banks of Europe, whereby, through
the sale of acceptances, virtually guaranteed by the United States Government, Wall Street is
granted immunity from foreign demandsfor gold which have precipitated every great crisisin
our history."

For many years, there has been consider able mystery about who actually ownsthe stock of the Feder al Reserve Banks. Congressman Wright Patman, leading critic of the System, tried to find out who the stockholder swere. The stock
in theoriginal twelveregional Federal Reserve Bankswas purchased by national banksin those twelve regions. Because the Federal Reserve Bank of New York wasto set the interest rates and direct open market operations, thus
controlling the daily supply and price of money throughout the United States, it isthe stockholder s of that bank who arethereal directors of the entire system. For thefirst time, it can berevealed who those stockholdersare. This
writer hastheoriginal organization certificates of the twelve Federal Reserve Banks, giving the owner ship of shares by the national banksin each district. The Federal Reserve Bank of New York issued 203,053 shares, and, as filed with
the Comptroller of the Currency May 19, 1914, the large New York City bankstook more than half of the outstanding shares. The Rockefeller Kuhn, L oeb-controlled National City Bank took the largest number of sharesof any bank,
30,000 shares. J.P. Morgan’s First National Bank took 15,000 shares. When these two banks merged in 1955, they owned in one block almost one fourth of the sharesin the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which controlled the
entire system, and thusthey could name Paul Volcker or anyone else they chose to be Chairman of the Federal Reserve Board of Governors. Chase National Bank took 6,000 shares. The Marine Nation Bank of Buffalo, later known as
Marine Midland, took 6,000 shares. Thisbank was owned by the Schoellkopf family, which controlled Niagara Power Company and other large interests. National Bank of Commer ce of New Y ork City took 21,000 shares. The
shareholders of these banks which own the stock of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York arethe people who have controlled our political and economic destinies since 1914. They are the Rothschilds, of Europe, Lazard Freres
(Eugene Meyer), Kuhn Loeb Company, Warburg Company, Lehman Brothers,
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Goldman Sachs, the Rockefeller family, and the J.P. Morgan interests. These interests have merged and consolidated in recent years, so that the control is much more concentrated. National Bank of Commerceisnow Morgan
Guaranty Trust Company. Lehman Brothershas merged with Kuhn, Loeb Company, First National Bank has merged with the National City Bank, and in the other eleven Federal Reserve Districts, these same shareholdersindirectly
own or control sharesin those banks, with the other sharesowned by theleading familiesin those areas who own or control the principal industriesin theseregions.* The"local" families set up regional councils, on ordersfrom New
York, of such groupsasthe Council on Foreign Relations, The Trilateral Commission, and other instruments of control devised by their masters. They finance and control political developmentsin their area, name candidates, and are
seldom successfully opposed in their plans.

With the setting up of the twelve " financial districts' through the Federal Reserve Banks, thetraditional division of the United Statesinto the forty-eight states was overthrown, and we entered the era of " regionalism", or twelve
regions which had norelation to thetraditional state boundaries.

These developments following the passing of the Federal Reserve Act proved every one of the allegations Thomas Jeffer son had made against a central bank in 1791: that the subscribersto the Federal Reserve Bank stock had formed a
cor poration, whose stock could be and was held by aliens; that this stock would be transmitted to a certain line of successors; that it would be placed beyond forfeiture and escheat; that they would receive a monopoly of banking, which
was against the laws of monopoly; and that they now had the power to make laws, paramount to the laws of the states. No state legislature can countermand any of the laws laid down by the Federal Reserve Board of Governorsfor the
benefit of their private stockholders. Thisboard issueslaws asto what the interest rate shall be, what the quantity of money shall be and what the price of money shall be. All of these power s abrogate the power s of the state legislatures
and their responsibility to the citizens of those states.

TheNew York Times stated that the Federal Reserve Bankswould be ready for business on August 1, 1914, but they actually began operations on November 16, 1914. At that time, their total assetswere listed at $143,000,000, from the
sale of sharesin the Federal Reserve Banksto stockholder s of the national banks which subscribed to it.

Theactual part of this $143,000,000 which was paid in for these sharesremains shrouded in mystery. Some historians believe that the shareholder s only paid about half of the amount in cash; othersbelieve

* SeechartsV through I X
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that they paid in no cash at all, but merely sent in checks which they drew on the national banks which they owned. This seems most likely, that from the very outset, the Federal Reserve operationswere " paper issued against paper",
that bookkeeping entries comprised the only values which changed hands.

The men whom President Woodrow Wilson chose to make up thefirst Federal Reserve Board of Governorswere men drawn from the banking group. He had been nominated for the Presidency by the Democratic Party, which had
claimed to represent the " common man" against the " vested interests". According to Wilson himself, he was allowed to choose only one man for the Federal Reserve Board. The otherswere chosen by the New York bankers. Wilson's
choice was Thomas D. Jones, a trustee of Princeton and director of International Harvester and other corporations. The other memberswere Adolph C. Miller, economist from Rockefeller’s University of Chicago and Morgan's
Harvard University, and also serving as Assistant Secretary of the Interior; Charles S. Hamlin, who had served previously asan Assistant Secretary to the Treasury for eight years; F.A. Delano, a Roosevelt relative, and railroad
operator who took over a number of railroads for Kuhn, Loeb Company, W.P.G. Harding, President of the First National Bank of Atlanta; and Paul Warburg of Kuhn, Loeb Company. According to The Intimate Papers of Col. House,
Warburg was appointed because " The President accepted (House's) suggestion of Paul Warburg of New York because of hisinterest and experiencein currency problemsunder both Republican and Democratic Administrations." 27



Like Warburg, Delano had also been born outside the continental limits of the United States, although he was an American citizen. Delano’s father, Warren Delano, accor ding to Dr. Josephson and other authorities, was activein Hong
Kong in the Chinese opium trade, and Frederick Delano was born in Hong Kong in 1863.

In The Money Power of Europe, Paul Emden writesthat " The Warburgsreached their outstanding eminence during the last twenty year s of the past century, simultaneously with the growth of Kuhn, Loeb Company in New York, with
whom they stood in a personal union and family relationship. Paul Warburg with magnificent success carried through in 1913 the reor ganization of the American banking system, at which he had with Senator Aldrich been working
since 1911, and thus most thor oughly consolidated the currency and finances of the United States." 28

27 Charles Seymour, The Intimate Papers of Col. House, 4 v. 1926-1928, Houghton Mifflin Co.
28 Paul Emden, The Money Power of Europein the 19th and 20th Century, S. Low, Marston Co., London, 1937
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TheNew York Times* had noted on May 6, 1914 that Paul Warburg had " retired" from Kuhn, Loeb Company in order to serve on the Federal Reserve Board, although he had not resigned hisdirector ships of American Surety
Company, Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, National Railways of Mexico, Wells Fargo, or Westinghouse Electric Cor poration, but would continue to serve on these boards of directors. " Who's Who" listed him as holding these
directorshipsand in addition, American |.G. Chemical Company (branch of |.G. Farben), Agfa Ansco Cor poration, Westinghouse Acceptance Company, War burg Company of Amsterdam, chairman of the Board of International
Acceptance Bank, and numerous other banks, railways and cor porations. " Kuhn Loeb & Co. with Warburg have four votes or the majority of the Federal Reserve Board." 29

Despite hisretirement from Kuhn, Loeb Company in May of 1914 to serve on the Federal Reserve Board of Governors, Warburg was asked to appear before a Senate Subcommittee in June of 1914 and answer some questions about his
behind-the-scenesrolein getting the Federal Reserve Act through Congress. This might have meant some questions about the secret conferencein Jekyll Island, and Warburg refused to appear. On July 7, 1914 hewrote a letter to G.M.
Hitchcock, Chairman of the Senate Banking and Currency Committee, stating that it might impair hisusefulness on the Board if he wererequired to answer any questions, and that he would ther efore withdraw his name. It seemed
that Warburg was prepared to bluff the Senate Committee into confirming him without any questions asked. On July 10, 1914, The New York Times defended Warburg on the editorial page and denounced the" Senatorial

Inquisition" . Since Warburg had not yet been asked any questions, theterm " Inquisition” seemed remarkably inappropriate, nor wasthere any real danger that the Senatorswere preparing to useinstruments of torture on Mr.
Warburg. Theimbroglio was resolved when the Senate Committee, in abject surrender, agreed that Mr. Warburg would be given a list of questionsin advance of his appearance so that he could go over them, and that he could be
excused from answering any questions which might tend to impair his service on the Board of Governors. The Nation reported on July 23, 1914 that " Mr. Warburg finally had a conference with Senator O’ Gorman and agr eed to meet
the member s of the Senate Subcommittee informally, with a view to coming to an under standing, and to giving them any reasonable infor mation they might desire. The opinion in Washington isthat Mr. Warburg's confirmation is
assured.” The Nation

* TheNew York Times April 30, 1914, reported that the 12 districts had subscriptions of $74,740,800 and that the subscribing bankswould pay one-half of this sum in six months.
29 Clarence W. Barron, More They Told Barron, Arno Press, New York Times, 1973, June 12, 1914. p. 204
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was correct. Mr. Warbur g was confirmed, the way having been smoothed by his" fixer", Senator O’ Gorman of New Y ork, more familiarly known as" the Senator from Wall Street". Senator Robert L. Owen had previously charged
that Warburg was the American representative of the Rothschild family, but questioning him about thiswould indeed have smacked of the mediaeval " Inquisition”, and hisfellow Senatorsweretoo civilized to indulgein such
barbarity*.

During the Senate Hearings on Paul War burg befor e the Senate Banking and Currency Committee, August 1, 1914, Senator Bristow asked, " How many of these partners (of Kuhn, Loeb Company) are American citizens?"
WARBURG: "They are all American citizens except Mr. Kahn. Heisa British subject."” BRISTOW: "Hewas at one time a candidate for Parliament, was he not?" WARBURG: " There wastalk about it, it had been suggested and he
had it in hismind."

Paul Warburg also stated to the Committee, " | went to England, where | stayed for two years, first in the banking and discount firm of Samuel Montague & Company. After that | went to France, where| stayed in a French bank."
CHAIRMAN: "What French bank wasthat?" WARBURG: "It isthe Russian bank for foreign trade which hasan agency in Paris."

BRISTOW: " | understand you to say that you were a Republican, but when Mr. Theodore Roosevelt came around, you then became a sympathizer with Mr. Wilson and supported him?" WARBURG: " Yes." BRISTOW: "While your
brother (Felix Warburg) was supporting Taft?" WARBURG: "Yes." Thusthreepartnersof Kuhn, Loeb Company were supporting three different candidates for President of the United States. Paul Warburg was supporting Wilson,
Felix Warburg was supporting Taft, and Otto Kahn was supporting Theodor e Roosevelt. Paul Warburg explained this curious situation by telling the Committee that they had no influence over each other’s political beliefs, " asfinance
and politicsdon’t mix."

Questions about Warburg's appointment vanished in a hue and cry with Wilson’s sole appointment to the Board of Governors, Thomas B. Jones. Reporters had discovered that Jones, at the time of his appointment, was under
indictment by the Attorney General of the United States. Wilson leaped to the defense of his choice, telling reportersthat " The majority of the men connected with what we have cometo call ‘big business’ are honest, incorruptible and
patriotic." Despite Wilson's protestations, the Senate Banking and Currency Committee scheduled




* Warburg was confirmed August 8, 1914, 38-11, and principally opposed by Sen. Bristow of Kansas, who was denounced by The New York Timesasa "radical Republican", and whose excellent
library of rare books on banking were acquired by the present writer in 1983 for research on thiswork.
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hearings on the fitness of Thomas D. Jonesto be a member of the Board of Governors. Wilson then wrote a letter to Senator Robert L. Owen, Chairman of that Committee:

White House

June 18, 1914

Dear Senator Owen:

Mr. Jones has always stood for therights of the people against the

rights of privilege. His connection with the Harvester Company was a

public service, not a privateinterest. Heisthe one man of thewhole

number who wasin a peculiar sense my per sonal choice.

Sincerely,

Woodrow Wilson

Woodrow Wilson said, " Thereisno reason to believe that the unfavorablereport representsthe attitude of the Senateitself." After several weeks, Thomas D. Jones withdrew his name, and the country had to do without his services.

The other member s of the first Board of Governorswere Secretary of the Treasury, William McAdoo, Wilson's son-in-law, and President of the Hudson-M anhattan Railroad, a Kuhn, L oeb Company controlled enterprise, and
Comptroller of the Currency John Skelton Williams.

When the Feder al Reserve Banks were opened for business on November 16, 1914, Paul Warburg said, " This date may be considered as the Fourth of July in the economic history of the United States."

CHAPTER FOUR

The Federal Advisory Council

In steamrolling the Federal Reserve Act through the House of Representatives, Congressman Carter Glass declared on September 30, 1913 on the floor of
the House that theinterests of the public would be protected by an advisory council of bankers. " There can be nothing sinister about itstransactions.
Meeting with it at least four timesa year will bea bankers advisory council representing every regional reservedistrict in the system. How could we have
exercised greater caution in safeguarding the public interest?

Carter Glass neither then nor later gave any substantiation for hisbelief that a group of bankerswould protect the interests of the public, nor isthere any
evidencein the history of the United Statesthat any group of bankershasever done so. In fact, the Federal Advisory Council proved to bethe
"administrative process' which Paul Warburg had inserted into the Federal Reserve Act to providejust the type of remote but unseen control over the
System which he desired. When he was asked by financial reporter C.W. Barron, just after the Federal Reserve Act was enacted into law by Congress,
whether he approved of the bill asit wasfinally passed, Warburg replied, " Well, it hasn’t got quite everything we want, but the lack can be adjusted later
by administrative processes." The council proved to be theideal vehiclefor Warburg's purposes, asit has functioned for seventy yearsin almost complete
anonymity, its member s and their business associations, unnoticed by the public.

Senator Robert Owen, chairman of the Senate Banking and Currency Committee, had said, asquoted in The New York Times, August 3, 1913 before



passage of the act:

" The Federal Reserve Act will furnish the bank and industrial and commer cial interestswith the
discount of qualified commercial paper and thus stabilize our commercial and industrial life. The
Federal Reserve banksarenot intended as money making banks, but to serve a great national

pur pose of accommodating commer ce and businessmen and banks, safeguard a fixed market for
manufactured goods, for agricultural productsand for labor. Thereisno reason why the banks
should bein control of the Federal Reserve system. Stability will make our commer ce expand

healthfully in every direction."
40

Senator Owen’s optimism was doomed by the domination of the Jekyll | sland promotersover theinitial composition of the Federal Reserve System. Not
only did the Morgan-Kuhn, L oeb alliance purchase the dominant control of stock in the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, with almost half of the shares
owned by thefive New York banksunder their control, First National Bank, National City Bank, National Bank of Commer ce, Chase National Bank and
Hanover National Bank, but they also persuaded President Woodrow Wilson to appoint one of the Jekyll Island group, Paul Warburg, to the Federal
Reserve Board of Governors.

Each of the twelve Federal Reserve Bankswasto elect a member of the Federal Advisory Council, which would meet with the Federal Reserve Board of
Governorsfour timesayear in Washington, in order to " advise" the Board on future monetary policy. This seemed to assur e absolute democracy, as each
of thetwelve " advisors', representing a different region of the United States, would be expected to speak up for the economic interests of hisarea, and each
of the twelve memberswould have an equal vote. The theory may have been admirablein its concept, but the hard facts of economic liferesulted in a quite
different picture. The president of a small bank in St. Louisor Cincinnati, sitting in conference with Paul Warburg and J.P. Morgan to " advise" them on
monetary policy, would be unlikely to contradict two of the most power ful international financiersin theworld, asa scribbled note from either one of them
would be sufficient to plunge hislittle bank into bankruptcy. In fact, the small banks of the twelve Federal Reserve districts existed only as satellites of the
big New York financial interests, and were completely at their mercy. Martin Mayer, in The Bankers, pointsout that " J.P. Morgan maintained
correspondent relationships with many small banks all over the country." 30 The big New York banks did not confine themselves to multi-million dollar
dealswith other great financial interests, but carried on many smaller and moreroutine dealings with their " correspondent” banks acrossthe United
States.

Apparently securein their belief that their activitieswould never be exposed to the public, the M organ-Kuhn, L oeb interests boldly selected the member s of
the Federal Advisory Council from their correspondent banks and from banksin which they owned stock. No onein the financial community seemed to
notice, as nothing was said about it during seventy years of the Feder al Reserve System’s operation.

To avoid any suspicion that New York interests might control the Federal Advisory Council, itsfirst president, elected in 1914 by the other members, was
J.B. Forgan, president of the First National Bank of

30 Martin Mayer, The Bankers, Weybright and Talley, New York, 1974, p. 207.
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Chicago. Rand McNally BankersDirectory for 1914 liststhe principal correspondents of the large banks. The principal correspondent bank of the
Baker-Morgan controlled First National Bank of New York islisted asthe First National Bank of Chicago. The principal correspondent listed by the First
National Bank of Chicago isthe Bank of Manhattan in New York, controlled by Jacob Schiff and Paul Warburg of Kuhn, L oeb Company. James B. Forgan
also waslisted asadirector of Equitable Life Insurance Company, also controlled by Morgan. However, the relationship between First National Bank of
Chicago and these New Y ork bankswas even closer than these listingsindicate.

On page 701 of The Growth of Chicago Banks by F. Cyril James, we find mention of " the First National Bank of Chicago’s profitable connection with the
Morgan interests. A goodwill ambassador was hastily sent to New York to invite George F. Baker to become a director of the First National Bank of
Chicago." 31 (J.B. Forgan to Ream, January 7, 1903.) I n effect, Baker and Morgan had personally chosen thefirst president of the Federal Advisory
Council.

James B. Forgan (1852-1924) also shows the obligatory " London Connection” in the operation of the Federal Reserve System. Bornin St. Andrew’s,
Scotland, he began his banking career there with the Royal Bank of Scotland, a correspondent of the Bank of England. He came to Canada for the Bank of
British North America, worked for the Bank of Nova Scotia, which sent him to Chicago in the 1880’s, and by 1900 he had become president of the First
National Bank of Chicago. He served for six yearsas president of the Federal Advisory Council, and when heleft the council, he wasreplaced by Frank O.
Wetmor e, who had also replaced him as president of the First National Bank of Chicago when Forgan was named chairman of the board.

Representing the New York Federal Reservedistrict on thefirst Federal Advisory Council was J.P. Morgan. He was named chairman of the Executive
Committee. Thus, Paul Warburg and J.P. Morgan sat in conference at the meetings of the Federal Reserve Board during thefirst four years of itsoperation,
surrounded by the other Gover norsand member s of the council, who could hardly have been unawarethat their futureswould be guided by these two
power ful bankers.

Another member of the Federal Advisory Council in 1914 was Levi L. Rue, representing the Philadelphia district. Rue was president of the Philadelphia
National Bank. Rand McNally Bankers Directory of 1914 listed as principal correspondent of the First National Bank of New York,

31 F. Cyril James, The Growth of Chicago Banks, Harper, New York, 1938.
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the Philadelphia National Bank. First National Bank of Chicago also listed Philadelphia National Bank asits principal correspondent in Philadelphia. The
other member s of the Federal Advisory Council included Danidl S. Wing, president of the First National Bank of Boston, W.S. Rowe, president of the First
National Bank of Cincinnati, and C.T. Jaffray, president of the First National Bank of Minneapolis. These were all correspondent banks of the New York
"bigfive" bankswho controlled the money market in the United States.

Jaffray had an even closer connection with the Baker-Morgan interests. In 1908, to reinvest the large annual dividends from their First National Bank of
New York stock, Baker and Morgan set up a holding company, First Security Cor poration, which bought 500 shares of the First National Bank of
Minneapolis. Thus Jaffray waslittle mor e than a wage-ear ning employee of Baker and M organ, although he had been " selected" by stockholders of the
Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolisto represent their interests. First Security Corporation also owned 50,000 shar es of Chase National Bank, 5400 shares
of National Bank of Commer ce, 2500 shar es of Bankers Trust, 928 shares of Liberty National Bank, the bank of which Henry P. Davison had been president
when hewastapped to join the J.P. Morgan firm, and sharesof New York Trust, Atlantic Trust and Brooklyn Trust. First Security concentrated on bank
stocks which rapidly appreciated in value, and paid handsome annual dividends. In 1927, it earned five million dollars, but paid the shareholders eight



million, taking therest from itssurplus.

Another member of theinitial Federal Advisory Council was E.F. Swinney, president of the First National Bank of Kansas City. He was also a director of
Southern Railway, and lists himself in Who's Who as" independent in palitics” .

Archibald Kainsrepresented the San Francisco district on the Federal Advisory Council, although he maintained his officein New York, as president of the
American Foreign Banking Cor poration.

After serving asa Governor of the Federal Reserve Board from 1914-1918, Paul Warburg did not request another term. However, he was not ready to sever
his connection with the Federal Reserve System which he had done so much to set up and put into operation. J.P. Morgan obligingly gave up his seat on the
Federal Advisory Council, and for the next ten years, Paul Warburg continued to represent the Federal Reserve district of New York on the Council. He
was vice president of the council 1922-25, and president 1926-27. Thus War burg remained the dominant presence at Federal Reserve Board meetings
throughout the 1920s, when the Eur opean central banks wer e planning the great contraction of credit which precipitated the Crash of 1929 and the Great
Depression.

43

Although most of the Federal Advisory Council’s" advice" to the Board of Governors has never been reported, on rareinstances a few glimpsesinto its
deliberations wer e afforded by brief itemsin The New York Times. On November 21, 1916, The Timesreported that the Federal Advisory Council had met
in Washington for itsquarterly conference.

"Therewastalk about absorbing Europe's extension of credit to South America and other

countries. Federal Reserve officials said that to maintain a position as one of theworld’s bankers

the United States must expect to be called upon to render a good deal of the service performed

largely by England in the past, in extending short term credits necessary in the production and

transportation of goods of all kindsin theworld’strade, and that acceptancesin foreign trade

requirelower discounts and the freest and most reliable gold markets." (The First World War

was at its zenith in 1916.)

I'n addition to his service on the Board of Governorsand the Federal Advisory Council, Paul Warburg continued to address bankers' groups about the

monetary policies they were expected to follow. On October 22, 1915, he addressed the Twin City Bankers Club, St. Paul, Minnesota during which speech he
stated,

"It istoyour interest to seethe Federal Reserve banks as strong asthey possibly can be. It
stagger sthe imagination to think what the future may havein store for the development of
American banking. With Europe'sforemost power s limited to their own field, with the United
Statesturned into a creditor nation for all theworld, the boundaries of the field that lies open for
usaredetermined only by our power of safe expansion. The scope of our banking futurewill
ultimately be limited by the amount of gold that we can muster asthe foundation of our banking

and credit structure.”



The composition of the Federal Reserve Board of Governorsand the Federal Reserve Advisory Council, from itsinitial membership to the present day,
showslinksto the Jekyll Island conference and the L ondon banking community which offersincontrovertible evidence, acceptablein any court of law, that
therewas a plan to gain control of the money and credit of the people of the United States, and to useit for the profit of the architects. Old Jekyll Island
handswere Frank Vanderlip, president of the National City Bank, which bought a large portion of the shares of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York in
1914; Paul Warburg of Kuhn, Loeb Company; Henry P. Davison, J.P. Morgan’srighthand man, and director of the First National Bank of New York and
the National Bank of Commer ce, which took a large portion of Federal Reserve Bank of New York stock; and Benjamin Strong, also known asa Morgan
lieutenant,
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who served as Governor of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York during the 1920’ s.*

The selection of the regional member s of the Federal Advisory Council from thelist of bankerswho worked most closely with the" big five" banks of New
York, and who weretheir principal correspondent banks, provesthat the much-touted " regional safeguarding of the public interest" by Carter Glassand
other Washington proponents of the Federal Reserve Act was from itsvery inception a deliber ate deception. The fact that for seventy yearsthis council was
ableto meet with the Federal Reserve Board of Governorsand to " advise" the Governorson decisions of monetary policy which affected the daily lives of
every person in the United States, without the public being awar e of their existence, demonstrates that the planners of the central bank operation knew
exactly how to achieve their objectivesthrough " administrative processes' of which the public would remain ignorant. The claim that the " advice" of the
council membersisnot binding on the Governorsor that it carriesno weight isto claim that four times a year, twelve of the most influential bankersin the
United Statestaketime from their work to travel to Washington to meet with the Federal Reserve Board merely to drink coffee and exchange pleasantries.
It isaclaim which anyone familiar with the workings of the business community will find impossible to take seriously. In 1914, it was a four-day trip each
way for bankersfrom the Far West to come to Washington for a council meeting with the Federal Reserve Board. These men had extensive business
interests which demanded their time. J.P. Morgan was a director of sixty-three cor porations which held annual meetings, and

* "The Federal Advisory Council has great influence with the Federal Reserve Board. Conspicuously upon that council is J.P. Morgan, the leading member of J.P. Morgan Company and son of the late
J.P. Morgan. Every one of the twelve member s of the Advisory Council, asyou well know, was educated in the same atmosphere. The Federal Reserve Act isnot only a special privilege act but
privileged persons have been placed in control and areitsadvisorsin itsadministration. The Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Advisory Council administer the Federal Reserve System asits
head authority, and no one of the lesser officials, even if they wished, would dareto cross swordswith them."

(FROM: "Why IsYour Country At War?" by CharlesLindbergh, published in 1917). The above paragraph explains why Woodrow Wilson order ed government agentsto seize and destroy the printing
plates and copies of this book in the spring of 1918.

45



could hardly be expected to travel to Washington to attend meetings of the Federal Reserve Board if his advice wasto be considered of no importance.**




** The J.P. Morgan connection hasremained predominant on the Federal Advisory Council. For the past several years, the prestigious Federal Reserve District No. 2, the New York District, has been
represented on the Federal Advisory Council by Lewis Preston. Preston is Chairman of J.P. Morgan Company and also Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Morgan Guaranty Trust, New York.
An heir to the Baldwin fortune (a company controlled by Morgan), Preston married the heiressto the Pulitzer newspaper fortune. On February 26, 1929, The New York Times noted that a merger had
been effected between National Bank of Commerce and Guaranty Trust, making them the largest bank in the United States, with a capital of two billion dollars. The merger was negotiated by Myron
C. Taylor, president of U.S. Steel, aMorgan firm. The banks occupied adjoining buildings on Wall Street, and, as The New York Times noted, " The Guaranty Trust Company long has been known as
oneof ‘theMorgan group’ of banks." The National Bank of Commer ce has also been identified with Morgan interests.
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CHAPTER FIVE

The House of Rothschild

The success of the Federal Reserve Conspiracy will raise many questionsin the minds of readerswho are unfamiliar with the history of the United States
and finance capital. How could the Kuhn, L oeb-M organ alliance, power ful though it might be, believe that it would be capable, first, of devising a plan
which would bring the entire money and credit of the people of the United Statesinto their hands, and second, of getting such a plan enacted into law?

The capability of devising and enacting the " National Reserve Plan", astheimmediate result of the Jekyll 1sland expedition was called, was easily within the
power s of the Kuhn, L oeb-Morgan alliance, accor ding to the following from M cClure's Magazine, August 1911, " The Seven Men" by John M oody:

" Seven men in Wall Street now control a great share of the fundamental industry and resour ces

of the United States. Three of the seven men, J.P. Morgan, James J. Hill, and George F. Baker,

head of the First National Bank of New York belong to the so-called Morgan group; four of them,

John D. and William Rockefeller, James Stillman, head of the National City Bank, and Jacob H.
Schiff of the private banking firm of Kuhn, Loeb Company, to the so-called Standard Oil City Bank group... the central machine of capital extendsits control over the United
States... The

processis not only economically logical; it isnow practically automatic.” 32

Thuswe seethat the 1910 plot to seize control of the money and credit of the people of the United States was planned by men who already controlled most of
the country’sresources. It seemed to John Moody " practically automatic" that they should continue with their operations.

What John Moody did not know, or did not tell hisreaders, wasthat the most powerful men in the United States wer e themselves answer able to another
power, aforeign power, and a power which had been steadfastly seeking to extend its control over the young republic of the United States sinceitsvery
inception. This power was the financial power of England, centered in the London Branch of the House of Rothschild. The fact wasthat in 1910, the United
Stateswasfor all practical purposesbeing ruled

32 John Moody, " The Seven Men", McClure' s Magazine, August, 1911, p. 418
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from England, and so it istoday. Theten largest bank holding companiesin the United States are firmly in the hands of certain banking houses, all of which
have branchesin London. They are J.P. Morgan Company, Brown BrothersHarriman, Warburg, Kuhn Loeb and J. Henry Schroder. All of them maintain
closerelationships with the House of Rothschild, principally through the Rothschild control of inter national money markets through its manipulation of the
price of gold. Each day, theworld price of gold isset in the London office of N.M. Rothschild and Company.

Although these firms are ostensibly American firms, which merely maintain branchesin London, the fact isthat these banking houses actually take their
direction from London. Their history isa fascinating one, and unknown to the American public, originating asit did in the international traffic in gold,
slaves, diamonds, and other contraband. There are no moral considerationsin any business decision made by these firms. They areinterested solely in
money and power .

Touriststoday gape at the magnificent mansions of the very rich in Newport, Rhode Island, without realizing that not only do these" cottages' stand asa
memorial to the baronial desiresof our Victorian millionaires, but that their erection in Newport represented a nostalgic memorialization of the great
American fortunes, which had their beginningsin Newport when it was the capital of the slavetrade.

Thedavetradefor centuries had its headquartersin Venice, until Seventeenth Century Britain, the new master of the seas, used its control of the oceansto
gain amonopoly. Asthe American colonies wer e settled, itsfiercely independent people, most of whom did not want slaves, found to their surprisethat
slaves wer e being sent to our portsin great numbers.

For many years, Newport wasthe capital of thisunsavory trade. William Ellery, the Collector of the Port of Newport, said in 1791.:
" ...an Ethiopian cld as soon change his skin as a Newport merchant cld be induced to change so

lucrativeatrade.... for the slow profits of any manufactory."

John Quincy Adamsremarked in his Diary, page 459, " Newport’sformer prosperity was chiefly owing to its extensive employment in the African slave
trade."

The pre-eminence of J.P. Morgan and the Brown firm in American finance can be dated to the development of Baltimor e as the nineteenth century capital
of the dlavetrade. Both of these firmsoriginated in Baltimor e, opened branchesin London, came under the aegis of the House of Rothschild, and returned
to the United Statesto open branchesin New York and to become the dominant power, not only in finance, but also in government. In recent years, key
posts such as Secretary of Defense have been held by Robert L ovett, partner of Brown Brothers Harriman, and Thomas S. Gates, partner of Drexel and
Company, a J.P. Morgan sub-
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sidiary firm. The present Vice President, George Bush, isthe son of Prescott Bush, a partner of Brown Brothers Harriman, for many yearsthe senator from
Connecticut, and the financial organizer of Columbia Broadcasting System of which he also was a director for many years.

Tounderstand why these firms operate asthey do, it isnecessary to give a brief history of their origins. Few Americans know that J.P. Morgan Company
began as Geor ge Peabody and Company. Geor ge Peabody (1795-1869), born at South Danvers, M assachusetts, began businessin Georgetown, D.C. in 1814
as Peabody, Riggs and Company, dealing in wholesale dry goods, and in operating the Geor getown Slave Market. In 1815, to be closer to their source of
supply, they moved to Baltimor e, where they operated as Peabody and Riggs, from 1815 to 1835. Peabody found himself increasingly involved with business
originating from London, and in 1835, he established the firm of Geor ge Peabody and Company in London. He had excellent entreein London business
through another Baltimore firm established in Liverpool, the Brown Brothers. Alexander Brown cameto Baltimore in 1801, and established what is now
known asthe oldest banking housein the United States, still operating as Brown Brothers Harriman of New York; Brown, Shipley and Company of
England; and Alex Brown and Son of Baltimore. The behind the scenes power wielded by thisfirm isindicated by the fact that Sir M ontagu Nor man,
Governor of the Bank of England for many years, was a partner of Brown, Shipley and Company.* Consider ed the single most influential banker in the



world, Sir Montagu Norman was organizer of "informal talks' between heads of central banksin 1927, which led directly to the Great Stockmarket Crash
of 1929.

Soon after hearrived in London, Geor ge Peabody was surprised to be summoned to an audience with the gruff Baron Nathan Mayer Rothschild. Without
mincing wor ds, Rothschild revealed to Peabody, that much of the London aristocracy openly disliked Rothschild and refused hisinvitations. He proposed
that Peabody, a man of modest means, be established as a lavish host whose entertainments would soon bethetalk of London. Rothschild would, of cour se,
pay all the bills. Peabody accepted the offer, and soon became known asthe most popular host in London. Hisannual Fourth of July dinner, celebrating
American I ndependence, became extremely popular with the English aristocracy, many of whom, while drinking Peabody’swine, regaled each other with
jokes about Rothschild’s crudities and bad manners, without realizing that every drop they drank had been paid for by Rothschild.

* "Thereisan informal understanding that a director of Brown, Shipley should be on the Board of the Bank of England, and Norman was elected to it in 1907." Montagu Norman, Current Biography,
1940.
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It ishardly surprising that the most popular host in London would also become a very successful businessman, particularly with the House of Rothschild
supporting him behind the scenes. Peabody often operated with a capital of 500,000 pounds on hand, and became very astutein his buying and selling on
both sides of the Atlantic. His American agent was the Boston firm of Beebe, M organ and Company, headed by Junius S. Morgan, father of John Pierpont
Morgan. Peabody, who never married, had no one to succeed him, and he was very favor ably impressed by the tall, handsome Junius Morgan. He
persuaded Morgan tojoin him in London asa partner in Geor ge Peabody and Company in 1854. In 1860, John Pier pont Morgan had been taken on asan
apprentice by the firm of Duncan, Sherman in New York. Hewas not very attentive to business, and in 1864, Morgan’s father was outraged when Duncan,
Sherman refused to make his son a partner. He promptly extended an arrangement wher eby one of the chief employees of Duncan, Sherman, CharlesH.
Dabney, was per suaded to join John Pierpont Morgan in a new firm, Dabney, Morgan and Company. Banker s M agazine, December, 1864, noted that
Peabody had withdrawn his account from Duncan, Sherman, and that other firmswer e expected to do so. The Peabody account, of cour se, went to Dabney,
Morgan Company.

John Pierpont Morgan was born in 1837, during the first money panic in the United States. Significantly, it had been caused by the House of Rothschild,
with whom M organ was later to become associated.

In 1836, President Andrew Jackson, infuriated by thetactics of the bankerswho wer e attempting to persuade him to renew the charter of the Second Bank
of the United States, said, " You are a den of vipers. | intend to rout you out and by the Eternal God | will rout you out. If the people only understood the
rank injustice of our money and banking system, there would be a revolution before morning.”

Although Nicholas Biddle was President of the Bank of the United States, it waswell known that Baron James de Rothschild of Pariswasthe principal
investor in thiscentral bank. Although Jackson had vetoed therenewal of the charter of the Bank of the United States, he probably was unawar e that a few
monthsearlier, in 1835, the House of Rothschild had cemented arelationship with the United States Gover nment by super seding the firm of Baring as
financial agent of the Department of State on January 1, 1835.

Henry Clews, the famous banker, in hisbook, Twenty-eight Yearsin Wall Street33, statesthat the Panic of 1837 was engineer ed because the charter of the
Second Bank of the United States had run out in 1836. Not only did President Jackson promptly withdraw gover nment funds




33 Henry Clews, Twenty-eight Yearsin Wall Street, Irving Company, New York, 1888, page 157
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from the Second Bank of the United States, but he deposited these funds, $10 million, in state banks. Theimmediateresult, Clewstellsus, isthat the country
began to enjoy great prosperity. Thissudden flow of cash caused an immediate expansion of the national economy, and the gover nment paid off the entire
national debt, leaving a surplus of $50 million in the Treasury.

The European financiers had the answer to thissituation. Clews further states, " The Panic of 1837 was aggravated by the Bank of England when it in one
day threw out all the paper connected with the United States.”

The Bank of England, of cour se, was synonymous with the name of Baron Nathan Mayer Rothschild. Why did the Bank of England in one day " throw out"
all paper connected with the United States, that is, refuse to accept or discount any securities, bonds or other financial paper based in the United States? The
purpose of thisaction wasto create an immediate financial panicin the United States, cause a complete contraction of credit, halt further issues of stocks
and bonds, and ruin those seeking to turn United States securitiesinto cash. In thisatmospher e of financial panic, John Pierpont Morgan cameinto the
world. Hisgrandmother, Joseph Morgan, was a well to do farmer who owned 106 acresin Hartford, Connecticut. He later opened the City Hotel, and the
Exchange Coffee Shop, and in 1819, was one of the founder s of the Aetna I nsurance Company.

Geor ge Peabody found that he had chosen well in selecting Junius S. Morgan as his successor. Morgan agreed to continue the sub rosarelationship with
N.M. Rothschild Company, and soon expanded the firm’s activities by shipping large quantities of railroad iron to the United States. It was Peabody iron
which was the foundation for much of American railroad tracks from 1860 to 1890. In 1864, content to retire and leave hisfirm in the hands of Morgan,
Peabody allowed the name to be changed to Junius S. Morgan Company. The Morgan firm then and since has always been directed from London. John
Pierpont Morgan spent much of histime at his magnificent London mansion, Prince's Gate.

One of the high water marks of the successful Rothschild-Peabody M or gan business venture wasthe Panic of 1857. It had been twenty years since the Panic
of 1837: itslessons had been forgotten by hordes of eager investors who wer e anxiousto invest the profits of a developing America. It wastimeto fleece
them again. The stock market operateslike a wave washing up on the beach. It sweepswith it many minuscule creatures who derive all of their life support
from the oxygen and water of the wave. They coast along at the crest of the " Tide of Prosperity” . Suddenly the wave, having reached the high water mark
on the beach, recedes, leaving all of the creatures gasping on the sand. Another wave may comein timeto
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savethem, but in all likelihood it will not come asfar, and some of the sea creatures are doomed. | n the same manner, waves of prosperity, fed by newly
created money, through an artificial contraction of credit, recedes, leaving those it had bor ne high to gasp and die without hope of salvation.

Corsair, the Life of J.P. Morgan,34 tellsus that the Panic of 1857 was caused by the collapse of the grain market and by the sudden collapse of Ohio Life
and Trust, for aloss of five million dollars. With this collapse nine hundred other American companiesfailed. Significantly, one not only survived, but
prospered from the crash. In Corsair, we learn that the Bank of England lent Geor ge Peabody and Company five million pounds during the panic of 1857.
Winkler, in Morgan the Magnificent35 says that the Bank of England advanced Peabody one million pounds, an enormous sum at that time, and the
equivalent of one hundred million dollarstoday, to save the firm. However, no other firm received such beneficence during this Panic. Thereason is
revealed by Matthew Josephson, in The Robber Barons. He says on page 60:

" For such qualities of conservatism and purity, George Peabody and Company, the old tree out of



which the House of Morgan grew, wasfamous. I n the panic of 1857, when depreciated securities
had been thrown on the market by distressed investorsin America, Peabody and the elder
Morgan, being in possession of cash, had purchased such bonds as possessed real value freely,

and then resold them at a large advance when sanity was restored." 36

Thus, from a number of biographiesof Morgan, the story can be pieced together. After the panic had been engineered, one firm came into the market with
one million poundsin cash, purchased securitiesfrom distressed investorsat panic prices, and later resold them at an enor mous profit. That firm wasthe
Morgan firm, and behind it wasthe clever maneuvering of Baron Nathan Mayer Rothschild. The association remained secret from the most knowledgeable
financial mindsin London and New Y ork, although M organ occasionally appeared asthe financial agent in a Rothschild operation. Asthe Morgan firm
grew rapidly during the late nineteenth century, until it dominated the finances of the nation, many obser ver swer e puzzled that the Rothschilds seemed so
little interested in profiting by investing in the rapidly advancing American economy. John Moody notes, in The Masters of Capital, page 27, " The
Rothschilds wer e content to remain a close ally of Morgan... asfar asthe American field was concer ned.’ 37 Secrecy was mor e profitable than valor.

34 Corsair, The Life of Morgan

35 John K. Winkler, Morgan the Magnificent, Vanguard, N.Y. 1930

36 Matthew Josephson, The Robber Barons, Harcourt Brace, N.Y. 1934
37 John Moody, The Masters of Capital
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Thereason that the European Rothschilds preferred to operate anonymously in the United States behind the facade of J.P. Morgan and Company is
explained by George Wheeler, in Pierpont Morgan and Friends, the Anatomy of a Myth, page 17:

" But there wer e steps being taken even now to bring him out of the financial backwaters--and
they were not being taken by Pierpont Morgan himself. The first suggestion of hisnamefor arole
in therecharging of thereserve originated with the London branch of the House of Rothschild,

Belmont’s employers." 38

Whedler goes on to explain that a consider able anti-Rothschild movement had developed in Europe and the United States which focused on the banking
activities of the Rothschild family. Even though they had a registered agent in the United States, August Schoenber g, who had changed his name to Belmont
when he cameto the United States asthe representative of the Rothschildsin 1837, it was extremely advantageous to them to have an American
representative who was not known as a Rothschild agent.

Although the London house of Junius S. Morgan and Company continued to be the dominant branch of the M organ enterprises, with the death of the senior
Morgan in 1890 in a carriage accident on the Riviera, John Pierpont Morgan becamethe head of the firm. After operating asthe American representative
of the London firm from 1864-1871 as Dabney M organ Company, Morgan took on a new partner in 1871, Anthony Drexel of Philadelphia and operated as
Drexel Morgan and Company until 1895. Drexel died in that year, and Morgan changed the name of the American branch to J.P. Morgan and Company.

LaRouche39 tellsusthat on February 5, 1891, a secret association known asthe Round Table Group was formed in London by Cecil Rhodes, his banker,
Lord Rothschild, the Rothschild in-law, Lord Rosebery, and Lord Curzon. He statesthat in the United Statesthe Round Table was represented by the



Morgan group. Dr. Carrol Quigley refersto thisgroup as"” The British-American Secret Society” in Tragedy and Hope, stating that " The chief backbone of
this organization grew up along the alr eady existing financial cooperation running from the Morgan Bank in New York to a group of inter national
financiersin London led by Lazard Brothers (in 1901)." 40

William Guy Carr, in PawnsIn The Game statesthat, " In 1899, J.P. Morgan and Drexel went to England to attend the I nternational Bankers

38 George Whesdler, Pierpont Morgan and Friends, the Anatomy of a Myth, Prentice Hall, N.J. 1973
39 Lyndon H. LaRouche, Jr., Dope, Inc., The New Benjamin Franklin House Publishing Company, N.Y. 1978
40 Dr. Carrol Quigley, Tragedy and Hope, Macmillan Co., N.Y.
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Convention. When they returned, J.P. Morgan had been appointed head representative of the Rothschild interestsin the United States. Astheresult of the
London Conference, J.P. Morgan and Company of New York, Drexel and Company of Philadelphia, Grenfell and Company of London, and Morgan Harjes
Cieof Paris, M.M. Warburg Company of Germany and America, and the House of Rothschild were all affiliated." 41

Apparently unawar e of the Peabody connection with the Rothschilds and the fact that the M organs had always been affiliated with the House of Rothschild,
Carr supposed that he had uncovered thisrelationship as of 1899, when in fact it went back to 1835.*

After World War |, the Round Table became known asthe Council on Foreign Relationsin the United States, and the Royal Institute of I nternational
Affairsin London. The leading gover nment officials of both England and the United States were chosen from its members. I n the 1960s, as growing
attention centered on the surreptitious gover nmental activities of the Council on Foreign Relations, subsidiary groups, known asthe Trilateral Commission
and the Bilderbergers, representing the identical financial inter ests, began oper ations, with the more important officials, such as Robert Roosa, being
member s of all three groups.

41 William Guy Carr, Pawns In The Game, privately printed, 1956, pg. 60

* July 30, 1930 M cFadden Basis of Control of Economic Conditions. This control of the world business structure and of human happiness and progress by a small group isa matter of the most intense
publicinterest. In analyzing it, we must begin with the internal group which centersitself around J.P. Morgan Company. Never before had there been such a powerful centralized control over finance,
industrial production, credit and wages asisat thistime vested in the Morgan group... The Morgan control of the Federal Reserve System is exer cised through control of the management of the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York.

George F. Peabody History of the Great American Fortunes, Gustavus Myers, Mod. Lib. 537, notesthat J.P. Morgan’sfather, Junius S. Morgan, had become a partner of George Peabody in the
banking business. " When the Civil War came on, Geor ge Peabody and Company wer e appointed the financial representativesin England of the U.S. Government.... with this appointment their wealth
suddenly began to pile up; where hitherto they had amassed the riches by stages not remarkably rapid, they now added many millions within a very few years." According to writers of theday, the
methods of George Peabody & Company wer e not only unreasonable but double treason, in that, whilein the act of giving inside aid to the enemy, Geor ge Peabody & Company wer e the potentiaries of
the U.S. Government and wer e being well paid to advanceitsinterests. " Springfield Republic", 1866: " For all who know anything on the subject know very well that Peabody and his partners gave us
no faith and no help in our struggle for national existence. They participated to the fullest in the common English distrust of our cause and our success, and talked and acted for the South rather than
for our nation. No individuals contributed so much to flooding our money markets and weakening financial confidencein our nationality than Geor ge Peabody & Company, and none made more
money by the operation. All the money that Mr. Peabody is giving away so lavishly among our institutions of learning was gained by the speculations of hishouse in our misfortunes.” Also, New York
Times, Oct. 31, 1866: Reconstruction Carpetbaggers M oney Fund. Lightning over the Treasury Building, John Elson, Meador Publishing Co., Boston 41, pg. 53, " The Bank of England with its
subsidiary banksin America (under the domination of J.P. Morgan) the Bank of France, and the Reichshank of Germany, composed an interlocking and cooper ative banking system, the main objective
of which was the exploitation of the people."



According to William Guy Carr, in Pawns In The Game42 theinitial meeting of these ex officio plannerstook placein Mayer Amschel Bauer’s Goldsmith
Shop in Frankfurt in 1773. Bauer, who adopted the name of " Rothschild" or Red Shield, from thered shield which he hung over hisdoor to advertise his
business (thered shield today isthe official coat of arms of the City of Frankfurt), (See Cover) " was only thirty years of age when heinvited twelve other
wealthy and influential men to meet him in Frankfurt. His purpose was to convince them that if they agreed to pool their resour cesthey could then finance
and control the World Revolutionary M ovement and useit astheir Manual of Action to win ultimate control of the wealth, natural resour ces, and
manpower of the entireworld. Thisagreement reached, Mayer unfolded hisrevolutionary plan. The project would be backed by all the power that could be
purchased with their pooled resour ces. By clever manipulation of their combined wealth it would be possible to create such adver se economic conditions
that the masses would be reduced to a state bordering on starvation by unemployment... Their paid propagandists would arouse feelings of hatred and
revenge against theruling classes by exposing all real and alleged cases of extravagance, licentious conduct, injustice, oppression, and per secution. They
would also invent infamiesto bring into disrepute otherswho might, if left alone, interferewith their overall plans... Rothschild turned to a manuscript and
proceeded to read a carefully prepared plan of action. 1. He argued that LAW was FORCE only in disguise. Hereasoned it was logical to conclude ‘By the
laws of natureright liesin force.” 2. Political freedom isan idea, not a fact. In order to usurp political power all that was necessary wasto preach
‘Liberalism’ sothat the electorate, for the sake of an idea, would yield some of their power and prerogatives which the plotters could then gather into their
own hands. 3. The speaker asserted that the Power of Gold had usurped the power of Liberal rulers.... He pointed out that it wasimmaterial to the success
of hisplan whether the established gover nments wer e destroyed by external or internal foes because the victor had to of necessity ask the aid of ‘ Capital’
which ‘Isentirely in our hands'. 4. He argued that the use of any and all meansto reach their final goal was justified on the groundsthat the ruler who
governed by the moral code was not a skilled politician because he left himself vulnerable and in an unstable position. 5. He asserted that ‘Our right liesin
force. Theword RIGHT isan abstract thought and proves nothing. | find a new RIGHT... to attack by the Right of the Strong, to reconstruct all existing
institutions, and to become the sovereign Lord of all those who left to usthe Rightsto their powers by laying them down to usin their liberalism. 6. The
power of our resources must remain invisible until the very moment when it has gained such

42 William Guy Carr, PawnsIn The Game, privately printed, 1956
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strength that no cunning or force can undermineit. He went on to outline twenty-five points. Number 8 dealt with the use of alcoholic liquors, drugs, moral
corruption, and all viceto systematically corrupt youth of all nations. 9. They had theright to seize property by any means, and without hesitation, if by
doing so they secured submission and sovereignty. 10. We werethefirst to put the slogans Liberty, Equality, and Frater nity into the mouths of the masses,
which set up anew aristocracy. The qualification for thisaristocracy isWEALTH which isdependent on us. 11. War s should be directed so that the nations
engaged on both sides should be further in our debt. 12. Candidates for public office should be servile and obedient to our commands, so that they may
readily be used. 13. Propaganda--their combined wealth would control all outlets of public information. 14. Panics and financial depressionswould
ultimately result in World Gover nment, a new order of one world gover nment."

The Rothschild family has played a crucial rolein international finance for two centuries, as Frederick Morton, in The Rothschildswrites:

" For thelast one hundred and fifty yearsthe history of the House of Rothschild has been to an amazing extent the backstage history of Western Europe." 38 (Preface)... Because of their successin
making loans not to individuals, but to nations, they reaped huge profits, although as Morton writes, p. 36, " Someone once said that the wealth of Rothschild consists of the bankruptcy of nations." 43



E.C. Knuth writes, in The Empire of the City, " The fact that the House of Rothschild madeits money in the great crashes of history and the great war s of
history, the very periods when otherslost their money, isbeyond question.” 44

The Great Soviet Encyclopaedia, states, " The clearest example of a personal linkup (international directorates) on a Western European scaleisthe
Rothschild family. The London and Paris branches of the Rothschilds are bound not just by family ties but also by personal link-upsin jointly controlled
companies." 45 The encyclopaedia further described these companies as inter national monopolies.

Thesire of the family, Mayer Amschel Rothschild, established a small business asa coin dealer in Frankfurt in 1743. Although previously known as Bauer*,
he advertised his profession by putting up a sign depicting an eagle on a red shield, an adaptation of the coat of arms of the City of Frankfurt, to which he
added five golden arrows extending from the talons, signifying his five sons. Because of this sign, hetook the

43 Frederick Morton, The Rothschilds, Fawcett Publishing Company, N.Y ., 1961

44 E.C. Knuth, Empireof the City, p. 71

45 Great Soviet Encyclopaedia, Edition 3, 1973, Macmillan, London, Vol. 14, pg. 691

* "The original name of Rothschild was Bauer." p. 397, Henry Clews, Twenty-eight yearsin Wall Street.
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name ‘Rothschild" or " Red Shield". When the Elector of Hesse earned a fortune by renting Hessian mer cenariesto the British to put down therebellion in
the American colonies, Rothschild was entrusted with thismoney to invest. He made an excellent profit both for himself and the Elector, and attracted other
accounts. In 1785 he moved to a larger house, 148 Judengasse, a five story house known as" The Green Shield" which he shared with the Schiff family.

Thefive sons established branchesin the principal cities of Europe, the most successful being Jamesin Paris and Nathan Mayer in London. Ignatius Ballain
The Romance of the Rothschilds46 tells us how the London Rothschild established hisfortune. He went to Waterloo, wherethe fate of Europe hungin the
balance, saw that Napoleon was losing the battle, and rushed back to Brussels. At Ostend, hetried to hire a boat to England, but because of a raging storm,
no one was willing to go out. Rothschild offered 500 francs, then 700, and finally 1,000 francsfor a boat. One sailor said, " | will take you for 2000 francs,
then at least my widow will have something if we are drowned." Despitethe storm, they crossed the Channel.

The next morning, Rothschild was at hisusual post in the London Exchange. Everyone noticed how pale and exhausted he looked. Suddenly, he started
selling, dumping lar ge quantities of securities. Panic immediately swept the Exchange. Rothschild is selling; he knows we have lost the Battle of Waterloo.
Rothschild and all of hisknown agents continued to throw securities onto the market. Balla says, " Nothing could arrest the disaster. At the sametime he
was quietly buying up all securities by means of secret agents whom no one knew. In a single day, he had gained nearly a million sterling, giving riseto the
saying, ‘The Allieswon the Battle of Waterloo, but it wasreally Rothschild who won.'" *

In The Profits of War, Richard Lewinsohn says, " Rothschild’swar profits from the Napoleonic Warsfinanced their later stock speculations. Under
Metternich, Austria after long hesitation, finally agreed to accept financial direction from the House of Rothschild.” 47

46 | gnatius Balla, The Romance of the Rothschilds, Everleigh Nash, L ondon, 1913

* The New York Times, April 1, 1915 reported that in 1914, Baron Nathan Mayer de Rothschild went to court to suppress | gnatius Balla’sbook on the groundsthat the Waterloo story about his
grandfather was untrue and libelous. The court ruled that the story wastrue, dismissed Rothschild’ s suit, and ordered him to pay all costs. The New York Times noted in thisstory that " Thetotal
Rothschild wealth has been estimated at $2 billion." A previousstory in The New York Times (May 27, 1905) noted that Bar on Alphonse de Rothschild, head of the French house of Rothschild,
possessed $60 million in American securitiesin hisfortune, although the Rothschilds reputedly were not activein the American field. Thisexplainswhy their agent, J.P. Morgan, had only $19 million in



securitiesin his estate when hedied in 1913, and securities handled by Morgan were actually owned by his employer, Rothschild.”

47 Richard Lewinsohn, The Profits of War, E.P. Dutton, 1937
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After the success of hisWaterloo exploit, Nathan Mayer Rothschild gained control of the Bank of England through his near monopoly of " Consols' and
other shares. Several " central" banks, or bankswhich had the power to issue currency, had been started in Europe: The Bank of Sweden, in 1656, which
began to issue notesin 1661, the earliest being the Bank of Amsterdam, which financed Oliver Cromwell’s seizur e of power in England in 1649, ostensibly
because of religious differences. Cromwell died in 1657 and the throne of England wasre-established when Charles |1 was crowned in 1660. He died in 1685.
In 1689, the same group of bankersregained power in England by putting King William of Orange on thethrone. He soon repaid his backers by ordering
the British Treasury to borrow 1,250,000 pounds from these bankers. He also issued them a Royal Charter for the Bank of England, which per mitted them
to consolidate the National debt (which had just been created by thisloan) and to secure paymentsof interest and principal by direct taxation of the people.
The Charter forbade private goldsmithsto store gold and to issuereceipts, which gave the stockholder s of the Bank of England a money monopoly. The
goldsmiths also wererequired to storetheir gold in the Bank of England vaults. Not only had their privilege of issuing circulating medium been taken away
by government decree, but their fortuneswere now turned over to those who had supplanted them.*

In his" Cantos", 46; 27, Ezra Pound refersto the unique privileges which William Pater son advertised in his prospectusfor the Charter of the Bank of
England:

" Said Paterson
Hath benefit of interest on all
the moneyswhich it, the bank, creates out of nothing."

The" nothing" which isreferred to, of course, isthe bookkeeping operation of the bank, which " creates’ money by entering a notation that it has" lent” you
onethousand dollars, money which did not exist until the bank made the entry.

By 1698, the British Treasury owed 16 million pounds sterling to the Bank of England. By 1815, principally dueto the compounding of interest, the debt had
risen to 885 million pounds sterling. Some of thisincrease was due to the war swhich had flourished during that period, including the Napoleonic Wars and
thewarswhich England had fought to retain its American Colony.

* NOTE: In the United States, after the stockholders of the Federal Reserve System had consolidated their power in 1934, our gover nment also issued ordersthat private citizens could not store or hold
gold.
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William Pater son (1658-1719) himself benefited little from " the moneys which the bank creates out of nothing", as he withdrew, after a policy disagreement,
from the Bank of England a year after it wasfounded. A later William Pater son became one of the framers of the United States Constitution, while the
name lingerson, like the pernicious central bank itself.



Pater son had found himself unableto work with the Bank of England’s stockholders. Many of them remained anonymous, but an early description of the
Bank of England stated it was" A society of about 1330 per sons, including the King and Queen of England, who had 10,000 pounds of stock, the Duke of
L eeds, Duke of Devonshire, Earl of Pembroke, and the Earl of Bradford."

Because of hissuccessin his speculations, Baron Nathan Mayer de Rothschild, as he now called himself, reigned asthe supreme financial power in London.
He arrogantly exclaimed, during a party in hismansion, " | care not what puppet is placed upon the throne of England to rule the Empire on which the sun
never sets. The man that controls Britain’s money supply controlsthe British Empire, and | control the British money supply."

Hisbrother Jamesin Paris had also achieved dominance in French finance. In Baron Edmond de Rothschild, David Druck writes, " (James) Rothschild’s
wealth had reached the 600 million mark. Only one man in France possessed more. That was the King, whose wealth was 800 million. The aggregate wealth
of all the bankersin France was 150 million lessthan that of James Rothschild. This naturally gave him untold powers, even to the extent of unseating
governments whenever he choseto do so. It iswell known, for example, that he overthrew the Cabinet of Prime Minister Thiers." 48

The expansion of Germany under Bismar ck was accompanied by his dependence on Samuel Bleichroder, Court Banker s of the Prussian Emper or, who had
been known as an agent of the Rothschilds since 1828. The later Chancellor of Germany, Dr. von Bethmann Hollweg, was the son of M oritz Bethmann of
Frankfurt, who had intermarried with the Rothschilds. Emperor Wilhelm | also relied heavily on Bischoffsheim, Goldschmidt, and Sir Ernest Cassel of
Frankfurt, who emigrated to England and became per sonal banker to the Prince of Wales, later Edward V1. Cassel’s daughter married Lord Mountbatten,
giving the family a direct relationship to the present British Crown.

48 David Druck, Baron Edmond de Rothschild, (Privately printed), N.Y. 1850
49 E.M. Josephson, The Strange Death of Franklin D. Roosevelt, pg. 39, Chedney Press, N.Y. 1948
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Josephson49 states that Philip Mountbatten wasrelated through the Casselsto the Meyer Rothschilds of Frankfurt. Thus, the English royal House of
Windsor hasa direct family relationship to the Rothschilds. In 1901, when Queen Victoria's son, Edward, became King Edward V11, here-established the
Rothschild ties.

Paul Emden in Behind The Throne says,

"Edward’s preparation for hismetier was quite different from that of hismother, hence he ‘ruled’ lessthan she did. Gratefully, heretained around him men who had been with
him in the age of the building of the Baghdad Railway...there were added to the advisory staff L eopold and Alfred de Rothschild, various member s of the Sassoon family, and
above all hisprivate financial advisor Sir Ernest Cassel." 50

The enormous fortune which Cassel madein arelatively short time gave him an immense power which he never misused. He amalgamated the firm of Vickers Sonswith the
Naval Construction Company and the Maxim-Nor denfeldt Gunsand Ammunition Company, a fusion from which there ar ose the wor ldwide firm of Vickers Sonsand Maxim.
On an entirely different capacity from Cassel were businessmen like the Rothschilds. The firm wasrun on democratic principles, and the various partnersall had to be members
of the family. With great hospitality and in a princely manner they led thelives of grand seigneurs, and it was natural that Edward V11 should find them congenial. Thanksto
their international family relationships and still more extended business connections, they knew the whole world, were well informed about everybody, and had reliable
knowledge of matterswhich did not appear on the surface. This combination of finance and politics had been a trademark of the Rothschilds from the very beginning. The
House of Rothschild always knew more than could be found in the papers and even morethan could beread in the reportswhich arrived at the Foreign Office. In other
countries also therelations of the Rothschilds extended behind the throne. Not until numerous diplomatic publications appeared in the years after thewar did a wider public
learn how strongly Alfred de Rothschild’s hand affected the politics of Central Europe during the twenty year s before thewar (World War 1)."

With the control of the money came the control of the news media. Kent Cooper, head of the Associated Press, writesin hisautobiography, Barriers Down,
"International bankersunder the House of Rothschild acquired an interest in the three leading Eur opean agencies.” 51



Thusthe Rothschilds bought control of Reuters International News Agency, based in London, Havas of France, and Wolf in Ger many, which controlled the
dissemination of all newsin Europe.

50 Paul Emden, Behind The Throne, Hoddard Stoughton, L ondon, 1934
51 Kent Cooper, Barriers Down, pg. 21
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In Inside Europe52, John Gunther wrotein 1936 that any French prime minister, at the end of 1935, was a creatur e of the financial oligar chy, and that this
financial oligarchy was dominated by twelve regents, of whom six wer e bankers, and wer e headed by Baron Edmond de Rothschild.

Theiron grip of the" London Connection” on the media was exposed in arecent book by Ben J. Bagdikian The Media Monopoly, described as” A startling
report on the 50 cor porationsthat control what America sees, hears, reads' .53 Bagdikian, who edited the nation’s most influential magazine the Satur day
Evening Post until the monopoly suddenly closed it down, revealsthe interlocking dir ector ates among the fifty cor porations which control the news, but fails
to trace them back to the five London banking houses which control them. He mentionsthat CBS interlocks with the Washington Post, Allied Chemical,
Wells Fargo Bank, and others, but does not tell thereader that Brown Brothers Harriman controls CBS, or that the Eugene Meyer family (Lazard Freres)
controls Allied Chemical and the Washington Post, and Kuhn Loeb Co. the Wells Fargo Bank. He showsthe New York Timesinterlocked with Morgan
Guaranty Trust, American Express, First Boston Corporation and others, but does not show how the banking interlocks. He does not mention the Feder al
Reserve System in hisentire book, which is conspicuous by its absence.

Bagdikian documents that the media monopoly is steadily closing down mor e newspaper s and magazines. Washington D.C., with one paper, The Pogt, is
uniqgue among wor ld capitols. London has eleven daily newspapers, Parisfourteen, Rome eighteen, Tokyo seventeen, and M oscow nine. He cites a study
from the 1982 World Press Encyclopaedia that the United Statesisat the bottom of industrial nationsin the number of daily newspapers sold per 1,000
population. Sweden leadsthelist with 572, the United Statesis at the bottom with 287. Thereisuniversal distrust of the media by Americans, because of
their notorious monopoly and bias. The media unanimously urge higher taxes on working people, mor e government spending, a welfar e state with
totalitarian powers, closerelationswith Russia, and a rabid denunciation of anyone who opposes Communism. Thisisthe program of " the London
Connection." It flauntsa maniacal racism, and has asits motto the dictum of its high priestess, Susan Sontag, that " The whiterace isthe cancer of history."
Everyone should be against cancer. The media monopoly dealswith its opponentsin one of two ways; either frontal assault of libel which the average person
cannot afford to litigate, or an iron curtain of silence, the standard treatment for any work which exposesits clandestine activities.

52 John Gunther, Inside Eur ope, 1936
53 Ben H. Bagdikian, The M edia M onopoly, Beacon Press, Boston 1983
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Although the Rothschild plan does not match any single political or economic movement since it was enunciated in 1773, vital partsof it can bediscerned in
all political revolution since that date. LaRouche54 points out that the Round Tables sponsored Fabian Socialism in England, while backing the Nazi regime
through a Round Table member in Germany, Dr. Hjalmar Schacht, and that they used the Nazi Gover nment throughout World War 11 through Round
Table member Admiral Canaris, while Allen Dullesran a collabor ating intelligence operation in Switzerland for the Allies.

54 Lyndon H. LaRouche, Jr., Dope, Inc., New Benjamin Franklin House Publishing Co., New York, 1978
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CHAPTER SIX
The London Connection

" So you see, my dear Coningsby, that theworld is governed by very different personages from what isimagined by those who are not behind the scenes." 55--Disraeli, Prime Minister of England during
Queen Victoria'sreign.

In 1775, the colonists of America declared their independence from Great Britain, and subsequently won their freedom by the American Revolution.
Although they achieved political freedom, financial independence proved to be a more difficult matter. In 1791, Alexander Hamilton, at the behest of
European bankers, formed thefirst Bank of the United States, a central bank with much the same powers asthe Bank of England. Theforeign influences
behind this bank, morethan a century later, were able to get the Federal Reserve Act through Congress, giving them at last the central bank of issue for our
economy. Although the Federal Reserve Bank was neither Federal, being owned by private stockholders, nor a Reserve, because it was intended to create
money, instead of to hold it in reserve, it did achieve enormous financial power, so much so that it has gradually superseded the popular elected gover nment
of the United States. Through the Federal Reserve System, American independence was stealthily but invincibly absor bed back into the British sphere of
influence. Thusthe London Connection became the arbiter of policy of the United States.

Because of England’sloss of her colonial empire after the Second World War, it seemed that her influence asa world political power was waning.
Essentially, thiswastrue. The England of 1980 is not the England of 1880. She no longer rulesthe waves, sheisa second rate, perhapsthird rate, military
power, but paradoxically, as her political and military power waned, her financial power grew. In Capital City wefind, " On almost any measure you careto
take, London isthe world’sleading financial centre. .. In the 1960s L ondon dominanceincreased . . ." 56

A partial explanation of thisfact is given:

" Daniel Davison, head of London’s Morgan Grenfell, said, ‘ The American banks have brought

the necessary money, customers, capital

55 Coningsby, by Disraeli, Longmans Co., London, 1881, p. 252
56 McRae and Cairncross, Capital City, Eyre Methuen, London, 1963, p. 1
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and skillswhich have established London in its present preeminence. . . . only the American
banks have alender of last resort. The Federal Reserve Board of the United States can, and does,
create dollars when necessary. Without the Americans, the big dollar deals cannot be put together.
Without them, L ondon would not be credible as an inter national financial centre.’" 57
ThusLondon istheworld’sfinancial center, becauseit can command enor mous sums of capital, created at its command by the Federal Reserve Board of
the United States. But how isthis possible? We have alr eady established that the monetary policies of the United States, the interest rates, the volume and

value of money, and sales of bonds, are decided, not by the figurehead of the Federal Reserve Board of Governors, but by the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York. The pretended decentralization of the Federal Reserve System and itstwelve, equally autonomous " regional" banks, isand has been a deception since



the Federal Reserve Act became law in 1913. That United States monetary policy stems solely from the Federal Reserve Bank of New York isyet another
fallacy. That the Federal Reserve Bank of New York isitself autonomous, and free to set monetary policy for the entire United States without any outside
interferenceis especially untrue.

We might believein thisautonomy if we did not know that the majority stock of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York was purchased by three New York
City banks: First National Bank, National City Bank, and the National Bank of Commer ce. An examination of the principal stockholdersin these banks, in
1914, and today, reveals a direct L ondon connection.

In 1812, the National City Bank began business asthe City Bank, in the same room in which the defunct Bank of the United States, whose charter had
expired, had been doing business. It represented many of the same stockholders, who were now functioning under a legitimate American charter. During
the early 1800s, the most famous name associated with City Bank was M oses Taylor (1806-1882). Taylor’sfather had been a confidential agent employed in
buying property for the Astor inter ests while concealing the fact that Astor wasthe purchaser. Through thistactic, Astor succeeded in buying many farms,
and also a great deal of potentially valuablereal estatein Manhattan. Although Astor’s capital wasreputed to come from hisfur trading, a number of

sour cesindicate that he also represented foreign interests. LaRouche58 statesthat Astor, in exchange for providing intelligence to the British during the
year s before and after the Revolutionary War, and for inciting I ndians to attack

57 Ibid, p. 225
58 Lyndon H. LaRouche, Dope, Inc., New Benjamin Franklin House Publishing Co., N.Y. 1978

and kill American settlersalong thefrontier, received a handsomereward. He was not paid cash, but was given a per centage of the British opium trade with
China. It wastheincome from thislucrative concession which provided the basisfor the Astor fortune.

With hisfather’s connection with the Astors, young Moses Taylor had no difficulty in finding a place as apprenticein a banking house at the age of 15. Like
so many othersin these pages, he found his greatest opportunitieswhen many other Americans wer e going bankrupt during an abrupt contraction of credit.
During the Panic of 1837, when more than half the businessfirmsin New York failed, he doubled hisfortune. In 1855, he became president of City Bank.
During the Panic of 1857, the City Bank profited by the failure of many of its competitors. Like George Peabody and Junius Morgan, Taylor seemed to have
an ample supply of cash for buying up distressed stocks. He purchased nearly all the stock of Delawar e L ackawanna Railroad for $5 a share. Seven years
later, it was selling for $240 a share. Moses Taylor was now worth fifty million dollars.

In August, 1861, Taylor was named Chairman of the Loan Committeeto finance the Union Government in the Civil War. The Committee shocked Lincoln
by offering the gover nment $5,000,000 at 12% to finance thewar. Lincoln refused and financed the war by issuing the famous" Greenbacks" through the
U.S. Treasury, which were backed by gold. Taylor continued to increase hisfortune throughout thewar, and in hislater years, the youthful James Stillman
became his protégé. In 1882, when Moses Taylor died, he left seventy million dollars.* His son-in-law, Percy Pyne, succeeded him as president of City Bank,
which had now become National City Bank. Pyne was paralyzed, and was barely able to function at the bank. For nineyears, the bank stagnated, nearly all
its capital being the estate of M oses Taylor. William Rockefeller, brother of John D. Rockefeller, had bought into the bank, and was anxiousto seeit
progress. He persuaded Pyneto step asidein 1891 in favor of James Stillman, and soon the National City Bank became the principal repository of the
Rockefeller oil income. William Rockefeller’s son, William, married Elsie, James Stillman’s daughter, I sabel. Like so many othersin New York banking,
James Stillman also had a British connection. Hisfather, Don Carlos Stillman, had come to Brownsville, Texas, as a British agent and blockade runner
during the Civil War. Through his banking connectionsin New York, Don Carlos had been ableto find a place for



* The New York Times noted on May 24, 1882 that M oses Taylor was chairman of the L oan Committee of the Associated Banks of New York City in 1861. Two hundred million dollarsworth of
securitieswere entrusted to him. It is probably dueto him morethan any other one man that the government in 1861 found itself with the meansto prosecute the war.
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his son as apprenticein a banking house. In 1914, when National City Bank purchased almost ten per cent of the shares of the newly organized Feder al
Reserve Bank of New York, two of Moses Taylor’s grandsons, M oses Taylor Pyne and Percy Pyne, owned 15,000 shar es of National City stock. M oses
Taylor’sson, H.A.C. Taylor, owned 7699 shares of National City Bank. The bank’s attorney, John W. Sterling, of the firm of Shearman and Sterling, also
owned 6000 shares of National City Bank. However, James Stillman owned 47,498 shares, or almost twenty percent of the bank’stotal shares of 250,000.
[SeeChart I]

The second largest purchaser of Federal Reserve Bank of New York sharesin 1914, First National Bank, was generally known as" the M organ Bank",
because of the Morgan representation on the board, although the bank’s founder George F. Baker held 20,000 shares, and hisson G.F. Baker, Jr., had 5,000
sharesfor twenty-five percent of the bank’stotal stock of 100,000 shares. George F. Baker Sr.’sdaughter married George F. St. George of London. The St.
Georgeslater settled in the United States, wheretheir daughter, Katherine St. Geor ge, became a prominent Congresswoman for a number of years. Dr.
E.M. Josephson wrote of her, " Mrs. St. George, afirst cousin of FDR and New Dealer, said, ‘Democracy isafailure’." George Baker, Jr.’sdaughter, Edith
Brevoort Baker, married Jacob Schiff’s grandson, John M. Schiff, in 1934. John M. Schiff isnow honorary chairman of Lehman Brothers Kuhn L oeb
Company.

Thethird large purchase of Federal Reserve Bank of New York stock in 1914 was the National Bank of Commer ce which issued 250,000 shares. J.P.
Morgan, through hiscontrolling interest in Equitable Life, which held 24,700 sharesand Mutual Life, which held 17,294 shar es of National Bank of
Commer ce, also held another 10,000 shares of National Bank of Commer ce through J.P. Morgan and Company (7800 shares), J.P. Morgan, Jr. (1100
shares), and Morgan partner H.P. Davison (1100 shares). Paul Warburg, a Governor of the Federal Reserve Board of Governors, also held 3000 shar es of
National Bank of Commerce. His partner, Jacob Schiff had 1,000 shares of National Bank of Commer ce. This bank was clearly controlled by Morgan, who
was really a subsidiary of Junius S. Morgan Company in London and the N.M. Rothschild Company of London, and Kuhn, L oeb Company, which was also
known as a principal agent of the Rothschilds.

Thefinancier Thomas Fortune Ryan also held 5100 shar es of National Bank of Commer ce stock in 1914. His son, John Barry Ryan, married Otto Kahn's
daughter, Kahn was a partner of Warburg and Schiff in Kuhn, Loeb Company, Ryan’s granddaughter, Virginia Fortune Ryan,

59 E.M. Josephson, The Strange Death of Franklin D. Roosevelt, Chedney Press, N.Y. 1948
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married Lord Airlie, the present head of J. Henry Schroder Banking Cor poration in London and New Y ork.

Another director of National Bank of Commercein 1914, A.D. Juillard, was president of A.D. Juillard Company, atrustee of New York Life, and Guaranty
Trust, all of which were controlled by J.P. Morgan. Juillard also had a British connection, being a director of the North British and Mer cantile | nsurance



Company. Juillard owned 2000 shar es of National Bank of Commer ce stock, and was also a director of Chemical Bank.

In The Robber Barons, by Matthew Josephson, Josephson tells usthat M organ dominated New York Life, Equitable Life and Mutual Life by 1900, which
had one billion dollarsin assets, and which had fifty million dollarsa year to invest. He says,

"In this campaign of secret alliances he (M organ) acquired direct control of the National Bank of
Commerce; then a part ownership in the First National Bank, allying himself to the very strong
and conservative financier, George F. Baker, who headed it; then by means of stock owner ship
and interlocking directorates he linked to the first named banks other leading banks, the Hanover,

the Liberty, and Chase." 60

Mary W. Harriman, widow of E.H. Harriman, also owned 5,000 shar es of National Bank of Commercein 1914. E.H. Harriman’srailroad empire had been
entirely financed by Jacob Schiff of Kuhn, Loeb Company. Levi P. Morton also owned 1500 shares of National Bank of Commer ce stock in 1914. He had
been the twenty-second vice-president of the United States, was an ex-Minister from the U.S. to France, and president of L.P. Morton Company, New Y ork,
Morton-Rose and Company and Morton Chaplin of London. Hewas a director of Equitable Life Insurance Company, Home I nsurance Company,
Guaranty Trust, and Newport Trust.

The astounding idea that the Federal Reserve System of the United Statesis actually operated from London will probably bereected at first hearing by
most Americans. However, Minsky has become famousfor histheory of the" dominant frame". He statesthat in any particular situation, thereisa
"dominant frame" to which everything in that situation isrelated and through which it can beinterpreted. The" dominant frame" in the monetary policy
decisions of the Federal Reserve System isthat these decisions are made by those who stand to benefit most from them. At first glance, thiswould seem to be
the principal stockholdersof the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. However, we have seen that these stockholdersall have a” London Connection”. The
"London Connection" becomes mor e obvious as the dominant power when we find in The

60 Matthew Josephson, The Robber Barons, p. 409
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Capital City61 that only seventeen firms ar e allowed to oper ate as mer chant bankersin the City of London, England’sfinancial district. All of them must be
approved by the Bank of England. In fact, most of the Governors of the Bank of England come from the partners of these seventeen firms. Clarkeranksthe
seventeen in order of their capitalization. Number 2 isthe Schroder Bank. Number 6 is Morgan Grenfell, the London branch of the House of Morgan and
actually itsdominant branch. Lazard BrothersisNumber 8. N.M. Rothschild isNumber 9. Brown Shipley Company, the London branch of Brown Brothers
Harriman, is Number 14. These five merchant banking firms of London actually control the New Y ork bankswhich own the controlling interest in the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

Thecontrol over Federal Reserve System decisionsis also founded in another unique situation. Each day, representatives of four other London banking
firms meet in the offices of N.M. Rothschild Company in London to fix the price of gold for that day. The other four bankers are from Samuel M ontagu
Company, which ranks Number 5 on thelist of seventeen London merchant banking firms, Sharps Pixley, Johnson Matheson, and M ocatta and Goldsmid.
Despite the hugetide of paper pyramided currency and notes which are now flooding the world, at some point, every credit extension must return to be
based, in however minuscule a fashion, on some deposit of gold in some bank somewherein the world. Because of thisfactor, the London merchant bankers,



with their power to set the price of gold each day, become thefinal arbiters of the volume of money and the price of money in those countries which must
bow to their power. Not the least of theseisthe United States. No official of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or of the Federal Reserve Board of
Governors, can command the power over the money of the world which isheld by these L ondon merchant bankers. Great Britain, while waning in political
and military power, today exercisesthe greatest financial power. It isfor thisreason that London isthe present financial center of the world.

61 McRae and Cairncross, Capital City, Eyre Methuen, London, 1963
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CHAPTER SEVEN

TheHitler Connection

J. Henry Schroder Banking Company islisted as Number 2 in capitalization in Capital City62 on thelist of the seventeen merchant bankers who make up the exclusive Accepting Houses Committee in London. Although it isalmost
unknown in the United States, it has played alarge part in our history. Likethe otherson thislist, it had first to be approved by the Bank of England. And, like the War burg family, the von Schroder s began their banking operationsin
Hamburg, Germany. At theturn of the century, in 1900, Baron Bruno von Schroder established the London branch of the firm. He was soon joined by Frank Cyril Tiarks, in 1902. Tiarks married Emma Franziska of Hamburg, and
was a director of the Bank of England from 1912 to 1945.

During World War 1, J. Henry Schroder Banking Company played an important role behind the scenes. No historian has a reasonable explanation of how World War | started. Archduke Ferdinand was assassinated at Sar ajevo by
Gavril Princeps, Austria demanded an apology from Serbia, and Serbia sent the note of apology. Despite this, Austria declared war, and soon the other nations of Europe joined the fray. Once the war had gotten started, it was found
that it wasn’t easy to keep it going. The principal problem wasthat Ger many was desper ately short of food and coal, and without Ger many, the war could not go on. John Hamill in The Strange Career of Mr. Hoover 63 explains how
the problem was solved.* He quotes from Nordeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, March 4, 1915, " Justice, however, demandsthat publicity should be given to the preeminent part taken by the German authoritiesin Belgium in the solution
of thisproblem. Theinitiative came from them and it was only dueto their continuousrelations with the American Relief Committee that the provisioning question was solved." Hamill pointsout " That iswhat the Belgian Relief
Committee was or ganized for--to keep Germany in food."

The Belgian Relief Commission was or ganized by Emile Francqui, director of a large Belgian bank, Societe Generale, and a London mining

62 M cRae and Cairncross, Capital City, Eyre Methuen, London, 1963
63 John Hamill, The Strange Career of Mr. Hoover, William Faro, New York, 1931

* Copies of Hamill’s book wer e systematically located and destroyed by gover nment agents, because it was published on the eve of President Hoover’sre-election campaign.
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promoter, an American named Herbert Hoover, who had been associated with Francqui in a number of scandals which had become celebrated court cases, notably the Kaiping Coal Company scandal in China, said to have set off the
Boxer Rebellion, which had asits goal the expulsion of all foreign businessmen from China. Hoover had been barred from dealing on the London Stock Exchange because of one judgement against him, and his associate, Stanley Rowe,
had been sent to prison for ten years. With this background, Hoover was called an ideal choice for a career in humanitarian work.

Although hisnameisunknown in the United States, Emile Francqui was the guiding spirit behind Herbert Hoover’sriseto fortune. Hamill (on page 156) identifies Francqui asthe director of many atrocities committed against natives
in the Congo. " For every cartridge they spent, they had to bringin aman’shand" . Francqui’sfrightful record may have been the sourcefor the charge later leveled against German soldiersin Belgium, that they chopped off the hands
of women and children, a claim which proved to be groundless. Hamill also saysthat Francqui " tricked the Americans out of the Hankow-Canton railroad concession in Chinain 1901, and at the same time had ‘stood by’ in case
Hoover needed any further help in the ‘taking’ of the Kaiping coal mines. Thisisthe humanitarian who had sole charge of the distribution of the Belgian ‘relief’ during the World War, for which Hoover did the buying and shipping.
Francqui was a director with Hoover, in the Chinese Engineering and Mining Company (the Kaiping mines), through which Hoover transported 200,000 Chinese slave workersto the Congo to work Francqui’s copper mines.”

Hamill says on page 311 that " Francqui opened the offices of the Belgian Relief in his bank, Societe Generale, as a one-man show, with a letter of permission from the German Governor General von der Goltz dated October 16, 1914.

TheNew York Herald Tribune of February 18, 1930, quoted by Congressman L ouis M cFadden in the House on February 26, 1930, said, " One of Belgium’stwo directorson the Bank for International Settlementswill be Emile
Francqui of the Societe Generale, a member of both the Young and Dawes Plan Committees. The board of directors of theinternational bank will have no more colorful character than Emile Francqui, former Minister of Finance,
veteran of the Congo and China. . . heisrated astherichest man in Belgium, and among the twelve richest men in Europe.”

Despite his prominence, The New York Times Index mentions Francqui only a few times during two decades befor e his death. On October 3, 1931, The New York Times quoted L e Peuple of Brusselsthat Francqui would visit the
United States. " Asafriend of President Hoover, Monsieur Francqui will not fail to pay a visit to the President.”
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On October 30, 1931, The New York Timesreported thisvisit with the headline, " Hoover-Francqui Talk was Unofficial" . " It was stated that Mr. Francqui spent Tuesday night as a personal guest of the President, and that they talked
of world financial problemsin general, strictly unofficial. Mr. Francqui was an associate of President Hoover during the latters ministrationsin Belgium during thewar. Their visit had no official significance. Mr. Francqui isa private
citizen and not engaged in any official mission."

No referenceis made to the Hoover -Francqui business associations which wer e the subject of huge lawsuitsin London. The Francqui visit probably involved Hoover’s Moratorium on German War Debts, which stunned the financial
world. On December 15, 1931, Chairman M cFadden informed the House of a dispatch in the Public Ledger of Philadelphia, October 24, 1931, " GERMAN REVEALSHOOVER’'S SECRET. The American President wasin intimate
negotiations with the German government regarding a year’'s debt holiday as early as December, 1930." McFadden continued, " Behind the Hoover announcement ther e were many months of hurried and furtive preparations both in
Germany and in Wall Street offices of German bankers. Germany, like a sponge, had to be saturated with American money. Mr. Hoover himself had to be elected, because this scheme began befor e he became President. I f the German
international bankers of Wall Street--that is Kuhn Loeb Company, J. & W. Seligman, Paul Warburg, J. Henry Schroder--and their satellites had not had thisjob waiting to be done, Herbert Hoover would never have been elected
President of the United States. The election of Mr. Hoover to the Presidency wasthrough the influence of the Warburg Brothers, directors of the great bank of Kuhn L oeb Company, who carried the cost of his election. In exchange for
this collaboration Mr. Hoover promised to impose the moratorium of German debts. Hoover sought to exempt Kreuger’'sloan to Germany of $125 million from the operation of the Hoover Moratorium. The nature of Kreuger's
swindle was known herein January when hevisited hisfriend, Mr. Hoover, in the White House."

Not only did Hoover entertain Francqui in the White House, but also Ivar Kreuger, the most famous swindler of the twentieth century.

When Francqui died on November 13, 1935, The New York Times memorialized him as" the copper king of the Congo . . . Mr. Francqui, last year having gained dictatorial powersover the belga, maintained it on the gold standard
during acrisis. In 1891 he led an expedition into the Congo and gained it for King Leopold. A man of great wealth, rated among the twelve richest men in Europe, he secured enormous copper deposits. Hewas Minister of Statein 1926
and Minister of Financein 1934. It was hispridethat he never accepted a centime of remuneration for his servicesto the government. While consul general at Shanghai, he secured valuable concessions, notably the Kaiping coal mines
and the
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railway concession for the Tientsin Railroad. He was governor of the Societe Generale de Belgique, L1oyd Royal Belge, and regent of La Banque Nationale de Belgique."

The Times does not mention Francqui’s business partner shipswith Hoover. Like Francqui, Hoover also refused remuneration for " government service", and as Secretary of Commer ce and as President of the United States, he turned
hissalary back to the government.

On December 13, 1932, Chairman M cFadden introduced a resolution of impeachment against President Hoover for high crimes and misdemeanor s, which covers many pages, including violation of contracts, unlawful dissipation of the
financial resources of the United States, and his appointment of Eugene Meyer to the Federal Reserve Board. Theresolution wastabled and never acted upon by the House.

In criticizing Hoover’s Moratorium of German War Debts, McFadden had referred to Hoover’s" German™ backers. Although all of the principals of " the London Connection" did originatein Germany, most of them in Frankfurt, at
the time they sponsored Hoover’s candidacy for the Presidency of the United States, they wer e operating from London, as Hoover himself had done for most of his career.

Also, the Hoover Moratorium was not intended to " help" Germany, as Hoover had never been " pro-German". The Moratorium on Germany’swar debtswas necessary so that Germany would have funds for rearming. In 1931, the
truly forward-looking diplomats wer e anticipating the Second World War, and there could be no war without an " aggressor" .

Hoover had also carried out a number of mining promotionsin various parts of theworld as a secret agent for the Rothschilds, and had been rewarded with a director ship in one of the principal Rothschild enterprises, the Rio Tinto
Minesin Spain and Bolivia. Francqui and Hoover threw themselvesinto the seemingly impossible task of provisioning Germany during the First World War. Their success was noted in Nordeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, March 13,
1915, which noted that large quantities of food were now arriving from Belgium by rail. Schmoller’s Yearbook for Legislation, Administration and Political Economy for 1916, shows that one billion pounds of meat, one and a half
billion pounds of potatoes, one and a half billion pounds of bread, and one hundred twenty-one millions pounds of butter had been shipped from Belgium to Germany in that year. A patriotic British woman who had operated a small
hospital in Belgium for several years, Edith Cavell, wroteto the Nursing Mirror in London, April 15, 1915, complaining that the " Belgian Relief" supplies were being shipped to Ger many to feed the German army. The Germans
considered Miss Cavell to be of no importance, and paid no attention to her, but the British Intelligence Servicein London was appalled by Miss Cavell’s discovery, and demanded that the Germans arrest her asa spy.
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Sir William Wiseman, head of British Intelligence, and partner of Kuhn L oeb Company, feared that the continuance of thewar was at stake, and secretly notified the Germansthat Miss Cavell must be executed. The Germans
reluctantly arrested her and charged her with aiding prisoners of war to escape. The usual penalty for this offense was three monthsimprisonment, but the Ger mans bowed to Sir William Wiseman’s demands, and shot Edith Cavell,
thus creating one of the principal martyrs of the First World War.

With Edith Cavell out of theway, the " Belgian Relief" operation continued, although in 1916, German emissaries again approached L ondon officialswith the infor mation that they did not believe Germany could continue military
operations, not only because of food shortages, but because of financial problems. More " emergency relief* was sent, and Germany continued in the war until November, 1918. Two of Hoover’s principal assistants were a former
lumber shipping clerk from the West Coast, Prentiss Gray, and JuliusH. Barnes, a grain salesman from Duluth. Both men became partnersin J. Henry Schroder Banking Corporation in New York after thewar, and amassed large
fortunes, principally in grain and sugar.

With the entry of the United Statesinto the war, Barnesand Gray were given important postsin the newly created U.S. Food Administration, which also was placed under Herbert Hoover’sdirection. Bar nes became President of the
Grain Corporation of the U.S. Food Administration from 1917 to 1918, and Gray was chief of Marine Transportation. Another J. Henry Schroder partner, G. A. Zabriskie, was named head of the U.S. Sugar Equalization Board. Thus
the London Connection controlled all food in the United Statesthrough itsgrain and sugar " Czars' duringthe First World War. Despite many complaints of corruption and scandal in the U.S. Food Administration, no one was ever
indicted. After thewar, the partnersof J. Henry Schroder Company found that they now owned most of Cuba’s sugar industry. One partner, M.E. Rionda, was president of Cuba Cane Cor poration, and director of Manati Sugar
Company, American British and Continental Corporation, and other firms. Baron Bruno von Schroder, senior partner of the firm, wasa director of North British and Mercantile Insurance Company. His father, Baron Rudolph von
Schroder of Hamburg, was a director of Sao Paulo Coffee Ltd., one of the lar gest Brazilian coffee companies, with F.C. Tiarks, also of the Schroder firm.*




* The New York Timesnoted on October 11, 1923: " Frank C. Tiarks, Governor of the Bank of England, will spend two weeks hereto set up the opening of the banking house branch of J. Henry
Schroder of London.”
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After thewar, Zabriskie, who had been sugar Czar of the United States by presiding over the U.S. Sugar Equalization Board, became the president of several of the largest baking cor porationsin the United States: Empire Biscuit,
Southern Baking Corporation, Columbia Baking, and other firms.

Ashisprincipal assistant in the U.S. Food Administration, Hoover chose L ewis Lichtenstein Strauss, who was soon to become a partner in Kuhn L oeb Company, marrying the daughter of Jerome Hanauer of Kuhn L oeb. Throughout
his distinguished humanitarian service with the Belgian Relief Commission, the U.S. Food Administration, and, after thewar, the American Relief Administration, Hoover’s closest associate was one Edgar Rickard, born in Pontgibaud,
France. In Who'sWho, he states that hewas" World War administrative assistant to Herbert Hoover in all war and post-war organizationsincluding the Commission For Relief in Belgium. He also served on the U.S. Food
Administration from 1914-1924." He remained one of Hoover’s closest friends, and usually the Rickards and Hooverstook their vacationstogether. After Hoover became Secretary of Commer ce under Coolidge, Hamill tellsusthat
Hoover awarded hisfriend the Hazeltine Radio patents, which paid him one million dollarsa year in royalties.

In 1928, " the London Connection" decided to run Herbert Hoover for president of the United States. There was only one problem; although Herbert Hoover had been born in the United States, and was thus eligible for the office of the
presidency, according to the Constitution, he had never had a business address or a home addressin the United States, as he had gone abroad just after completing college at Stanford. Theresult wasthat during his campaign for the
presidency, Herbert Hoover listed as his American address Suite 2000, 42 Broadway, New Y ork, which was the office of Edgar Rickard. Suite 2000 was also shared by the grain tycoon and partner of J. Henry Schroder Banking
Corporation, JuliusH. Barnes.

After Herbert Hoover was elected president of the United States, heinsisted on appointing one of the old L ondon crowd, Eugene Meyer, as Gover nor of the Federal Reserve Board. Meyer’sfather had been one of the partners of Lazard
Freresof Paris, and Lazard Brothersof London. Meyer, with Baruch, had been one of the most power ful men in the United States during World War I, amember of the famous Triumvirate which exercised unequalled power; Meyer
as Chairman of the War Finance Corporation, Bernard Baruch as Chairman of the War Industries Board, and Paul Warburg as Gover nor of the Federal Reserve System.

A longtime critic of Eugene Meyer, Chairman L ouis M cFadden of the House Banking and Currency Committee, was quoted in The New York Times, December 17, 1930, as having made a speech on the floor of the House attacking
Hoover’s appointment of Meyer, and charging that "He

74

represents the Rothschild interest and isliaison officer between the French Government and J.P. Morgan." On December 18, The Timesreported that " Herbert Hoover is deeply concerned” and that McFadden’s speech was" an
unfortunate occurrence." On December 20, The Times commented on the editorial page, under the headline, " McFadden Again”, " The speech ought to insurethe Senate ratification of Mr. Meyer as head of the Federal Reserve. The
speech wasincoherent, asMr. M cFadden’s speeches usually are." AsThe Times predicted, Meyer was duly approved by the Senate.

Not content with having a friend in the White House, J. Henry Schroder Cor poration was soon embarked on further inter national adventures, nothing less than a plan to set up World War 1. Thiswasto be done by providing, at a
crucial juncture, thefinancing for Adolf Hitler’s assumption of power in Germany. Although any number of magnates have been given credit for the financing of Hitler, including Fritz Thyssen, Henry Ford, and J.P. Morgan, they, as
well asothers, did provide millions of dollarsfor hispolitical campaigns during the 1920s, just asthey did for otherswho also had a chance of winning, but who disappeared and were never heard from again. In December of 1932, it
seemed inevitable to many observers of the German scenethat Hitler wasalso ready for atoboggan slideinto oblivion. Despite the fact that he had done well in national campaigns, he had spent all the money from his usual sources and
now faced heavy debts. In his book Aggression, Otto Lehmann-Russbeldt tellsusthat " Hitler wasinvited to a meeting at the Schroder Bank in Berlin on January 4, 1933. Theleading industrialists and bankers of Germany tided Hitler
over hisfinancial difficultiesand enabled him to meet the enormous debt he had incurred in connection with the maintenance of hisprivate army. In return, he promised to break the power of the trade unions. On May 2, 1933, he
fulfilled his promise." 64

Present at the January 4, 1933 meeting wer e the Dulles brothers, John Foster Dullesand Allen W. Dulles of the New York law firm, Sullivan and Cromwell, which represented the Schroder Bank. The Dulles brother s often turned up at
important meetings. They had represented the United States at the Paris Peace Conference (1919); John Foster Dulleswould diein harness as Eisenhower’s Secretary of State, while Allen Dulles headed the Central I ntelligence Agency
for many years. Their apologists have seldom attempted to defend the Dulles br other s appear ance at the meeting which installed Hitler asthe Chancellor of Germany, preferring to pretend that it never happened. Obliquely, one
biographer Leonard Mosley, bypassesit in Dulleswhen he states,

64 Otto L ehmann-Russbeldt, Aggression, Hutchinson & Co., Ltd., London, 1934, p. 44
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" Both brothershad spent large amounts of timein Germany, where Sullivan and Cromwell had
considerableinterest during the early 1930's, having represented several provincial gover nments,
some largeindustrial combines, a number of big American companies with interestsin the Reich,
and somerich individuals." 65

Allen Dulles later became a director of J. Henry Schroder Company. Neither he nor J. Henry Schroder wer e to be suspected of being pro-Nazi or pro-Hitler; theinescapable fact wasthat if Hitler did not become Chancellor of
Germany, therewaslittlelikelihood of getting a Second World War going, thewar which would doubletheir profits*



The Great Soviet Encyclopaedia states” The banking house Schroder Bros. (it was Hitler’s banker) was established in 1846; its partnerstoday are the baronsvon Schroeder, related to branchesin the United States and England.” 66**
Thefinancial editor of " The Daily Herald" of London wrote on Sept. 30, 1933 of " Mr. Norman’s decision to give the Nazis the backing of the Bank (of England.)" John Hargrave, in his biography of Montagu Norman says,

"It isquite certain that Norman did all he could to assist Hitlerism to gain and maintain political

power, operating on the financial plane from his stronghold in Threadneedle Street.” [i.e. Bank

of England.--Ed.]

Baron Wilhelm de Ropp, ajournalist whose closest friend was Major F.W. Winterbotham, chief

of Air Intelligence of the British Secret Service, brought the Nazi philosopher, Alfred Rosenberg, to London and introduced him to Lord Hailsham, Secretary for War, Geoffrey
Dawson, editor of The Times, and Norman, Gover nor of the Bank of England. After talking with Nor man, Rosenberg met with the representative of the Schroder Bank of
London. The managing director of the Schroder Bank, F.C. Tiarks, was also a director of the Bank of England. Hargrave says (p. 217), " Early in 1934 a select group of City
financiers gathered in Norman's room behind the

windowlesswalls, Sir Robert Kindersley, partner of Lazard Brothers, CharlesHambro, F.C.
Tiarks, Sir Josiah Stamp, (also a director of the Bank of England). Gover nor Nor man spoke of

the political situation in Europe. A new power had established itself, a great ‘stabilizing

65 Leonard Mosley, Dulles, Dial Publishing Co., New York 1978, p. 88
* Ezra Pound, in an April 18, 1943 broadcast over Radio Rome stated, " . . .and men in America, not content with thiswar are already aiming at the next one. Thetimeto object isnow."
66 The Great Soviet Encyclopaedia, Macmillan, London, 1973, v.2, p. 620

** The New York Times noted on October 11, 1944: " Senator Claude Pepper criticized John Foster Dulles, Gov. Dewey’sforeign relations advisor for his connection with the law firm of Sullivan and
Cromwell and having aided Hitler financially in 1933. Pepper described the January 4, 1933 meeting of Franz von Papen and Hitler in Baron Schroder’shomein Cologne, and from that time on the
Nazis wer e able to continue their march to power."
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force', namely, Nazi Germany. Nor man advised his co-workersto include Hitler in their plans
for financing Europe. There was no opposition."

In Wall Street and the Rise of Hitler, Antony C. Sutton writes" The Nazi Baron Kurt von Schroeder acted as the conduit for 1.T.T. money funneled to Heinrich Himmler’s S.S. organization in 1944, while World War |1 wasin progress,
and the United Stateswas at war with Germany." 67 Kurt von Schroeder, born in 1889, was partner in the Cologne Bankhaus, J.H. Stein & Co., which had been founded in 1788. After the Nazis gained power in 1933, Schroeder was
appointed the German representative at the Bank of International Settlements. The Kilgore Committeein 1940 stated that Schroeder’sinfluence with the Hitler Administration was so great that he had Pierre Laval appointed head of
the French Government during the Nazi Occupation. The Kilgore Committee listed more than a dozen important titles held by Kurt von Schroeder in the 1940's, including President of Deutsche Reichsbahn, Reich Board of Economic
Affairs, SS Senior Group Leader, Council of Reich Post Office, Deutsche Reichsbank and other leading banks and industrial groups. Schroeder served on the board of all International Telephone and Telegraph subsidiariesin
Germany.

In 1938, the London Schroder Bank became the German financial agent in Great Britain. The New York branch of Schroder had been merged in 1936 with the Rockefellers, as Schroder, Rockefeller, Inc. at 48 Wall Street. Carlton P.
Fuller of Schroder was president of thisfirm, and Avery Rockefeller was vice-president. He had been a behind the scenes partner of J. Henry Schroder for years, and had set up the construction firm of Bechtel Corporation, whose
employees (on leave) now play a leading role in the Reagan Administration, as Secretary of Defense and Secretary of State.

Ladislas Farago, in The Game of the Foxes,68 reported that Baron William de Ropp, a double agent, had penetrated the highest echelonsin pre-World War 11 days, and Hitler relied upon de Ropp as his confidential consultant about
British affairs. It was de Ropp’s advice which Hitler followed when herefused to invade England.

Victor Perlowrites, in The Empire of High Finance:
"TheHitler government made the London Schroder Bank their financial agent in Britain and
America. Hitler’'s personal banking account waswith J.M. Stein Bankhaus, the German subsidiary

of the Schroder Bank. F.C. Tiarks of the British J. Henry Schroder Company




67 Antony C. Sutton, WALL STREET AND THE RISE OF HITLER, 76 Press, Seal Beach, California, 1976, p. 79

68 Ladislas Farago, The Game of the Foxes, 1973
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was a member of the Anglo-German Fellowship with two other partnersasmembers, and a

cor porate member ship." 69

The story goes much further than Perlo suspects. J. Henry Schroder WAS the Anglo-Ger man Fellowship, the English equivalent of the America First movement, and also attracting patriots who did not wish to see their nation involved
in aneedlesswar with Germany. During the 1930’s, until the outbreak of World War |1, the Schroders poured money into the Anglo-German Fellowship, with theresult that Hitler was convinced he had a large pro-German fifth
column in England composed of many prominent politicians and financiers. The two divergent political groupsin the 1930'sin England were the War Party, led by Winston Chur chill, who furiously demanded that England go to war
against Germany, and the Appeasement Party, led by Neville Chamberlain. After Munich, Hitler believed the Chamberlain group to be the dominant party in England, and Churchill aminor rabble-rouser. Because of hisown financial
backers, the Schroders, wer e sponsoring the Appeasement Party, Hitler believed there would be no war. He did not suspect that the backers of the Appeasement Party, now that Chamberlain had served his purpose in duping Hitler,
would cast Chamberlain aside and make Churchill the Prime Minister. It was not only Chamberlain, but also Hitler, who came away from Munich believing that it would be" Peace in our time."

The success of the Schrodersin duping Hitler into this belief explains several of the most puzzling questions of World War I1. Why did Hitler allow the British Army to decamp from Dunkirk and return home, when he could have
wiped them out? Against the frantic advice of his generals, who wished to deliver the coup de grace to the English Army, Hitler held back because he did not wish to alienate his supposed vast following in England. For the same reason,
herefused to invade England during a period when he had military superiority, believing that it would not be necessary, asthe Anglo-German Fellowship group wasready to make peace with him. The Rudolf Hess flight to England
was an attempt to confirm that the Schroder group wasready to make peace and form a common bond against the Soviets. Rudolf Hess continuesto languish in prison today, many years after the war, because he would, if released,

69 Victor Perlo, The Empire of High Finance, I nternational Publishers, 1957, p. 177
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testify that he had gone to England to contact the member s of the Anglo-Ger man Fellowship, that is, the Schroder group, about ending the war .*

If anyone supposesthisisall ancient history, with no application to the present political scene, we introduce the name of John L owery Simpson of Sacramento, California. Although he appearsfor thefirst timein Who'sWhoin
Americafor 1952, Mr. Simpson states that he served under Herbert Hoover on the Commission for Relief in Belgium from 1915 to 1917; U.S. Food Administration, 1917 to 1918, American Relief Commission, 1919, and with P.N. Gray
Company, Vienna, 1919 to 1921. Gray wasthe Chief of Maritime Transportation for the U.S. Food Administration, which enabled him to set up his own shipping company after thewar. Like other Hoover humanitarians, Simpson also
joined the J. Henry Schroder Banking Company (Adolf Hitler’s personal bankers) and the J. Henry Schroder Trust Company. He also became a partner of Schroder-Rockefeller Company when that investment trust backed a
construction company which became the world’slargest, the firm of Bechtel Incor porated. Simpson was chairman of the finance committee of Bechtel Company, Bechtel I nternational, and Canadian Bechtel. Simpson states he was
consultant to the Bechtel-M cConeinterestsin war production during World War 11. He served on the Allied Control Commission in Italy 1943-44. He married Margar et Mandell, of the merchant family for whom Col. Edward Mandell
House was named, and he backed a California personality, first for Governor, then for President. Asaresult, Simpson and J. Henry Schroder Company now have serving them as Secretary of Defense, former Bechtel employee Caspar
Weinberger. As Secretary of State they have serving them George Pratt Schultz, also a Bechtel employee, who happensto be a Standard Oil heir, reaffirming the Schroder-Rockefeller company ties. Thusthe " conservative" Reagan
Administration has a Secretary of Defense from Schroder Company, a Secretary of State from Schroder -Rockefeller, and a vice president whose father was senior partner of Brown BrothersHarriman.

* Thefollowing accounts are from The New York Times: October 21, 1945, " A broadcast over the Luxembourg radio said tonight that Baron Kurt von Schroder, former banker who helped finance the
rise of the Nazi party, had been recognized in an American prison camp and arrested.” November 1, 1945, " British Army Headquarters: Baron Kurt von Schroder, 55 year old banker and friend of
Heinrich Himmler isbeing held in Dusseldorf pending decision on hisindictment asawar criminal, the Military Government official announcement said today." February 29, 1948, " An immediate



investigation was demanded yesterday by the Society for the Prevention of World War |11 asto why the German Nazi banker, Kurt von Schroder, wasnot tried asa war criminal by an allied military
tribunal. Noting that von Schroder was sentenced last November to three monthsimprisonment and fined 1500 Reichsmarks by a German denazification court in Bielefeld, in the British Zone, C.
Monteith Gilpin, secretary for the society said the question should be asked why von Schroder was allowed to escape allied justice, and why our own officials have not demanded that von Schroder be
tried by an Allied military tribunal. ‘Von Schroder isasguilty as Hitler or Goering.’"
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The Heritage Foundation has also been an important factor in the policy-making of the Reagan Administration. Now we find that the Heritage Foundation is part of the Tavistock Institute network, directed by British Intelligence. The
financial decisions are still made at the Bank of England, and who is head of the Bank of England? Sir Gordon Richardson, chairman of J. Henry Schroder Co. of London and New York from 1962 to 1972, when he became Governor of
the Bank of England. The" London Connection" has never been more firmly in the saddle of the United States Gover nment.

On July 3, 1983, The New York Times announced that Gordon Richardson, Gover nor of the Bank of England for the past ten years, had been replaced by Robert L eigh-Pemberton, Chairman of the National Westminster Bank. Thelist
of directors of National Westminster Bank readslike a Who's Who of the British ruling class. They include the Chairman, Lord Aldenham, who is also Chairman of Antony Gibbs & Son, merchant bankers, one of the seventeen
privileged firms chartered by the Bank of England; Sir Walter Barrie, Chairman of the British Broadcasting System; F.E. Harmer, Governor of the London School of Economics, the training school for the international bankers, and
chairman of New Zealand Shipping Company; Sir E.C. Mieville, private secretary to the King of England 1937-45; Mar quess of Salisbury, Lord Cecil, Lord Privy Seal (the Cecils have been considered one of England’sthreeruling
families sincethe Middle Ages); Lord Leathers, Baron of Purfleet, Minister of War Transport 1941-45, chairman of William Cory group of companies; Sir W.H. Coatesand W.J. Worboys of Imperial Chemical Industries (the English
DuPont); Earl of Dudley, chairman British Iron & Steel, Sir W. Benton Jones, chairman United Steel and many other steel companies; Sir G.E. Schuster, Bank of New Zealand; East India Coal Company; A. d'A. Willis, Ashanti
Goldfields and many banks, tea companies and other firms; V.W. Yorke, chairman of Mexican Railways L td.

Richardson, former chairman of Schroderswith a New York subsidiary holding Federal Reserve Bank of New York stock, was replaced by the chairman of National Westminster, with a subsidiary in New York holding Federal
Reserve Bank of New York stock. Robert Leigh Pemberton, a director of Equitable Life Assurance Society (J.P. Morgan), married the daughter of the Mar chioness of Exeter, (the Cecil Burghley family). Thereby, the control of the
London Connection remains constantly in effect.

Thelist of the present directorsof J. Henry Schroder Bank and Trust shows the continuing international influence since the First World War. George A. Bragaisalso director of Czar nikow-Rionda Company, vice-president of
Francisco Sugar Company, president of Manati Sugar Company, and vice-president of New Tuinicui Sugar Company. Hisrelative,
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Rionda B. Braga, is president of Francisco Sugar Company and vice-president of Manati Sugar Company. The Schroder control of sugar goes back to the U.S. Food Administration under Herbert Hoover and LewisL. Strauss of Kuhn,
L oeb, Company during World War |. Schroder’s attorneys are the firm of Sullivan and Cromwell. John Foster Dulles of thisfirm was present during the historic agreement to finance Hitler, and was later Secretary of Statein the
Eisenhower administration. Alfred Jaretzki, Jr., of Sullivan and Cromwell isalso a director of Manati Sugar Company and Francisco Sugar Company.

Another director of J. Henry Schroder isNorrisDarrell, Jr., born in Berlin, Germany, partner of Sullivan and Cromwell, and a director of Schroder Trust Company. Bayless Manning, partner of the Wall Street law firm of Paul,
Weiss, Rifkind and Wharton, isalso adirector of J. Henry Schroder. He was president of the Council on Foreign Relations from 1971-1977, and is editor in chief of the Yale Law Review.

Paul H. Nitze, the prominent " disarmament negotiator" for the United States government, isa director of Schroder’sInc. Hemarried Phyllis Pratt, of the Standard Oil fortune, whose father gave the Pratt family mansion asthe
building which houses the Council on Foreign Relations.
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CHAPTER EIGHT

World War One

"Money istheworst of all contraband." --William Jennings Bryan

It isnow apparent that there might have been no World War without the Federal Reserve System. A strange sequence of events, none of which were
accidental, had occurred. Without Theodore Roosevelt’s" Bull Moose" candidacy, the popular President Taft would have been reelected, and Woodr ow
Wilson would havereturned to obscurity.* I1f Wilson had not been elected, we might have had no Federal Reserve Act, and World War One could have been
avoided. The European nations had been led to maintain large standing ar mies as the policy of the central bankswhich dictated their governmental
decisions. In April, 1887, the Quarterly Journal of Economics had pointed out:



" A detailed revue of the public debts of Europe shows interest and sinking fund payments of

$5,343 million annually (five and one-third billion). M. Neymar ck’s conclusion ismuch like Mr.

Atkinson’s. The finances of Europe are so involved that the governments may ask whether war,

with all itsterrible chances, isnot preferable to the maintenance of such a precarious and costly

peace. If the military preparations of Europedo not end in war, they may well end in the

bankruptcy of the States. Or, if such follieslead neither to war nor to ruin, then they assuredly

point to industrial and economic revolution.”

From 1887 to 1914, this precarious system of heavily armed but bankrupt European nations endured, while the United States continued to be a debtor
nation, borrowing money from abroad, but making few international loans, because we did not have a central bank or " mobilization of credit”. The system
of national loans developed by the Rothschilds served to finance Eur opean struggles during the nineteenth century, because they wer e spread out over
Rothschild branchesin several countries. By 1900, it was obvious that the European countries could not afford a major war. They had large standing

armies, universal military service, and moder n weapons, but their economies could not support the enormous expenditures. The Federal Reserve System
began operationsin

*NOTE: P.34. "Houserevealed to mein a confidential moment, ‘Wilson was elected by Teddy Roosevelt.”" The Strangest Friendship in History, Woodrow Wilson and Col. House, Geor ge Sylvester
Viereck, Liveright, N.Y. 1932
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1914, forcing the American peopleto lend the Allies twenty-five billion dollar s which was not repaid, although considerable interest was paid to New York
bankers. The American people weredriven to make war on the German people, with whom we had no conceivable political or economic quarrel. Moreover,
the United States comprised the largest nation in the world composed of Germans; almost half of its citizens wer e of German descent, and by a narrow

mar gin, German had been voted down asthe national language.* The German Ambassador to Turkey, baron Wangeheim asked the American Ambassador
to Turkey, Henry Morgenthau, why the United Statesintended to make war in Germany. "We Americans,” replied M orgenthau, speaking for the group of
Harlem real estate operatorsof which hewasthe head, " are going to war for amoral principle." J.P. Morgan received the proceeds of the First Liberty

L oan to pay off $400,000,000 which he advanced to Great Britain at the outset of the war. To cover thisloan, $68,000,000 in notes had been issued under the
provisions of the Aldrich-Vreeland Act for issuing notes against securities, the only time this provision was employed. The noteswereretired as soon asthe
Federal Reserve Banks began operation, and replaced by Federal Reserve Notes.

During 1915 and 1916, Wilson kept faith with the bankerswho had purchased the White House for him, by continuing to make loansto the Allies. His
Secretary of State, William Jennings Bryan, protested constantly, stating that " Money isthe wor st of all contraband." By 1917, the Morgans and Kuhn,
Loeb Company had floated a billion and a half dollarsin loansto the Allies. The bankers also financed a host of " peace" organizations which worked to get



usinvolved in the World War. The Commission for Relief in Belgium manufactured atrocity stories against the Ger mans, while a Carnegie or ganization,
The Leagueto Enforce Peace, agitated in Washington for our entry into war. Thislater became the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, which
during the 1940s was headed by Alger Hiss. Onewriter* claimed that he had never seen any " peace movement” which did not end in war.

The U.S. Ambassador to Britain, Walter Hines Page, complained that he could not afford the position, and was given twenty-five thousand dollars a year
spending money by Cleveland H. Dodge, president of the National City Bank. H.L. Mencken openly accused Page in 1916 of being a British agent, which
was unfair. Page was merely a bankers agent.

On March 5, 1917, Page sent a confidential letter to Wilson. " | think that the pressure of thisapproaching crisis has gone beyond the ability of the Morgan
Financial Agency for the British and French Govern-

* 1787 Constitutional Convention
* NOTE: Emmett Tyrell, Jr., Richmond Times Dispatch, Feb. 15, 1983 " Every peace movement of this century has been followed by war."
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ments. .. The greatest help we could give the Allieswould be a credit. Unlesswe go to war with Germany, our Gover nment, of cour se, cannot make such a
direct grant of credit."

The Rothschilds werewary of Germany’sability to continuein the war, despite the financial chaos caused by their agents, the Warburgs, who were
financing the Kaiser, and Paul Warburg'sbrother, Max, who, as head of the German Secret Service, authorized Lenin’strain to passthrough the linesand
execute the Bolshevik Revolution in Russia. According to Under Secretary of the Navy, Franklin D. Roosevelt, America’s heavy industry had been
preparing for war for ayear. Both the Army and Navy Departments had been purchasing war suppliesin large amountssince early in 1916. Cordell Hull
remarksin hisMemoirs:

" The conflict forced the further development of the income-tax principle. Aiming, asit did, at the

one great untaxed sour ce of revenue, the income-tax law had been enacted in the nick of timeto

meet the demands of thewar. And the conflict also assisted the putting into effect of the Federal

Reserve System, likewise in the nick of time." 70

Onemay ask, in thenick of timefor whom? Certainly not for the American people, who had no need for " mobilization of credit" for a European war, or to
enact an incometax to finance a war. Hull’ s statement affords arare glimpse into the machinations of our " public servants".

The Notes of the Journal of Political Economy, October, 1917, state:

" The effect of thewar upon the business of the Federal Reserve Banks hasrequired an immense



development of the staffs of these banks, with a corresponding increase in expenses. Without, of

cour se, being able to anticipate so early and extensive a demand for their servicesin this

connection, the framers of the Federal Reserve Act had provided that the Federal Reserve Banks

should act asfiscal agents of the Government."

The bankers had been waiting since 1887 for the United Statesto enact a central bank plan so that they could finance a European war among the nations
whom they had already bankrupted with armament and " defense" programs. The most demanding function of the central bank mechanism iswar finance.
On October 13, 1917, Woodrow Wilson made a major address, stating:

"1t ismanifestly imperative that there should be a complete mobilization of the banking reserves

of the United States. The burden and the privilege (of the Allied loans) must be shared by every

banking institution in the country. | believe that cooperation on the part of the banksisa patriotic
duty at thistime, and that membership in the Federal Reserve System isa distinct and
significant evidence of patriotism."

70 Cordell Hull, Memoirs, Macmillan, New York, 1948, v. 1, page 76

E.W. Kemmerer writesthat " Asfiscal agents of the Gover nment, the federal reserve banksrendered the nations services of incalculable value after our
entrance into thewar. They aided greatly in the conservation of our gold resources, in the regulation of our foreign exchanges, and in the centralization of
our financial energies. One shudder s when he thinks what might have happened if thewar had found uswith our former decentralized and antiquated
banking system."

Mr. Kemmerer’sshuddersignorethefact that if we had kept " our antiquated banking system" we would not have been able to financethe World War or to
enter asa participant ourselves.

Woodrow Wilson himself did not believein his crusade to save the world for democracy. He later wrotethat " The World War was a matter of economic
rivalry.”

On being questioned by Senator McCumber about the circumstances of our entry into the war, Wilson was asked, " Do you think if Germany had
committed no act of war or no act of injustice against our citizensthat we would have gotten into thiswar ?"

"1 dothink so," Wilson replied.



"You think we would have gotten in anyway?" pursued McCumber.
"1 do," said Wilson.

In Wilson’sWar Messagein 1917, heincluded an incredible tribute to the Communistsin Russia who wer e busily slaughtering the middle classin that
unfortunate country.

" Assurance has been added to our hopefor the future peace of the world by the wonder ful and

heartening thingsthat have been happening in the last few weeksin Russia. Hereisafit partner

for a League of Honor." 71

Wilson’s paean to a bloodthir sty regime which has since murder ed sixty-six million of itsinhabitantsin the most bar bar ous manner exposes histrue

sympathies and histrue backers, the bankerswho had financed the blood purgein Russia. When the Communist Revolution seemed in doubt, Wilson sent
his per sonal emissary, Elihu Root, to Russia with one hundred million dollars from his Special Emergency War Fund to save the toppling Bolshevik regime.

The documentation of Kuhn, Loeb Company’sinvolvement in the establishment of Communism in Russia is much too extensive to be quoted here, but we
include one brief mention, typical of theliterature on this subject. In hisbook, Czarism and the Revolution, Gen. Arsene de Goulevitch writes,

71 Public Papers of Woodrow Wilson, Dodd & Baker, v.5, p. 12-13
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" Mr. Bakmetiev, the late Russian Imperial Ambassador to the United States, tellsusthat the
Bolsheviks, after victory, transferred 600 million roublesin gold between the years 1918-1922 to
Kuhn, Loeb Company.”
After our entry into World War |, Woodrow Wilson turned the government of the United Statesover to a triumvirate of his campaign backers, Paul
Warburg, Bernard Baruch and Eugene Meyer. Baruch was appointed head of the War Industries Board, with life and death powers over every factory in

the United States. Eugene Meyer was appointed head of the War Finance Corporation, in charge of the loan program which financed the war. Paul
Warburg wasin control of the nation’s banking system*.

Knowing that the overwhelming sentiment of the American people during 1915 and 1916 had been anti-British and pro-German, our British allies viewed
with some trepidation the prominence of Paul Warburg and Kuhn, L oeb Company in the prosecution of the war. They were uneasy about his high position
in the Administration because hisbrother, Max Warburg, was at that time serving as head of the German Secret Service. On December 12, 1918, the United
States Naval Secret Service Report on Mr. Warburg was as follows:

"WARBURG, PAUL: New York City. German, naturalized citizen, 1911. was decor ated by the
Kaiser in 1912, was vice chairman of the Federal Reserve Board. Handled large sumsfurnished
by Germany for Lenin and Trotsky. Hasa brother who isleader of the espionage system of

Germany."

Strangely enough, thisreport, which must have been compiled much earlier, while we were at war with Germany, isnot dated until December 12, 1918.



AFTER the Armistice had been signed. Also, it does not contain the information that Paul Warburg resigned from the Federal Reserve Board in May, 1918,
which indicatesthat it was compiled before May, 1918, when Paul Warburg would theor etically have been open to a char ge of treason because of his
brother’s control of Germany’s Secret Service.

Paul Warburg'sbrother Felix in New York was a director of the Prussian Life Insurance Company of Berlin, and presumably would not haveliked to see
too many of his policyholderskilled in thewar. On September 26, 1920, The New York Times mentioned in itsobituary of Jacob Schiff in referenceto
Kuhn, Loeb and Company, " During theworld War certain of its memberswer e in constant contact with the Government in an advisory capacity. It shared
in the confer ences which wer e held regarding the organization and formation of the Federal Reserve System.”

* NOTE: New York Times, August 10, 1918; " Mr. (Paul) Warburg was the author of the plan organizing the War Finance Corporation."
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The 1920 Schiff obituary revealed for thefirst timethat Jacob Schiff, like the Warburgs, also had two brothersin Germany during World War |, Philip and
Ludwig Schiff, of Frankfurt-on-Main, who also wer e active as bankersto the German Government! Thiswas not a circumstance to be taken lightly, ason
neither side of the Atlantic were the said bankers obscur e individuals who had no influence in the conduct of thewar. On the contrary, the Kuhn, L oeb
partnersheld the highest governmental postsin the United Statesduring World War |, whilein Germany, Max and Fritz Warburg, and Philip and Ludwig
Schiff, moved in the highest councils of government. From Memoirs of Max Warburg, " The Kaiser thumbed the table violently and shouted, ‘Must you
alwaysberight? but then listened carefully to Max’sview on financial matters." 72

In June, 1918, Paul Warburg wrote a private note to Woodrow Wilson, " | have two brothersin Germany who are bankers. They naturally now serve their
country to their utmost ability, as| serve mine." 73

Neither Wilson nor Warburg viewed the situation as one of concern, and Paul Warburg served out histerm on the Federal Reserve Board of Governors,
while World War | continued to rage.

The background of Kuhn, Loeb & Company had been exposed in " Truth Magazine", edited by George Conroy:

"Mr. Schiff ishead of the great private banking house of Kuhn, Loeb & Co. which representsthe
Rothschild interest on thisside of the Atlantic. He has been described as a financial strategist and
has been for yearsthefinancial minister to the great impersonal power known as Standard Oil.
He was hand-in-glove with the Harrimans, the Goulds and the Rockefellers, in all their railroad

enterprises and has become the dominant power in therailroad and financial world in America.



Louis Brandeis, because of his great ability asalawyer and for other reasonswhich will appear
later, was selected by Schiff astheinstrument through which Schiff hoped to achieve his
ambition in New England. Hisjob wasto carry on an agitation which would undermine public
confidencein the New Haven system and cause a decreasein the price of its securities, thus
forcing them on the market for the wreckersto buy." 74

We mention Schiff’slawyer, Brandeis, her e because the fir st available appointment on the Supreme Court of the United States which Woodrow Wilson was
allowed to fill was given to the Kuhn, L oeb lawyer, Brandeis.

Not only wasthe U.S. Food Administration managed by Hoover’sdirector, Lewis Lichtenstein Strauss, who married into the Kuhn Loeb Company by
marrying Alice Hanauer, daughter of partner Jerome

72 Max Warburg, Memoirs of Max Warburg, Berlin, 1936
73 David Farrar, The Warburgs, Michael Joseph, Ltd., London, 1974
74" Truth Magazine", George Conroy, editor, Boston, issue of December 16, 1912
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Hanauer, but in the most critical field, military intelligence, Sir William Wiseman, chief of the British Secret Service, was a partner of Kuhn, Loeb &
Company. Heworked most closely with Wilson’s alter ego, Col. House. " Between House and Wiseman there wer e soon to be few political secrets, and from
their mutual comprehension resulted in large measure our close cooper ation with the British." 75

One example of House' s cooper ation with Wiseman was a confidential agreement which House negotiated pledging the United Statesto enter into World
War | on the side of the Allies. Ten months befor e the election which returned Wilson to the White House in 1916 ‘because he kept us out of war’, Coal.
House negotiated a secr et agreement with England and France on behalf of Wilson which pledged the United Statesto intervene on behalf of the Allies. On
March 9, 1916, Wilson formally sanctioned the undertaking.76

Nothing could moreforcefully illustrate the duplicity of Woodrow Wilson’s natur e than his nationwide campaign on the slogan, " He kept us out of war" ,
when he had pledged ten months earlier to involve usin thewar on the side of England and France. This explains why he was regarded with such contempt
by those who lear ned the facts of hiscareer. H.L. Mencken wrote that Wilson was " the perfect model of the Christian cad", and that we ought " to dig up his
bones and make dice of them."

Accordingto The New York Times, Paul Warburg'sletter of resignation stated that some objection had been made because he had a brother in the Swiss
Secret Service. TheNew York Times has never corrected thisblatant falsehood, per haps because Kuhn, L oeb Company owned a controlling interest in its



stock. Max Warburg was not Swiss, and although he had probably come into contact with the Swiss Secret Service during histerm of office as head of the
German Secret Service, no responsible editor at The New York Times could have been unawar e of the fact that Max Warburg was German, and that his
family banking house was in Hamburg, and that he held a number of high positionsin the German Government. He represented Germany at the Versailles
Peace Conference, and remained peacefully in Germany until 1939, during a period when persons of hisreligion were being persecuted. To avoid injury
during the approaching war, when bombs would rain on Germany, Max Warburg was allowed to sail to New York, hisfundsintact.

At theoutset of World War |, Kuhn, Loeb Company had figured in the transfer of German shipping intereststo other control. Sir Cecil

75 Edward M. House, The Intimate Papers of Col. House, edited by Charles Seymour, Val. I, p. 399. Houghton, Mifflin Co.
76 Geor ge Sylvester Viereck, The Strangest Friendship in History, Woodr ow Wilson and Col. House, p. 106
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Spring-Rice, British Ambassador to the United States, in a letter to Lord Grey wrote:
" Another matter isthe question of thetransfer of theflag to the Hamburg Amerika ships. The

company is practically a German Gover nment affair. The shipsare used for Gover nment

pur poses, the Emperor himself isa large shareholder, and so isthe great banking house of Kuhn,

L oeb Company. A member of that house (Warburg) has been appointed to a very responsible

position in New York, although only just naturalized. He is concerned in business with the

Secretary of the Treasury, who isthe President’s son-in-law. It ishe who is negotiating on behalf

of the Hamburg Amerika Shipping Company." 77
On November 13, 1914, in aletter to Sir Valentine Chirol, Spring-Ricewrote, (p. 241, v. 2)

"1 wastold today that The New York Times has been practically acquired by Kuhn, Loeb and
Schiff, special protégé of the (German) Emperor. Warburg, nearly related to Kuhn L oeb and
Schiff isa brother of thewell known Warburg of Hamburg, the associate of Ballin (Hamburg)
Amerikaline), isa member of the Federal Reserve Board or rather THE member. He practically
controlsthefinancial policy of the Administration, and Paish & Blackett (England) had mainly

to negotiate with him. Of course, it was exactly like negotiating with Germany. Everything that



was said was German property."

Col. Garrison wrotein Roosevelt, Wilson and the Federal Reserve Law, that " Through the banking House of the Kuhn Loeb Company, a power ful weapon
would have been placed in the hands of the German Kaiser over the destiny of American businessand American citizens.” 78

Garrison was referring to the Hamburg Amerika affair.

It seemed strange that Woodrow Wilson felt it necessary to place the nation in the hands of three men whose personal history was one of ruthless
speculation and the quest for personal gain, or that during war with Germany, he found as per sons of supremetrust a German immigrant naturalized in
1911, the son of an immigrant from Poland, and the son of an immigrant from France. Bernard Baruch first attracted attention on Wall Street in 1890 while
working for A.A. Housman & Co.

In 1896 he merged the six principal tobacco companies of the United States into the Consolidated Tobacco Company, forcing James Duke and the American
Tobacco Trust to enter into this combination. The second great trust set up by Baruch brought the copper industry into the hands

77 Lettersand Friendships of Sir Cecil Spring-Rice, p. 219-220
78 Col. Elisha Garrison, Roosevelt, Wilson and the Federal Reserve Law, Christopher Publishing House, Boston, 1931, p. 260
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of the Guggenheim family, who have controlled it ever since. Baruch worked with Edward H. Harriman, who was Schiff’s front man in controlling
America’srailway system for the Rothschild family. Baruch and Harriman also combined their talentsto gain control over the New York City transit
system, which hasbeen in perilousfinancial condition ever since.

In 1901, Baruch formed the firm of Baruch Brothers, bankers, with hisbrother Herman, in New York. In 1917, when Baruch was appointed Chair man of
the War Industries Board, the name was changed to Hentz Brothers.

Testifying befor e the Nye Committee on September 13, 1937, Bernard Baruch stated that " All wars are economic in their origin." So much for religiousand
political disagreements, which had been specially touted asthe cause of wars.*

A profileinthe" New Yorker" magazinereported that Baruch made a profit of seven hundred fifty thousand dollarsin one day during World War |, after
a phony peace rumor was planted in Washington. In " Who' s Who", Baruch mentionsthat he was a member of the Commission which handled all
purchasing for the Alliesduring World War |. In fact, Baruch WAS the Commission. He spent the American taxpayer’s money at the rate of ten billion
dollarsayear, and was also the dominant member of the Munitions Price-Fixing Committee. He set the prices at which the Gover nment bought war
materials. It would be naive to presumethat the ordersdid not go to firmsin which he and his associates had more than a polite interest.



dictator over American manufacturers.* At the Nye Committee hearingsin 1935, Baruch testified,

" President Wilson gave me a letter authorizing meto take over any industry or plant. Therewas
Judge Gary, President of United States Steel, whom we wer e having trouble with, and when |

showed him that letter, he said, ‘| guesswewill haveto fix thisup’, and hedid fix it up.”

Some member s of Congress wer e curious about Baruch’s qualificationsto exer cise life and death powers over American industry in time of war. He was not
a manufacturer, and had never been in afactory. When he was called before a Congressional Committee, Bernard Baruch stated that his profession was

" Speculator” . A Wall Street gambler had been made Czar of American Industry.

* NOTE: Baruch also stated in thistestimony, " | carried through the war three major investments, Alaska Juneau Gold Mining Company (with partner Eugene Meyer), Texas Gulf Sulphur, and Atolia
Mining Company (tungsten).” Rep. Mason, Illinais, told the House on February 21, 1921 that Baruch made mor e than $50 million in copper during thewar.

* Baruch chose as Assistant Chairman of the War Industries Board a fellow Wall Street speculator, Clarence Dillon (Lapowitz). See biographies.
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Chart | revealsthelinear connection between the Rothschilds and the Bank of England, and the L ondon banking houses which ultimately control the
Federal Reserve Banksthrough their stockholdings of bank stock and their subsidiary firmsin New York. The two principal Rothschild representativesin
New York, J.P. Morgan Co., and Kuhn, Loeb & Co. werethe firmswhich set up the Jekyll Island Conference at which the Federal Reserve Act was drafted,
who directed the subsequent successful campaign to have the plan enacted into law by Congress, and who pur chased the controlling amounts of stock in the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York in 1914. These firmshad their principal officers appointed to the Federal Reserve Board of Governorsand the Federal
Advisory Council in 1914.

In 1914 a few families (blood or business related) owning controlling stock in existing banks (such asin New York City) caused those banksto purchase
controlling sharesin the Federal Reserveregional banks.

Examination of the chartsand text in the House Banking Committee Staff Report of August, 1976 and the current stockholderslist of the 12 regional
Federal Reserve Banks shows this same family control.

Baruch’serstwhile partner, Eugene Meyer, (Alaska-Juneau Gold Mining Co.), later claimed that Baruch was a nitwit, and that Meyer, with hisfamily
banking connections (Lazard Freres), had guided Baruch’sinvestment career. These claims appeared in the fiftieth anniver sary edition of The Washington
Post, editorial page, June 4, 1983, with a parting shot from Meyer’seditor, Al Friendly, that " Every journalist in Washington, Meyer included, knew that
Bernard M. Baruch was a self-aggrandizing phony."

Thethird member of the Triumvirate, Eugene Meyer, was son of the partner in the international banking house of Lazard Freres, of Parisand New York.
In My Own Story Baruch explains how Meyer became head of the War Finance Corporation. " At the outset of World War One," hesays, " | sought out
Eugene Meyer, Jr. ... whowas a man of the highest integrity with a keen desireto be of public service." 79

The nation has suffered greatly from personswho desired to be of public service, because their desires often went consider ably beyond their passion for
office. In fact, Meyer and Baruch had operated an Alaska venture, Alaska-Juneau Gold Mining Company in 1915, and had worked together on other
financial schemes. Meyer’sfamily house of Lazard Freres specialized in international gold movements.

79 Bernard Baruch, My Own Story, Henry-Holt Company, New York, 1957, p. 194
94



Eugene Meyer’s stewar dship of the War Finance Corporation comprises one of the most amazing financial operations ever partially recorded in this
country. We say " partially recorded" , because subsequent Congressional investigationsrevealed that each night, the books were being altered before being
brought in for the next day’ sinvestigation. L ouis M cFadden, Chairman of the House Banking and Currency Committee, figured in two investigations of
Meyer, in 1925, and again in 1930, when Meyer was proposed as Governor of the Federal Reserve Board. The Select Committee to I nvestigate the
Destruction of Government Bonds, submitted, on March 2, 1925, " Preparation and Destruction of Gover nment Bonds--68th Congress, 2d Session, Report
No. 1635:

p.2. " Duplicate bonds amounting to 2314 pair s and duplicate coupons amounting to 4698 pairs
ranging in denominations from $50 to $10,000 have been redeemed to July 1, 1924. Some of

these duplications have resulted from error and some from fraud."

These investigations may explain why, at theend of World War One, Eugene Meyer was ableto buy control of Allied Chemical and Dye Cor poration, and
later on, the nation’s most influential newspaper, The Washington Post. The duplication of bonds, " one for the government, one for me" in denominations
to the amount of $10,000 each, resulted in a tidy sum.

p. 6 of these Hearings. " These transactions of the Treasury prior to June 20, 1920 (including
settlementsfor purchases and sales), executed by the War Finance Cor por ation (Eugene Meyer,

managing director), were largely directed by the managing director of the War Finance

Corporation, and settlementswith the Treasury were made principally by him with the Assistant Secretary of the Treasury, and the books show that the basis of the price paid
by the Gover nment

for over $1,894 millions worth of bonds ($1,894,000,000.00), which the Treasury purchased
through the War Finance Corporation was not the market price and was not the cost of the bond

plusinterest, and the elements entering into the settlement are not disclosed by the correspondence. The managing director of the War Finance Corporation stated that he and
an

Assistant Secretary of the Treasury (Jerome J. Hanauer, partner of Kuhn, Loeb Co. whose daughter married LewisL. Strauss) agreed to the price, and it was simply an
arbitrary figure set by an Assistant Secretary of the Treasury asto the bonds so purchased by the War Finance Cor poration. During the period of these transactions and up
until quite arecent date the managing director of the War Finance Cor poration, Eugene Meyer, Jr., in hisprivate capacity maintained an office at No. 14 Wall Street, New York
City, and through the War Finance Cor por ation sold about $70 millionsin bondsto the Gover nment, and also bought through the War Finance Cor poration about $10 millions
in bonds, and approved the billsfor most, if not all, of these bondsin hisofficial capacity as managing director of the War Finance Corporation. When these transactions, just
referred to, were disclosed to the committee in open hearing, the managing director
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This chart shows the interlocking banking directorates which were revealed by the backgrounds of the officials selected to be the original members of the Federal
Advisory Council in 1914. The principals were the same bankers who had been present or represented at the Jekyll I land Conference in 1910, and during the
campaign to have the Federal Reserve Act enacted into law by Congressin 1913. These officials represented the largest stock holdingsin the New York banks
which bought the controlling stock in the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, and also were the principal correspondent banks of the banksin other Federal
Reserve districts who, in turn, selected their officials to represent them on the Federal Advisory Council.

appear ed before the committee and stated the fact that commissions were paid on these
transactions, they werein turn paid over to the brokers, selected by the managing director, who
executed the ordersissued by his brokerage house, and immediately after thisdisclosuretothe
committee, the managing director employed Ernst and Ernst, certified public accountants, to
audit the books of the War Finance Cor por ation, who did, upon completion of the examination of
these books, report to the committee that all moneysreceived by the brokerage house of the
managing director had been accounted for. While simultaneously with the examination being
made by the committee, the certified public accountants, heretoforereferred to, were nightly
carrying on their examination, it was discovered by your committee that alterations and changes
wer e being made in the books of record covering these transactions, and when the same was
called to the attention of the treasurer of the War Finance Cor poration, he admitted to the
committee that changes wer e being made. To what extent these books have been altered during
the process the committee have not been able to determine. After June, 1921, about $10 billions
worth of securities were destroyed.”

It was Eugene M eyer’s Washington Post, (under the direction of his daughter, Katherine Graham) which waslater to drive a President of the United States

from the White House on the groundsthat he had knowledge of a burglary. What areweto think of the revelations of duplications of hundreds of millions
of dollarsworth of bondsduring
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The J. Henry Schroder Banking Company chart encompasses the entire history of the twentieth century, embracing asit does the program (Belgian Relief



Commission) which provisioned Germany from 1915-1918 and dissuaded Germany from seeking peace in 1916; financing Hitler in 1933 so asto make a Second
World War possible; backing the Presidential campaign of Herbert Hoover; and even at the present time, having two of its major executives of its subsidiary firm,
Bechtel Corporation serving as Secretary of Defense and Secretary of State in the Reagan Administration.

The head of the Bank of England since 1973, Sir Gordon Richardson, Governor of the Bank of England (controlled by the House of Rothschild), was chairman
of J. Henry Schroder, New York, and Schroder Banking Corporation, New York, aswell as Lloyd’s Bank of London, and Rolls Royce. He maintains a residence
on Sutton Place in New York City, and as head of " The London Connection™, can be said to be the single most influential banker in the world.

Meyer’sdirectorship of the War Finance Corporation, the alteration of the books during a Congressional investigation, and the fact that Meyer came out of
this situation with many millions of dollarswith which he proceeded to buy Allied Chemical Corporation, The Washington Post, and other properties?
Incidentally, Lazard Brothers, Meyer’s family banking house, personally manages the fortunes of many of our political luminaries, including the Kennedy
family fortune.

Besidesthese men, Warburg, Baruch, and Meyer, a host of J.P. Morgan Co., and Kuhn, Loeb Co., partners, employees, and satellites came to Washington
after 1917 to administer the fate of the American people.

The Liberty L oans, which sold bondsto our citizens, were nominally in the jurisdiction of the United States Treasury, under the leadership of Wilson’s
Secretary of the Treasury, William G. McAdoo, whom Kuhn, Loeb Co. had placed in charge of the Hudson-M anhattan Railway Co. in 1902. Paul Warburg
had most of the Kuhn Loeb Co. firm with him in Washington during the War. Jerome Hanauer, partner in Kuhn, Loeb Co., was Assistant Secretary of the
Treasury in charge of Liberty Loans. Thetwo Under-secretaries of the Treasury during the War were S. Parker Gilbert and Roscoe C. L effingwell. Both
Gilbert and L effingwell cameto the Treasury from the law firm of Cravath and Hender son, and returned
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The Peabody-Morgan chart shows the London Connection of these prominent banking firms, which have been headquartered in London since their inception.
The Peabody fortune set up an Educational Fund in 1865, which was later absorbed by John D. Rockefeller into the General Educational Board in 1905, which,
in turn, was absorbed by the Rockefeller Foundation in 1960.

to that firm when they had fulfilled their mission for Kuhn, Loeb Co. in the Treasury. Cravath and Hender son wer e the lawyersfor Kuhn Loeb Co. Gilbert
and L effingwell subsequently received partnershipsin J.P. Morgan Co.

Kuhn, Loeb Company, the nation’s largest ownersof railroad propertiesin this country and in Mexico, protected their interestsduring the First World



War by having Woodrow Wilson set up a United States Railroad Administration. The Director-General was William McAdoo, Comptroller of the
Currency. Warburg replaced thisset up in 1918 with atighter organization which he called the Federal Transportation Council. The purpose of both of
these or ganizations wasto prevent strikes against Kuhn, Loeb Company during the War, in case therailroad wor kers should try to get in wages some of the
millions of dollarsin wartime profits which Kuhn, Loeb received from the United States Gover nment.

Among the important bankers present in Washington during the War was Herbert L ehman, of therapidly rising firm of Lehman Brothers, Bankers, New
York, Lehman was promptly put on the General Staff of the Army, and given therank of Colonel.

The Lehmanshad had prior experiencein "taking the profitsout of war", a double entendre and one of Baruch’sfavorite phrases. In Men Who Rule
America, Arthur D. Howden Smith writes of the Lehmans during the Civil War, " They wer e often agents, fixersfor both sides, intermediaries for
confidential communications and handlers of the many illicit transactionsin cotton and drugsfor the Confederacy, purveyors of information for the North.
The Lehmans, with Mayer in Montgomery, thefirst capital of the Confederacy, Henry in New Orleans, and Emanuel in New York wereideally situated to
take advantage of every opportunity for profit which appeared. They seem to have missed few chances." 80

80 Arthur D. Howden Smith, Men Who Rule America, BobbsMerrill, N.Y. 1935, p. 112
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Chaiman of the Board
Federal Reserve Directors: A Study of Corporate and Banking Infiuence® *Published’ 1976
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The David Rockefeller chart showsthelink between the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, Standard Oil of Indiana, General Motors, and Allied Chemical
Corporation (Eugene Meyer family) and Equitable Life (J.P. Morgan).




Other appointmentsduring the First World War were asfollows:

J.W. Mclntosh, director of the Armour meat-packing trust, who was made chief of Subsistence for the United States Army in 1918. He later became
Comptroller of the Currency during Coolidge’s Administration, and ex-officio member of the Federal Reserve Board. During the Harding Administration,
he did hisbit as Director of Finance for the United States Shipping Board when the Board sold shipsto the Dollar Linesfor a hundredth of their cost and
then let the Dollar Line default on its payments. After leaving public service, JW. Mclntosh became a partner in J.W. Wollman Co., New York
Stockbrokers.

W.P.G. Harding, Governor of the Federal Reserve Board, was also managing director of the War Finance Corporation under Eugene Meyer.
George R. James, member of the Federal Reserve Board in 1923-24, had been Chief of the Cotton Section of the War Industries Board.

Henry P. Davison, senior partner in J.P. Morgan Co., was appointed head of the American Red Crossin 1917 in order to get control of the three hundred
and seventy million dollars cash which was collected from the American peoplein donations.

Ronald Ransom, banker from Atlanta, and Governor of the Federal Reserve Board under Roosevelt in 1938-39, had been the Director in Charge of
Personnel for Foreign Servicefor the American Red Crossin 1918.

John Skelton Williams, Comptroller of the Currency, was appointed National Treasurer of the American Red Cross.

President Woodrow Wilson, the great liberal who signed the Federal Reserve Act and declared war against Germany, had an odd career for a man whois
now enshrined as a defender of the common people. His chief supporter in both his campaignsfor the Presidency was Cleveland H. Dodge, of Kuhn L oeb,
who controlled National City Bank of New Y ork. Dodge was also President of the Winchester Arms Company and Remington Arms Company. Hewasvery
closeto President Wilson
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Thischart showstheinterlocks between the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, J. Henry Schroder Banking Corp., J. Henry Schroder Trust Co.,
Rockefeller Center, Inc., Equitable Life Assurance Society (J.P. Morgan), and the Feder al Reserve Bank of Boston.

throughout the great democrat’s political career. Wilson lifted the embargo on shipment of armsto Mexico on February 12, 1914, so that Dodge could ship a
million dollarsworth of armsand ammunition to Carranza and promote the Mexican Revolution. Kuhn, L oeb Co. which owned the Mexican National
Railways System, had become dissatisfied with the administration of Huerta and had him kicked out.

When the British naval auxiliary Lusitania was sunk in 1915, it was loaded with ammunition from Dodge’ s factories. Dodge became Chairman of the
" Survivors of Victims of the Lusitania Fund" , which did so much to arouse the public against Ger many. Dodge also was notorious for using professional
gangstersagainst strikersin his plants, yet the liberal Wilson does not appear to have ever been disturbed by this.

Another clueto Wilson’s peculiar brand of liberalism isto be found in Chaplin’sbook Wobbly, which relates how Wilson scrawled the word " REFUSED"
across the appeal for clemency sent him by the aging and ailing Eugene Debs, who had been sent to Atlanta Prison for " speaking and writing against war" .
The char ge on which Debs was convicted was " spoken and written denunciation of war" . Thiswas treason to the Wilson dictator ship, and Debswas
imprisoned. As head of the Socialist Party, Debsran for the Presidency from Atlanta Prison, the only man ever to do so, and polled mor e than a million
votes. It wasironic that Debs' leader ship of the Socialist Party, which at that time represented the desires of many Americansfor an honest gover nment,
should fall into the sickly hands of Norman Thomas, a former student and admirer of Woodrow Wilson at Princeton University. Under Thomas' leader ship,
the Socialist Party no longer stood for anything, and suffered a steady decline in influence and prestige.

Wilson continued to be deeply involved in the Bolshevik Revolution, as were House and Wiseman. Vol. 3, p. 421 of House I ntimate Paper s records a cable
from Sir William Wiseman to House from London, May 1, 1918, suggesting allied intervention at the invitation of the Bolsheviki
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Thischart showstheinterlocks of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York with Citibank, Guaranty Bank and Trust Co. (J.P. Morgan), J.P. Morgan Co.,

Morgan Guaranty Trust Co., Alex Brown & Sons (Brown BrothersHarriman), Kuhn Loeb & Co., Los Angelesand Salt Lake RR (controlled by Kuhn L oeb
Co.), and Westinghouse (controlled by Kuhn Loeb Co.).



to help organize the Bolshevik forces. Lt. Col. Norman Thwaites, in hismemoirs, Velvet and Vinegar says,

" Often during the years 1917-20 when delicate decisions had to be made, | consulted with Mr.

(Otto) Kahn, whose calm judgment and almost uncanny foresight asto political and economic

tendencies proved most helpful. Another remarkable man with whom | have been closely

associated is Sir William Wiseman who was advisor on American affairsto the British delegation

at the Peace Conference, and liaison officer between the American and British gover nment

during thewar. Hewasrather morethe Col. House of this country in hisrelationswith Downing

Street." 81

In the summer of 1917, Woodrow Wilson named Col. House to head the American War Mission to the Interallied War Conference, the first American
mission to a European council in history. House was criticized for naming his son-in-law, Gordon Auchincloss, as his assistant on thismission. Paul Cravath,

the lawyer for Kuhn, Loeb Company, wasthird in charge of the American War Mission. Sir William Wiseman guided the American War Mission in its
conferences. In The Strangest Friendship in History, Viereck writes,

" After America entered the War, Wiseman, according to Northcliffe, was the only man who had

access at all timesto the Colonel and to the White House. Wiseman rented an apartment in the

house where the Colonel lived. David Lawrencereferred to the Fifty-Third Street house (New York City) jestingly asthe American No. 10 Downing St. . . . Col. House had a
special code used only with Sir William Wiseman. Col. House was Bush, the M organs were Haslam, and Trotsky was Keble." 82

Thusthese two " unofficial" advisorsto the British and American governments had a code solely for each other, which no one else could understand. Even
stranger was the fact that the international Communist

81 Lt. Col. Norman Thwaites, Velvet and Vinegar, Grayson Co., London, 1932
82 George Sylvester Viereck, The Strangest Friendship in History, Woodrow Wilson and Col. House, Liveright, N.Y. 1932, p. 172
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espionage appar atus for many years used Col. House' s book, Philip Dru, Administrator, astheir official code book. Francois Coty writes,
"Gorodin, Lenin’sagent in China, was alleged to have with him a copy of the book published by

Col. House, Philip Dru, Administrator and a code expert who lived in China told thiswriter that

the purpose of having constant accessto thisbook by Gorodin wasto useit for coding and

decoding messages." 83

After the Armistice, Woodrow Wilson assembled the American Delegation to the Peace Conference, and embarked for Paris. It was, on the whole, a most
congenial group, consisting of the banker swho had always guided Wilson’s policies. He was accompanied by Bernard Baruch, ThomasW. Lamont of J.P.
Morgan Co., Albert Strauss of J & W Seligman bankers, who had been chosen by Wilson to replace Paul Warburg on the Federal Reserve Board of
Governors, J.P. Morgan, and Morgan lawyers Frank Polk and John W. Davis. Accompanying them were Walter Lippmann, Felix Frankfurter, Justice
Brandeis, and other interested parties. Mason’s biography of Brandeis statesthat " In Parisin June of 1919, Brandeis met with such friends as Paul
Warburg, Col. House, Lord Balfour, Louis Marshall, and Baron Edmond de Rothschild."

Indeed, Baron Edmond de Rothschild served asthe genial host to the leading members of the American Delegation, and even turned over hisParis mansion
to them, although the lesser membershad torough it at the elegant Hotel Crillon with Col. House and his personal staff of 201 servants.

Baruch later testified beforethe Graham Committee of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee, " | was economic advisor with the peace mission.
GRAHAM: Did you frequently advise the President whilethere? BARUCH: Whenever he asked my advicel gaveit. | had something to do with the
reparations clauses. | wasthe American Commissioner in charge of what they called the Economic Section. | wasa

83 Francois Coty, Tearing Away the Veil, Paris, 1940
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member of the Supreme Economic Council in charge of raw metals. GRAHAM: Did you sit in the council with the gentlemen who wer e negotiating the
treaty? BARUCH: Yes, sir, some of thetime. GRAHAM: All except the meetings that were participated in by the Five? (The Five being the leader s of the
fiveallied nations). BARUCH: And frequently those also."

Paul Warburg accompanied Wilson on the American Commission to Negotiate Peace as his chief financial advisor. He was pleasantly surprised to find at



the head of the German delegation his brother, Max Warburg, who brought along Carl Melchior, also of M.M. Warburg Company, William Georg von
Strauss, Franz Urbig, and M athias Er zber ger.

ThomasW. Lamont statesin his privately printed memoirs, AcrossWorld Frontiers, " The German delegation included two German bankers of the
Warburg firm whom | happened to know slightly and with whom | was glad to talk infor mally, for they seemed to be striving ear nestly to offer some
repar ations composition that might be acceptable to the Allies.” 84 Lamont was also pleased to see Sir William Wiseman, chief advisor to the British
delegation.

The bankers at the conference convinced Wilson that they needed an international gover nment to facilitate their international monetary operations. Vol. IV,
p. 52, Intimate Papers of Col. House quotes a message from Sir William Wiseman to Lord Reading, August 16, 1918, " The President has two main
principlesin view; there must be a L eague of Nations and it must be virile."

Wilson, who seemsto havelived in aworld of fantasy, was shocked when American citizens booed him during his campaign to have them sign over their
hard won independence to what appear ed to many to be an international dictatorship. He promptly went into a depression, and retired to his bedroom. His
wifeimmediately shut the White House door s against Col. House, and from September 25, 1919 to April 13, 1920, she

84 ThomasW. Lamont, AcrossWorld Frontiers, (Privately printed) 1950, p. 138
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ruled the United Stateswith the aid of an intimate friend, her " military aide", Col. Rixey Smith. As everyone was shut out of their deliberations, no one ever
knew which of the pair functioned asthe President, and which wasthe Vice President.

Theadmirersof Woodrow Wilson wer e led for decades by Bernard Baruch, who stated that Woodrow Wilson was the greatest man he ever knew. Wilson’s
appointmentsto the Federal Reserve Board, and that body’sresponsibility for financing the First World War, aswell as Wilson’'s handing over the United
Statesto theimmigrant triumvirate during the War, made him appear to bethe most important single effector of ruin in American history.

It isnowonder that after hisabortivetrip to Europe, where hewas hissed and jeered in the streets by the French people, and snickered at in the halls of
Versailles by Orlando and Clemenceau, Woodrow Wilson returned hometo take to hisbed. The sight of the destruction and death in Europe, for which he
was dir ectly responsible, was perhaps mor e of a shock than he could bear. The Italian Minister Pentaleoni expressed the feelings of the European peoples
when he wrote that:

"Woodrow Wilson isatype of Pecksniff who was now disappear ed amid universal execration."

It isAmerica’ s misfortune that our subsidized press and educational system have been devoted to enshrining a man who colluded in causing so much death



and sorrow throughout theworld.

Thefinancial cartel suffered only minor setbacksin those crucial years. On February 12, 1917, The New York Timesreported that " The five members of
the Federal Reserve Board wereimpeached on the floor of the House by Rep. Charles A. Lindbergh, Republican member of the House Banking and
Currency Committee. Accordingto Mr. Lindbergh, ‘the conspiracy began in’ 1906 when the late J.P. Morgan, Paul M. Warburg, a present member of the
Federal Reserve Board, the National City Bank and other banking firms‘conspired’ to obtain currency legislation in theinterest of big business and the
appointment of a special board to administer such alaw, in order to createindustrial slaves of the masses, the aforesaid conspiratorsdid conspireand are
now conspiring to have the Federal Reserve Board administered so asto enable the conspiratorsto coordinate all kinds of big business and to keep
themselvesin control of big businessin order to amalgamate all the trustsinto one great trust in restraint and control of trade and commerce." The
impeachment resolution was not acted on by the House.

The New York Timesreported on August 10, 1918, " Mr. Warburg' sterm having expired, he voluntarily retired from the Federal Reserve Board." Thusthe
previousintimation that Mr. Warburg left the Federal Reserve Board because he had a brother in the Secret Service of aforeign
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country, namely, Ger many, with whom we wer e at war, was not the cause of hisretirement. In any case, hedid not leave the Federal Reserve
Administration, as he immediately took over J.P. Morgan’s seat on the Federal Advisory Council, from which post he continued to administer the Federal
Reserve System for the next ten years.

113

CHAPTER NINE

The Agricultural Depression

When Paul Warburg resigned from the Federal Reserve Board of Governorsin 1918, his place wastaken by Albert Strauss, partner in theinternational banking house of J & W Seligman. Thisbanking house had large interestsin
Cuba and South America, and played a prominent part in financing the many revolutionsin those countries. Its most notorious publicity came during the Senate Finance Committee’ sinvestigation in 1933, when it was brought out that
J & W Seligman had given a $415,000 bribe to Juan L eguia, son of the President of Peru, in order to get that nation to accept aloan.

A partial list of Albert Strauss’ directorships, according to " Who'sWho", showsthat hewas: Chairman of the Board of the Cuba Cane Sugar Corporation; director, Brooklyn Manhattan Transit Co., Coney Island Brooklyn RR, New
York Rapid Transit, Pierce-Arrow, Cuba Tobacco Corporation, and the Eastern Cuba Sugar Corporation.

Governor Delano resigned in August, 1918, to be commissioned a Colonel in the Army. Thewar ended on November 11, 1918.

William M cAdoo was replaced in 1918 by Carter Glass as Secretary of the Treasury. Both Strauss and Glass wer e present during the secret meeting of the Federal Reserve Board on May 18, 1920, when the Agricultural Depression of



1920-21 was made possible.

One of themain lies about the Federal Reserve Act when it was being ballyhooed in 1913 was its promise to take car e of the farmer. Actually, it has never taken care of anybody but a few big bankers. Prof. 0.M.W. Sprague, Harvard
economist, writing in the Quarterly Journal of Economics of February, 1914, said:

"The primary purpose of the Federal Reserve Act isto make surethat there will always be an
available supply of money and credit in this country to meet unusual banking requirements.”
Thereisnothingin that wording to help the farmer.

TheFirst World War had introduced into this country a general prosperity, asrevealed by the stocks of heavy industry on the New York Exchangein 1917-1918, by the increase in the amount of money circulated, and by the enormous
bank clearings during the whole of 1918. It was the assigned duty of the Federal Reserve System to get back the vast amount
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of money and credit which had escaped their control during thistime of prosperity. Thiswas done by the Agricultural Depression of 1920-21.

The operations of the Federal Reserve Open Market Committeein 1917-18, while Paul Warburg was still Chairman, show a tremendousincreasein purchases of bankers and trade acceptances. Therewas also a great increasein the
purchase of United States Gover nment securities, under the leader ship of the able Eugene Meyer, Jr. A large part of the stock market speculation in 1919, at the end of the War when the market was very unsettled, was financed with
funds borrowed from Federal Reserve Bankswith Government securities as collateral. Thusthe Federal Reserve System set up the Depression, first by causing inflation, and then raising the discount rate and making money dear.

In 1914, Federal Reserve Bank rates had dropped from six percent to four percent, had goneto a further low of three percent in 1916, and had stayed at that level until 1920. The reason for the low interest rate was the necessity for
floating the billion dollar Liberty L oans. At the beginning of each Liberty Loan Drive, the Federal Reserve Board put a hundred million dollarsinto the New York money market through its open market operations, in order to provide
a cash impetusfor thedrive. The most important role of the Liberty Bonds was to soak up theincreasein circulation of the medium of exchange (integer of account) brought about by the large amount of currency and credit put out
during thewar. Laborerswere paid high wages, and farmersreceived the highest pricesfor their produce they had ever known. These two groups accumulated millions of dollarsin cash which they did not put into Liberty Bonds. That
money was effectively out of the hands of the Wall Street group which controlled the money and credit of the United States. They wanted it back, and that iswhy we had the Agricultural Depression of 1920-21.

Much of the money was deposited in small country banksin the Middle West and West which had refused to have any part of the Federal Reserve System, the farmersand rancher s of those r egions seeing no good reason why they
should give a group of inter national financiers control of their money. The main job of the Federal Reserve System wasto break these small country banks and get back the money which had been paid out to the farmersduring the
war, in effect, ruin them, and thisit proceeded to do.

First of all, a Federal Farm Loan Board was set up which encouraged the farmersto invest their accrued money in land on long term loans, which the far merswere eager to do. Then inflation was allowed to takeits coursein this
country and in Europein 1919 and 1920. The pur pose of the inflation in Europe was to cancel out alarge portion of thewar debts owed by the Alliesto the American people, and its purposein this country wasto draw in the excess
moneys which had been distributed to

115

theworking peoplein the form of higher wages and bonuses for production. As prices went higher and higher, the money which the workershad accumulated became worth less and less, inflicting upon them an unfair drain, whilethe
propertied classes wer e enriched by theinflation because of the enormousincreasein the value of land and manufactured goods. The worker s wer e thus effectively impoverished, but the farmers, who were as a class more thrifty, and
who wer e mor e self-sufficient, had to be handled more harshly.

G.W. Norris, in " Collier’sMagazine" of March 20, 1920, said:

"Rumor hasit that two members of the Federal Reserve Board had a plain talk with some New

York bankersand financiersin December, 1919. Immediately afterwards, there was a notable

declinein transactions on the stock market and a cessation of company promotions. It is

understood that action in the same general direction has already been taken in other sections of the country, as evidence of the abuse of the Federal Reserve System to promote
speculation in land and commodities appeared.”

Senator Robert L. Owen, Chairman of the Senate Banking and Currency Committee, testified at the Senate Silver Hearingsin 1939 that:

"In theearly part of 1920, the farmerswer e exceedingly prosperous. They wer e paying off the
mor tgages and buying a lot of new land, at the instance of the Gover nment--had borrowed money
to doit--and then they wer e bankrupted by a sudden contraction of credit and currency which
took placein 1920. What took placein 1920 was just the rever se of what should have been taking

place. Instead of liquidating the excess of credits created by thewar through a period of years, the



Federal Reserve Board met in a meeting which was not disclosed to the public. They met on the
18th of May, 1920, and it was a secret meeting. They spent all day conferring; the minutes made
sixty printed pages, and they appear in Senate Document 310 of February 19, 1923. The Class A
Directors, the Federal Reserve Advisory Council, wer e present, but the Class B Directors, who
represented business, commerce, and agriculture, werenot present. The Class C Directors,
representing the people of the United States, wer e not present and were not invited to be present.
Only the big bankerswerethere, and their work of that day resulted in a contraction of credit
which had the effect the next year of reducing the national income fifteen billion dollars,
throwing millions of people out of employment, and reducing the value of lands and ranches by

twenty billion dollars."

Carter Glass, member of the Board in 1920 as Secretary of the Treasury, wrote in hisautobiography, Adventurein Constructive Finance published in 1928; " Reporterswere not present, of course, asthey should not have been and as
they never areat any bank board meeting in theworld.” 85

85 Carter Glass, Adventurein Constructive Finance, Doubleday, N.Y. 1928
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It was Carter Glasswho had complained that, if a suggested amendment by Senator L aFollette were passed, on the Federal Reserve Act of 1913, to the effect that no member of the Federal Reserve Board should be an official or
director or stockholder of any bank, trust company, or insurance company, we would end up by having mechanics and farm laborers on the Board. Certainly mechanics and farm laborer s could have caused no more damage to the
country than did Glass, Strauss, and Warburg at the secr et meeting of the Federal Reserve Board.

Senator Brookhart of lowa testified that at that secret meeting Paul Warburg, also President of the Federal Advisory Council, had a resolution passed to send a committee of fiveto the I nter state Commer ce Commission and ask for an
increasein railroad rates. As head of Kuhn, Loeb Co. which owned most of the railway mileage in the United States, he was already missing the huge profits which the United States Government had paid during the war, and he wanted
toinflict new priceraises on the American people.

Senator Brookhart also testified that:

"1 went into Myron T. Herrick’s officein Paris, and told him that | came thereto study
cooper ative banking. He said to me, ‘as you go over the countries of Europe, you will find that
the United Statesisthe only civilized country in theworld that by law is prohibiting its people

from organizing a cooper ative system.” | went up to New York and talked to about two hundred people. After talking cooper ation and standing around waiting for my train--1
did not specifically mention cooper ative banking, it was cooperation in general--a man called me off to one sideand said, ‘I think Paul Warburg isthe greatest financier we have
ever produced. He believes a lot more of your cooper ativeideasthan you think he does, and if you want to consult anybody about the business of cooperation, heisthe man to
consult, because he believesin you, and you can rely on him.” A few minuteslater | was steered up against Mr. Warburg himself, and he said to me, ‘' You are absolutely right
about this cooperativeidea. | want to let you know that the big bankersarewith you. | want to let you know that now, so that you will not start anything on cooper ative

banking and turn them against you.” | said, ‘Mr. Warburg, | have already prepared and tomorrow
| am going to offer an amendment to the Lant Bill authorizing the establishment of cooper ative
national banks.’ That wasthe intermediate credit act which wasthen pending to authorize the
establishment of cooper ative national banks. That wasthe extent of my conver sation with Mr.

Warburg, and we have not had any since."

Mr. Wingo testified that in April, May, Juneand July of 1920, the manufacturers and mer chants were allowed a very largeincreasein credits. Thiswasto tide them through the contraction of credit which wasintended to ruin the
American farmers, who, during this period, were denied all credit.
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At the Senate Hearingsin 1923, Eugene Meyer, Jr. put hisfinger on aprimary reason for the Federal Reserve Board’saction in raising theinterest rateto 7% on agricultural and livestock paper:
"1 believe," hesaid, "that a great deal of trouble would have been avoided if alarger number of
the eligible non-member banks had been member s of the Federal Reserve System."

Meyer was correct in pointing thisout. The purpose of the Board’s action was to break those state and joint land stock bankswhich had steadfastly refused to surrender their freedom to the banker’s dictator ship set up by the System.
Kemmerer in the ABC of the Federal Reserve System had written in 1919 that:

" The tendency will be toward unification and simplicity which will be brought about by the state
institutions, in increasing number s, becoming stockholders and depositorsin thereserve banks."
However, the state banks had not responded.

The Senate Hearings of 1923 investigating the causes of the Agricultural Depression of 1920-21 had been demanded by the American people. The complete record of the secret meeting of the Federal Reserve Board on May 18, 1920 had
been printed in the" Manufacturers' Record" of Baltimore, Maryland, a magazine devoted to the interests of small Southern manufacturers.

Benjamin Strong, Governor of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, and close friend of Montagu Norman, the Governor of the Bank of England, claimed at these Hearings:
"The Federal Reserve System hasdone more for the farmer than he hasyet begun torealize."

Emmanuel Goldenweiser, Director of Research for the Board of Governors, claimed that the discount rate wasraised purely asan anti-inflationary measure, but he failed to explain why it wasaraise aimed solely at farmersand
workers, while at the same time the System protected the manufacturers and merchants by assuring them increased credits.

Thefinal statement on the Federal Reserve Board’s causing the Agricultural Depression of 1920-21 was made by William Jennings Bryan. In " Hearst's Magazine" of November, 1923, he wrote:
"The Federal Reserve Bank that should have been the farmer’s greatest protection has become his
greatest foe. The deflation of the farmer was a crime deliber ately committed.”
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CHAPTER TEN

TheMoney Creators

The editorial page of The New York Times, January 18, 1920, carried an interesting comment on the Federal Reserve System. The unidentified writer, perhaps Paul Warburg, stated, " The Federal Reserveisafount of credit, not of
capital." Thisisone of the most revealing statements ever made about the Federal Reserve System. It saysthat the Federal Reserve System will never add anything to our capital structure, or to the formation of capital, becauseit is
organized to produce credit, to create money for credit money and speculations, instead of providing capital funds for the improvement of commerce and industry. Simply stated, capitalization would mean the providing of notes
backed by a precious metal or other commodity. Reserve notes are unbacked paper loaned at interest.

On July 25, 1921, Senator Owen stated on the editorial page of The New York Times, The Federal Reserve Board isthe most gigantic financial power in all theworld. Instead of using thisgreat power asthe Federal Reserve Act
intended that it should, the board....delegated this power to the banks, threw the weight of itsinfluence toward the support of the policy of German inflation." The senator whose name was on the Act saw that it was not performing as
promised.

After the Agricultural Depression of 1920-21, the Federal Reserve Board of Governor s settled down to eight years of providing rapid credit expansion of the New York bankers, a policy which culminated in the Great Depression of
1929-31 and helped paralyze the economic structure of the world. Paul Warburg had resigned in May, 1918, after the monetary system of the United States had been changed from a bond-secured currency to a currency based upon
commercial paper and the shares of the Federal Reserve Banks. Warburg returned to hisfive hundred thousand dollar a year job with Kuhn, Loeb Company, but he continued to deter mine the policy of the Federal Reserve System, as
President of the Federal Advisory Council and as Chairman of the Executive Committee of the American Acceptance Council.

From 1921 to 1929, Paul Warburg organized three of the greatest trustsin the United States, the I nternational Acceptance Bank, largest acceptance bank in the world, Agfa Ansco Film Cor poration, with headquartersin Belgium, and
1.G. Farben Corporation whose American
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branch Warburg set up as|.G. Chemical Corporation. The Westinghouse Cor poration is also one of his creations.

In the early 1920s, the Federal Reserve System played the decisiverolein there-entry of Russiainto the international finance structure. Winthrop and Stimson continued to be the correspondents between Russian and American
bankers, and Henry L. Stimson handled the negotiations concluding in our recognition of the Soviet after Roosevelt’s election in 1932. Thiswas an anti-climax, because we had long before resumed exchange relations with Russian
financiers.

The Federal Reserve System began purchasing Russian gold in 1920, and Russian currency was accepted on the Exchanges. According to Colonel Ely Garrison, in hisautobiography, and according to the United States Naval Secret
Service Report on Paul Warburg, the Russian Revolution had been financed by the Rothschilds and Warburgs, with a member of the Warburg family carrying the actual funds used by Lenin and Trotsky in Stockholm in 1918.

An articlein the English monthly " Fortnightly", July, 1922, says:

"During the past year, practically every single capitalistic institution has been restored. Thisis
true of the State Bank, private banking, the Stock Exchange, the right to possess money to
unlimited amount, theright of inheritance, the bill of exchange system, and other institutions and
practicesinvolved in the conduct of privateindustry and trade. A great part of the former
nationalized industries are now found in semi-independent trusts.”

The organization of powerful trustsin Russia under the guise of Communism made possible the receipt of large amounts of financial and technical help from the United States. The Russian aristocracy had been wiped out because it
was too inefficient to manage a moder n industrial state. Theinternational financiers provided fundsfor Lenin and Trotsky to overthrow the Czarist regime and keep Russiain the First World War. Peter Drucker, spokesman for the
oligarchy in America, declared in an articlein the Saturday Evening Post in 1948, that:

"RUSSIA ISTHE IDEAL OF THE MANAGED ECONOMY TOWARDSWHICH WE ARE
MOVING."

In Russia, theissuance of sufficient currency to handle the needs of their economy occurred only after a government had been put in power which had absolute control of the people. During the 1920s, Russia issued lar ge quantities of
so-called " inflation money" , a managed currency. The same" Fortnightly" article (of July, 1922) observed that:

" As economic pressure produced the ‘astronomical dimensions system’ of currency; it can never
destroy it. Taken alone, the system is self-contained, logically perfected, even intelligent. And it

can perish only through the collapse or destruction of the political edifice which it decorates.”
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" Fortnightly" also remarked, in 1929, that:
" Since 1921, the daily life of the Soviet citizen is no different from that of the American citizen,

and the Soviet system of government is mor e economical."

Admiral Kolchak, leader of the White Russian armies, was supported by theinter national bankers, who sent British and American troopsto Siberiain order to have a pretext for printing Kolchak rubles. At onetimein 1920, the
bankerswere manipulating on the London Exchange the old Czarist rubles, Kerensky rubles and Kolchak rubles, the values of all three fluctuating accor ding to the movements of the Allied troops aiding K olchak. Kolchak also wasin
possession of consider able amounts of gold which had been seized by hisarmies. After hisdefeat, a trainload of this gold disappeared in Siberia. At the Senate Hearingsin 1921 on the Federal Reserve System, it was brought out that the
System had been receiving this gold. Congressman Dunbar questioned Governor W.P.G. Harding of the Federal Reserve Board as follows:

DUNBAR: "In other words, Russiais sending a great deal of gold to the European countries, which in turn send it to us?"
HARDING: " Thisisdoneto pay for the stuff bought in this country and to create dollar exchange."
DUNBAR: " At the sametime, that gold came from Russia through Europe?”

HARDING: " Some of it isthought to be Kolchak gold, coming through Siberia, but it isnone of the Federal Reserve Banks' business. The Secretary of the Treasury hasissued instructionsto the assay office not to take any gold which
does not bear the mint mark of a friendly nation."

Just what Governor Harding meant by " afriendly nation" isnot clear. In 1921, we were not at war with any country, but Congress was already beginning to question theinternational gold dealings of the Federal Reserve System.
Governor Harding could very well shrug his shouldersand say that it was none of the Federal Reserve Banks' business where the gold came from. Gold knows no nationality or race. The United States by law had ceased to be interested
in whereits gold came from in 1906, when Secretary of the Treasury Shaw made arrangementswith several of the larger New York banks (onesin which he had interests) to purchase gold with advances of cash from the United States
Treasury, which would then purchase the gold from these banks. The Treasury could claim that it did not know whereits gold came from since their office only registersthe bank from which it made the purchase. Since 1906, the
Treasury has not known from which of the international gold merchantsit was buying its gold.

Theinternational gold dealings of the Federal Reserve System, and its active support in helping the L eague of Nationsto force all the nations
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of Europe and South America back on the gold standard for the benefit of international gold merchantslike Eugene Meyer, Jr. and Albert Strauss, is best demonstrated by a classic incident, the sterling credit of 1925.

J.E. Darling wrote, in the English periodical, " Spectator", on January 10, 1925 that:

" Obvioudly, it is of thefirst importanceto the United Statesto induce England to resumethe gold
standard asearly as possible. An American controlled Gold Standard, which must inevitably
result in the United States becoming the world’s supreme financial power, makes England a
tributary and satellite, and New York the world’sfinancial centre."

Mr. Darling failsto point out that the American people have aslittleto do with thisasthe British people, and that resumption of the gold standard by Britain would benefit only that small group of international gold merchants who
own theworld’'sgold. No wonder that " Banker’'s Magazine" gleefully remarked in July, 1925 that:

" The outstanding event of the past half year in the banking world wastherestoration of the gold

standard."

TheFirst World War changed the status of the United States from that of a debtor nation to the position of theworld’s greatest creditor nation, atitle formerly occupied by England. Since debt is money, according to the Governor
Marriner Eccles of the Federal Reserve Board, this also made ustherichest nation of theworld. Thewar also caused the removal of the headquarters of the world’s acceptance market from London to New York, and Paul Warburg
became the most power ful trade acceptance banker in the world. The mainstay of the inter national financiers, however, remained the same. The gold standard was still the basis of foreign exchange, and the small group of

inter nationals who owned the gold controlled the monetary system of the Western nations.

Professor Gustav Cassel wrotein 1928:

"The American dollar, not the gold standard, istheworld’s monetary standard. The American

Federal Reserve Board hasthe power to determine the purchasing power of thedollar by making

changesin therate of discount, and thus controlsthe monetary standard of theworld."

If thisweretrue, the members of the Federal Reserve Board would be the most powerful financiersin theworld. Occasionally their member ship includes such influential men as Paul Warburg or Eugene Meyer, Jr., but usually they are
arubber-stamp committee for the Federal Advisory Council and the London bankers.

In May, 1925, the British Parliament passed the Gold Standard Act, putting Great Britain back on the gold standard. The Federal Reserve System’smajor rolein thisevent came out on March 16, 1926, when Geor ge Seay, Governor of
the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond, testified before the House Banking and Currency Committee that:
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" A verbal understanding confirmed by correspondence, extended Great Britain a two hundred
million dollar gold loan or credit. All negotiations wer e conducted between Benjamin Strong,
Governor of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and Mr. Montagu Norman, Gover nor of the
Bank of England. The purpose of thisloan wasto help England get back on the gold standard,
and the loan was to be met by investment of Federal Reserve fundsin bills of exchange and
foreign securities."

The Federal Reserve Bulletin of June, 1925, stated that:

"Under itsarrangement with the Bank of England the Federal Reserve Bank of New York
undertakesto sell gold on credit to the Bank of England from timeto time during the next two

years, but not to exceed $200,000,000 outstanding at any onetime."



A two hundred million dollar gold credit had been arranged by a verbal under standing between the inter national bankers, Benjamin Strong and Montagu Norman. It was appar ent by thistime that the Federal Reserve System had
other interestsat heart than the financial needs of American businessand industry. Great Britain’sreturn to the gold standard was further facilitated by an additional gold loan of a hundred million dollarsfrom J.P. Morgan Company.
Winston Churchill, British Chancellor of the Exchequer, complained later that the cost to the British government of thisloan was $1,125,000 the first year, this sum representing the profit to J.P. Morgan Company in that time.

The matter of changing the discount rate, for instance, has never been satisfactorily explained. Inquiry at the Federal Reserve Board in Washington elicited thereply that " the condition of the money market isthe prime consider ation
behind changesin therate." Sincethe money market isin New York, it takes no imagination to deduce that New York bankersmay beinterested in changes of the rate and often attempt to influenceit.

Norman Lombard, in the periodical " World’sWork" writesthat:

"In their consideration and disposal of proposed changes of policy, the Federal Reserve Board
should follow the procedure and ethics observed by our court of law. Suggestionsthat there
should be a change of rate or that the Reserve Banks should buy or sell securities may come from
anyone and with no formality or written argument. The suggestion may be made to a Governor or
Director of the Federal Reserve System over thetelephone or at his club over theluncheon table,
or it may be madein the cour se of a casual call on a member of the Federal Reserve Board. The
inter ests of the one proposing the change need not be revealed, and his name and any suggestions
he makes are usually kept secret. If it concernsthe matter of open market operations, the public
has noinkling of the decision until theregular weekly statement appears, showing changesin the
holdings of the Federal Reserve Banks. M eanwhile, thereisno public discussion, thereisno
statement of thereasonsfor thedecision, or of the names of those opposing or favoring it."
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The chances of the aver age citizen meeting a Governor of the Federal Reserve System at his club are also slight.

TheHouse Hearings on Stabilization of the Purchasing Power of the Dollar in 1928 proved conclusively that the Federal Reserve Board worked in close cooper ation with the heads of European central banks, and that the Depression of
1929-31 was planned at a secr et luncheon of the Federal Reserve Board and those heads of European central banksin 1927. The Board has never been made responsible to the public for itsdecisions or actions. The constitutional checks
and balances seem not to operatein finance.

Thetrue allegiance of the member s of the Federal Reserve Board has always been to the central bankers. The three features of the central bank, its ownership by private stockholder swho receiverent and profit for their use of the
nation’s credit, absolute control of the nation’sfinancial resour ces, and mobilization of the nation’s credit to finance foreigners, all were demonstrated by the Federal Reserve System during thefirst fifteen years of its operations.

Further demonstration of theinternational purposes of the Federal Reserve Act of 1913 is provided by the " Edge Amendment" of December 24, 1919, which authorizesthe organization of corporations expressly for " engaging in

inter national foreign banking and other international or foreign financial operations, including the dealing in gold or bullion, and the holding of stock in foreign corporations." In commenting on thisamendment, EW. Kemmerer,
economist from Princeton University, remarked that:

"Thefederal reserve system isproving to be a great influence in the inter nationalizing of
American trade and American finance."

Thefact that thisinter nationalizing of American trade and American finance has been a direct causefor involving usin two world wars does not disturb Mr. Kemmerer. Thereis plenty of evidence to show how Paul Warburg used the
Federal Reserve System astheinstrument for getting trade acceptance adopted on a wide scale by American businessmen.

The use of trade acceptances, (which arethe currency of international trade) by bankersand corporationsin the United States prior to 1915 was practically unknown. Therise of the Federal Reserve System exactly parallelsthe
increasein the use of acceptancesin thiscountry, nor isthisa coincidence. The men who wanted the Federal Reserve System wer e the men who set up acceptance banks and profited by the use of acceptances.

Asearly as 1910, the National Monetary Commission began to issue pamphlets and other propaganda urging bankers and businessmen in this country to adopt trade acceptancesin their transactions. For three
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yearsthe Commission carried on this campaign, and the Aldrich Plan included a broad provision authorizing the introduction and use of bankers acceptancesinto the American system of commercial paper.

The Federal Reserve Act of 1913 as passed by Congressdid not specifically authorize the use of acceptances, but the Federal Reserve Board in 1915 and 1916 defined " trade acceptance” , further defined by Regulation A Series of 1920,
and further defined by Series 1924. One of the first official acts of the Board of Governorsin 1914 wasto grant acceptances a preferentially low rate of discount at Federal Reserve Banks. Since acceptances wer e not being used in this
country at that time, no explanation of business exigency could be advanced for thisaction. It was apparent that someonein power on the Board of Gover norswanted the adoptance of acceptances.



The National Bank Act of 1864, which wasthe determining financial authority of the United States until November, 1914, did not permit banksto lend their credit. Consequently, the power of banksto create money was greatly limited.
Wedid not have a bank of issue, that is, a central bank, which could create money. To get a central bank, the bankers caused money panic after money panic on the business people of the United States, by shipping gold out of the
country, creating a money shortage, and then importing it back. After we got our central bank, the Federal Reserve System, there was no longer any need for a money panic, because the banks could create money. However, the panic
asan instrument of power over the business and financial community was used again on two important occasions, in 1920, causing the Agricultural Depression, because state banks and trust companies had refused to join the Federal
Reserve System, and in 1929, causing the Great Depression, which centralized nearly all power in this country in the hands of a few great trusts.

A trade acceptanceisadraft drawn by the seller of goods on the purchaser, and accepted by the purchaser, with a time of expiration stamped upon it. The use of trade acceptancesin the wholesale market supplies short-term, assured
credit to carry goodsin process of production, storage, transit, and marketing. It facilitates domestic and foreign commer ce. Seemingly, then, the banker s who wished to replace the open-book account system with the trade acceptance
system wer e progr essive men who wished to help American import-export trade. M uch propaganda was issued to that effect, but thiswas not really the story.

The open-book system, heretofore used entirely by American business people, allowed a discount for cash. The acceptance system discour ages the use of cash, by allowing a discount for credit. The open-book system also allowed much
easier termsof payment, with liberal extensions on the debt. The acceptance does not allow this, sinceit is
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a short-term credit with the time-date stamped upon it. It isout of the seller’shands, and in the hands of a bank, usually an acceptance bank, which does not allow any extension of time. Thus, the adoption of acceptances by American
businessmen during the 1920’s greatly facilitated the domination and swallowing up of small businessinto huge trusts, which accelerated the crash of 1929.

Trade acceptances had been used to some extent in the United States beforethe Civil War. During that war, exigencies of trade had destroyed the acceptance as a credit medium, and it had not come back into favor in this country, our
people preferring the simplicity and generosity of the open-book system. Open-book accounts ar e a single-name commer cial paper, bearing only the name of the debtor. Acceptances ar e two-name paper, bearing the name of the debtor
and the creditor. Thusthey became commaodities to be bought and sold by banks. To the creditor, under the open-book system, the debt isa liability. To the acceptance bank holding an acceptance, the debt is an asset. The men who set
up acceptance banksin this country, under the leader ship of Paul Warburg, secured control of the billions of dollars of credit existing as open accounts on the books of American businessmen.

Governor Marriner Eccles of the Federal Reserve Board stated before the House Banking and Currency Committeethat: " Debt isthe basisfor the creation of money."

Large holders of trade acceptances got the use of billions of dollarsworth of credit-money, besides therate of interest charged upon the acceptanceitself. It is obvious why Paul Warburg should have devoted so much time, money, and
ener gy to getting acceptances adopted by this country’s banking machinery.

On September 4, 1914, the National City Bank accepted the first time-draft drawn on a national bank under provisions of the Federal Reserve Act of 1913. Thiswas the beginning of the end of the open-book account system asan
important factor in wholesale trade. Beverly Harris, vice-president of the National City Bank of New York, issued a pamphlet in 1915 stating that:

" Merchants using the open account system are usur ping the functions of bankers."

In The New York Times on June 14, 1920, Paul Warburg, Chairman of the American Acceptance Council, said:

"Unlessthe Federal Reserve Board putsitself heart and soul behind the untrammeled

development of acceptances asa prime investment for banks of the Federal Reserve Banksthe

futur e safe and sound development of the system will be jeopardized.”

Thiswas a statement of the purpose of Warburg and his bunch who wanted " monetary reform" in this country. They were out to get control
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of all credit in the United States, and they got it, by means of the Federal Reserve System, the acceptance system, and the lack of concern by the citizens.
TheFirst World War was a boon to theintroduction of trade acceptances, and the volume jumped to four hundred million dollarsin 1917, growing through the 1920sto morethan a billion dollarsa year, which culminated in a high

peak just beforethe Great Depression of 1929-31. The Federal Reserve Bank of New York’s charts show that its use of acceptancesreached a peak in November, 1929, the month of the stock market crash, and declined sharply
ther eafter. The acceptance people by then had gotten what they wanted, which was control of American business and industry. " Fortune Magazine" in February of 1950 pointed out that:

" Volume of acceptances declined from $1,732 million in 1929 to $209 million in 1940, because
of the concentration of acceptance banking in a few hands, and the Treasury’s low-inter est

policy, which made direct loans cheaper than acceptance. There has been a slight upturn since
thewar, but it is often cheaper for large companiesto finance imports from their own coffers.”

In other words, the " large companies’ more accurately, the great trusts, now have control of credit and have not needed acceptances. Besides the barrage of propaganda issued by the Federal Reserve System itself, the National



Association of Credit Men, the American Bankers Association, and other fraternal organizations of the New Y ork bankers devoted much time and money to distributing acceptance propaganda. Even their flood of lecturesand
pamphlets proved insufficient, and in 1919 Paul Warburg organized the American Acceptance Council, which was devoted entirely to acceptance propaganda.

Thefirst convention held by thisassociation at Detroit, Michigan, on June 9, 1919, coincided with the annual convention of the National Association of Credit Men, held there on that date, so that " inter ested observers might with
facility participatein the lectures and meetings of both groups,” according to a pamphlet issued by the American Acceptance Council.

Paul Warburg was elected President of this organization, and later became chairman of the Executive Committee of the American Acceptance Council, a position which he held until hisdeath in 1932. The Council published lists of
corporations using trade acceptances, all of them businessesin which Kuhn, Loeb Co. or its affiliates held control. L ectures given before the Council or by member s of the Council wer e attractively bound and distributed free by the
National City Bank of New York to the country’s businessmen.

Louis T. McFadden, Chairman of the House Banking and Currency Committee, charged in 1922 that the American Acceptance Council was
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exercising undue influence on the Federal Reserve Board and called for a Congressional investigation, but Congresswas not inter ested.

At the second annual convention of the American Acceptance Council, held in New York on December 2, 1920, President Paul Warburg stated:

"It isagreat satisfaction to report that during the year under review it was possible for the
American Acceptance Council to further develop and strengthen itsrelationswith the Federal
Reserve Board."

During the 1920s Paul Warburg, who had resigned from the Federal Reserve Board after holding a position as Gover nor for ayear in wartime, continued to exer cise direct personal influence on the Federal Reserve Board by meeting
with the Board as President of the Federal Advisory Council and as President of the American Acceptance Council. He was, from its organization in 1920 until his death in 1932, Chairman of the Board of the I nternational Acceptance
Bank of New York, thelargest acceptance bank in theworld. Hisbrother, Felix M. Warburg, also a partner in Kuhn, Loeb Co., wasdirector of the International Acceptance Bank and Paul’s son, James Paul Warburg, was
Vice-President. Paul Warburg was also a director on other important acceptance banksin this country, such as Westinghouse Acceptance Bank, which were organized in the United Statesimmediately after the World War, when the
headquarters of theinternational acceptance market was moved from London to New York, and Paul Warburg became the most power ful acceptance banker in theworld.

Paul Warburg became an even more legendary figure by hismemorialization as" Daddy Warbucks" in the comic strip, " Little Orphan Annie". The strip celebrated a homelesswaif and her dog who are adopted by " therichest man in
theworld", Daddy Warbucks, a takeoff on " Warburg", who has almost magical powers and can accomplish anything by the power of hislimitlesswealth. Those in the know snickered when " Anni€" , the musical comedy version of this
story, had a highly successful run of several yearson Broadway, because the vast majority of the audience had no idea that this was merely another Warburg operation.

It wasthe transference of the acceptance market from England to this country which gaveriseto Thomas L amont’s ecstatic speech befor e the Academy of Political Sciencein 1917 that:

"Thedollar, not the pound, is now the basisfor international exchange.”

Americanswere proud to hear that, but they did not realize at what a price.

Visible proof of the undueinfluence of the American Acceptance Council on the Federal Reserve Board, about which Congressman M cFadden complained, isthe chart showing the rate-pattern of the
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Federal Reserve Bank of New York during the 1920s. The Bank’s official discount rate follows exactly for nine yearsthe ninety-day bankers acceptancerate, and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York setsthe discount rate for the
rest of the Reserve Banks.

Throughout the 1920s the Board of Governorsretained two of itsfirst members, C.S. Hamlin and Adolph C. Miller. These men found themselves car eer s as ar biters of the nation’s monetary policy. Hamlin was on the Board from 1914
until 1936, when he was appointed Special Counsel to the Board, while Miller served from 1914 until 1931. These two men wer e allowed to stay on the Board so many year s because they wer e both eminently respectable men who gave
the Board a certain prestige in the eyes of the public. During these years oneimportant banker after another came on the Board, served for awhile, and went on to better things. Neither Miller nor Hamlin ever objected to anything that
the New York bankerswanted. They changed the discount rate and they performed open market operation with Gover nment securities whenever Wall Street wanted them to. Behind them wasthe figure of Paul Warburg, who
exercised a continuous and dominant influence as President of the Federal Advisory Council, on which he had such men of common interests with himself as Winthrop Aldrich and J.P. Morgan. Warburg was never too occupied with
his duties of organizing the big international truststo supervise the nation’sfinancial structures. Hisinfluence from 1902, when he arrived in this country asimmigrant from Germany, until 1932, the year of his death, was dependent on
his European alliance with the banking cartel. Warburg's son, James Paul Warburg, continued to exer cise such influence, being appointed Franklin D. Roosevelt’s Director of the Budget when that great man assumed officein 1933,
and setting up the Office of War Information, our official propaganda agency during the Second World War.

In The Fight for Financial Supremacy, Paul Einzig, editorial writer for the London Economist, wrote that:

" Almost immediately after World War | a close cooperation was established between the Bank of
England and the Federal Reserve authorities, and mor e especially with the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York.* This cooperation was largely dueto the cordial relations existing between Mr.

Montagu Norman of the Bank of England and Mr. Benjamin Strong, Gover nor of the Federal



Reserve Bank of New York until 1928. On several occasions the discount rate policy of the

Federal Reserve Bank of New York was guided by a desireto help the Bank of England.

* William Boyce Thompson (Wall Street operator) commented to Clarence Barron, Nov. 27, 1920, " Why should the Federal Reserve Bank have private wiresall over the country and talk daily by cable
with the Bank of England?" p. 327" They Told Barron" .
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There has been close cooper ation in the fixing of discount rates between London and New
York." 86
86 Paul Einzig, The Fight For Financial Supremacy, Macmillan, 1931
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CHAPTER ELEVEN

Lord Montagu Norman

The collaboration between Benjamin Strong and Lord Montagu Norman is one of the greatest secrets of the twentieth century. Benjamin Strong married the daughter of the president of Bankers Trust in New York, and subsequently
succeeded toits presidency. Carroll Quigley, in Tragedy and Hope says. " Strong became Gover nor of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York asthejoint nominee of Morgan and of Kuhn, Loeb Company in 1914." 87

Lord Montagu Norman isthe only man in history who had both hismaternal grandfather and his paternal grandfather serve as Governorsof the Bank of England. Hisfather waswith Brown, Shipley Company, the London Branch of
Brown Brothers (now Brown Brothers Harriman). Montagu Norman (1871-1950) came to New York to work for Brown Brothersin 1894, wher e he was befriended by the Delano family, and by James M arkoe, of Brown Brothers. He
returned to England, and in 1907 was named to the Court of the Bank of England. In 1912, he had a nervous breakdown, and went to Switzerland to be treated by Jung, as was fashionable among the power ful group which he
represented.*

Lord Montagu Norman was Governor of the Bank of England from 1916 to 1944. During this period, he participated in the central bank conferences which set up the Crash of 1929 and a worldwide depression. In The Politics of Money
by Brian Johnson, hewrites, " Strong and Norman, intimate friends, spent their holidays together at Bar Harbour and in the South of France." Johnson says, " Norman therefore became Strong' s alter ego. . . . " Strong’s easy money
policies on the New York money market from 1925-28 wer e the fulfillment of his agreement with Norman to keep New York interest rates below those of London. For the sake of inter national cooper ation, Strong withheld the steadying
hand of high interest ratesfrom New York until it wastoo late. Easy money in New

87 Carroall Quigley, Tragedy and Hope, Macmillan, New York, p. 326

* When people of thisclass are stricken by guilt feelings while plotting world wars and economic depressions which will bring misery, suffering and death to millions of the world’sinhabitants, they
sometimes have qualms. These qualms are jeered at by their peersas” afailure of nerve". After about with their psychiatrists, they return to their work with renewed gusto, with no further digressions
of pity for "thelittle people" who areto betheir victims.
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York had encouraged the surging American boom of the late 1920s, with its fantastic heights of speculation." 88

Benjamin Strong died suddenly in 1928. The New York Times obituary, Oct. 17, 1928, describes the confer ence between the director s of the three great central banksin Europein July, 1927, " Mr. Nor man, Bank of England, Strong of
the New York Federal Reserve Bank, and Dr. Hjalmar Schacht of the Reichsbank, their meeting referred to at the time as a meeting of ‘the world’s most exclusive club’. No public reports were ever made of the foreign confer ences,
which werewholly informal, but which covered many important questions of gold movements, the stability of world trade, and world economy."



The meetings at which the future of the world’s economy ar e decided ar e always reported as being " wholly informal”, off therecord, no reports made to the public, and on therare occasions when outraged Congr essmen summon these
mystery figuresto testify about their activitiesthey merely trace the outline of stepstaken, and develop no information about what wasreally said or decided.

At the Senate Hearings on the Federal Reserve System in 1931, H. Parker Willis, one of the authorsand First Secretary of the Federal Reserve Board from 1914 until 1920, pointedly asked Governor George Harrison, Strong's
successor as Governor of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York:

"What istherelationship between the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and the money

committee of the Stock Exchange?"

"Thereisnorelationship," Governor Harrison replied.

"Thereisno assistance or cooperation in fixing theratein any way?", asked Willis.

"No," said Governor Harrison, " although on various occasions they advise us of the state of the

money situation, and what they think the rate ought to be." Thiswasan absolute contradiction of

his statement that " Thereisno relationship” . The Federal Reserve Bank of New York which set

thediscount ratefor the other Reserve Banks, actually maintained a close liaison with the money

committee of the Stock Exchange.

The House Stabilization Hearings of 1928 proved conclusively that the Gover nors of the Federal Reserve System had been holding conferences with heads of the big European central banks. Even had the Congressmen known the
details of the plot which wasto culminatein the Great Depression of 1929-31, there would have been nothing they could have doneto stop it. Theinternational bankerswho controlled gold movements could inflict their will on any
country, and the United States was as helpless as any other.

Notes from these House Hearings follow:

88 Brian Johnson, The Politics of Money, McGraw Hill, New York, 1970, p. 63.
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MR. BEEDY: "I notice on your chart that the lineswhich produce the most violent fluctuations are found under ‘Money Ratesin New York.” Astherates of money rise and fall in the big citiesthe loans that are made on investments
seem to take advantage of them, at present, a quite violent change, whileindustry in general does not seem to avail itself of these violent changes, and that lineisfairly even, there being no great risesor declines.

GOVERNOR ADOLPH MILLER: Thiswasall moreor lessin theinterests of theinternational situation. They sold gold creditsin New York for sterling balancesin London.
REPRESENTATIVE STRONG: (Norelation to Benjamin): Has the Federal Reserve Board the power to attract gold to this country?
E.A. GOLDENWEISER, research director for the Board: The Federal Reserve Board could attract gold to this country by making money rates higher.

GOVERNOR ADOLPH MILLER: I think we are very close to the point where any further solicitude on our part for the monetary concerns of Europe can be altered. The Federal Reserve Board last summer, 1927, set out by a policy
of open market purchases, followed in cour se by reduction on the discount rate at the Reserve Banks, to ease the credit situation and to cheapen the cost of money. The official reasonsfor that departurein credit policy werethat it
would help to stabilize inter national exchange and stimulate the exportation of gold.

CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: Will you tell usbriefly how that matter was brought to the Federal Reserve Board and what wer e the influences that went into the final determination?
GOVERNOR ADOLPH MILLER: You are asking a question impossible for meto answer.
CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: Perhaps| can clarify it--where did the suggestion come from that caused this decision of the change of rateslast summer?

GOVERNOR ADOLPH MILLER: Thethreelargest central banksin Europe had sent representatives to this country. Therewere the Governor of the Bank of England, Mr. Hjalmar Schacht, and Professor Rist, Deputy Governor of
the Bank of France. These gentlemen werein conference with officials of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. After aweek or two, they appeared in Washington for the better part of a day. They came down the evening of one day
and wer e the guests of the Governors of the Feder al Reserve Board the following day, and left that afternoon for New York.

CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: Werethe members of the Board present at thisluncheon?
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GOVERNOR ADOLPH MILLER: Oh, yes, it was given by the Governors of the Board for the purpose of bringing all of ustogether.
CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: Wasit a social affair, or were matters of importance discussed?

GOVERNOR MILLER: | would say it was mainly a social affair. Personally, | had along conversation with Dr. Schacht alone before the luncheon, and also one of consider able length with Professor Rist. After the luncheon | began a
conver sation with Mr. Norman, which wasjoined in by Governor Strong of New York.

CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: Wasthat a formal meeting of the Board?

GOVERNOR ADOLPH MILLER: No.

CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: It wasjust an informal discussion of the mattersthey had been discussing in New York?

GOVERNOR MILLER: | assume so. It was mainly a social occasion. What | said was mainly in the nature of generalities. The heads of these central banks also spoke in generalities.
MR. KING: What did they want?

GOVERNOR MILLER: They werevery candid in answersto questions. | wanted to have a talk with Mr. Norman, and we both stayed behind after luncheon, and werejoined by the other foreign representatives and the officials of the
New York Reserve Bank. These gentlemen were all pretty concerned with the way the gold standar d was working. They wer e ther efore desir ous of seeing an easy money market in New York and lower rates, which would deter gold
from moving from Europe to this country. That would be very much in theinterest of the inter national money situation which then existed.

MR. BEEDY: Wasthere some understanding arrived at between the representatives of these foreign banks and the Federal Reserve Board or the New York Federal Reserve Bank?
GOVERNOR MILLER: Yes.
MR. BEEDY: It was not reported formally?

GOVERNOR MILLER: No. Later, there came a meeting of the Open-Market Policy Committee, the investment policy committee of the Federal Reserve System, by which and to which certain recommendations were made. My
recollection isthat about eighty million dollarsworth of securities were purchased in August consistent with thisplan.

CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: Wasthere any conference between the members of the Open Market Committee and those banker s from abroad?
GOVERNOR MILLER: They may have met them asindividuals, but not asa committee.
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MR. KING: How doesthe Open-Market Committee get itsideas?

GOVERNOR MILLER: They sit around and talk about it. | do not know whose idea thiswas. It was distinctly atimein which there was a cooper ative spirit at work.
CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: You have outlined here negotiations of very great importance.

GOVERNOR MILLER: | should rather say conversations.

CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: Something of a very definite character took place?

GOVERNOR MILLER: Yes.

CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: A change of policy on the part of our wholefinancial system which hasresulted in one of the most unusual situationsthat has ever confronted this country financially (the stock market speculation boom of
1927-1929). It seemsto methat a matter of that importance should have been made a matter of record in Washington.

GOVERNOR MILLER: | agreewith you.

REPRESENTATIVE STRONG: Would it not have been a good thing if there had been a direction that those power s given to the Federal Reserve System should be used for the continued stabilization of the purchasing power of the
American dollar rather than beinfluenced by theinterests of Europe?

GOVERNOR MILLER: | take exception to that term "influence" . Besides, thereisno such thing as stabilizing the American dollar without stabilizing every other gold currency. They aretied together by the gold standard. Other
eminent men who come here are very adroit in knowing how to approach the folk who make up the per sonnel of the Federal Reserve Board.

MR. STEAGALL: Thevisit of these foreign bankersresulted in money being cheaper in New York?
GOVERNOR MILLER: Yes, exactly.
CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: | would liketo put in therecord all who attended that luncheon in Washington.

GOVERNOR MILLER: In addition to the names| have given you, there was also present one of the younger men from the Bank of France. | think all member s of the Federal Reserve Board werethere. Under Secretary of the
Treasury Ogden Millswasthere, and the Assistant Secretary of the Treasury, Mr. Schuneman, also, two or three men from the State Department and Mr. Warren of the Foreign Department of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.
Oh yes, Governor Strong was present.
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CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: This conference, of course, with all of these foreign bankersdid not just happen. The prominent bankersfrom Germany, France, and England came her e at whose suggestion?

GOVERNOR MILLER: A situation had been created that was distinctly embarrassing to L ondon by reason of theimpending withdrawal of a certain amount of gold which had been recovered by France and that had originally been
shipped and deposited in the Bank of England by the French Government asa war credit. Therewas getting to be some tension of mind in Europe because France was beginning to put her housein order for areturn to the gold
standard. Thissituation was one which called for some moder ating influence.

MR. KING: Who was the moving spirit who got those people together ?

GOVERNOR MILLER: That isadetail with which | am not familiar.

REPRESENTATIVE STRONG: Would it not be fair to say that the fellows who wanted the gold wer e the oneswho instigated the meeting?
GOVERNOR MILLER: They cameover here.

REPRESENTATIVE STRONG: Thefact isthat they came over here, they had a meeting, they banqueted, they talked, they got the Federal Reserve Board to lower the discount rate, and to make the purchasesin the open market, and
they got the gold.

MR. STEAGALL: Isit truethat action stabilized the European currencies and upset ours?
GOVERNOR MILLER: Yes, that waswhat it wasintended to do.

CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: Let mecall your attention to therecent conferencein Parisat which Mr. Goldenweiser, director of research for the Federal Reserve Board, and Dr. Burgess, assistant Federal Reserve Agent of the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York, werein consultation with the representatives of the other central banks. Who called the conference?

GOVERNOR MILLER: My recollection isthat it was called by the Bank of France.
GOVERNOR YOUNG: No, it was the L eague of Nations who called them together."

The secret meeting between the Governors of the Federal Reserve Board and the heads of the European central bankswas not called to stabilize anything. It was held to discuss the best way of getting the gold held in the United States
by the System back to Europe to for ce the nations of that continent back on the gold standard. The L eague of Nations had not yet succeeded in doing that, the objective for which that body was set up in thefirst place, because the
Senate of the United States
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had refused to let Woodrow Wilson betray usto an international monetary authority. It took the Second World War and Franklin D. Roosevelt to do that. M eanwhile, Europe had to have our gold and the Federal Reserve System gave
it to them, five hundred million dollarsworth. The movement of that gold out of the United States caused the deflation of the stock boom, the end of the business prosperity of the 1920s and the Great Depression of 1929-31, the wor st
calamity which has ever befallen thisnation. It isentirely logical to say that the American people suffered that depression as a punishment for not joining the L eague of Nations. The bankersknew what would happen when that five
hundred million dollarsworth of gold was sent to Europe. They wanted the Depression because it put the business and finance of the United Statesin their hands.

The Hearings continue:

MR. BEEDY: "Mr. Ebersole of the Treasury Department concluded hisremarksat the dinner we attended last night by saying that the Federal Reserve System did not want stabilization and the American businessman did not want it.
They want these fluctuationsin prices, not only in securities but in commaodities, in trade generally, because those who are now in control are making their profitsout of that very instability. If control of these people does not comein a
legitimate way, there may be an attempt to produce it by general upheavals such as have char acterized society in days gone by. Revolutions have been promoted by dissatisfaction with existing conditions, the control being in the hands
of the few, and the many paying the bills.

CHAIRMAN MCFADDEN: | have herea letter from a member of the Federal Reserve Board who was summoned to appear here. | would liketo haveit put in therecord. It isfrom Governor Cunningham:

Dear Mr. Chairman:

For the past several weeks| have been confined to my home on account of illnessand am
now preparing to spend a few weeks away from Washington for the purpose of hastening
convalescence.

Edward H. Cunningham

Thisisin answer to an invitation extended him to appear before our Committee. | also have a letter from George Harrison, Deputy Governor of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

My dear Mr. Congressman:

Governor Strong sailed for Europe last week. He had not been at all well sincethefirst of the



year, and, while he did appear before your Committee last Mar ch, it was only shortly after that

that he suffered a very severe attack of shingles, which has sorely racked hisnerves.

GeorgelL.Harrison, May 19, 1928

| also desireto placein the record a statement in the New York Journal of Commerce, dated May 22, 1928, from Washington:
‘It isstated in well-informed circles here that the chief topic being taken up by Governor Strong

of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on hispresent visit to Parisisthe arrangement of

stabilization creditsfor France, Rumania, and Yugoslavia. A second vital question Mr. Strong

will take up isthe amount of gold Franceisto draw from thiscountry.””

Further questioning by Chairman M cFadden about the strangeillness of Benjamin Strong brought forth the following testimony from Governor Charles S. Hamlin of the Federal Reserve Board on May 23rd, 1928:

"All'l know isthat Governor Strong has been very ill, and he has gone over to Europe primarily,

| understand, asa matter of health. Of course, he knowswell the various offices of the European

central banks and undoubtedly will call on them."

Governor Benjamin Strong died a few weeks after hisreturn from Europe, without appearing before the Committee.

The purpose of these hearings befor e the House Committee on Banking and Currency in 1928 was to investigate the necessity for passing the Strong bill, presented by Repr esentative Strong (no relation to Benjamin, theinter national
banker), which would have provided that the Federal Reserve System be empower ed to act to stabilize the purchasing power of the dollar. Thishad been one of the promises made by Carter Glass and Woodrow Wilson when they
presented the Federal Reserve Act before Congressin 1912, and such a provision had actually been put in the Act by Senator Robert L. Owen, but Carter Glass House Committee on Banking and Currency had struck it out. The

tradersand speculatorsdid not want the dollar to become stable, because they would no longer be able to make a profit. The citizens of this country had been led to gamble on the stock market in the 1920s because the trader s had
created a nationwide condition of instability.

The Strong Bill of 1928 was defeated in Congress.

Thefinancial situation in the United States during the 1920s was char acterized by an inflation of speculative valuesonly. It was a trader-made situation. Prices of commodities remained low, despite the over-pricing of securities on the
exchange.

The purchasersdid not expect their securitiesto pay dividends. The idea wasto hold them awhile and sell them at a profit. It had to stop somewhere, as Paul Warburg remarked in March, 1929. Wall Street did not let it stop until the
people had put their savingsinto these over-priced securities. We had the spectacle of the President of the United States, Calvin Coolidge, acting as a shill for the stock market operatorswhen he recommended to the American people
that they continue buying on the
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market, in 1927. There had been uneasiness about theinflated condition of the market, and the banker s showed their power by getting the President of the United States, the Secretary of the Treasury, and the Chairman of the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System to issue statementsthat brokers' loanswere not too high, and that the condition of the stock market was sound.

Irving Fisher warned usin 1927 that the burden of stabilizing pricesall over the world would soon fall on the United States. One of the results of the Second World War was the establishment of an International Monetary Fund to do
just that. Professor Gustav Cassel remarked in the sameyear that:

" The downward movement of prices has not been a spontaneous result of forces beyond our
control. It istheresult of apolicy deliberately framed to bring down prices and give a higher

value to the monetary unit."

The Democratic Party, after passing the Federal Reserve Act and leading usinto the First World War, assumed therole of an opposition party during the 1920s. They wer e on the outside of the political fence, and were supported
during those lean year s by liberal handouts from Bernard Baruch, according to his biography. How far outside of it they were and how little chance they had in 1928, is shown by a plank in the official Democr atic Party platform
adopted at Houston on June 28, 1928:

"The administration of the Federal Reserve System for the advantage of the stock-market



speculator s should cease. It must be administered for the benefit of farmers, wage-earners,
mer chants, manufacturers, and others engaged in constructive business."

Thisidealism insured defeat for its protagonist, Al Smith, who was nominated by Franklin D. Roosevelt. The campaign against Al Smith also was marked by appealsto religiousintolerance, because he was a Catholic. The bankers
stirred up anti-Catholic sentiment all over the country to achieve the election of their World War | protégé, Herbert Hoover.

Instead of being used to promote the financial stability of the country, as had been promised by Woodrow Wilson when the Act was passed, financial instability has been steadily promoted by the Federal Reserve Board. An official
memor andum issued by the Board on March 13, 1939, stated that:

"TheBoard of Governors of the Federal Reserve System opposes any bill which proposes a stable
pricelevel."

Politically, the Feder al Reserve Board was used to advance the election of the bankers' candidatesduring the 1920s. The" Literary Digest" on August 4, 1928, said, on the occasion of the Federal Reserve Board raising therateto five
percent in a Presidential year:
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"Thisreversesthe politically desirable cheap money policy of 1927, and gives smooth conditions
on the stock market. It was attacked by the Peoples L obby of Washington, D.C. which said that
‘Thisincrease at atime when farmers needed cheap money to finance the harvesting of their
cropswasadirect blow at the farmers, who had begun to get back on their feet after the
Agricultural Depression of 1920-21.

"TheNew York World" said on that occasion:

" Criticism of Federal Reserve Board policy by many investorsisnot based on its attempt to
deflate the stock market, but on the charge that the Board itself, by last year’s policy, is
completely responsible for such stock market inflation as exists.”

A damning survey of the Federal Reserve System’sfirst fifteen yearsappearsin the" North American Review" of May, 1929, by H. Parker Willis, professional economist who was one of the author s of the Act and First Secretary of the
Board from 1914 until 1920. He expr esses complete disillusionment.

"My first talk with President-elect Wilson wasin 1912. Our conversation related entirely to
banking reform. | asked whether he felt confident we could secure the administration of a
suitable law and how we should get it applied and enforced. He answered: ‘We must rely on
American businessidealism.” He sought for something which could betrusted to afford
opportunity to American Idealism. It did serveto financethe World War and to revise American
banking practices. The element of idealism that the President prescribed and believed we could
get on the principle of noblesse oblige from American bankersand businessmen was not there.
Since theinauguration of the Federal Reserve Act we have suffered one of the most serious
financial depressionsand revolutions ever known in our history, that of 1920-21. We have seen
our agriculture passthrough along period of suffering and even of revolution, during which one

million farmersleft their farms, dueto difficultieswith the price of land and the odd status of



credit conditions. We have suffered the most extensive era of bank failures ever known in this
country. Forty-five hundred banks have closed their door s since the Reserve System began
functioning. In some Western towns there have been times when all banksin that community
failed, and given banks have failed over and over again. There has been little differencein
liability to failure between membersand non-members of the Federal Reserve System.

"Wilson’s choice of the first members of the Federal Reserve Board was not especially happy.
They represented a composite group chosen for the express purpose of placating this, that, or the
other biginterest. It was not strange that appointees used their placesto pay debts. When the
Board was considering a resolution to the effect that future members of the reserve system should
be appointed solely on merit, because of the demonstrated incompetence of some of their number.
Comptroller John Skelton Williams moved to strike out theword ‘solely’ and in thishe was
sustained by the Board. Theinclusion of certain elements (Warburg,

140

Strauss, etc.) in the Board gave an opportunity for catering to special intereststhat wasto prove
disastrous later on.

"President Wilson erred, as he often erred, in supposing that the holding of an important office
would transform an incumbent and revivify hispatriotism. The Reserve Board reached the low
ebb of the Wilson period with the appointment of a member who was chosen for his ability to get
delegates for a Democratic candidate for the Presidency. However, thislevel was not the dregs
reached under President Harding. He appointed an old crony, D.R. Crissinger, as Governor of the
Board, and named several other super-serviceable politiciansto other places. Before hisdeath he
had done his utmost to debauch the whole undertaking. The System has gone steadily downhill
ever since.

" Reserve Banks had hardly assumed their first form when it became apparent that local bankers
had sought to use them as a means of taking care of ‘favorite sons, that is, per sons who had by
common consent become a kind of general charge upon the banking community, or inefficients

of various kinds. When reserve directorswereto be chosen, the country bankers often refused to
vote, or, when they voted, cast their ballots asdirected by city correspondents. In these
circumstances popular or democratic control of reserve bankswas out of the question. Reasonable
efficiency might have been secured if honest men, recognizing their public duty, had assumed
power. If such men existed, they did not get on the Federal Reserve Board. In onereserve bank
today the chief management isin the hands of a man who never did a day’sactual bankingin his

life, whilein another reserve institution both Governor and Chairman ar e the former heads of now defunct banks. They naturally have a high failurerecord in their district. In
amajority of districtsthe standard of performance asjudged by good banking standardsis disgracefully low among reser ve executive officials. The policy of the Federal Reserve



Bank of Philadelphiaisknown in the System asthe ‘Friends and Relatives Banks.’
"It was while making war profitsin considerable amountsthat someone conceived the idea of
using the profitsto provide themselves with phenomenally costly buildings. Today the Reserve
Banks must keep a full billion dollars of their money constantly at work merely to pay their own
expensesin normal times.
"Thebest illustration of what the System has done and not doneis offered by the experience
which the country was having with speculation, in May, 1929. Threeyearsprior to that, the
present bull market wasjust getting under way. In the autumn of 1926 a group of bankers, among
them one of world famous name, wer e sitting at a table in a Washington hotel. One of them
raised the question whether the low discount rates of the System were not likely to encour age
speculation.
"‘Yes, replied the famous banker, ‘they will, but that cannot be helped. It isthe price we must
pay for helping Europe.’
"1t may well be questioned whether the encouragement of speculation by the Board has been the
price paid for helping Europe or whether

141

it istheprice paid to induce a certain class of financiersto help Europe, but in either case
European conditions should not have had anything to do with the Board’ s discount policy. The
fact of the matter isthat the Federal Reserve Banksdo not comeinto contact with the community.
"The‘small man’ from Maineto Texas has gradually been led to invest his savingsin the stock
market, with the result that therising tide of speculation, transacted at a higher and higher rate

of speed, has swept over the legitimate business of the country.

"In March, 1928, Roy A. Young, Governor of the Board, was called before a Senate committee.
‘Do you think the brokers' loansaretoo high?", he was asked.

"] am not prepared to say whether brokers' loans aretoo high or too low,” hereplied, ‘but | am
surethey are safely and conservatively made.’

" Secretary of the Treasury Mellon in aformal statement assured the country that they were not
too high, and Coolidge, using material supplied him by the Federal Reserve Board, made a plain

statement to the country that they were not too high. The Federal Reserve Board, charged with the duty of protecting the interests of the average man, thus did its utmost to
assur e the aver age man that he should feel no alarm about his savings. Yet the Federal Reserve Board issued on February 2, 1929, a letter addressed to the Reserve Bank
Director s cautioning them against grave danger of further speculation.

"What could be expected from a group of men such as composed the Board, a set of men who
were solely interested in standing from under when there was any danger of friction, displaying a
bovine and canine appetite for credit and praise, while eager only to ‘stand in’ with the ‘big men’

whom they know as the masters of American finance and banking?"



H. Parker Willis omitted any referenceto Lord Montague Norman and the machinations of the Bank of England which were about to result in the Crash of 1929 and the Great Depression.
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CHAPTER TWELVE

The Great Depression

R.G. Hawtrey, the English economist, said, in the March, 1926 American Economic Review:

"When external investment outstripsthe supply of general savingstheinvestment market must

carry the excess with money borrowed from the banks. A remedy iscontrol of credit by arisein

bank rate."

The Federal Reserve Board applied this control of credit, but not in 1926, nor asaremedial measure. It was not applied until 1929, and then therate wasraised as a punitive measure, to freeze out everybody but the big trusts.

Professor Cassdl, in the Quarterly Journal of Economics, August 1928, wrote that:

"Thefact that a central bank failsto raiseits bank rate in accordance with the actual situation of

the capital market very much increasesthe strength of the cyclical movement of trade, with all its

pernicious effects on social economy. A rational regulation of the bank rateliesin our hands, and

may be accomplished only if we perceive itsimportance and decideto go in for such a palicy.

With a bank rateregulated on these lines the conditions for the development of trade cycles

would beradically altered, and indeed, our familiar trade cycleswould be a thing of the past.”

Thisisthe most authoritative premise yet maderelating that our business depressions are artificially precipitated. The occurrence of the Panic of 1907, the Agricultural Depression of 1920, and the Great Depression of 1929, all threein
good crop yearsand in periods of national prosperity, suggeststhat premiseisnot guesswork. Lord Maynard Keynes pointed out that most theories of the business cycle failed to relate their analysis adequately to the money
mechanism. Any survey or study of a depression which failed to list such factors as gold movements and pressures on foreign exchange would be worthless, yet American economists have always dodged thisissue.

The League of Nations had achieved its goal of getting the nations of Europe back on the gold standard by 1928, but three-fourths of the world's gold wasin France and the United States. The problem was how to get that gold to
countrieswhich needed it asa basisfor money and credit. The answer was action by the Federal Reserve System.
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Following the secret meeting of the Federal Reserve Board and the heads of the foreign central banksin 1927, the Federal Reserve Banksin a few months doubled their holdings of Government securities and acceptances, which
resulted in the exportation of five hundred million dollarsin gold in that year. The System’s market activities for ced the rates of call money down on the Stock Exchange, and forced gold out of the country. Foreigners also took this
opportunity to purchase heavily in Gover nment securities because of the low call money rate.

" The agreement between the Bank of England and the Washington Federal Reserve authorities

many months ago was that we would for ce the export of 725 million of gold by reducing the bank

rates here, thus helping the stabilization of France and Europe and putting France on a gold

basis." 89 (April 20, 1928)

On February 6, 1929, Mr. Montagu Norman, Gover nor of the Bank of England, came to Washington and had a conference with Andrew Mellon, Secretary of the Treasury. Immediately after that mysterious visit, the Federal Reserve
Board abruptly changed its policy and pursued a high discount rate policy, abandoning the cheap money policy which it had inaugurated in 1927 after Mr. Norman’sother visit. The stock market crash and the deflation of the
American people sfinancial structurewas scheduled to take placein March. To get the ball rolling, Paul Warburg gave the official warning to thetradersto get out of the market. In hisannual report to the stockholders of his
International Acceptance Bank, in March, 1929, Mr. Warburg said:

"1f the orgies of unrestrained speculation are permitted to spread, the ultimate collapseis certain



not only to affect the speculator s themselves, but to bring about a general depression involving
the entire country.”

During threeyearsof " unrestrained speculation”, Mr. Warburg had not seen fit to make any remarks about the condition of the Stock Exchange. A friendly organ, The New York Times, not only gave thereport two columnson its
editorial page, but editorially commented on the wisdom and profundity of Mr. Warburg's observations. Mr. Warburg's concer n was genuine, for the stock market bubble had gone much farther than it had been intended to go, and
the bankersfeared the consequencesif the peoplerealized what was going on. When thisreport in The New York Times started a sudden wave of selling on the Exchange, the bankers grew panicky, and it was decided to ease the
market somewhat. Accordingly, Warburg's National City Bank rushed twenty-five million dollarsin cash to the call money market, and postponed the day of the crash.

Therevelation of the Federal Reserve Board’sfinal decision to trigger the Crash of 1929 appears, amazingly enough, in The New York Times. On April 20, 1929, the Times headlined, " Federal Advisory Council Mystery

89 Clarence W. Barron, They Told Barron, Harpers, New York, 1930, p. 353
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Meeting in Washington. Resolutions wer e adopted by the council and transmitted to the board, but their purpose was closely guarded. An atmospher e of deep mystery was thrown about the proceedings both by the board and the
council. Every effort was made to guard the proceedings of this extraordinary session. Evasive replies wer e given to newspaper correspondents.”

Only theinnermost council of " The London Connection" knew that it had been decided at this" mystery meeting" to bring down the curtain on the greatest speculative boom in American history. Thosein the know began to sell off all
speculative stocks and put their money in gover nment bonds. Those who were not privy to this secret information, and they included some of the wealthiest men in America, continued to hold their speculative stocks and lost everything
they had.

In FDR, My Exploited Father-in-Law, Col. CurtisB. Dall, who was a broker on Wall Street at that time, writes of the Crash, " Actually it was the calculated ‘shearing’ of the public by the World Money-Powers, triggered by the
planned sudden shortage of the supply of call money in the New York money market." 90 Over night, the Federal Reserve System had raised the call rate to twenty percent. Unable to meet thisrate, the speculators’ only alter native was
to jump out of windows.

TheNew York Federal Reserve Bank rate, which dictated the national interest rate, went to six percent on November 1, 1929. After theinvestors had been bankrupted, it dropped to one and one-half percent on May 8, 1931.
Congressman Wright Patman in " A Primer On Money", saysthat the money supply decreased by eight billion dollarsfrom 1929 to 1933, causing 11,630 banks of the total of 26,401 in the United Statesto go bankrupt and close their
doors.

The Federal Reserve Board had already warned the stockholder s of the Federal Reserve Banksto get out of the Market, on February 6, 1929, but it had not bothered to say anything to therest of the people. Nobody knew what was
going on except the Wall Street banker swho wererunning the show. Gold movements wer e completely unreliable. The Quarterly Journal of Economics noted that:

" The question has been raised, not only in this country, but in several European
countries, asto whether customs statistics record with accuracy the movements of
precious metals, and, when investigation has been made, confidence in such
figures has been weakened rather than strengthened. Any movement between
France and England, for instance, should be recorded in each country, but such
comparison shows an aver age year ly discrepancy of fifty million francsfor France
and eighty-five million francsfor England. These enor mous discrepancies ar e not
accounted for."

The Right Honorable Reginald M cK enna stated that:

90 Col. CurtisB. Dall, F.D.R., My Exploited Father-in-Law, Liberty L obby, Wash., D.C. 1970
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" Study of therelations between changesin gold stock and movement in price levels shows what



should be very obvious, but is by no meansrecognized, that the gold standard isin no sense
automatic in operation. The gold standard can be, and is, usefully managed and controlled for the
benefit of a small group of international traders."

In August 1929, the Federal Reserve Board raised therate to six percent. The Bank of England in the next month raised itsrate from five and one-half percent to six and one-half percent. Dr. Friday in the September, 1929, issue of
Review of Reviews, could find no reason for the Board’s action:

"The Federal Reserve statement for August 7, 1929, shows that signs of inadequacy for autumn
requirementsdo not exist. Gold resour ces ar e consider ably mor e than the previous year, and gold
continuesto movein, to thefinancial embarrassment of Germany and England. The reasons for
the Board’s action must be sought elsewhere. The public has been given only the hint that ‘ This
problem has presented difficulties because of certain peculiar conditions'. Every reason which
Governor Young advanced for lowering the bank rate last year exists now. Increasing therate
means that not only isthere danger of drawing gold from abroad, but imports of the yellow metal
have been in progressfor thelast four months. To do anything to accentuate thisisto take the
responsibility for bringing on a world-wide credit deflation."

Thuswe find that not only was the Feder al Reserve System responsible for the First World War, which it made possible by enabling the United Statesto finance the Allies, but its policies brought on the world-wide depression of
1929-31. Governor Adolph C. Miller stated at the Senate Investigation of the Federal Reserve Board in 1931 that:

"1f we had had no Federal Reserve System, | do not think we would have had as bad a speculative
situation aswe had, to begin with."
Carter Glassreplied, " You have madeit clear that the Federal Reserve Board provided aterrific credit expansion by these open market transactions.”

Emmanuel Goldenweiser said, " In 1928-29 the Federal Board was engaged in an attempt to restrain therapid increasein security loansand in stock market speculation. The continuity of this policy of restraint, however, was
interrupted by reduction in bill ratesin the autumn of 1928 and the summer of 1929."

Both J.P. Morgan and Kuhn, Loeb Co. had " preferred lists' of men to whom they sent advance announcements of profitable stocks. The men on these preferred lists were allowed to purchase these stocks at cost, that is, anywhere from
2to 15 points a sharelessthan they were sold to the public. The men on these lists wer e fellow bankers, prominent industrialists, power ful city politicians, national Committeemen of the Republican and Democratic Parties, and rulers
of foreign countries. The men on these lists wer e notified of the coming crash, and sold all but so-called gilt-edged stocks, General Motors, Dupont, etc. The prices on these stocks also sank to record lows, but they came up soon
afterwards. How the big bankersoperated in
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1929 isrevealed by a Newsweek story on May 30, 1936, when a Roosevelt appointee, Ralph W. Morrison, resigned from the Federal Reserve Board:
" The consensus of opinion isthat the Federal Reserve Board haslost an able man. He sold his

Texas utilities stock to Insull for ten million dollars, and in 1929 called a meeting and or dered

hisbanksto close out all security loans by September 1. Asaresult, they rode through the

depression with flying colors."

Predictably enough, all of the big bankersrode through the depression " with flying colors." The people who suffered werethe workersand farmerswho had invested their money in get-rich stocks, after the President of the United
States, Calvin Coolidge, and the Secretary of the Treasury, Andrew Mellon, had persuaded them to do it.

There had been some war nings of the approaching crash in England, which American newspapers never saw. The London Statist on May 25, 1929 said:
"Thebanking authoritiesin the United States apparently want a business panicto curb

speculation.”

The London Economist on May 11, 1929, said:

" The events of the past year have seen the beginnings of a new technique, which, if maintained



and developed, may succeed in ‘rationing the speculator without injuring thetrader.”

Governor Charles S. Hamlin quoted this statement at the Senate hearingsin 1931 and said, in corroboration of it:
" That was the feeling of certain member s of the Board, to remove Federal Reserve credit from the
speculator without injuring the trader."

Governor Hamlin did not bother to point out that the " speculators’ he was out to break wer e the school-teachers and small town merchantswho had put their savingsinto the stock market, or that the"traders' hewastrying to
protect werethe big Wall Street operators, Bernard Baruch and Paul Warburg.

When the Federal Reserve Bank of New York raised itsrateto six percent on August 9, 1929, market conditions began which culminated in tremendous selling or dersfrom October 24 into November, which wiped out a hundred and
sixty billion dollarsworth of security values. That was a hundred and sixty billions which the American citizens had one month and did not have the next. Some idea of the calamity may be had if we remember that our enormous outlay
of money and goodsin the Second World War amounted to not much more than two hundred billions of dollars, and a great deal of that remained as negotiable securitiesin the national debt. The stock market crash isthe greatest
misfortune which the United States has ever suffered.

The Academy of Political Science of Columbia University in itsannual meeting in January, 1930, held a post-mortem on the Crash of 1929. Vice-
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President Paul Warburg wasto have presided, and Director Ogden Millswasto have played an important part in the discussion. However, these two gentlemen did not show up. Professor Oliver M.W. Sprague of Harvard University
remarked of the crash:

"We have here a beautiful laboratory case of the stock market’s dropping appar ently from itsown
weight."

It was pointed out that there was no exhaustion of credit, asin 1893, nor any currency famine, asin the Panic of 1907, when clearing-house certificates wereresorted to, nor a collapse of commodity prices, asin 1920. What then, had
caused the crash? The people had purchased stocks at high prices and expected the pricesto continueto rise. The prices had to come down, and they did. It was obvious to the economists and banker s gathered over their brandy and
cigarsat the Hotel Astor that the people were at fault. Certainly the people had made a mistake in buying over -priced securities, but they had been talked into it by every leading citizen from the President of the United States on down.
Every magazine of national circulation, every big newspaper, and every prominent banker, economist, and politician, had joined in the big confidence game of urging people to buy those over-priced securities. When the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York raised itsrateto six percent, in August 1929, people began to get out of the market, and it turned into a panic which drovethe prices of securitiesdown far below their natural levels. Asin previous panics,
thisenabled both Wall Street and foreign operatorsin the know to pick up " blue-chip" and gilt-edged" securitiesfor a fraction of their real value.

The Crash of 1929 also saw the formation of giant holding companies which picked up these cheap bonds and securities, such asthe Marine Midland Corporation, the Lehman Cor poration, and the Equity Corporation. In 1929 J.P.
M organ Company organized the giant food trust, Standard Brands. There was an unequaled opportunity for trust operatorsto enlarge and consolidate their holdings.

Emmanuel Goldenweiser, director of research for the Federal Reserve System, said, in 1947:

"It isclear in retrospect that the Board should have ignored the speculative expansion and
allowed it to collapse of its own weight."
Thisadmission of error eighteen years after the event was small comfort to the people who lost their savingsin the Crash.

TheWall Street Crash of 1929 was the beginning of a world-wide credit deflation which lasted through 1932, and from which the Western democracies did not recover until they began to rearm for the Second World War. During this
depression, the trust operators achieved further control by their backing of threeinternational swindlers, The Van Sweringen brothers, Samuel Insull, and Ivar Kreuger. These men pyramided billions of dollarsworth of securitiesto
fantastic heights. The bankerswho promoted
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them and floated their stock issue could have stopped them at any time, by calling loans of lessthan a million dollars, but they let these men go on until they had incor porated many industrial and financial propertiesinto holding
companies, which the banksthen took over for nothing. Insull piled up public utility holdings throughout the Middle West, which the banks got for a fraction of their worth. Ivar Kreuger was backed by L ee Higginson Company,
supposedly one of the nation’s most reputable banking houses. The Saturday Evening Post called him " more than afinancial titan", and the English review Fortnightly said, in an article written December 1931, under thetitle, " A
Chapter in Constructive Finance": " It isasafinancial irrigator that Kreuger has become of such vital importanceto Europe." *

"Financial irrigator" we may remember, wasthetitle bestowed upon Jacob Schiff by Newsweek M agazine, when it described how Schiff had bought up American railroads with Rothschild’s money.
The New Republic remarked on January 25th, 1933, when it commented on the fact that L ee Higginson Company had handled Kreuger and Toll Securities on the American market:
"Three-quartersof abillion dollars was made away with. Who was able to dictate to the French

policeto keep secret the news of this extremely important suicide for some hours, during which

somebody sold Kreuger securitiesin large amounts, thus getting out of the market before the



debacle?"

The Federal Reserve Board could have checked the enormous credit expansion of Insull and Kreuger by investigating the security on which their loans wer e being made, but the Gover nor s never made any examination of the activities
of these men.

The modern bank with the credit facilitiesit affords, gives an opportunity which had not previously existed for such operatorsasKreuger to make an appear ance of abundant capital by the aid of borrowed capital. Thisenablesthe
speculator to buy securitieswith securities. The only limit to the amount he can corner isthe amount to which the bankswill back him, and, if a speculator is being promoted by a reputable banking house, as Kreuger was promoted by
L ee Higginson Company, the only way he could be stopped would be by an investigation of hisactual financial resour ces, which in Kreuger’s case would have proved to benil.

Theleader of the American people during the Crash of 1929 and the subsequent depression was Herbert Hoover. After the first break of the

* NOTE: Ivar Kreuger, we may recall, was occasionally the personal guest of hisold friend, President Herbert Hoover, at the White House. Hoover seemsto have maintained a cordial relationship with
many of the most prominent swindlers of the twentieth century, including his partner, Emile Francqui. Thereceivership of the billion dollar Kreuger Fraud was handled by Samuel Unter meyer, former
counsel for Pujo Committee hearings.
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market (the five billion dollarsin security values which disappeared on October 24, 1929) President Hoover said:

" The fundamental business of the country, that is, production and distribution of commodities, is

on a sound and prosperous basis."

His Secretary of the Treasury, Andrew Mellon, stated on December 25, 1929, that:

" The Government’sbusinessisin sound condition.”

His own business, the Aluminum Company of America, apparently was not doing so well, for he had reduced the wages of all employees by ten percent.

TheNew York Timesreported on April 7, 1931, " Montagu Norman, Governor of the Bank of England, conferred with the Federal Reserve Board heretoday. Mellon, Meyer, and George L. Harrison, Governor of the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York, were present."

The London Connection had sent Norman over thistimeto ensurethat the Great Depression was proceeding accor ding to schedule. Congressman L ouis M cFadden had complained, asreported in The New York Times, July 4, 1930,
" Commodity pricesarebeing reduced to 1913 levels. Wages ar e being reduced by thelabor surplus of four million unemployed. The Morgan control of the Federal Reserve System is exer cised through control of the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York, the mediocrerepresentation and acquiescence of the Federal Reserve Board in Washington." Asthe depression deepened, thetrust’slock on the American economy strengthened, but no finger was pointed at the
partieswho wer e controlling the system.
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CHAPTER THIRTEEN
The1930's

In 1930 Herbert Hoover appointed to the Federal Reserve Board an old friend from World War | days, Eugene Meyer, Jr., who had a long record of public service dating from 1915, when he went into partner ship with Bernard Baruch
in the Alaska-Juneau Gold Mining Company. Meyer had been a Special Advisor to the War Industries Board on Non-Ferrous Metals (gold, silver, etc.); Special Assistant to the Secretary of War on aircraft production; in 1917 he was
appointed to the National Committee on War Savings, and was made Chairman of the War Finance Cor poration from 1918-1926. He then was appointed chairman of the Federal Farm Loan Board from 1927-29. Hoover put him on
the Federal Reserve Board in 1930, and Franklin D. Roosevelt created the Reconstruction Bank for Reconstruction and Development in 1946. Meyer must have been a man of exceptional ability to hold so many important posts.
However, ther e wer e some Senatorswho did not believe he should hold any Government office, because of hisfamily background as an international gold dealer and his mysterious operationsin billions of dollars of Government
securitiesin the First World War. Consequently, the Senate held Hearings to deter mine whether Meyer ought to be on the Federal Reserve Board.

At these Hearings, Representative L ouis T. M cFadden, Chairman of the House Banking and Currency Committee, said:

" Eugene Meyer, Jr. has had hisown crowd with him in the government since he started in 1917.



HisWar Finance Corporation personnel took over the Federal Farm Loan System, and almost
immediately afterwards, the Kansas City Join Stock L and Bank and the Ohio Joint Stock Land
Bank failed."

REPRESENTATIVE RAINEY: Mr. Meyer, when he nominally resigned as head of the Federal Farm Loan Board, did not really cease his activitiesthere. Heleft behind him an able body of wreckers. They are continuing his policies
and consulting with him. Befor e his appointment, he was frequently in consultation with Assistant Secretary of the Treasury Dewey. Just befor e his appointment, the Chicago Joint Land Stock Bank, the Dallas Joint Stock Land Bank,
the Kansas City Joint Land Stock Bank, and the Des Moines Land Bank were all functioning. Their bonds
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were selling at par. Thethen farm commissioner had an under standing with Secretary Dewey that nothing would be done without the consent and approval of the Federal Farm Loan Board. A few days afterwards, United States
Marshals, with pistols strapped at their sides, and sometimes with drawn pistols, entered these five banks and demanded that the banks be turned over to them. Word went out all over the United States, through the newspapers, asto
what had happened, and these bankswereruined. Thisled to the breach with the old Federal Farm Loan Board, and to the resignation of three of itsmembers, and the appointment of Mr. Meyer to be head of that Board.

SENATOR CAREY: Who authorized the marshalsto take over the banks?

REP. RAINEY: Assistant Secretary of the Treasury Dewey. That started theruin of all theserural banks, and the Gianninis bought them up in great numbers."
World'sWork of February 1931, said:

"When the World War began for usin 1917, Mr. Eugene Meyer, Jr. was among the first to be

called to Washington. In April, 1918, President Wilson named him Director of the War Finance

Corporation. This corporation loaned out 700 million dollarsto banking and financial

institutions."

The Senate Hearings on Eugene Meyer, Jr. continued:

REPRESENTATIVE MCFADDEN: " Lazard Freres, theinternational banking house of New York and Paris, was a Meyer family banking house. It frequently figuresin importsand exports of gold, and one of the important functions
of the Federal Reserve System hasto do with gold movementsin the maintenance of its own operations. In looking over the minutes of the hearing we had last Thursday, Senator Fletcher had asked Mr. Meyer, ‘Have you any
connectionswith international banking? Mr. Meyer had answered, ‘Me? Not personally.” Thislast question and answer do not appear in the stenographic transcript. Senator Fletcher remembers asking the question and the answer. It
isan odd omission.

SENATOR BROOKHART: | understand that Mr. Meyer looked it over for corrections.

REPRESENTATIVE MCFADDEN: Mr. Meyer isa brother-in-law of George Blumenthal, a member of the firm of J.P. Morgan Company, which representsthe Rothschild interests. He also is a liaison officer between the French
Government and J.P. Morgan. Edmund Platt, who had eight yearsto go on a term of ten yearsas Governor of the Federal Reserve Board, resigned to make room for Mr. Meyer. Platt was given a Vice-Presidency of Marine Midland
Corporation by Meyer’sbrother-in-law Alfred A. Cook. Eugene Meyer, Jr. as head of the War Finance Corporation, engaged in the placing of two billion dollarsin Gover nment
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securities, placed many of those ordersfirst with the banking house now located at 14 Wall Street in the name of Eugene Meyer, Jr. Mr. Meyer isnow a large stockholder in the Allied Chemical Corporation. | call your attention to
House Report No. 1635, 68th Congress, 2nd Session, which revealsthat at least twenty-four million dollarsin bonds were duplicated. Ten billion dollarsworth of bonds surreptitiously destroyed. Our committee on Banking and
Currency found the records of the War Finance Cor poration under Eugene Meyer, Jr. extremely faulty. While the books wer e being br ought before our committee by the people who wer e custodians of them and taken back to the
Treasury at night, the committee discovered that alterations were being made in the permanent records.”

Therecord of public service did not prevent Eugene Meyer, Jr. from continuing to serve the American people on the Federal Reserve Board, as Chairman of the Reconstruction Finance Cor poration, and as head of the International
Bank.

President Rand, of the Marine Midland Corporation, questioned about his sudden desire for the services of Edmund Platt, said:

"Wepay Mr. Platt $22,000 a year, and we took his secretary over, of course.” This meant another five thousand a year.

Senator Brookhart showed that Eugene Meyer, Jr. administered the Federal Farm Loan Board against the inter ests of the American farmer, saying:
"Mr. Meyer never loaned morethan 180 million dollars of the capital stock of 500 million dollars

of the farm loan board, so that in aiding the farmers he was not even able to use half of the

capital."



MR. MEYER: Senator Kenyon wrote me a letter which showed that | cooperated with great advantage to the people of lowa.

SENATOR BROOKHART: " You went out and took the opposite side from the Wall Street crowd. They always send somebody out to do that. | have not yet discovered in your statements much interest in making loansto the farmers
at large, or any real effort to help their condition. In your two years as head of the Federal Farm L oan Board you made very few loans compared to your capital. You loaned only one-eighth of the demand, according to your own
statement.”

Despite the damning evidence uncover ed at these Senate Hearings, Eugene Meyer, Jr. remained on the Federal Reserve Board.

During thistragic period, chairman L ouis M cFadden of the House Banking and Currency Committee continued hislone crusade against the" London Connection” which had wrecked the nation. On June 10, 1932, M cFadden
addressed the House of Representatives:

" Some people think the Federal Reserve banks are United States Government institutions. They
are not government institutions. They are private credit monopolies which prey upon the people
of the United
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Statesfor the benefit of themselves and their foreign customers. The Federal Reserve banksare
the agents of theforeign central banks. Henry Ford has said, ‘ The one aim of these financiersis
world control by the creation of inextinguishable debts.” Thetruth isthe Federal Reserve Board
has usur ped the Government of the United States by the arrogant credit monopoly which operates
the Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Reserve Banks."

On January 13, 1932, McFadden had introduced a resolution indicting the Federal Reserve Board of Governorsfor " Criminal Conspiracy”:

"Whereas| chargethem, jointly and severally, with the crime of having treasonably conspired
and acted against the peace and security of the United States and having treasonably conspired to
destroy constitutional government in the United States. Resolved, that the Committee on the
Judiciary isauthorized and directed asa whole or by subcommittee to investigate the official
conduct of the Federal Reserve Board and agentsto determine whether, in the opinion of the said
committee, they have been guilty of any high crime or misdemeanour which in the contemplation
of the Constitution requiresthe inter position of the Constitutional powers of the House."

No action was taken on this Resolution. M cFadden came back on December 13, 1932 with a motion to impeach President Herbert Hoover. Only five Congressmen stood with him on this, and the resolution failed. The Republican
majority leader of the House remarked, " Louis T. McFadden isnow politically dead."

On May 23, 1933, McFadden introduced House Resolution No. 158, Articles of Impeachment against the Secretary of the Treasury, two Assistant Secretaries of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve Board of Governors, and officersand
directorsof the Federal Reserve Banksfor their guilt and collusion in causing the Great Depression. " | charge them with having unlawfully taken over 80 billion dollarsfrom the United States Government in the year 1928, the said
unlawful taking consisting of the unlawful recreation of claims against the United States Treasury to the extent of over 80 billion dollarsin the year 1928, and in each year subsequent, and by having robbed the United States
Government and the people of the United States by their theft and sale of the gold reserve of the United States.”

The Resolution never reached thefloor. A whispering campaign that M cFadden was insane swept Washington, and in the next Congressional elections, he was overwhelmingly defeated by thousands of dollars poured into hishome
district of Canton, Pennsylvania.

In 1932, the American people elected Franklin D. Roosevelt President of the United States. Thiswas hailed asthe freeing of the American people from the evil influence which had brought on the Great Depres-
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sion, the ending of Wall Street domination, and the disappearance of the banker from Washington.

Roosevelt owed his political career to a fortuitous circumstance. As Assistant Secretary of the Navy during World War |, because of old school ties, he had intervened to prevent prosecution of alargering of homosexualsin the Navy
which included several Groton and Harvard chums. This brought him to the favor able appreciation of a wealthy inter national homosexual set which travelled back and forth between New York and Paris, and which was presided over
by Bessie Marbury, of avery old and prominent New York family. Bessie's" wife", who lived with her for a number of years, was Elsie de Wolfe, later Lady Mendl in a" mariage de convenance", the arbiter of theinternational set.



They recruited J.P. Morgan’s youngest daughter, Anne Morgan, into their circle, and used her fortunetorestorethe Villa Trianon in Paris, which became their headquarters. During World War 1, it wasused as a hospital. Bessie
Marbury expected to be awar ded the L egion of Honor by the French Government asareward, but J.P. Morgan, Jr., who despised her for corrupting hisyoungest sister, requested the French Government to withhold the award, which
they did. Smarting from thisrebuff, Bessie Marbury threw herself into politics, and became a power in the Democratic National Party. She had also recruited Eleanor Roosevelt into her circle, and, during a visit to Hyde Park, Eleanor
confided that she was desperate to find something for " poor Franklin" to do, as he was confined to a wheelchair, and was very depressed.

"1 know what we'll do," exclaimed Bessie, "We'll run him for Governor of New York!" Because of her power, she succeeded in thisgoal, and Roosevelt later became President.

One of the men Roosevelt brought down from New York with him as a Special Advisor to the Treasury was Earl Bailie of J & W Seligman Company, who had become notorious as the man who handed the $415,000 bribe to Juan
Leguia, son of the President of Peru, in order to get the President to accept aloan from J & W Seligman Company. Therewas a great deal of criticism of thisappointment, and Mr. Roosevelt, in keeping with hisnew role as defender of
the people, sent Earl Bailie back to @bringingin New York.

Franklin D. Roosevelt himself was an inter national banker of ill repute, having floated lar ge issues of foreign bondsin this country in the 1920s. These bonds defaulted, and our citizens lost millions of dollars, but they still wanted Mr.
Roosevelt as President. The New York Directory of DirectorslistsMr. Roosevelt as President and Director of United European Investors, Ltd., in 1923 and 1924, which floated many millions of German marksin this country, all of
which defaulted. Poor’s Directory of Directorslistshim asadirector of The International Germanic Trust Company in 1928. Franklin D. Roosevelt was also an advisor to the
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Federal International Banking Corporation, an Anglo-American outfit dealing in foreign securitiesin the United States.
Roosevelt’slaw firm of Roosevelt and O’ Connor during the 1920s represented many international cor porations. Hislaw partner, Basil O’ Connor, was a director in the following cor por ations:

Cuban-American Manganese Cor poration, Venezuela-M exican Oil Corporation, West Indies Sugar Cor poration, American Reserve Insurance Cor poration, Warm Springs Foundation. He was director in other corporations, and later
head of the American Red Cross.

When Franklin D. Roosevelt took office as President of the United States, he appointed as Director of the Budget James Paul Warburg, son of Paul Warburg, and Vice President of the International Acceptance Bank and other
cor porations. Roosevelt appointed as Secretary of the Treasury W.H. Woodin, one of the biggest industrialistsin the country, Director of the American Car Foundry Company and numerous other locomotive works, Remington Arms,
The Cuba Company, Consolidated Cuba Railroads, and other big cor porations. Woodin was later replaced by Henry Morgenthau, Jr., son of the Harlem real estate operator who had helped put Woodrow Wilson in the White House.
With such a crew asthis, Roosevelt’s promises of radical social changes showed little likelihood of fulfillment. One of thefirst things he did wasto declare a bankers moratorium, to help the bankers get their recordsin order.
World'sWork says:
" Congress has left Charles G. Dawes and Eugene Meyer, Jr. freeto appraise, by their own
methods, the security which prospective borrowers of the two billion dollar capital may offer."
Roosevelt also set up the Securities Exchange Commission, to seeto it that no new faces got into the Wall Street gang, which caused the following colloquy in Congress:
REPRESENTATIVE WOLCOTT: At hearings befor e this committee in 1933, the economists showed us charts which proved beyond all doubt that the dollar value commodities followed the price level of gold. It did not, did it?
LEON HENDERSON: No.
REPRESENTATIVE GIFFORD: Wasn't Joe Kennedy put in [as Chairman of the Securities Exchange Committee] by President Roosevelt because he was sympathetic with big business?
LEON HENDERSON: | think so.
Paul Einzig pointed out in 1935 that:
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" President Roosevelt was thefirst to declare himself openly in favor of a monetary policy aiming
at a deliberately engineered risein prices. In a negative sense his policy was successful. Between
1933 and 1935 he succeeded in reducing private indebtedness, but thiswas done at the cost of
increasing public indebtedness.”

In other words, he eased the burden of debts off of therich onto the poor, since therich arefew and the poor many.
Senator Robert L. Owen, testifying before the House Committee on Banking and Currency in 1938, said:

"1 wroteinto the bill which wasintroduced by mein the Senate on June 26, 1913, a provision

that the power s of the System should be employed to promote a stable price level, which meant a
dollar of stable purchasing, debt-paying power. It was stricken out. The powerful money interests

got control of the Federal Reserve Board through Mr. Paul Warburg, Mr. Albert Strauss, and Mr.



Adolph C. Miller and they wer e able to have that secret meeting of May 18, 1920, and bring
about a contraction of credit so violent it threw five million people out of employment. In 1920
that Reserve Board deliberately caused the Panic of 1921. The same people, unrestrained in the
stock market, expanding credit to a great excess between 1926 and 1929, raised the price of
stocksto a fantastic point wherethey could not possibly earn dividends, and when the people
realized this, they tried to get out, resulting in the Crash of October 24, 1929."

Senator Owen did not go into the question of whether the Feder al Reserve Board could be held responsible to the public. Actually, they cannot. They are public officials who are appointed by the President, but their salariesare paid by
the private stockholders of the Federal Reserve Banks.

Governor W.P.G. Harding of the Federal Reserve Board testified in 1921 that:

"The Federal Reserve Bank isan institution owned by the stockholding member banks. The
Government has not a dollar’sworth of stock in it."

However, the Government does give the Federal Reserve System the use of its billions of dollars of credit, and this givesthe Federal Reserveits characteristic of a central bank, the power to issue currency on the Government’s credit.
We do not have Federal Government notesor gold certificates as currency. We have Federal Reserve Bank notes, issued by the Federal Reserve Banks, and every dollar they print isa dollar in their pocket.

W. Randolph Burgess, of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, stated before the Academy of Political Sciencein 1930 that:

"Initsmajor principles of operation the Federal Reserve System isno different from other banks
of issue, such asthe Bank of England, the Bank of France, or the Reichsbank."
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All of these central banks have the power of issuing currency in their respective countries. Thus, the people do not own their own money in Europe, nor do they own it here. It isprivately printed for private profit. The people have no
sovereignty over their money, and it has developed that they have no sovereignty over other major political issues such asforeign policy.

Asa central bank of issue, the Federal Reserve System has behind it all the enormous wealth of the American people. When it began operationsin 1913, it created a seriousthreat to the central banks of the impoverished countries of
Europe. Becauseit represented this great wealth, it attracted far more gold than was desirablein the 1920s, and it was appar ent that soon all of the world’s gold would be piled up in this country. Thiswould make the gold standard a
jokein Europe, because they would have no gold over thereto back their issue of money and credit. It wasthe Federal Reserve' savowed aim in 1927, after the secret meeting with the heads of the foreign central banks, to get large
quantities of that gold sent back to Europe, and its methods of doing so, the low interest rate and heavy purchases of Gover nment securities, which created vast sums of new money, intensified the stock market speculation and madethe
stock market crash and resultant depression a national disaster.

Since the Federal Reserve System was guilty of causing this disaster, we might suppose that they would havetried to alleviateit. However, through the dark years of 1931 and 1932, the Governor s of the Federal Reserve Board saw the
plight of the American people wor sening and did nothing to help them. Thiswas more criminal than the original plotting of the Depression. Anyone who lived through those year sin this country remember s the widespr ead
unemployment, the misery, and the hunger of our people. At any time during those year s the Federal Reserve Board could have acted to relieve this situation.

The problem wasto get some money back into circulation. So much of the money normally used to pay rent and food bills had been sucked into Wall Street that there was no money to carry on the business of living. In many areas,
people printed their own money on wood and paper for usein their communities, and this money was good, since it represented obligationsto each other which people fulfilled.

The Federal Reserve System was a central bank of issue. It had the power to, and did, when it suited its owners, issue millions of dollars of money. Why did it not do soin 1931 and 19327 The Wall Street banker s wer e through with Mr.
Herbert Hoover, and they wanted Franklin D. Roosevelt to comein on a wave of glory asthe saviour of the nation. Therefore, the American people had to starve and suffer until March of 1933, when the White Knight cameridingin
with his crew of Wall Street
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bribersand put some money into circulation. That was all therewastoit. Assoon asMr. Roosevelt took office, the Federal Reserve began to buy Government securities at therate of ten million dollars a week for ten weeks, and created
a hundred million dollarsin new money, which alleviated the critical famine of money and credit, and the factories started hiring people again.

During the Roosevelt Administration, The Federal Reserve Board, insofar as the public was concerned, was Marriner Eccles, an emulator and admirer of "the Chief" . Eccleswas a Utah banker, President of the First Securities
Corporation, a family investment trust consisting of a number of bankswhich Eccles had picked up cheap during the Agricultural Depression of 1920-21. Eccles also was a director of such cor porations as Pet Milk Company, Mountain
States Implement Company, and Amalgamated Sugar. Asa big banker, Ecclesfitted in well with the group of powerful men who wer e oper ating Roosevelt.

Therewas some discussion in Congress asto whether Eccles ought to be on the Federal Reserve Board at the sametime he had all of these banksin Utah, but he testified that he had very littleto do with the First Securities Cor poration



besides being President of it, and so he was confirmed as Chairman of the Board.
Eugene Meyer, Jr. now resigned from the Board to spend more of histime lending the two billion dollar capital of the Reconstruction Finance Cor poration, and determining the value of collateral by his own methods.

The Banking Act of 1935, which greatly increased Roosevelt’s power over the nation’sfinances, was an integral part of the legisiation by which he proposed to extend hisreign in the United States. It was not opposed by the people as
wasthe National Recovery Act, becauseit was not so naked an infringement of their liberties. It was, however, an important measure. First of all, it extended the terms of office of the Federal Reserve Board of Governorsto fourteen
years, or, threeand a half timesthelength of a Presidential term. This meant that a President assuming office who might be hostile to the Board could not appoint a majority to it who would be favorable to him. Thus, a monetary policy
inaugur ated before a President came into the White House would go on regar dless of hiswishes.

The Banking Act of 1935 also repealed the clause of the Glass-Steagall Banking Act of 1933, which had provided that a banking house could not be on the Stock Exchange and also beinvolved in investment banking. This clausewas a
good one, sinceit prevented a banking house from lending money to a cor poration which it owned. Still it isto be remembered that this clause covered up some other provisionsin that Act, such asthe creation of the Federal Deposit
Insurance Cor poration, providing insurance money to the amount of 150 million dollars, to
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guar antee fifteen billion dollarsworth of deposits. Thisincreased the power of the big bankersover small banks and gave them another excuseto investigate them. The Banking Act of 1933 also legislated that all earnings of the Federal
Reserve Banks must by law go to the banksthemselves. At last the provision in the Act that the Government sharein the profitswas gotten rid of. It had never been observed, and the increase in the assets of the Federal Reserve Banks
from 143 million dollarsin 1913 to 45 billion dollarsin 1949 went entirely to the private stockholder s of the banks. Thus, the one constructive provision of the Banking Act of 1933 wasrepealed in 1935, and also the Federal Reserve
Banks were now permitted to loan directly to industry, competing with the member banks, who could not hope to match their capacity in arranging large loans.

When the provision that banks could not beinvolved in investment banking and oper ate on the Stock Exchange wasrepealed in 1935, Carter Glass, originator of that provision, was asked by reporters:
" Does that mean that J.P. Morgan can go back into investment banking?"

"Well, why not?" replied Senator Glass. " There hasbeen an outcry all over the country that the bankswill not make loans. Now the M or gans can go back to underwriting."

Because that provision was unfavorable to them, the bankers had simply clamped down on making loans until it wasrepealed.

Newsweek of March 14, 1936, noted that:

"The Federal Reserve Board fired nine chairmen of Reserve Banks, explaining that ‘it intended

to make the chairmanships of the Reserve Banks largely a part-timejob on an honorary basis.’"

Thiswas another instance of the centralization of control in the Federal Reserve System. Theregional district system had never been an important factor in the administration of monetary policy, and the Board was not cutting down on
its officials outside of Washington. The Chair man of the Senate Committee on Banking and Currency had asked, during the Gold Reserve Hearings of 1934:

"Isit not true, Governor Young, that the Secretary of the Treasury for the past twelve years has
dominated the palicy of the Federal Reserve Banks and the Federal Reserve Board with respect to
the purchase of United States bonds?"

Governor Young had denied this, but it had already been brought out that on both of hishurried tripsto this country in 1927 and 1929 to dictate Federal Reserve policy, Governor Montagu Norman of the Bank of England had gone
directly to Andrew Mellon, Secretary of the Treasury, to get him to purchase Gover nment securities on the open market and start the movement of gold out of this country back to Europe.
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The Gold Reserve Hearings had also brought in other people who had more than a passing interest in the operations of the Federal Reserve System. James Paul Warburg, just back from the London Economic Conference with
Professor O.M.W. Sprague and Henry L. Stimson, camein to declare that he thought we ought to moder nize the gold standard. Frank Vanderlip suggested that we do away with the Federal Reserve Board and set up a Federal
Monetary Authority. Thiswould have made no difference to the New York bankers, who would have selected the personnel anyway. And Senator Robert L. Owen, longtime critic of the system, made the following statement:
"The people did not know the Federal Reserve Banks were organized for profit-making. They

wer e intended to stabilize the credit and currency supply of the country. That end has not been

accomplished. Indeed, there has been the most remarkable variation in the purchasing power of

money since the System went into effect. The Federal Reserve men are chosen by the big banks,

through discreet little campaigns, and they naturally follow theideals which are portrayed to

them asthe soundest from a financial point of view."

Benjamin Ander son, economist for the Chase National Bank of New York, said:

" At the moment, 1934, we have 900 million dollars excessreserves. |n 1924, with increased



reserves of 300 million, you got somethree or four billion in bank expansion of credit very
quickly. That extra money was put out by the Federal Reserve Banksin 1924 through buying
government securities and was the cause of the rapid expansion of bank credit. The banks
continued to get excess reser ves because more gold came in, and because, whenever therewasa
slackening, the Federal Reserve people would put out some more. They held back a bit in 1926.
Thingsfirmed up a bit that year. And then in 1927 they put out less than 300 million additional
reserves, set thewild stock market going, and that led usright into the smash of 1929."

Dr. Anderson also stated that:

" The money of the Federal Reserve Banksismoney they created. When they buy Gover nment
securitiesthey createreserves. They pay for the Government securities by giving checks on
themselves, and those checks come to the commer cial banks and are by them deposited in the
Federal Reserve Banks, and then money exists which did not exist before.”

SENATOR BULKLEY: It does not increase the circulating medium at all?

ANDERSON: No.

Thisisan explanation of the manner in which the Federal Reserve Banksincreased their assets from 143 million dollarsto 45 billion dollarsin thirty-five years. They did not produce anything, they wer e non-productive enter prises, and
yet they had this enormous profit, merely by creating money, 95 percent of it in the form of credit, which did not add
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to thecirculating medium. It was not distributed among the peoplein the form of wages, nor did it increase the buying power of the farmersand workers. It was credit-money created by bankersfor the use and profit of bankers, who
increased their wealth by morethan forty billion dollarsin a few year s because they had obtained control of the Government’scredit in 1913 by passing the Federal Reserve Act.

Marriner Eccles also had much to say about the creation of money. He consider ed himself an economist, and had been brought into the Government service by Stuart Chase and Rexford Guy Tugwell, two of Roosevelt’s early
brain-trusters. Eccles was the only one of the Roosevelt crowd who stayed in office throughout hisadministration.

Befor e the House Banking and Currency Committee on June 24, 1941, Governor Eccles said:
"Money iscreated out of theright to issue credit-money."

Turning over the Government’s credit to private bankersin 1913 gave them unlimited opportunitiesto create money. The Federal Reserve System could also destroy money in large quantities through open market operations. Eccles
said, at the Silver Hearings of 1939:

"When you sell bonds on the open market, you extinguish reserves."

Extinguishing reserves means wiping out a basisfor money and credit issue, or, tightening up on money and credit, a condition which isusually even more favorable to banker s than the creation of money. Calling in or destroying
money gives the banker immediate and unlimited control of the financial situation, since heisthe only one with money and the only one with the power to issue money in atime of money shortage. The money panics of 1873, 1893,
1920-21, and 1929-31, wer e characterized by a drawing in of the circulating medium. In economical terms, this does not sound like such a terrible thing, but when it meansthat people do not have money to pay their rent or buy food,
and when it meansthat an employer hasto lay off three-fourths of his help because he cannot borrow the money to pay them, the enormous guilt of the bankersand thelong record of suffering and misery for which they areresponsible
would suggest that no punishment might be too severefor their crimes against their fellowmen.

On September 30, 1940, Gover nor Eccles said:
" If there were no debtsin our money system, there would be no money."

Thisisan accurate statement about our money system. I nstead of money being created by the production of the people, the annual increasein goods and services, it is created by the bankers out of the debts of the people. Becauseit is
inadequate, it is subject to great fluctuationsand is basically unstable. These fluctuations are also a sour ce of great profit. For that reason, the Federal Reserve Board has consistently opposed any
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legislation which attemptsto stabilize the monetary system. Its position has been set forth definitively in Chairman Eccles letter to Senator Wagner on March 9, 1939, and the Memorandum issued by the Board on March 13, 1939.

Chairman Eccleswrote that:



"...you areadvised that the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System does not favor
the enactment of Senate Bill No. 31, a bill to amend the Federal Reserve Act, or any other
legislation of this general character."

The Memorandum of the Board stated, in its" Memorandum on Proposalsto maintain prices at fixed levels':

" The Board of Governors opposes any bill which proposesa stable price level, on the grounds
that prices do not depend primarily on the price or cost of money; that the Board’s control over
money cannot be made complete; and that steady average prices, even if obtainable by official
action, would not insure lasting prosperity."

Yet William McChesney Martin, the Chairman of the Board of Governorsin 1952, said before the Subcommittee on Debt Control, the Patman Committee, on March 10, 1952 that " One of the fundamental pur poses of the Federal
Reserve Act isto protect the value of the dollar.”

Senator Flandersquestioned him: " Isthat specifically stated in the original legislation setting up the Federal Reserve System?"
"No," replied Mr. Martin, "but it isinherent in the entire legislative history and in the surrounding cir cumstances."
Senator Robert L. Owen hastold us how it wastaken out of the original legislation against hiswill, and that the Board of Governors has opposed such legislation. Apparently Mr. Martin does not know this.

Steady average prices, indeed, areimpossible so long as we have the speculator s on the stock exchange driving prices up and down in order to reap profitsfor themselves. Despite Governor Eccles insistencethat steady average prices
would not insurelasting prosperity, they could do much to bring about this condition. A man on a yearly wage of $2,500 is not mor e prosperousif the price of bread increasesfive centsaloaf during the year.

In 1935, Eccles said before the House Committee on Banking and Currency:

" The Government controlsthe gold reserve, that is, the power to issue money and credit, thus

largely regulating the price structure.”

Thisisan almost direct contradiction of Eccles’ statement in 1939 that pricesdo not depend, primarily, on the price or cost of money.
In 1935, Governor Eccles stated before the House Committee:

"The Federal Reserve Board hasthe power of open market operations. Open-mar ket

oper ations are the most important single instrument of
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control over the volume and cost of credit in this country. When | say " credit" in this connection,

| mean money, because by far the largest part of money in use by the people of this country isin

the form of bank credit or bank deposits. When the Federal Reserve Banksbuy billsor securities

in the open market, they increase the volume of the people’'s money and lower its cost; and when

they sell in the open market they decrease the volume of money and increaseits cost. Authority

over these operations, which affect the welfar e of the whole people, must be invested in a body

representing the national interest.”

Governor Ecclestestimony exposesthe heart of the money machine which Paul Warburg revealed to hisincredulous fellow bankersat Jekyll Island in 1910. Most Americans comment that they cannot under stand how the Federal
Reserve System oper ates. It remains beyond under standing, not because it is complex, but becauseit is so ssimple. If a confidence man comes up to you and offersto demonstrate his marvelous money machine, you watch while he putsin
ablank piece of paper, and cranks out a $100 bill. That isthe Federal Reserve System. Y ou then offer to buy this marvelous money machine, but you cannot. It isowned by the private stockholders of the Federal Reserve Banks, whose

identities can betraced partially, but not completely, to " the London Connection."

At the House Banking and Currency Committee Hearings on June 6, 1960, Congressman Wright Patman, Chairman, questioned Carl E. Allen, President of the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago. (p. 4). PATMAN: "Now Mr. Allen,
when the Federal Reserve Open Market Committee buysa million dollar bond you create the money on the credit of the Nation to pay for that bond, don’t you? ALLEN: That iscorrect. PATMAN: And the credit of the Nation is



represented by Federal Reserve Notesin that case, isn't it? If the banks want the actual money, you give Federal Reserve notesin payment, don’t you? ALLEN: That could be done, but nobody wants the Federal Reserve notes.
PATMAN: Nobody wants them, because the banks would rather have the credit asreserves.”

Thisisthe most incredible part of the Federal Reserve operation and one which isdifficult for anyone to under stand. How can any American citizen grasp the concept that there are peoplein this country who have the power to make
an entry in aledger that the government of the United States now owesthem one billion dollars, and to collect the principal and interest on this" loan" ?

Congressman Wright Patman tellsusin " The Primer of Money", p. 38 of going into a Federal Reserve Bank and asking to see their bonds on which the American people are paying interest. After being shown the bonds, he asked to see
their cash, but they only had some ledgers and blank checks. Patman says,

"Thecash, in truth, does not exist and has never existed. What we call ‘cash reserves aresimply
bookkeeping credits entered upon ledgers
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of the Federal Reserve Banks. The credits are created by the Federal Reserve Banks and then
passed along through the banking system."

Peter L. Bernstein, in A Primer On Money, Banking and Gold says:

"Thetrick in the Federal Reserve notesisthat the Federal reserve bankslose no cash when they
pay out thiscurrency to the member banks. Federal Reserve notes are not redeemable in anything
except what the Government calls ‘legal tender’--that is, money that a creditor must be willing to
accept from a debtor in payment of sums owed him. But since all Federal Reservenotesare
themselves declared by law to be legal money, they arereally redeemable only in themselves. . .
they arean irredeemable obligation issued by the Federal Reserve Banks." 91

As Congressman Patman putsit,

"Thedollar representsaonedollar debt to the Federal Reserve System. The Federal Reserve Banks create money out of thin air to buy Gover nment bonds from the United States Treasury, lending
money into circulation at interest, by bookkeeping entries of checkbook credit to the United States Treasury. The Treasury writesup an interest bearing bond for one billion dollars. The Federal
Reserve givesthe Treasury a one billion dollar credit for the bond, and has created out of nothing a one billion dollar debt which the American people are obligated to pay with interest." (Money Facts,
House Banking and Currency Committee, 1964, p. 9)

Patman continues,

"Where doesthe Federal Reserve system get the money with which to create Bank Reserves?
Answer. It doesn’t get the money, it createsit. When the Federal Reservewritesa check, it is
creating money. The Federal Reserveisatotal moneymaking machine. It can issue money or
checks."

In 1951, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York published a pamphlet, " A Day’sWork at the Federal Reserve Bank of New York." On page 22, we find that:

"Thereisstill another and more important element of public interest in the operation of banks
besides the safekeeping of money; bankscan ‘create’ money. One of the most important factorsto
remember in this connection isthat the supply of money affectsthe general level of prices-the
cost of living. The Cost of Living Index and money supply are parallel.”

Thedecisions of the Federal Reserve Board, or rather, the decisions which they are told to make by " partiesunknown" , affect the daily lives of every American by the effect of these decisions on prices. Raising theinterest rate, or
causing money to became " dearer" actsto limit the amount of money availablein the market, as doestheraising of reserve




91 Peter L. Bernstein, A Primer On Money, Banking and Gold, Vintage Books, New York, 1965, p. 104
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requirements by the Federal Reserve System. Selling bonds by the Open Market Committee also extinguishes and lower s the money supply. Buying gover nment securities on the open market " creates’ more money, as does lowering the
interest rate and making money " cheaper" . It isaxiomatic that an increase in the money supply brings prosperity, and that a decrease in the money supply brings on a depression. Dramatic increases in the money which outstrip the
supply of goods brings on inflation, " too much money chasing too few goods" . A more esoteric aspect of the monetary system is" velocity of circulation", which sounds much moretechnical than it is. Thisisthe speed at which money
changes hands; if it isgold buried in the peasant’s gar den, that isa slow velocity of circulation, caused by alack of confidence in the economy or the nation. Very rapid velocity of circulation, such asthe stock market boom of the late
1920s, means quick turnover, spending and investment of money, and its stems from confidence, or over confidence, in the economy. With a high velocity of circulation, a smaller money supply circulates among as many people and
goods as a larger money supply would circulate with a slower velocity of circulation. We mention this because the velocity of circulation, or confidence in the economy, also is greatly affected by the Federal Reserve actions. Milton
Friedman commentsin Newsweek, May 2, 1983, " The Federal Reserve’smajor function isto determinethe money supply. It hasthe power to increase or decrease the money supply at any rate it chooses."

Thisisan enormous power, because increasing the money supply can cause there-election of an administration, while decreasing it can cause an administration to be defeated. Friedman goes on to criticize the Federal Reserve, "How is
it that an institution which has so poor arecord of performance nevertheless has so high a public reputation and even commands a consider able measur e of credibility for its forecasts?"

All open market transactions, which affect the money supply, are conducted for a single System account by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the behalf of all the Federal Reserve Banks, and supervised by an officer of the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York. The conferences at which decisions are madeto buy or sell securities by the Open Market Committee remain closed to the public, and the deliberations also remain a mystery. On May 8, 1928, The
New York Timesreported that Adolph C. Miller, Governor of the Federal Reserve Board, testifying befor e the House Banking and Currency Committee, stated that open market purchases and rediscount rates wer e established
through " conversations' . At that time, the pur chases on the open market amounted to seventy or eighty million dollarsa day, and would beten timesthat today. These are vast sumsto be manipulated on the basis of mere

" conversations', but that is as much information as we can obtain.
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Because of these mysterious transactions which affect thelife, liberty and happiness of every American citizen, there have been numerous proposals such as Senate Document No. 23, presented by Mr. Logan on January 24, 1939, that
" The Government should create, issue and circulate all the currency and credit needed to satisfy the spending power of the Government and the buying power of the consumers. The privilege of creating and issuing money is not only
the supreme prerogative of Gover nment, but it isthe Government’s greatest creative opportunity.”

On March 21, 1960, Congressman Wright Patman used a simpleillustration in the Congressional Record of how banks" create money" .

"If I deposit $100 with my bank and the reserve requirementsimposed by the Federal Reserve

Bank are 20% then the bank can make a loan to John Doe of up to $80. Wher e does the $80

come from? It does not come out of my deposit of $100; on the contrary, the bank simply credits John Doe's account with $80. The bank can acquire Government obligations by
the same procedure, by simply creating depositsto the credit of the government. Money creating is a power of the commercial banks. . . Since 1917 the Federal Reserve has
given the private banksforty-six billion dollars of reserves."

How thisisdoneisbest revealed by Governor Ecclesat Hearings befor e the House Committee on Banking and Currency on June 24, 1941:
ECCLES: " The banking system as a whole creates and extinguishes the deposits as they make
loans and investments, whether they buy Government Bonds or whether they buy utility bonds or whether they make Farmer’sloans.
MR. PATMAN: | am thoroughly in accord with what you say, Governor, but the fact remains
that they created the money, did they not?
ECCLES: Wéll, the banks create money when they make loans and investments.”

On September 30, 1941, befor e the same Committee, Governor Eccles was asked by Representative Patman:

"How did you get the money to buy those two billion dollarsworth of Government securitiesin
1933?

ECCLES: Wecreated it.

MR. PATMAN: Out of what?

ECCLES: Out of theright to issue credit money.

MR. PATMAN: And thereisnothing behind it, isthere, except our Government’s credit?



ECCLES: That iswhat our money system is. If there were no debtsin our money system, there
wouldn’t be any money."

On June 17, 1942, Governor Eccleswasinterrogated by Mr. Dewey.

ECCLES: "I mean the Federal Reserve, when it carries out an open market operation, that is, if it

pur chases Gover nment securitiesin the
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open market, it puts new money into the hands of the bankswhich createsidle deposits.

DEWEY: Thereare no excessreservesto usefor this purpose?

ECCLES: Whenever the Federal Reserve System buys Gover nment securitiesin the open market,

or buysthem direct from the Treasury, either one, that iswhat it does.

DEWEY: What areyou going to use to buy them with? You are going to create credit?

ECCLES: That isall we have ever done. That isthe way the Federal Reserve System oper ates.

The Federal Reserve System creates money. It isa bank of issue."

At the House Hearing of 1947, Mr. Kolburn asked Mr. Eccles:

"What do you mean by monetization of the public debt?

ECCLES: | mean the bank creating money by the purchase of Government securities. All

iscreated by debt--either private or public debt.

FLETCHER: Chairman Eccles, when do you think thereisa possibility of returning to a free and

open market, instead of this pegged and artificially controlled financial market we now have?

ECCLES: Never. Not in your lifetime or mine."

Congressman Jerry Voorhisisquoted in U.S. News, August 31, 1959, as questioning Secretary of Treasury Anderson, " Do you mean that Banks, in buying Government securities, do not lend out their customers’ deposits? That they
create the money they useto buy the securities? ANDERSON: That iscorrect. Banks are different from other lending institutions. When a savings association, an insurance company, or a credit union makesa loan, it lendsthe very
dollar that its customers have previously paid in. But when a bank makesa loan, it simply addsto the borrower’s deposit account in the bank by the amount of theloan. The money is not taken from anyone. It isnew money, recreated
by the bank, for the use of the borrower."

Strangely enough, there has never been a court trial on thelegality or Constitutionality of the Federal Reserve Act. Although it is on much the same shaky grounds as the National Recovery Act, or NRA, which was challenged in
Schechter Poultry v. United States of America, 29 U.S. 495, 55 US 837.842 (1935), the NRA wasruled unconstitutional by the Supreme Court on the groundsthat " Congress may not abdicate or transfer to othersitslegitimate functions.
Congress cannot Constitutionally delegate itslegislative authority to trade or industrial associations or groups so asto empower them to make laws."

Article 1, Sec. 8 of the Constitution providesthat " The Congress shall have power to borrow money on the credit of the United States. . . and to coin Money, regulate the value ther eof, and of foreign Coin, and fix the Standard of
Weightsand Measures." According tothe NRA deci-
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sion, Congress cannot delegate this power to the Federal Reserve System, nor can it delegateits legislative authority to the Federal Reserve System to allow the System to fix therate of bank reserves, the rediscount rate, or the volume
of money. All of theseare" legislated" by the Federal Reserve Board, meeting in legislative sessions to deter mine these mattersand toissue " laws" or regulationsfixing them.

The Second World War gave the big bankerswho owned the Federal Reserve System a chance to unload on the country billions of dollars printed early in 1930, in the biggest counterfeiting operation in history, all legalized by
Roosevelt’s gover nment, of course. Henry Hazlitt writesin the January 4, 1943 issue of Newsweek Magazine:

"The money that began to appear in circulation a week ago, December 21, 1942, wasreally

printing pressmoney in the fullest sense of theterm, that is, money which has no collateral of any kind behind it. The Federal Reserve statement that ‘ The Board of Governors,
after consultation with the Treasury Department, has authorized Federal Reserve Banksto utilize at thistime the existing stocks of currency printed in the early thirties, known



as ‘Federal Reserve Banknotes'. Werepeat, these notes have absolutely no collateral of any kind behind them."
Governor Eccles also testified to some other interesting matters of the Federal Reserve and war finance at the Senate Hearings on the Office of Price Administration in 1944:
"Thecurrency in circulation wasincreased from seven billion dollarsin four yearsto twenty-one
and a half billion. We ar e losing some consider able amounts of gold during the war period. As
our exports have gone out, largely on alend-lease basis, we have taken imports on which we have
given dollar balances. These countries are now drawing off these dollar balancesin the form of
gold.
MR. SMITH: Governor Eccles, what isthe objective that the foreign governmentsare after in
this projected program whereby we would contribute gold to an international fund?
GOVERNOR ECCLES: | would liketo discuss OPA, and leave the stabilization fund for atime
when | am prepared to gointoit.
MR. SMITH: Just aminute. | feel that thisfund isvery pertinent to what we ar e talking about
today.
MR. FORD: | believethat the stabilization fund isentirely off the @OPA and consequently we
ought to stick to the business at hand."”

The Congressmen never did get to discuss the Stabilization Fund, another setup whereby we would give the impoverished countries of Europe back the gold which had been sent over here. In 1945, Henry Hazlitt, commenting in
Newsweek of January 22, on Roosevelt’s annual budget message to Congress, quoted Roosevelt as saying:

"| shall later recommend legislation reducing the present high gold reserve requirements of the
Federal Reserve Banks."
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Hazlitt pointed out that the reserve requirement was not high, it wasjust what it had been for the past thirty years. Roosevelt’s pur pose was to free more gold from the Feder al Reserve System and makeit available for the Stabilization
Fund, later called the International Monetary Fund, part of the World Bank for Reconstruction and Development, the equivalent of the L eague Finance Committee which would have swallowed the financial sovereignty of the United
Statesif the Senate had let usjoin it.
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CHAPTER FOURTEEN

Congressional Expose

"Mr. Volcker’spaliticsis something of an enigma.” --New York Times

Since 1933 when Eugene Meyer resigned from the Federal Reserve Board of Governors, no member of theinternational banking families has personally served on the Board of Governors. They have chosen to work from behind the
scenes through carefully selected presidents of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and other employees.

The present chairman of the Federal Reserve Board of GovernorsisPaul Volcker. His appointment was greeted by one well-known economist with the following prediction, " Volcker’s selection has been by far theworst. Carter has put
Draculain charge of the blood bank. To us, it means a crash and depression in the 80sis more certain than ever."



Col. E.C. Harwood’ s Research Report, August 6, 1979, gave much the same view. " Paul Volcker isfrom the same mold as the unsound money men who have misguided the monetary actions of this nation for the past five decades. The
outcome probably will be equally disastrousfor thedollar and the U.S. economy.”

Despite these gloomy views, the report from The New York Times on the selection of Volcker was positively ecstatic. On July 26, 1979, The Times commented that Volcker learned " the business' from Robert Roosa, now partner of
Brown BrothersHarriman, and that Volcker had been part of the Roosa Brain Trust at the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, and, later, at the Treasury in the Kennedy administration. " David Rockefeller, the chairman of Chase,
and Mr. Roosa were strong influencesin the Mr. Carter decision to name Mr. Volcker for the Reserve Board chairmanship.” The New York Times did not point out that David Rockefeller and Robert Roosa had previously chosen Mr.
Carter, amember of the Trilateral Commission, asthe presidential candidate of the Democratic Party, or that Mr. Carter would hardly refuseto appoint their choice of Paul Volcker asthe new Chairman of the Federal Reserve Board.
Nor isit straining the point to bereminded that this manner of selection of the Chairman of the Board of Governorsisdirectly in theline of royal prerogative going back to George Peabody’ sinitial agreement with N.M. Rothschild, to
the Jekyll Island meeting, and to the enactment of the Federal Reserve Act.
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The Times noted that " Volcker’s choice was approved by European banksin Bonn, Frankfurt and Zurich." William Simon, former Secretary of Treasury, was quoted as saying " a marvelous choice." The Timesfurther noted that the
Dow market rose on Volcker’s nomination, registering the best gainsin three weeksfor arise of 9.73 points, and that the dollar rose shar ply on foreign exchange@ at home and abroad.

Who was Volcker, that his appointment could have such an effect on the stock market and the value of the dollar in foreign exchange? He represented the most power ful house of " the London Connection," Brown BrothersHarriman,
and the London houses which directed the Rockefeller empire. On July 29, 1979, The Times had said of Volcker, " New Man Will Chart HisOwn Course" .

Volcker’s background showsthat thiswas nonsense. His cour se has always been charted for him by hismastersin London. He attended Princeton, obtained an M.A. at Harvard, and went to the London School of Economics 1951-52,
the banker’s graduate school. He then cameto the Federal Reserve Bank of New York as an economist from 1952-57, economist at Chase Manhattan Bank, 1957-61, with Treasury Department 1961-65, as deputy under secretary for
monetary affairs, 1963-65, and under secretary for monetary affairs, 1969-74. He then became President of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York from 1975-79, when Carter, at the behest of Robert Roosa and David Rockefeller,
appointed him Chairman of the Federal Reserve Board of Governors. He was succeeded as President of Federal Reserve Bank of New York by Anthony Solomon, a Harvard Ph.D. who was with the OPA 1941-42 and with the
government financial mission to Iran 1942-46. He operated a canned food company in Mexico from 1951-61, was president of I nternational Investment Corp. for Yugoslavia 1969-72 (a communist country), under secretary for
monetary affairsat Treasury 1977-80. In short, Solomon’s background was much the same as Paul Volcker’s.

The New York Times stated on December 2, 1981, " For yearsthe Federal Reserve was the second or third most secret institution in town. The Sunshine Act of 1976 penetrated the curtain atrifle. The board now holds a public meeting
once a week on Wednesday at 10 a.m., but not to discuss Monetary policy, which istill regarded astop secret and not to be discussed in public." The Times mentioned that when Open Market Committee meetings are held, Solomon
and Volcker sit together at the head of thetable and relay the instructions which they have received from abroad.

Behind Volcker and Solomon stands Robert Roosa, Secretary of the Treasury in Carter’s shadow cabinet, and representing Brown BrothersHarriman, the Trilateral Commission, the Council on Foreign Relations, the Bilderbergers,
and the Royal Economic Institute. Heisatrustee of the
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Rockefeller Foundation*, and a director of Texaco and American Express companies. Dr. Martin Larson pointsout that " Theinternational consortium of financiersknown asthe Bilderber gers, who meet annually in profound secrecy
to determine the destiny of the western world, isa creature of the Rockefeller-Rothschild alliance, and that it held itsthird meeting on St. Simons Island, only a short distance from Jekyll Island." Larson also statesthat " The
Rockefeller interestswork in close alliance with the Rothschilds and other central banks." **

On June 18, 1983, President Ronald Reagan ended months of speculation by announcing that he was reappointing Paul Volcker as Chairman of the Federal Reserve Board of Governorsfor another four year term, although Volcker’s
term was not up until August 6, 1983. Reagan’sreappointment of a Carter appointee puzzled some political observers, but apparently he had succumbed to consider able pressure, asindicated by a lead editorial in The Washington Post,
June 10, 1983, " Thereisno one who matches Mr. Volcker in both palitical standing and grasp of theintricate networksthat make up theworld’s financial system.” The anonymouswriter gave no documentation for his elevation of
Volcker tothe standing of theworld’s greatest financier, and asfor his palitical standing, The New York Times commented on June 19, 1983, " Mr. Volcker’s politics is something of an enigma.” His" non-political" stance conformswith
the Washington tradition of " the political independence of the Fed" which has been maintained for many years. However, the problem of its dependence on " the L ondon connection" has never been discussed in Washington.

In reality, Volcker ismore of a politician than an economist. After attending the London School of Economics, and finding out who issuesthe orders of the inter national financial community, Volcker hasever since played the game. Not
once has hefailed to carry out the orders of the" London Connection” .

Can it really be possible that " The London Connection” exists, and that men like Volcker and Solomon receive their instructions, in however deviousor indirect a manner, from foreign bankers? Let uslook at the evidence,
circumstantial, to be sure, but circumstantial evidence of the quality which has often sent men to the penitentiary or to the electric chair. John Moody pointed out in 1911 that seven men of the Morgan group, allied with the Standard
Oil-Kuhn, Loeb group, ruled the United States. Where do these groups stand in the financial picture today?

U.S. News published on April 11, 1983, alist of the largest bank holding companiesin the United States by assets as of December 31, 1982. Number 1 is Citicorp, New York, with assets of $130 billion. Thisis Baker and

* SeeChart V
** See Chart |
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Morgan’s First National Bank of New York, merged with National City Bank in 1955, two of the largest purchasers of Federal Reserve Bank of New York stock in 1914. Number 3, is Chase Manhattan, New York, with assets of $80.9
billion. Thisis Chase and Bank of Manhattan merged, the Rockefeller and Kuhn Loeb group, also purchasers of Federal Reserve Bank of New York stock in 1914. Number 4 is Manufacturers Hanover of New York $64 billion, also
purchaser of Federal Reserve Bank of New York stock in 1914. Number 5isJ.P. Morgan Company of New Y ork, $58.6 billion in assets and holder of consider able Federal Reserve Bank stock. Number 6 is Chemical Bank of New York,
$48.3 billion also purchaser of Federal Reserve stock in 1914. And Number 11, First Chicago Cor poration, the First National Bank of Chicago which was principal correspondent of the M organ-Baker bank in New York, and which



furnished thefirst two presidents of the Federal Advisory Council.

Thedirect linewhich leads from the participantsin the Jekyll Island Conference of 1910 to the present day isillustrated by a passage from " A Primer on Money" , Committee on Banking and Currency, U.S. House of Representatives,
88th Congress, 2d session, August 5, 1964, p. 75:

"The practical effect of requiring all purchasesto be made through the open market isto take
money from the taxpayer and giveit to the dealers. It for ces the Government to pay atoll for
borrowing money. Therearesix ‘bank’ dealers: First National City Bank of New York; Chemical

Crop. Exchange Bank, New York, Morgan Guaranty Trust Co., New York, Bankers Trust of New York, First National Bank of Chicago, and Continental I1linois Bank of
Chicago."

Thusthe bankswhich receivea " toll" on all money borrowed by the Gover nment of the United States ar e the same banks which planned the Federal Reserve Act of 1913. Thereis ample evidence demonstrating the present
preeminence of the same banks which set up the Federal Reserve System in 1914. For instance, Warren Brookeswrites on the editorial page of The Washington Post, June 6, 1983:

" Citicorp (National City Bank and First National Bank of New York, merged in 1955) just
recorded an 18.6% return on equity, J.P. Morgan, 17%, Chemical Bank and Bankers Trust, nearly 16%, an exceptional rate of return."

These arethe banks which bought the first issue of Federal Reserve Bank stock in 1914, and which owned the controlling interest in the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which setstheinterest rate and isthe bank for all open
market operations.

These banks also profit steadily from the otherwise inexplicable fluctuationsin monetary growth and interest rates. Brookes further commentson " actual monetary growth rates alter nately gyrating from 0 to 17% in successive six
month periodsfor threerecession-wracked years. The two measures of money growth most admired by Milton Friedman M2 and M3,
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have actually shown little change on a year to year basisin the 1972-82 period."

Thuswe have money growth rates gyrating from 0to 17% but no actual year to year changes, which raises the question of why we cannot have stability of monetary growth throughout the year. The answer isthat the big profitsare
made by these gyrations, and the next question is, who setsin motion these gyrations? The answer is" the London Connection” .

Todraw attention from the continued control of the bankersand their heirs, who obtained the gover nment monopoly of the nation’s money and credit in 1913, the paid propagandists of the controlled media monopoly and academia
are constantly trotting forth new and mor e exatic theories of economics. Thus James Burnham, one of the National Review propagandists, won fame with aridiculoustheory of "the managers' . He postulated that the old arbiters of
wealth, the J.P. Morgans, the Warburgs and the Rothschilds had, by 1950, disappear ed from the scene, being replaced by a new class of " managers'. Thistheory, which had no foundation in fact, served to obscure the fact that the
same people still controlled the monetary system of theworld. The " managers"' werejust that, executiveslike Volcker who were front men, paid employees who would continueto receive their paychecks only aslong asthey carried out
their employers' instructions. Burnham remains a well-paid propagandist at the National Review, which many prominent leaders, including President Reagan, believeto be a " conservative" publication.

From 1914 to 1982, a period in which many thousands of American bankswent bankrupt, the original purchasers of Federal Reserve Bank stock have not only survived but they have consolidated their power. And what of " the London
Connection" ? Doesiit still exist, and isit still dictating the economic destiny of the United States? The Washington Post, May 19, 1983, carried a story datelined Nairobi, Kenya, noting the meeting of the African Development Bank. " The
British merchant bank, Morgan Grenfell and a syndicate of the United States, Kuhn Loeb, Lehman BrothersInternational, the French Lazard Freresand Britain’s Warburg ar e discreetly acting as financial advisorsto about ten
debt-plagued African states."

There are the same names we encountered in 1914, still managing the finances of the world, with profitsfor themselves but with disastrousresultsfor everyone else. Perhapswe can look for relief to the present Administration of
President Reagan. Unfortunately, befor e reaching him we have to run the gamut of the long list of hisprincipal staff, composed of men from J. Henry Schroder, Brown BrothersHarriman, and other leading componentsof " The
London Connection".

Lopez Portillo, President of Mexico, in addressing the Mexican National Congress of Mexico in September, 1982, called the world credit boom of the past decade a financial pestilence akin to the Black Death which swept
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Europein thefourteenth century. " Asin mediaeval times, it flattens country after country. It istransmitted by ratsand it yields unemployment and misery, industrial bankruptcy and enrichment by speculation. The remedy prescribed
by faith healersisforced inactivity and depriving the patient of food."

Forbes Magazine stated October 11, 1982, " The world gasps for liquidity, not because the supply of money has contracted but because too much of it now goesto pay off old debtsrather than fund new productive investments.”

The policy of high interest rates and tight money has been disastrous for the United States. In early 1983, a dight easing of money and credit promises somerédlief, but aslong asthe Federal Reserve system and its unseen manipulators
continuetheir control of the money supply, we can expect more problems. The Nation on December 11, 1982, in commenting on economic problems, stated, " The blamefor all thisliesat the door of the Federal Reserve System working
asusual on behalf of theinternational banking system.”

The evidence of how the Federal Reserve System works on behalf of theinternational banking system isgraphically illustrated by a series of charts drawn up by the staff of the Committee on Banking, Currency and Housing of the
House of Representatives, 94th Congress, 2d session, August, 1976, " FEDERAL RESERVE DIRECTORS: A STUDY OF CORPORATE AND BANKING INFLUENCE" .* We present asour Chart V page 49 of this study, showing the
interlocking dir ector ates of David Rockefeller. Asour Chart VI we reproduce page 55 of this study, showing the interlocking directorates of Frank R. Milliken, one of the Class C Directors** of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.
In thischart are all the main personagesin our story of the Jekyll Island conference: Citibank, J.P. Morgan and Company, Kuhn L oeb and Company, and many related firms. As Chart VII wereproduce page 53 of this study, showing
theinterlocking director ates of another Class C Director of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, Alan Pifer. As President of the Carnegie Corporation of New York, heinterlockswith J. Henry Schroder Trust Company, J. Henry



Schroder Banking Cor poration, Rockefeller Center, Inc., Federal Reserve Bank of Boston, Equitable Life Assurance Society (J.P. Morgan), and others. Thusan August, 1976 study from the House Committee on Banking, Currency
and Housing, brings before usall of our main cast of personages, functioning today just asthey did in 1914.

* Dueto spacelimitations, only five of the seventy-five chartsin the study, all of which show the connections between prominent, powerful individuals with control in the Federal Reserve System have
been selected toillustrate the connections between officers and director s of the twelve Federal Reserve Banksin 1976 and thefirmslisted in this book.

** "Thethree Class C Directors are appointed by the Board of Governors as representatives of the publicinterest asawhole." p. 34, Congressional Study, 1976.
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This 120 page Congressional study details public policy functions of the Federal Reserve District Banks, how directors are selected, who is selected, the public relations lobbying factor, bank domination and bank examination, and
corporateinterlocks with Reserve banks. Chartswere used toillustrate Class A, Class B, and Class C director ships of each district bank. For each branch bank a chart was designed giving information regarding bank appointed
directorsand those appointed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

In his Foreword to the study, Chairman Henry S. Reuss, (D-Wis) wrote:

" This Committee has observed for many yearsthe influence of private interests over the
essentially public responsibilities of the Federal Reserve System.

Asthe study makesclear, it isdifficult to imagine a more narrowly based board of directorsfor a
public agency than has been gathered together for the twelve banks of the Federal Reserve
System.

Only two segments of American society--banking and big business--have any substantial
representation on the boards, and often even these become merged through interlocking
directorates. ... Small farmersare absent. Small businessis barely visible. No women appear on
thedistrict boards and only six among the branches. Systemwide--including district and branch
boards--only thirteen membersfrom minority groups appear.

The study raises a substantial question about the Federal Reserve's oft-repeated claim of
"independence" . One might ask, independent from what? Surely not banking or big business, if
we areto judge from the massive interlocks revealed by thisanalysis of the district boards.

The big business and banking dominance of the Federal Reserve System cited in thisreport can betraced, in part, to the original Federal Reserve Act, which gave member
commercial banksthe

right to select two-thirds of the directors of each district bank. But the Board of Governorsin
Washington must sharetheresponsibility for thisimbalance. They appoint the so-called " public"
member s of the boards of each district bank, appointments which have largely reflected the same
narrow interests of the bank-elected members. . . . Until we have basic reforms, the Federal
Reserve System will be handicapped in carrying out its public responsibilities as an economic
stabilization and bank regulatory agency. The System’s mandate istoo essential to the nation’s
welfareto leave so much of the machinery under the control of narrow privateinterests.
Concentration of economic and financial power in the United States has gone too far."

In a section of thetext entitled " The Club System”, the Committee noted:



"This*club’ approach leadsthe Federal Reserveto consistently dip into the same pools--the
same companies, the same univer sities, the same bank holding companies--to fill director ships."
This Congressional study concludes as follows:
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"Many of the companies on these tables, as mentioned earlier, have multipleinterlocksto the Federal Reserve System. First Bank Systems; Southeast Banking Corporation; Feder ated Department Stores; Westinghouse Electric
Corporation; Proctor and Gamble; Alcoa; Honeywell, Inc.; Kennecott Copper; Owens-Corning Fiberglass; all have two or moredirector tiesto district or branch banks.

In Summary, the Federal Reserve directors are apparently representatives of a small elite group which dominates much of the economic life of thisnation." END OF CONGRESSIONAL REPORT.
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ADDENDUM

Asof 11:05 Tuesday, July 26, 1983, thelist of member banks holding Federal Reserve Bank of New York stock includes twenty-seven New York City banks.
Listed below arethe number of shares held by ten of these banks, amounting to 66% of the total outstanding number of shares, namely 7,005,700:

Shares Per cent
Bankers Trust Company 438,831 (6%)
Bank of New York 141,482 (2%)
Chase Manhattan Bank 1,011,862  (14%)
Chemical Bank 544,962 (8%)
Citibank 1,090,813  (15%)

European American Bank & Trust 127,800 (2%)

J. Henry Schroder Bank & Trust 37,493 (.5%)
Manufacturers Hanover 509,852 (7%)
Morgan Guaranty Trust 655,443 (9%)
National Bank of North America 105,600 (2%)

The tremendous number of sharesheld today as against the original purchasesin 1914 is brought about by Section 5 of the original Federal Reserve Act
which called for amember bank to buy and hold stock in the district Federal Reserve Bank equal to 6% of its capital and surplus.

Currently, shares held by five of the above named banks comprise 53% of thetotal Federal Reserve Bank of New York stock. An examination of the major
stockholders of the New York City banks shows clearly that a few families, related by blood marriage, or businessinterests, still control the New York City
bankswhich, in turn, hold the controlling stock of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

It isnotable that three of the banks holding Federal Reserve Bank of New York stock, in the amount of 270,893 shares, are subsidiaries of foreign banks. J.
Henry Schroder Bank and Trust islisted by Standard and Poors as a subsidiary of SchrodersLtd. of London. The National Bank of North Americaisa



subsidiary of the National Westminster Bank, one of London’s" Big Five" . European American Bank isa subsidiary of the European American Bank,
Bahamas, LTD. It isinteresting to note that the directors of the European American Bank & Trust include Milton F. Rosenthal, president and Chief
Operating Officer of the international gold company,
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Engelhard Mineralsand Chemical; Hamilton F. Potter, a partner in Sullivan and Cromwell (J. Henry Schroder Bank & Trust attorneys); Edward H. Tuck,
partner of Shearman and Sterling (Citibank’s attorneys); F.H. Ulrich and Hans Liebkutsch, managing directors of the giant Midland Bank of London, one
of the" Big Five"; and Roger Alloo, Paul-Emmanuel Janssen, and Maurice Laure of the Societe Generale de Banque (Brussels, Belgium). [See Chart 111]

Thisinformation, derived from the latest issue of the tabulation available from the Board of Governors, Federal Reserve System, iscited as current evidence
which indicatesthat the controlling stock in the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which setsthe rate and scale of operationsfor the entire Federal
Reserve System is heavily influenced by banksdirectly controlled by " The London Connection”, that is, the Rothschild-controlled Bank of England. [See
Chart 1]
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APPENDIX |

E.C. Knuth, in The Empire of the City, priv. printed, 1946, p. 27, refersto " the Bank of England, the full partner of the American Administration in the
conduct of thefinancial affairsof all theworld" and citesthe Encyclopaedia Americana, 1943 edition.

Barron cites Lord Swaythling, (April 8, 1923), " Lord Swaythling said, ‘Exchange can only berun from London. Thisisthe center in Exchange.”" (They
Told Barron, by Clarence W. Barron, founder of Baron’s Weekly, Harpers, New York, 1930, p. 27.)

Exchange, in theinternational financial world, meansthe transactionsin money or securities, or simply, the " exchange" of the values of these securities. It is
necessary that this" exchange" take place where the values can be established, and thisplaceisthe " City" in London.

L ondon was established asthe primary center of exchange because of the " Consols’ of the Bank of England, bonds which could never be redeemed, but
which paid a stablerate of return. Henry Clewswrites, in The Wall Street View, Silver Burdett Co. 1900, p. 255, " The Consolidated Act of 1757 consolidated
the debts of the nation of England at 3%, which were kept in an account at the Bank of England and isthe great bulwark of its deposits.” By ostentatiously

"dumping" " Consols' on the London Exchange after the Battle of Waterloo, in a pretended panic, Nathan Meyer Rothschild then secretly bought up the

Consols sold in the panic by other holdersat a low rate, and became the largest holder of Consols, and thuswon control of the Bank of England in 1815.

12% Dividends

Although a Labor government nationalized the Bank of England in 1946, The Great Soviet Encyclopaedia pointsout (vol. I, p. 490c) that the Bank of
England continuesto pay 12% dividends per annum, just asit had done prior to the nationalization. The" Governor" isappointed by the government, in a
situation similar to that in the United States, wherethe Governors of the Federal Reserve System are appointed by the President. However, asis pointed out
in the Encyclopaedia Americanav. 13, p. 272, " In practice, the gover nors of the Bank of England have not hesitated to criticize and bring pressure on the
government in public.”



Bank Rate
Theinterest rate set by the Bank of England isknown as " the Bank rate", and it isa controlling factor in interest ratesthroughout the world,
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although ratesin other countries may be higher or lower than this" Bank rate" . The Bank of England manages the government debt, and is called upon to
arbitratein political affairs. It served astheintermediary with the Iran revolutionariesin negotiating for thereturn of the American hostages--a recent
example.

We should not be surprised that the present Governor of the Bank of England, Sir Gordon Richardson isa prominent international financial figure, who
appears elsewhere in these pages because of his connection with the J. Henry Schroder @Wagg in London from 1962 to 1972, when he became Gover nor of
the Bank of England. Hewas also director of J. Henry Schroder Co., New York, and Schroder Banking Corp., New York. He also serves asdirector of Rolls
Royce and Lloyd’s Bank. Although heresidesin London, he maintainsa homein New York, and islisted in the current Manhattan directory simply as" G.

Richardson, 45 Sutton Place S.", although a prior listing showed him at 4 Sutton Place. Sutton Place was developed as a fashionable addressfor the
international set by Bessie Marbury, whom we earlier cited for her connection with the Morgan family and the Roosevelts.

The present director s of the Bank of England (1982) include L eopold de Rothschild of N.M. Rothschild & Sons, Sir Robert Clark, chairman of Hill Samuel
Bank, the most influential bank after Rothschilds, John Clay, of Hambros Bank, and David Scholey, of Warburg Bank, and joint chairman of S.C. Warburg
Co.

Anthony Sampson writes, in " The Changing Anatomy of Britain", Random House, New York, 1982, p. 279, " The mor e cosmopolitan bankswith foreign
expertsand directors, such as War burgs, Montagus, Rothschilds and Kleinworts, had also discovered a huge new sour ce of profitsin the market for
Eurodollarswhich began in the late fifties and multiplied through the 60s. . . British bankersthemselves controlled relatively small funds, but they knew
how to make money out of other people’s money."

The Eurodollar market, a new development in " created money" ismonopolized by the above firms.

Eurodollar Empire

"Today, together with allieson theisland of Manhattan (Britain’s most important piece of real estate), the British Empire controlsthe entire $1.5 trillion
Eurodollar financial market, another $300-$500 billion in the Cayman I lands, Bahamas, and $50-$100 billion in the Hong-K ong Singapore " Asia-dollar
market". ... Consider the $1.5trillion Eurodollar market an " outlaw" market in the U.S. dollars over which this nation has no control. Here control and
profits are overwhelmingly in the hands of L ondon banks, who set the terms of lending and the interest rate on this mass of American dollarsin relation to
the London Interbank Borrowing
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Rate (LIBOR) ... U.S bankslike Citibank (New York City), on whose board of directorssitsthe powerful British financier, Lord Aldington, collaborate
openly in thismarket. At the same time, British banksincluding the known central bank for theworld’sdrug trade, the Hongkong and Shanghai Bank,
pour into Americato devour U.S. banks. In 1978 the Hongshang (Ed.--Hongkong and Shanghai Bank) took over New York’sMarine Midland Bank, the
state's 11th largest commercial bank. . . The British also control the creation of American dollars. While Federal Reserve Board Chairman Paul Volcker
tightens credit against the domestic economy, British-controlled banksin the Cayman I slands (such asthe European American Bank--Ed.) a British
possession 200 miles off Florida, and in the Bermudas and a dozen other " free banking” computer terminals create hundreds of billions of American
dollars. How isthisdone? Therearenoreserveratiosor other restrictionson the creation of dollar-denominated creditsin the Empire's" free enterprise"
banking. A $1 million bona fide credit coming from the United States can be turned into $20 to $100 million in dollar -denominated credits asit passes
through the British system without reserveratios." *

Not only the financial power, but also the legal power, hasremained seated in Britain. The Washington Post commented on June 18, 1983 that after the
American Revolution, all theold lawsremained in effect in the new United States. Some of these laws of " English common law" dated back to 1278, long
before America was discover ed.

This enormousfinancial power of " the City" isrevealed in many areas. Dean Acheson states, in " Present at the Creation”, 1969, W.W. Norton, New York,
p. 779, " We stayed at the embassy residence, the old J.P. Morgan mansion, 14 Prince' s Gate, facing Hyde Park." How many Americans are awar ethat the
U.S. Embassy residencein London isthe J.P. Morgan home, or that Dean Acheson, a former M organ employee, described himself as Secretary of State on
p. 505, " My own attitude had long been, and was known to have been, pro-British." No one commented on an American Secretary of State’sopen biasin
favor of England.

The Federal Reserve " created” money isnot used only for financial matters; thismoney isalso used to maintain the bankers' control of every aspect of
political, economic and social life. It is used to bankroll the enor mous expenditures of political candidates, the swollen budgets of universities, the huge
outlaysrequired to start newspapersor magazines, and a vast array of foundations, " think-tanks" and other instruments of mind control.

Psychological Warfare

Few Americans know that almost every development in psychology in the United Statesin the past sixty-five years has been directed by the Bureau of
Psychological Warfare of the British Army. A short time ago,

* Harpers Magazine, Feb. 1980
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the present writer learned a new name, The Tavistock Institute of London, also known asthe Tavistock I nstitute of Human Relations. " Human relations’
cover s every aspect of human behavior, and it isthe modest goal of the Tavistock Institute to obtain and exer cise control over every aspect of human
behavior of American citizens.

Because of theintensive artillery barrages of World War |, many soldier s wer e permanently impaired by shell shock. In 1921, the Mar quees of Tavistock,
11th Duke of Bedford, gave a building to a group which planned to conduct rehabilitation programsfor shell shocked British soldiers. The group took the



nameof " Tavistock Institute" after its benefactor. The General Staff of the British Army decided it was crucial that they deter mine the breaking point of
the soldier under combat conditions. The Tavistock Institute was taken over by Sir John Rawlings Reese, head of the British Army Psychological Warfare
Bureau. A cadre of highly trained specialistsin psychological warfarewas built up in total secrecy. In fifty years, the name" Tavistock Institute’ appears
only twicein the Index of the New York Times, yet this group, according to LaRouche and other authorities, organized and trained the entir e staffs of the
Office of Strategic Services (OSS), the Strategic Bombing Survey, Supreme Headquarters of the Allied Expeditionary Forces, and other key American
military groupsduring World War I1. During World War 11, the Tavistock I nstitute combined with the medical sciences division of the Rockefeller
Foundation for esoteric experimentswith mind-altering drugs. The present drug culture of the United Statesistraced in its entirety to this I nstitute, which
supervised the Central Intelligence Agency’straining programs. The" L SD counter culture” originated when Sandoz A.G., a Swiss pharmaceutical house
owned by S.G. Warburg & Co., developed a new drug from lysergic acid, called L SD. James Paul Warburg (son of Paul Warburgwho had written the
Federal Reserve Act in 1910), financed a subsidiary of the Tavistock Institutein the United States called the I nstitute for Policy Studies, whose director,
Mar cus Raskin, was appointed to the National Security Council. James Paul Warburg set up a CIA program to experiment with LSD on CIA agents, some
of whom later committed suicide. This program, MK-Ultra, supervised by Dr. Gottlieb, resulted in huge lawsuits against the United States Gover nment by
the families of the victims.

TheInstitute for Policy Studies set up a campus subsidiary, Studentsfor Democratic Society (SDS), devoted to drugs and revolution. Rather than finance
SDS himself, Warburg used CIA funds, some twenty million dollars, to promote the campusriots of the 1960s.

The English Tavistock Institute has not restricted its activitiesto left-wing groups, but has also directed the programs of such supposedly " conservative"
American think tanksasthe Herbert Hoover Institute at Stanford Univer sity, Heritage Foundation, Wharton, Hudson, M assachusetts I nstitute of
Technology, and Rand. The" sensitivity train-
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ing" and " sexual encounter” programs of the most radical California groups such as Esalen Institute and its many imitatorswere all developed and
implemented by Tavistock Institute psychologists.

One of therareitems concer ning the Tavistock I nstitute appearsin Business Week, Oct. 26, 1963, with a photograph of its building in the most expensive
medical officesarea of London. The story mentions " the Freudian bias' of the Institute, and commentsthat it isamply financed by British blue-chip
cor porations, including Unilever, British Petroleum, and Baldwin Steel. According to Business Week, the psychological testing programs and group relations
training programs of the I nstitute were implemented in the United States by the University of Michigan and the University of California, which are hotbeds
of radicalism and the drug network.

It wasthe Marquees of Tavistock, 12th Duke of Bedford, whom Rudolf Hess flew to England to contact about ending World War |1. Tavistock was said to
be worth $40 million in 1942. In 1945, hiswife committed suicide by taking an over dose of pills.
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BIOGRAPHIES

NEL SON ALDRICH (1841-1915)

Senator from Rhode I sland; head of National Monetary Commission; his daughter Abby Aldrich married John D. Rockefeller, Jr.; he becamethe
grandfather of hisnamesake. Nelson Aldrich Rockefeller, aswell asthe present David Rockefeller and L aurence Rockefeller.



WILLIAM JENNINGSBRYAN (1860-1925)

Woodrow Wilson's Secretary of State, threetimeslosing presidential candidate of the Democr atic Party, in 1896, 1900, and 1908, and head of the
Democratic Party.

ALFRED OWEN CROZIER (1863-1939)

A prominent attorney in Grand Rapids, Cincinnati, and New York, Crozier wrote eight books on legal and monetary problems, focussing on his opposition
to the supplanting of Constitutional money by the corporation currency printed by private firmsfor their profit.

CLARENCE DILLON (1882-1979)

Born in San Antonio, Texas, son of Samuel Dillon and Bertha L apowitz. Harvard, 1905. Married Anne Douglass of Milwaukee. His son, C. Douglas Dillon
(later Secretary of the Treasury, 1961-65) was born in Geneva, Switzerland in 1909 while they wer e abroad. Dillon met William A. Read, founder of the
Wall Street bond broker William A. Read and Company, through introduction by Harvard classmate William A. Phillipsin 1912 and Dillon joined Read’s
Chicago officein that year. He moved to New York in 1914. Read died in 1916, and Dillon bought a majority interest in the firm. During World War 1,
Bernard Baruch, chairman of the War Industries Board, (known asthe Czar of American industry) asked Dillon to be assistant chairman of the War
Industries Board. In 1920, William A. Read & Company name was changed to Dillon, Read & Company. Dillon was director of American Foreign
Securities Cor poration, which he had set up in 1915 to finance the French Gover nment’s pur chases of munitionsin the United States. Hisrighthand man at
Dillon Read, James Forrestal, became Secretary of the Navy, later Secretary of Defense, and died under mysterious circumstances at a Federal hospital. In
1957, Fortune M agazine listed Dillon as one of the richest men in the United States, with a fortune then estimated to be from $150 to $200 million.

ALAN GREENSPAN (1926-)

Appointed by President Reagan to succeed Paul Volcker as Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System in 1987. Greenspan had
succeeded Herbert Stein as chairman of the President’s Council of Economic
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Advisorsin 1974. He was the protégé of former chairman of the Board of Governors, Arthur Burnsof Austria (Bernstein). Burnswas a monetarist
representing the Rothschild’s Viennese School of Economics, which manifested itsinfluence in England through the Royal Colonial Society, a front for
Rothschilds and other English bankerswho stashed their profitsfrom theworld drug trade in the Hong Kong Shanghai Bank. The staff economist for the
Royal Colonial Society was Alfred Marshall, inventor of the monetarist theory, who, as head of the Oxford Group, became the patron of Wesley Clair
Mitchell, who founded the National Bureau of Economic Resear ch for the Rockefellersin the United States. Mitchell, in turn, became the patron of Arthur
Burnsand Milton Friedman, whose theories are now the power techniques of Greenspan at the Federal Reserve Board. Greenspan is also the protégé of
Ayn Rand, aweirdo who interposed her sexual affairswith guttural commandsto be selfish. Rand was also the patron of CIA propagandist William
Buckeley and the National Review. Greenspan was director of major Wall Street firmssuch asJ.P. Morgan Co., Morgan Guaranty Trust (the American
bank for the Soviets after the Bolshevik Revolution of 1917), Brookings I nstitution, Bowery Savings Bank, the Dreyfus Fund, General Foods, and Time, Inc.
Greenspan’s most impr essive achievement was as chairman of the National Commission on Social Security from 1981-1983. He juggled figuresto convince
the public that Social Security was bankrupt, when in fact it had an enormous sur plus. These figures werethen used to fasten onto American workersa
hugeincreasein Social Security withholding tax, which invoked David Ricardo’s economic dictum of theiron law of wages, that workers could only be paid



a subsistence wage, and any funds beyond that must be extorted from them forcibly by tax increases. Asa partner of J.P. Morgan Co. since 1977, Greenspan
represented the unbroken line of control of the Federal Reserve System by the firmsrepresented at the secret meeting on Jekyll Island in 1910, where Henry
P. Davison, righthand man of J.P. Morgan, was a key figure in the drafting of the Federal Reserve Act. Within days of taking over as chairman of the
Federal Reserve Board, Greenspan immediately raised the interest rate on Sept. 4, 1987, thefirst such increasein three years of general prosperity, and
precipitated the stock market crash of Oct., 1987, Black M onday, when the Dow Jones aver age plunged 508 points. Under Greenspan’sdirection, the
Federal Reserve Board has steadily nudged the United States deeper and deeper into recession, without a word of criticism from the complaisant members
of Congress.

COLONEL EDWARD MANDELL HOUSE (1858-1938)

Son of a Rothschild agent in Texas. Succeeded in electing five consecutive governor s of Texas; became Woodrow Wilson’s advisor in 1912. Cooper ated with
Paul Warburgto get the Federal Reserve Act passed by Congressin 1913.

ROBERT MARION LAFOLLETTE (1855-1925)

Served in Senate from Wisconsin 1905-25. Led agrarian reformersin opposing Eastern bankersand their plansfor the Federal Reserve Act. Ran for
President in 1924 on Progressive-Socialist ticket.
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CHARLES AUGUSTUSLINDBERGH, SR. (1860-1924)

Congressman from Minnesota (1907-1917) who led the fight against enactment of the Federal Reserve Act in 1913. He served until 1917 when heresigned to
run for governor of Minnesota. Heran a good campaign despite adver se newspaper attacksled by The New York Times. His campaign was adver sely
affected when Federal agents burned hisbooks, including Why Is Your Country At War? and the papers and contents of hishome officein Little Falls,
Minnesota.

RE-EDITOR LIGHT1998:
IT WASBECAUSE OF CHARLESAUGUSTUSLINDBERGH, SR. AND HISFIGHT
AGAINST THE ROTHCHILDS FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM THAT
HISSONS CHILD WASKIDNAPPED AND KILLED.
THISISKNOWN AS'THE LINBERGH BABY KIDNAPPING'.

LOUIST. McFADDEN (1876-1936)

Congressman and Chairman of the House Banking and Currency Committee, 1927-33; cour ageously opposed the manipulators of the Federal Reserve
System in the 1920’ s and the 1930’s. I ntroduced billsto impeach Federal Reserve Board of Governorsand allied officials. After three attemptson hislife, he
died mysteriousdly.


http://www.light1998.com/

JOHN PIERPONT MORGAN (1837-1913)

Considered the dominant American financier at theturn of the century. Who'sWho in 1912 stated he " controls over 50,000 miles of railroadsin the United

States.” Organized United States Steel Cor poration. Became r epresentative of House of Rothschild through hisfather, Junius S. M organ, who had become

London partner of George Peabody & Company, later Junius S. Morgan Company, a Rothschild agent. John Pierpont Morgan, Jr. succeeded hisfather as
head of the Morgan empire.

DAVID MULLINS (1946- )

Appointed Governor of the Federal Reserve Board May 21, 1990, David Mullins' term runsto Jan. 31, 1996. He was recently nominated to serve as Vice
Chairman of the Federal Reserve Board, and served as Assistant Secretary of the Treasury for Domestic Finance 1988-90, r eceiving the department’s
highest award, the Alexander Hamilton Award, for his servicein such programs as synthetic fuels, federal finance, Farm Credit Assistance Board, and
author of the President’s Plan for rescuing the savings and loan institutions. He is a distant cousin of the author, descended from John Mullins, the first

recorded settler in the western area of Virginia, hero of the battle of King's M ountain, and recipient of a 200 acre grant of land for hisservicein the
American Revolution.

WRIGHT PATMAN (1893-1976)

Congressman and Chairman of the House Banking and Currency Committee 1963-74. Led thefight in Congressto stop the manipulators of the Feder al
Reserve System from 1937 to his death in 1976.

CONGRESSMAN ARSENE PUJO

Served in Congress 1903-1913. Democrat from Louisiana. Chairman of House Banking and Currency Committee. Chairman of " Pujo Hearings"
Subcommittee, 1912.
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SIR GORDON RICHARDSON (1915-)

Head of the Bank of England since 1973. Chairman J. Henry Schroder Wagg, L ondon, 1962-72; director of J. Henry Schroder Banking Cor poration, New
York; Schroder Banking Cor poration, New York; Lloyd s Bank, London; Rolls Royce.

JACOB SCHIFF (1847-1920)

Born in Rothschild house in Frankfurt, Germany. Emigrated to United States, married Therese L oeb, daughter of Solomon L oeb, founder of Kuhn, L oeb
and Co. Schiff became senior partner of Kuhn, Loeb and Co., and asrepresentative of Rothschild interests gained control of most of railway mileagein
United States.



BARON KURT VON SCHRODER (1889-)

Adolph Hitler’s personal banker, advanced fundsfor Hitler’s accession to power in Germany in 1933; German representative of the London and New Y ork
branches of J. Henry Schroder Banking Corporation; SS Senior Group Leader; director of all German subsidiariesof |.T.T; Himmler’s Circle of Friends;
advisor to board of directors, Deutsche Reichsbank (German central bank).

ANTHONY MORTON SOLOMON (1919-)

Educated at Harvard, economist Office of Price Administration, 1941-42; financial mission to Iran, 1942-46; Agency for international Development South
America, 1965-69; president international Investment Corporation for Yugoslavia 1969-72; advisor to Chairman, Ways and M eans Committee, House of
Representatives, 1972-73; Under secretary Monetary Affairs, U.S. Treasury, 1977-80; president Federal Reserve Bank of New York, 1980-

SAMUEL UNTERMYER (1858-1940)

A partner of thelaw firm of Guggenheimer and Untermyer of New York, who conducted the" Pujo Hearings' of the House Banking and Currency
Committeein 1912. Counsel for Rogers and Rockefeller in many large suits against F. Augustus Heinze, Thomas W Lawson and others. Earned a single fee
of $775,000 for handling merger of Utah Copper Company. Reported in The New York Times May 26, 1924 as urging immediate r ecognition of Soviet
Russia at Carnegie Hall meeting. Untermyer’s prestige and power isillustrated by the fact that thisfront page obituary in The New York Times covered six
columns. Hislisting in Who's Who was the longest for thirteen years.

FRANK VANDERLIP (1864-1937)

Assistant Secretary of Treasury 1897-1901; won prestige for financing Spanish American War by floating $200,000,000 in bonds during hisincumbency for
what isknown as" National City Bank’sWar" President of National City Bank 1909-19. One of the original Jekyll Island group who wrote Federal Reserve
Act in November, 1910. No mention of thisimportant fact ismadein extensive obituary in The New York Times, June 30, 1937.
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GEORGE SYLVESTER VIERECK (1884-1962)

Author of the definitive study The Strangest Friendship in History, Woodrow Wilson and Col. House, Liveright, 1932. A leading poet of the early 1900’s,
reviewed on the front page of The New York Times Book Review, and known asthe leading German-American citizen of the United States.

PAUL VOLCKER (1927-)

Chairman of the Federal Reserve Board of Governors since 1979, appointed by President Carter, reappointed by President Reagan for another four year
term beginning August 6, 1983. Educated at Princeton, Harvard and L ondon School of Economics; employed by Federal Reserve Bank of New York,
1952-57; Chase Manhattan Bank, 1957-61; Treasury Department, 1961-74; president Federal Reserve Bank of New York, 1975-79.

PAUL WARBURG (1868-1932)



Conceded to be the actual author of our central bank plan, the Federal Reserve System, by knowledgeable authorities. Emigrated to the United States from
Germany 1904; partner, Kuhn Loeb and Company bankers, New York; naturalized 1911. Member of the original Federal Reserve Board of Governors,
1914-1918; president Federal Advisory Council, 1918-1928. Brother of Max Warburg, who was head of German Secret Serviceduring World War | and

who represented Germany at the Peace Conference, 1918-1919, while Paul was chairman of the Federal Reserve System.

SIRWILLIAM WISEMAN (1885-1962)

Partner of Kuhn, Loeb and Company; head of British Secret Service during World War |. Worked closely with Col. House dominating the United States
and England.
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Questions and Answers

Whilelecturing in many countries, and appearing on radio and television programs as a guest, the author isfrequently asked questions about the Federal
Reserve System. The most frequently asked questions and the answers are as follows:

Q: What isthe Federal Reserve System?

A: The Federal Reserve System isnot Federal; it hasno reserves,; and it isnot a system, but rather, a criminal syndicate. It isthe product of criminal
syndicalist activity of an international consortium of dynastic families comprising what the author terms"” The World Order" (see" THE WORLD
ORDER" and " THE CURSE OF CANAAN", both by Eustace Mullins). The Federal Reserve system isa central bank operating in the United States.
Although the student will find no such definition of a central bank in the textbooks of any university, the author has defined a central bank asfollows: It is
the dominant financial power of the country which harborsit. It isentirely private-owned, although it seeksto give the appear ance of a gover nmental
institution. It hastheright to print and issue money, the traditional prerogative of monarchs. It isset up to provide financing for wars. It functionsasa
money monopoly having total power over all the money and credit of the people.

Q: When Congress passed the Federal Reserve Act on December 23, 1913, did the Congressmen know that they wer e creating a central bank?

A: The members of the 63rd Congress had no knowledge of a central bank or of its monopolistic operations. Many of those who voted for the bill were
duped; otherswere bribed; otherswereintimidated. The prefaceto the Federal Reserve Act reads"” An Act to provide for the establishment of Federal
reserve banks, to furnish an elastic currency, to afford means of rediscounting commer cial papers, to establish a mor e effective supervision of bankingin the
United States, and for other purposes.” Theunspecified " other purposes’ wereto giveinternational conspiratorsa monopoly of all the money and credit of
the people of the United States; to finance World War | through this new central bank, to place American workers at the mercy of the Federal Reserve
system’s collection agency, the Internal Revenue Service, and to allow the monopolists to seize the assets of their competitorsand put them out of business.

Q: Isthe Federal Reserve system a gover nment agency?

A: Even the present chairman of the House Banking Committee claimsthat the Federal Reserve isa government agency, and that it isnot privately owned.
Thefact isthat the government has never owned a single share of Federal Reserve Bank stock. This charade stems from the fact that the President of the
United States appointsthe Governors of the Federal Reserve Board, who are then confirmed by the Senate. The secret author of the Act, banker Paul
Warburg, arepresentative of the Rothschild bank, coined the name " Federal” from thin air for the Act, which he wrote to achieve two of his pet
aspirations, an " elastic currency”, read (rubber check), and to facilitate trading in acceptances, inter national trade credits. War burg was founder and
president of the I nternational Acceptance Corporation, and made billionsin profits by trading in this commercial paper. Sec. 7 of the Federal Reserve Act
provides" Federal reserve banks, including the capital and surplustherein, and income derived ther efrom, shall be exempt from Federal, state and local
taxation, except taxeson real estate.” Government buildings do not pay real estate tax.

Q: Areour dollar bills, which carry thelabel " Federal Reserve notes' gover nment money?



A: Federal Reserve notes are actually promissory notes, promisesto pay, rather than what we traditionally consider money. They areinterest bearing notes

issued against interest bearing gover nment bonds, paper issued with nothing but paper backing, which isknown asfiat money, because it hasonly thefiat of

theissuer to guarantee these notes. The Federal Reserve Act authorizesthe issuance of these notes” for the purposes of making advancesto Federal reserve

banks... The said notes shall be obligations of the United States. They shall beredeemed in gold on demand at the Treasury Department of the United States

in the District of Columbia." Touristsvisiting the Bureau of Printing and Engraving on the Mall in Washington, D.C. view the printing of Federal Reserve
notes at this gover nmental agency on contract from the Federal Reserve System for the nominal sum of .00260 each in units of 1,000, at the same price
regardless of the denomination. These notes, printed for a private bank, then become liabilities and obligations of the United States government and are

added to our present $4 trillion debt. The government had no debt when the Federal Reserve Act was passed in 1913.

Q: Who ownsthe stock of the Federal Reserve Banks?

A: Thedynastic families of the ruling World Order, internationalists who are loyal to no race, religion, or nation. They are families such asthe Rothschilds,
the War burgs, the Schiffs, the Rockefellers, the Harrimans, the Morgans and others known asthe elite, or " the bigrich".

Q: Can | buy thisstock?

A: No. The Federal Reserve Act stipulatesthat the stock of the Federal Reserve Banks cannot be bought or sold on any stock exchange. It is passed on by
inheritance asthe fortune of the" big rich". Almost half of the owners of Federal Reserve Bank stock are not Americans.

Q: IstheInternal Revenue Service a gover nmental agency?

A: Although listed as part of the Treasury Department, the IRSisactually a private collection agency for the Federal Reserve System. It originated asthe
Black Hand in mediaeval Italy, collectorsof debt by force and extortion for theruling Italian mob families. All personal income taxes collected by the IRS
arerequired by law to be deposited in the nearest Federal Reserve Bank, under Sec. 15 of the Federal Reserve Act, " The moneys held in the general fund of
the Treasury may be ....deposited in Federal reserve banks, which banks, when required by the Secretary of the Treasury, shall act asfiscal agents of the
United States."

Q: Doesthe Federal Reserve Board control the daily price and quantity of money?

A: The Federal Reserve Board of Governors, meeting in private as the Federal Open Market Committee with presidents of the Federal Reserve Banks,
controls all economic activity throughout the United States by issuing or dersto buy gover nment bonds on the open market, creating money out of nothing
and causing inflationary pressure, or, conver sely, by selling gover nment bonds on the open market and extinguishing debt, creating deflationary pressure

and causing the stock market to drop.

Q: Can Congress abolish the Federal Reserve System?

A: Thelast provision of the Federal Reserve Act of 1913, Sec. 30, states, " Theright to amend, alter or repeal this Act isexpressy reserved." Thislanguage
means that Congress can at any time move to abolish the Federal Reserve System, or buy back the stock and make it part of the Treasury Department, or to
altar the System asit seesfit. It hasnever done so.



Q: Arethere many critics of the Federal Reserve beside your self?

A: When | began my researchesin 1948, the Fed was only thirty-four yearsold. It was never mentioned in the press. Today the Fed is discussed openly in
the news section and the financial pages. There are billsin congressto have the Fed audited by the Gover nment Accounting Office. Because of my expose, it
isno longer a sacred cow, although the Big Three candidates for President in 1992, Bush, Clinton and Perot, joined in a unanimous chorusduring the
debatesthat they were pledged not to touch the Fed.

Q: Haveyou suffered any personal consequences because of your expose of the Fed?

A: | wasfired from the staff of the Library of Congress after | published this exposein 1952, the only person ever discharged from the staff for political
reasons. When | sued, the court refused to hear the case. The entire German edition of thisbook was burned in 1955, the only book burned in Europe since
the Second World War. | have endured continuous harassment by gover nment agencies, as detailed in my books" A WRIT FOR MARTYRS" and"MY
LIFE IN CHRIST". My family also suffered harassment. When | spokerecently in Wembley Arenain London, the press denounced meas" a sinister
lunatic”.

Q: Doesthe press always support the Fed?

A: There have been some encour aging defectionsin recent months. A front page story in the Wall Street Journal, Feb. 8, 1993, stated, " The current Fed
structureisdifficult to justify in a democracy. I1t’san oddly undemocratic institution. Its organization is so dated that thereisonly one Reserve bank west of
the Rockies, and two in Missouri...Having a central bank with a monopoly over the issuance of the currency in a democratic society isa very difficult
balancing act.”

Congressman McFadden
on the Federal Reserve Corporation
Remarksin Congress, 1934
AN ASTOUNDING EXPOSURE
http://home.hiwaay.net/% 7Ebecr aft/mcfadden.html

TheFed, TheFed, The Fed
http://www.gold-eagle.com/editorials 01/sennholz040301.html

The Declaration of | ndependence
http://www.apfn.or g/apfn/declar ation.htm

The Federal Reserve- What Islt? Who Is|t?

http://www.the-oil-patch.com/ar chive/feder al-r eserve.html

The Coming Battle (The Book)
http://www.apfn.or g/apfn/comingbattie.htm

The United Nations plansto CONFISCATE your profit and ---.
http://www.apfn.or g/apfn/united nations.htm
The 545 People Responsible For All of America's Woes
http://www.apfn.or g/apfn/woes.htm
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